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1. RELEVANTT DOCKET ENTRIES

4-17-72 Complaint filed in District Court.

7-14-72 Plaintiffs file application in District Court for hear-
ing on the request for preliminary injunction for
1972-73 school year.

7-24-72 Answer of Defendants Dayton Board, James D. Hart,
William E. Goodwin and Josephine Groff filed in
District Court.

11-13-72 District Court holds hearing on violation issues as
to framed by the District Court.

12-1-72

2-7-73 District Court issues its Findings of Fact and Memo-
randum Opinion of Law.

3-30-73 Plans of Dayton Board, minority members of Dayton
Board and Superintendent filed with District Court.

4-24-73 Plaintiffs file in District Court objections to the plan
proposed by the Board majority,

7-13-73 District Court issues its supplemental order on
remedy.

7-23-73 Plaintiffs file notice of appeal with District Court.

8-13-73 Defendants Dayton Board, et al., file notice of ap-
peal with District Court.

8-20-74 Court of Appeals issues opinion affirming District
Court's holding of a cumulative violation and re-
mands for formulation of an adequate desegregation
plan.

1-7-75 District Court issues order requiring submission of
plans.

2-3-75 Plan of Dayton Board filed with District Court.

2-3-75 Alternative plan of plaintiffs filed with District Court.

.I
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VI.

2-17-75 District Court holds hearings on plans submitted.
to

2-20-75

3-10-75 District Court issues order on remedy.

3-18-75 Plaintiffs file notice of appeal with District Court.

6-24-75 Court of Appeals issues opinion and remands action
to District Court.

11-5-75 District Court Order requiring Dayton Board to sub-

mit plan on or before 12-1-75 and appointing Dr.
John A. Finger as consultant.

11-18-75 Order of District Court relating to establishment of

guidelines for pLn.

12-2-75 Dayton Board submits desegregation plan to District

Court for consideration.

12-8-75 District Court held hearing on plans submitted to
to Court.

12-9-75

12-29-75 District Court's order and judgment ordering redis-
tribution of pupils and appointing Dr. John A.
Finger, Jr. as Master.

1-2-76 District Court's supplemental order correcting fac-

tual issue in 12-29-75 order.

1-8-76 Motion filed with District Court by Dayton Board to
alter or amend judgment.

3-15-76 Master files report with District Court and hearing
set.

3-22-76 District Court held hearings on report of Master.

to

3-23-76

3-23-76 District Court's final order relating to desegregation
plan.
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3-25-76 judgment entry of District Court embodying order
of 3-23-76 filed.

4-15-76 Notice of appeal filed by Dayton Board with Dis-
rict Court.

4-15-76 Application of Dayton Board for stay.

4-19-76 Order of District Court denying stay.

5-11-76 Application of Dayton Board to District Court for
modification of report of Master.

5-14-76 Order of District Court granting modification except
as relates to eighth graders.

6-1-76 Motion of Dayton Board directed to Court of Ap-
peals to stay judgment.

6-16-76 Order of Court of Appeals denying stay.

7-26-76 Order of Court of Appeals affirming District Court's
judgment of March 25, 1976.

7-28-76 Motion of Dayton Board directed to Court of Ap-
peals to stay judgment pending writ of certiorari.

8-16-76 Order of Court of Appeals denying motion for stay.

8-17-76 Application to Associate Justice of Supreme Court
for stay.

8-19-76 Request for stay denied by Associate Justice; writ of
certiorari filed with Supreme Court

10-27-76 Request for certification and transmittal of record
filed with District Court.

1-17-77 Petition for writ of certiorari granted by Supreme
Court.

6-27-77 Decision of Supreme Court remanding for further

proceedings.

8-25-77 Order of Court of Appeals remanding to District
Court.
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11-3-77 Hearings held by District Court

12-15-77 Order of District Court dismissing Complaint,

12-28-77 Plaintiffs file Notice of Appeal.

1-5-78 Order of District Court denying stay,

1-16-78 Order of Court of Appeals granting stay.

7-27-78 Court of Appeals issues opinion ordering reinstate-
x ment of system-wide desegregation plan.

8-21-78 Court of Appeals denies stay request of Dayton
Board.

8-28-78 Justice Stewart denies stay request of Dayton Board.

8-30-78 Justice Rehnquist denies stay request of Dayton
Board.

10-13-78 Petition for writ of certiorari filed with Supreme
Court.

12-8-78 Request for certification and transmittal of record
filed with District Court.

1-9-79 Petition for writ of certiorari granted by Supreme
Court.

Ii
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II. OPINIONS BELOW

The opinions are found in the Appendix to the Petition for

Writ of Certiorari filed in October, 1978.

III. RELEVANT RULINGS AND MOTION.

A. RULING OF TRIAL COURT MADE AT
OPENING OF HEARING ON VIOLATION
HELD IN NOVEMBER AND DECEMBER OF
1972.

[R. I. 1-2, Vol. 1] THE COURT: Before we commence,
gentlemen, I would like to make a statement for the record
and then you may make your responses. This is a limited
hearing on this case and it is intended to be a preliminary
inquiry. I want you gentlemen to understand if it develops
in this inquiry that later hearings are necessary, they will be
held. At this time however, we are going to inquire only
into the question that was discussed with counsel at the
pretrial hearing. We are going to inquire of whether or not
acts by the School Board of Dayton have created a segregated
school system.

At this time, we are not going to inquire into the questions
regarding the so-called State Defendants unless there is a
showing that their activities in some fashion contributed to

or were acts with the School Board of Dayton.

B. MOTION OF DAYTON BOARD RELATING
TO STANDING.

[R. I. 1717, Vol. 17] We would move further for a directed
verdict on the ground that there has been a failure of proof
that the Plaintiffs in this action are members of the class which
they purportedly represent or that this action is properly

maintable as a class action under Rule 23.

1
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C. RULINGS OF TRIAL COURT MADE AT
REMEDIAL HEARINGS IN DECEMBER OF
1975 AND MARCH OF 1976.

[R. ILl. 52-55] Q. On page 16 you make the statement
about declining enrollment is common these days to schools
throughout the nation. This is at the top of the page. Then

ij you conclude that the figures just presented suggest, however,
and I am not sure what you mean by however an inordinate
drop in the white student population, some of which must
be attributed to a continued move to the suburbs. That con-
tinued to move to the suburbs is not something that results
from the desegregation order, is it?

That has been going on in Dayton for the last 20 years?

A, It was established today approximately 11,000 white

youngsters and 900 black youngsters have left Layton in the
1 last five years.

Q. There has been a substantial out white migration in

most urban centers; is that correct?
Vi A. Yes.

Q. And that is without regard to desegregation; is that
correct?

A. Yes, it has been going on. In some instances with

desegregation and in some instances without.
Q. In the 20 major cities of this country, has there been

any court orders bussing or pairing or clustering of schools
that resulted in white out-migration in the last 20 years?

THE COURT: Mr. Lucas, assume it either way. Assume
that a court order has decimated the schools, or assume it has
had no effect. Of what significance is that? These are social

problems that I don't really feel the Court should enter into.

Whatever the effects of desegregation may be or whatever
the effects of the court order, this isn't a matter of choice.
We have passed the point in this case where these things are
relevant.

MR. LUCAS: Your Honor, the only relevance that I possi-
bly see, and I basically agree with the Court, is their reason
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for not using pairing and clustering as I understood it was
because it produces this type of phenomena, and then they
cite some bogus statistics ahout Professor Coleman, which he
since recounted, and other so-called authorities to support that
proposition.

To the extent they are relying on it, I think it is significant
to demonstrate the truth or falsity of the position.

THE COURT: I don't really think it is worth the time, Mr.
Lucas. Would you proceed, please?
BY MR. LUCAS:

Q. In fact, Dr. Gordon, isn't that the reason why your
team was told by the Board to reject the alternative of pairing
and clustering?

THE COURT: I would suggest, Mr. Lucas, that you pro-
ceed to something else. 1 am simply not interested in this.

MR. LUCAS: Your Honor, I think it is essential that we
know vhy the desegregation has leen rejected, whether it is
a good reason or bad reason.

THE COURT: Mr. Lucas, it may well be that we see
these hearings in different lights. I would ask that you pro-
ceed to another matter
BY MR. LUCAS;

Q. Dr. Gordon, why did you reject pairing and clustering?
THE COURT: Mr. Lucas, 1 would ask you to proceed to

another matter.
MR. LUCAS: Your IHonor is instructing me I may not

ask -

THE COURT: Mr. Lucas, you have been instructed.
Would you proceed to another matter?

MR. LUCAS: I just wanted the record to be clear.
THE COURT: I am sure the record is abundantly clear,

and, Mr. Lucas, if I must tell you a third time, 1 will do so.
Proceed to another matter,

MR. LUCAS' May I make an offer of proof?
THE COURT: You may at a recess.
MR. LUCAS: I will do that then.

. 0 0
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[R. III. 126-131] Q. In looking at page 196, look at letter

"h". The statement is made there that there are great differ-

ences in white flight among cities. No one knows the policies

(local/state, etc) which help control white flight. Would you

agree with that?

A. Yes, I would agree with that. I don't know of any

definitive studies that would predict when white flight would

occur.
Q. Do you agree the white flight concept is to some extent

a self-fulfilling prophesy when school boards predict it?

A. I think that influences some, yes. How many, I don't

know.
Q. Are you aware that most of the so-called white flight

in the country has taken place totally without regard to school

desegregation?
A. I am not aware of that, no.

Q. What studies are you familiar with about white flight?

A. Very few.
THE COURT: Mr. Lucas, let me direct a question to you.

Let's assume that a plan that will meet with the requirements

of the remand encourages white flight and another one that

does not meet with the requirements of the remand does not.

Are you suggesting this Court has any choice?

MR. LUCAS: No, sir, I am not.
THE COURT: I was unaware of it also, and I was curious

about this. Assume it either way. Assume that the differing

plans will accelerate or decelerate white flight. This isn't a

problem for the Court, is it? Isn't the Court required to

approve a plan that will desegregate the schools?

MR. LUCAS: Your Honor, I think what the Court has

to measure in deciding what plan to approve or what changes

to make and so forth is whether or not rejecting particular

alternatives the Board has done so on a basis which is legally

proper, or whether or not that rejection, the choice of a less

effective or an alternative which is demonstrably capable of

actually desegregating the system is based on an impermissible

factor. That is what Green spoke to. It may reflect on the
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intentions of the body in particular instances. So, that is the

purpose of the inquiry.
THE COURT: I don't see whether or not a plan will

accelerate white flight which is obviously at this point specula-
tive at best, no one is prepared to say what will, in fact,

happen, and -

MR. LUCAS: Well, the defendants have, your Honor.
THE COURT: Let me finish, please. I am just concerned

about the utility. It seems to me that the choice here does

not bear upon social questions. The choice here depends
upon effective desegregation, and this seems to me to be a

social problem, and one that the Court is not confronted with.

MR. LUCAS: I think the theorum the Court is being pre-

sented with here is that plaintiffs' plan will obviously desegre-
gate. They have rejected using the technique that plaintiffs'

plan uses to desegregate because they say, and I am not agree-
ing with them, but they say it will cause white flight.

THE COURT: Well, your point, Mr. Lucas, as I look upon
that, is irrelevant. I look upon these plans as to whether they,

in fact, desegregate the schools, and that is all that I look to.
Now, it is appearing to me at this point I have a choice

between techniques, because apparently both plans will ac-

complish the same purpose, and if they do then I would con-

cern myself only with those things that are judicial in nature

and not those which are social in nature.
MR. LUCAS: What we are suggesting is perhaps one of

the plans before the Court is not capable of a determination
that it will, in fact, desegregate the schools, and that is the

issue we are testing here obviously for the next period of time,

if you decide we may.
THE COURT: I don't think that is the criterion. I sus-

pect, Mr. Lucas, that a question I addressed earlier to Dr.

Gordon may be the key question, and that if the Court deter-
mines what I said is the bottom line, that is what the school
components will be, that is going to be the test of whether

a school is desegregated if I read -Swan and Keyes correctly.

Now, this I believe is really a collateral question, it might
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well be this white flight could be supported by some view as
being a good thing. I don't know, and I could care less. I
don't see that in terms of these plans of the preferability of
one over the other whether it accelerates or decelerates that

condition. I don't see that as a judicial consideration.
MR. LUCAS: Your Honor, I agree that the goal, the

bottom line as you expressed it, is the purpose of us being here.
The question I think that has to be measured is whether or
not a particular plan is calculated, reasonably calculated to

lead to that goal, subject to the Swan limitations, reasonable

travel time and things of that sort. I am not sure that educa-

tional soundness, whatever that may mean, is one of the cri-

teria. Mr. Greer keeps suggesting that is one of the three

criteria.
I think health, safety and welfare of the child perhaps in-

cludes that, but I think the Court is correct getting into the

educational theory, what is educational and educationally

sound is a judgment that the Court indeed may not make.

THE COURT: I likewise feel that social problems are judg-
ment calls that the Court may not make. I think that may be

critical to our entire view of this problem. I see this as a
judicial question regarding deprivation of constitutional rights.

I don't see it in terms of social goods or social evils. That
simply is not for a Court to determine.

MR. LUCAS: Well, my only purpose in examining is to test

their theory as to why they rejected a proven effective method
of desegregating schools.

THE COURT: I am prepared to assume it either way you

prefer, Mr. Lucas, either that the Board's plan will acceleratej~ white flight or that it will decelerate it, and I am prepared to

consider your plan either way, and I still come out to the

conclusion that that can't be relevant to the determination.

MR. LUCAS: I am really in agreement with the Court.
THE COURT: I would assume so.
MR. LUCAS: What I am arguing is they have used an

irrelevant determination to reject a valid technique. That is

where I am,
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THE COURT: And I am prepared to agree with that.

Now, let's go forward.
MR. LUCAS: Thank you, sir.
THE COURT: I am prepared to agree that they may have,

but as I say, it doesn't make much difference.

IV. RELEVANT PORTION OF STATEMENT OF PLAIN-
TIFFS' COUNSEL MADE AT OPENING OF HEAR-

ING ON VIOLATION HELD IN NOVEMBER AND

DECEMBER OF 1972.

[R. I. 11, Vol. 1] Further, it is not in controversy in this

cause that the Dayton Board of Education in December of

1971 eliminated all the boundary lines which the Court sees

on that map, and that it called for the adoption, according
to certain criteria, of a desegregation plan but it first voided

every one of those boundary lines and that the present

Dayton Board of Education on January 3, 1972, reestab-

lished the boundaries, in effect drew boundaries for the Day-

ton School System which boundaries are the same which

result in the patterns of segregation which are reflected in the

agreement as to the statistical enrollments in the schools at

that time.
But for the action of the Board on January 3, those boundar-

ies would not exist as they exist today.

, 0 0

was
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V, RELEVANT DESEGREGATION PLANS FILED WITH
DISTRICT COURT.

A. PORTION OF PLAN SUBMITTED BY DAY-
TON BOARD IN COMPLIANCE WITH OR-
DER OF FEBRUARY 7, 1973.

(Title omitted in printing).

I ELIMINATION OF OPTIONAl. ZONES

A. Procedures
* L General

a. All students new to the changed district will be re
(qlured to attend the newly designated School.

b. Students may change to the newly designated school
in September, 1973.

2. Iligh School Students

a. Students now attending high school nay continue in

their present school.

b. in student who has completed the tenth grade who
changes his or her address within the school district
during the sumnner or the school year. may continue in

the high school .zone where originally enrolled.

3. Elemtietarv School Students

a. Students ill present grades K ti *m gh five must change
to newly designated district,

b. Students in present grades six and seven may remain

in present school.

c. Auy student who has completed the seventh grade
in a school zone containing a K-S school or any stl-

-; - . .. 3 - . , s
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dent who has completed the fourth grade in a school
zone containing a K-5 school who changes his or her
address during the sunmner or the school year may
continue in the school.

B. Optional Area Changes

1. Elementary

a. Bell Haven - Ft. McKinley

b, Valerie - Ft. McKinley

c. Residence Park - Jane Addams

d. Horace Mann - Lincoln

e. Cleveland - Belmont Elementarv

f. Grant - Belmont Elementary

g. Lewton - Eastmont

I. Westwood - Jackson Schools

i. Westwood - Carlson

j. Carlson - Wogamnan

k. lighview - Vogaman

1. Highview - Carlson

* a 0
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2. High School

a. Fairview - Roth

b. Belmont - Wilbur Wright
* 0 *

c. Colonel White - Kiser

d. Colonel White - Roosevelt

II. FREEDOM OF ENROLLMENT PRIORITIES

A. Revised Freedom of Enrollment Policy

1. Transfer Within District

The parent of a pupil in good standing enrolled in

the Dayton Public School District may request assign-

ment of the pupil to any school building within the dis-

trict where space may be available to accommodate

him. Such requests will be granted according to the

following procedures:

a. Students residing within the attendance area of a school

building shall have first priority to assignment to that

building.

b. A student desiring enrollment in any building for

whatever reason shall have second priority in that

building providing his enrollment will contribute to

improved racial balance in that building and providing

that such transfer will not adversely affect the racial

balance of the sending school. Schools will be consid-

ered racially balanced if they reflect the over all racial

composition of the Dayton School District.

Ah .S
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c. Students meeting the requirements for a course avail-
able only in the particular building shall have third
priority for attendance in that building and all stu-
dents enrolling under this priority for the first time
commencing with the 1973-74 school year and each
year thereafter shall return to their home school upon
completion of the course.

d. Transfer to another school within the city will be
made only at the beginning of the first semester.

e. A permit to attend a school outside fhe attendance area
of residence is valid until the end of the school year
for which it is issued. It is renewable on a year-to-year
basis depending upon availability of space in the re-
ceiving school. A student requesting renewed assign-
ment shall have priority over new transfer requests.
Students now attending a school building under the
freedom of enrollment policy may continue their at-
tendance in the assigned building where there is avail-
able classroom space without re-submitting an ap-
plication. However, elementary graduates under the
freedom of enrollment policy desiring a transfer for
the purpose of meeting requirements for a course or
improving racial balance must re-submit an applica-
tion.

f. Excepting those students returning to their home
schools upon completion of a course, students desiring
to return to their home school district may do so at
the end of the school year, unless an emergency situ-
ation arises, and will not be eligible for further free
enrollment transfer.

g. An application for transfer may be obtained from the
principal of the home school district or the Student
Relations Office. All requests for transfer shall be
mailed or delivered by the parent to the Student Re-
lations Office for action.
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h. Transportation will be the responsibility of the Board

of Education for all students eligible and approved

for transfer iu.d who volntarily transfer under Option

b where racial balance is improved in the receiving
school.

i. This transportation is granted on the same basis as

other students being transported. Thus, elementary

and middle school children who reside more than 1.5
miles from their schools of attendance. and high school

students who live beyond 2 miles and are unable to

obtain public transportation that will get them to the

school of attendance within one hour, will be eligible.

2. Student Exchanges Within the City

a. Any two pupils, or group of pupils, attending schools
within the district may voluntarily exchange places

for a semester or a year if such exchange will improve

the racial balance in the receiving schi as and does not

adversely affect the racial balance of the sending
school.

b. Procedures shall be the same as for transfers as enum-

erated above.

111. FACULTY ASSIGNMENT PRACTICES

Faculty assignments for each school in the Dayton

Public Schools shall continue to reflect a racial coipo-

sition that approximates the ratio of black to white facul-

tv in the entire school system. The Superintendent of

j Schools is specifically charged with the duty of seeing

that this policy is implemented.

Faculty personnel shall continue to be hired on a non-

discriminatory basis. It is the intent of the Dayton

Board that every reasonable effort will be utilized to in-

4
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sure that the percentage of black faculty, as related to
the entire faculty in the system, vill continue, at a mini-
mum, at the approximate level that has existed in the
system since 1970,

IV. HIRING POLICIES FOR CLASSIFIED PERSONNEL

A. Clerical, Custodial aiid Food Service Staff

The racial characteristic for the City of Dayton as re-
flected in the 1970 census tract is 31.0% black. The racial
characteristic for the Dayton Public Schools is somewhat
less than this since the zones embodying schools lying
outside the City of Dayton are predominantly white in
their racial composition.

The clerical staff of the Dayton Public Schools is ur-
rently 65% white and 35% black,

o * 0

The custodial staff of the Dayton Public Schools is
currently 52% white and 48% black. The Food Service
Staff presently employs 304 persons, Of these, 181 are
white and 123 are black, with a ratio of 60% white and
40% black.

As for the clerical, custodial and food service em-
playees, it is the policy of the Board that the employ-
ment of black minorities in these positions will continue
to reflect the proportion of the black to white population
residing within the Dayton School District.

B. Maintenance Staff

In December of 1972 the supervisor of the imainten-
ance and transportation division, who was white, re-
signed. This vacancy was subsequently filled by a quali-
fied black supervisor.
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In October of 1972, the Dayton Board of Education-
entered into a bargaining agreement with the Building

Trades Council. A provision in this agreement created

a new classification entitled "pre-apprentice trainee".

Through the use of this classification, the Dayton Board

resolves to integrate the maintenance staff.

Before June 15, 1973, the Board will hire five "pre-
apprentice trainee" minority craft employees. Two elec-

tricians, two plumbers and one glazier will initially be
employed.

Since there are presently eight maintenance crafts-

men who have attained age 60 or beyond the opportunity

for further minority employment will exist upon the re-
tirement of these craftsmen. Additionally, further op-

portunity for minority employment will exist if the main-
tenance department is expanded or any existing crafts-

man terminates his employment with the Dayton Board.

It is the intent of the Dayton Board to integrate each

union craft in the maintenance division. Every reasonable
effort will be utilized to employ minority craftsmen, ap-
prentices or "pre-apprentice trainees" in order that the

black to white ratio within each craft approximates the
proportion of black to white population residing within

the Dayton School District.

V. SCIENCE ENVIRONMENTAL PROGRAM

This plan proposes the establishment of a city-wide
elementary science program guided by a trained staff of

about 50 persons working in four centers. These staff
members will be selected from the most active and in-

novative science teachers in the Dayton Public schools.

About 11,000 pupils in grades 5 through 8 and their
teachers will make a field trip once every two weeks to

a center designed and staffed to provide training and

experiences as briefly described herein.
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About 500 high school students will participate in the
centers on a credit basis, to assist younger students in
learning to use the science skills in solving problems.

Students in grades 1-4 will visit a science center once
or more during the year.

A science-mobile will be used by students to simulate
environments too distant to reach.

@ . o

The specific content of the program will be developed
and promoted by cooperative effort of social studies and
science specialists of the curriculum development de-
partment. The program will concentrate on concepts that
relate to the natural environment, to the use man has
made of the products of nature, and to man himself. In
the program, these concepts may mingle in any one
learning experience, so that the program becomes multi-
disciplinary in implementation.

Children will be transported to the Environmental
Centers on buses. A trained aide, speaking on an audio-
equipped bus, will point out places of interest as the bus
moves from the neighborhood school to the Center.
Bus trips will vary for a class from time to time with
routes chosen so that children may get comprehensive
views of the entire city. Audio equipment on alternate
backs of bus seats will encourage pupils to interact with
the guides. The bus driver and the bus travel resource
aide will serve as para-professionals in the course of the
day's program.

Activities will vary with the grade level of pupils in-
volved and the program planned for the day. Activities
for the elementary grades will be directed toward a
general ecological approach for developing environmental
awareness. A multi-sensory approach will be used so
that the pupil will be more "totally" involved in the ac-
tivities. Trails and sites will be selected to meet the
program needs which have been planned for the day.

n.
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Teachers of participating students will become part of
the teaching team and will gain expertise in the ways

to follow up activity in their home schools.

The visiting students will be scheduled so as to rep-

resent a racial and socio-economic mix similar to that

of the entire school district.

VI. PATTERSON-STIVERS VOCATIONAL HIGH
SCHOOL

Beginning in September of 1973 the facility presently

designated as Stivers High School will be converted, over

a three year period, to a co-operative vocational facili-

ty which will be known as the Stivers campus of the

Patterson-Stivers Vocational High School. Ninth and

3 most tenth grade students selected for the vocational
program will be enrolled at the Stivers campus. The

remaining tenth grade and all eleventh and twelfth grade

vocational students will attend the Patterson campus

(presently the facility housing Patterson Co-operative

High School).

The students currently enrolled in grades nine through

eleven at Stivers High School and the students of those

classes moving into this geographical zone during such
three year period will continue to attend Stivers until their

respective classes graduate. As of September, 1973 all stu-

dents residing within the present geographic boundaries
of Stivers, with the exceptions as noted above will

be assigned on an equitable and non-racial basis to
Wilbur Wright and Belmont Highs Schools. The re-

sulting realignment of the Stivers boundaries will pro-

vide for increased integration in the two receiving schools.



17

VII. THE MUSICAL STEREOPTICON
0 0 ,

The immediate objective is the formation of an ele-
mentary and high-school all-city band orchestra and
chorus. Each performing group will participate in con-
certs and joint musical ventures with other students of
similar interest and proficiency from all schools within
the district.

Based upon the successful implementation of the fore-
going musical groups it is proposed that the program
be expanded in subsequent years to embrace additional
musical involvement of students, parents, and citizens.
Envisioned at the present time are combined school
marching bands (with joint marching performances),
joint school pep bands, rock groups, gospel choirs, jazz
lab bands, and musical theater groups. The program will
be expanded to add one of these groups annually over a
six year period.

Student participation in each group, will be based
primarily upon ability and each group shall contain both
black and white students. Prospective student members
must be members of the musical group of their own
school and will be selected for membership in the all-
city performing group by the school director.

VIII. INTEGRATED ATHLETICS
o0 0

1. All elementary schools having no minorities on their
squads will be required to schedule league or non-
league contests with schools that do have such minori-
ties represented. All elementary principals and coaches
will be apprised of plans before league organizational

ZQ;Z T7 . ... ..
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meetings are held in the fall of next school year. At that

time this plan will be built into each league schedule.

2. Middle school principals and coaches will make up their

athletic schedules. Such athletic schedules must meet

the requirements set forth in paragraph 1 above. Be-

cause of location of middle schools in different parts

of the city the middle school league will present a

well-integrated schedule.

3. All high school league schedules will be administered

from central athletic office to insure that racial isolation

does not exist. In city championship meets all high

schools will be entered against all other high schools.

4. Scheduling of all future invitational tournaments of any

interscholastic sport will be done in a manner so that

the participating schools will represent a cross section

of the total Dayton community.

IX. MINORITY LANGUAGE PROGRAM.

The purpose of a minority language program is to edu-

cate teachers and other school personnel to recognize

specific legitimate linguistic differences that exist in many

varieties of American English. This knowledge shouldii aid teachers in the tasks of teaching reading and writing

(in standard English) to pupils of different cultural

backgrounds.

X. LIVING ARTS CENTER

Students enrolled in the Living Arts program are self-

selected. Interest, desire, enthusiasm, creative potential

and a personal interview are the criteria for acceptance.

During the spring semester of 1972, 843 students were

enrolled in the program. Currently, the non-white en-j rollment approximates thirty-five per cent of the entire
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enrollment. Including in-school workshops, combined
programs at the center reach an average of 2,000 stu-
dents per week.

Basically, the Living Arts Center consists of five sepa-
ate departments; art, creative writing, dance, and drama.

0 0 0

XI. CONTROL CENTERS.

A. Security - Rumor Control Center

0 0 0

To accomplish such an educational program, an at-
mosphere and climate must be established within the
schools which will be a supportive adjunct to the educa-
tional program. Community - school - parent involve-
ment must become a constructive force in meeting prob-
lem situations and dispelling rumors. An organized on-
going Security-Rumor Control Center should assist in
creating the climate necessary to meet the challenges
of modern, universal, quality education.

B. School Guidance Centers

The Board of Education and staff of the Dayton Public
School- System are committed to providing a quality edu-
cational program for every boy and girl in the District.
This philosophy includes all the children of all people,
emphasizes the need to reduce school dropouts, and pro-
vides a program suited to each student's needs.

Historically, this aim has not been reached, and many
students have found the school irrelevant to their needs,
These students have dropped out or failed to enroll at
all. In other cases economic deprivation has influenced
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parents to withhold students from school. The conditions

which create these problems must be attacked and the

students who are being deprived of the opportunity for

an education must be taught.

C. Area Learning Centers

The Learning Centers will be operated for students

between the ages of thirteen through nineteen com-

mencing with the 1974-75 school year. Young people
who apply between the ages of nineteen through twenty-
one, could be accepted with approval. One Center will
be designated for students between the ages of thirteen

through fifteen (generally grades 6th, 7th, and 8th),
and the other Center will accommodate students be-

tween the ages of sixteen through nineteen and others

who qualify with approval. The Centers will be for
students whose parents or guardians are residents of the

Dayton Public School District. The Centers are con-

ceived to meet the individual needs of school dropouts or
those deemed potential dropouts by their home school

principal.

D. Dayton Vocational School

It is proposed that the Dayton Vocational School pro-
posal will become a reality at the start of the 1974-75

school year. Educational training in occupational-type

work is offered to suit various student needs and abili-

ties at the Dayton Vocational School. Coordinated Vo-

cational Academic Education is being provided for young
men between the ages of fifteen and twenty-one, while

Vocational Rehabilitation Training is offered for another
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group composed of both young men and young women
ages sixteen to twenty-one.

B. PORTION OF PLAN SUBMITTED BY DAY-
TON BOARD IN COMPLIANCE WITH OR-
DER OF JANUARY 7, 1975.

(Title omitted in printing).

APPENDIX A

STAFFING

In 1969 the Dayton Board of Education indicated its intent
to have the racial composition of the staff of each school in the
district reflect the ratio of the black-white composition of the
staff in the entire system. Although the goal has been at-
tained, the Board recognizes the need for the continuance of
this staffing policy. Consequently, the Board reaffirms that
staffing assignments in each school will continue to reflect a
racial composition that approximates the ratio of the black-
white composition of the staff for the entire district.

APPENDIX B

TEACHER IN-SERVICE

The purpose of teacher in-service as a segment of the de-
segregation plan is to provide training which enables teachers
to work more effectively in newly desegregated situations. An
estimated 200 teachers, comprising all faculty members new
to the Dayton Public School District will be involved in the
in-service programs. Additionally, teachers newly assigned
to specific schools and those recommended by their administra-
tors will be accommodated in accordance with space and fi-
nancial limitations.

* ,
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APPENDIX C

ROOSEVELT HIGH SCHOOL

Roosevelt students presently in the 9th, 10th, and 11th
grades will be given the choice of Open Enrollment to attend
the high school of their choice. These students will be given
priority over any other Open Enrollment movements. Sta-
tistics indicate that if the school day is expanded from six
one-hour periods to seven one-hour periods that there will
be sufficient space in Dayton high schools to receive all Roose-

velt students. This expansion will be done without affecting
the present five period teaching day of teachers. Therefore,
Roosevelt can close its doors as a comprehensive high school
in June 1975.

APPENDIX D

DOWNTOWN MAGNET HIGH SCHOOL

and

SATELLITE MAGNET PROGRAMS

The magnet high school will be located in the downtown
area so that all qualified students will have easy access to the
formal facilities as well as to various agencies and institutions
which will be utilized by the students in the magnet schools.

S11 The satellite magnet schools located at Dunbar and Roth
were selected because of their site location and their racial
composition. It is the hope of Dayton City Schools that in-
terested and qualified students from throughout the entire dis-

trict will enroll in the magnet courses and thus reduce isolation
at Dunbar and Roth. Moreover, the Dunbar and Roth fa-
cilities are adequate since there is ample accommodation for

I ~ an increase in the student body as well as appropriate accom-
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modation at the two sites for certain specialized courses which
have been identified.

The combination of the Downtown Magnet School and
satellite locations at Dunbar and Roth will attract a sufficient
number of students throughout the city to reflect a more rep-
resentative racial composition of the City of Dayton. In
order to develop an academically and vocationally enriched
magnet high school for qualified students, the administration
will initiate a challenging course offering program which al-
lows students to approach their potential and to insure the
best use of available educational resources.

APPENDIX E

KISER CAREER CENTER

Beginning in the fall of 1975, a variety of innovative voca-
tional education programs will be implemented in the Kiser
High School building. All programs will be operational by
September 1976. Both new and remodeled facilities will house
the programs. Programs in remodeled areas should be ready
by September 1975 while those in extensively remodeled and
totally new areas will be operational in September 1976.

APPENDIX F

THE STRUCTURED ALTERNATIVE ELEMENTARY
SCHOOL

The primary emphasis in this school will be on basic aca-
demic skills and subject matter, the establishment of good
study habits, and improved self-image resulting from aca-
demic achievement. The school will seek to build within each
child a sense of responsibility, confidence, pride in that Ameri-
can heritage common to all, a strong respect for law and order,
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and a healthy regard and tolerance for the rights of others.

The school will provide the kind of quiet and orderly environ-

ment needed by many children in order to learn.

Enrollment at SAES will be open to all students in the

Dayton City Schools. The final selection process will result

in an integrate' student body. Selection of students will be

made according to guidelines developed by the Instruction
Department in cooperation with the Student Development De-

5 partment. Parents who send their children to the SAES will
do so entirely of their own free will and in so doing must

R agree to abide by the established rules and policies of the

school.

APPENDIX G

ELEMENTARY SCHOOL MAGNET PROGRAMS:
Intermediate Grade Levels

1. MODERN FOREIGN LANGUAGE
6th, 7th, 8th Grades

In addition to offering instruction in such modern foreign

languages as Spanish, German, or French, or one for which

the community expresses a great deal of interest, a general

language course will be offered.

In order to implement the program, transporting students

to one site would be required. Carlson School has been se-

lected. The school day can be divided into three blocks of
time allowing for up to 360 students to be served. For minimal

V implementation of the program six (6) foreign language teach-

ers will be required. Students will attend the foreign language

magnet on days they are not scheduled for the science centers.

Foreign language will be a voluntary study option.
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2. BUSINESS EDUCATION SKILLS
6th, 7th, 8th Grades

Many middle-school age youngsters will benefit from typing
and other business education subjects, if available to them.
For these pupils manipulative skills will be further developed,
other disciplines understood and appreciated, knowledge
gained concerning careers in business and all of its related
fields, and a variety to the school curriculum provided which
will enhance the holding power of the educational processes.

Youngsters who select this magnet will be transported from
their home schools to the magnet site on the days that they
do not attend the science centers. It is anticipated that ap-
proximately 300 students can be accommodated by this magnet
in three time blocks per day.

3. CAREER MOTIVATION CENTER
4th and 5th Grades

The oasic structure of the program will give the students
who elect to attend the Center the opportunity to explore
four broad occupational groupings during the school year.

During the school year students will have the opportunity
to explore four occupational groups. They will spend 4 hours
per week (2 - 2 hour sections) at the center. Each of the
four teachers nt the center will have two 2-hour classes daily,
four days per ;eek. Each class will enroll approximately 25
students. It is anticipated that the implementation year 1975-
76 this center will serve approximately two hundred twenty
students.

Occupational Group Description
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Group Sub-Clusters

I. Business & office

Marketing & D Stribution

Communications & Media

II. Animal Science & Agriculture

Environment

III. Foods, Housing, and Hospitality

Health

Recreation

IV. Construction

Manufacturing

Transportation

APPENDIX H

(Other Programs)

1. EXPANSION OF SCIENCE CENTER PROGRAM

;,Science programs in Dayton elementary and middle schools

as in other large city schools, vary widely in sophistication.
Books and other curricular materials are provided; however,I facilities and equipment for science teaching and learning are
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minimal in most buildings. The expertise of teachers in guiding
the learning of children in science ranges from imaginative
and exciting to the direction of pupils in reading science
textbooks.

The Dayton Board of Education acted to improve this situ-
ation through the establishment of four Science Centers in
1973. The 3,500 youngsters attending the five day Dayton
middle schools were exempted from the program. It is now
proposed that these children participate in the Science Cen-
ters effective September 1975.

2. SCIENCE ENVIRONMENTAL CENTER

A sustained period of students inter-racial contact involving
both a structured and non-structured situation where students
can freely and naturally interact.

* * 0

An outdoor camping experience proposes to provide for the
establishment of an environmental program to involve all sixth
grade students on a voluntary basis. A racially balanced
group of approximately 60 students and their teacher will
comprise one group of campers. By using two different camp
sites, it is estimated that the entire 3,200 sixth graders will
have the opportunity for this experience during the fall and
spring sessions.

3. ALTERNATE SCHOOL PROGRAM
for

INTERMEDIATE GRADE LEVEL STUDENTS

The Dayton Public Schools like most urban school dis-
tricts today has a sizable number of sixth, seventh and eighth
grade students who have either become alienated from the
regular school program or who are experiencing academic

nU
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and interrelational difficulties to the point that early school

leaving (dropping out) will probably be the outcome. A high
percentage of those who drop out of school and into the,,Norld

of the unemployed and unemployable are close to the age of
sixteen. Invariably school records indicate that those leaving

at this time experienced little success and varying degrees of

alienation in the intermediate grades.

O 0 6F

The program will involve 150 students representative of
all kindergarten through eighth grade elementary schools and
middle schools in the Dayton School District. The population

will reflect the same racial composition as does the total

Dayton school population and efforts will be made to balance
the enrollment with regard to sex and to economic back-

grounds of the participants. Prospective students will initially

be identified by their home school administrator but the final
decision concerning prospective enrollment will be made by a

committee consisting of a school psychologist, the Director of

Alternative Education Programs, and the project coordinator.

Prior to enrollment an applicant, along with a parent or guard-

ian, will be interviewed by the coordinator or his designee

at which time the school's program will be explained. No

student will be enrolled without parental permission. Also,

all students will have the right to return to their home school

at the conclusion of any semester.

4. SPECIAL NEEDS PROGRAMS

The following magnet programs serve the whole school

community:

The Daytime Center

Handicapped Programs
* 0
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Intergovernmental - Summer Program with City of Dayton

VEET (Vocational Exploration, Experience, and Training)

5. ORIENTATION AND REGISTRATION CENTER

In depth in-service for orientation and registration for all
student services advisors, student action advisors and coun-
selors will be provided, as will all information concerning
all programs, courses and extra curricular offerings in the
Dayton School System.

6. COMPONENT FOR MONITORING DESEGREGATION

In each component reference has been made to "reflecting
the existing racial composition of the school district." The
curre
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nt racial composition of the Dayton school district is
oximately sixty per cent white and forty per cent black.

order to establish that these goals are being met, an ad-
committee under the direction of the Superintendent

hools, will monitor and make recommendations pertinent
implementation of the components of the desegregation

The committee will establish its own monitoring pro-
es, but will report to the Board of Education, through
uperintendent of Schools, no less than quarterly. The

life of the committee will be for three years. After
time, if the plan has been fully implemented, the coin

will be reconstructed and will monitor less vigorously
eport less frequently. It is anticipated that within four
once the plan has been fully implemented and oper-

l, the committee will no longer be necessary, and will be
d out.
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7. ELEMENTARY ATHLETICS

To implement an integrated atmosphere for seventh and

eighth grade interscholastic athletics, already present in the
high school interscholastic athletics, programs will move

toward city-wide seventh and eighth grade competition for
the 1975-76 athletic seasons.

8. METROPOLITAN EXCHANGE PROGRAM

The Board will continue to explore voluntary metropolitan
integration authorized in its January 1972 resolution. The

Board recommends that every school district within a 15-mile

radius of Dayton have the opportunity to exchange a number
of student spaces in the Dayton District for a like number

of student spaces in its district.

APPENDIX I

A METROPOLITAN EDUCATIONAL CENTER
FOR THE

COMMUNICATION ARTS
#. * 0

It is proposed that an educational center for the communi-

cation arts be developed for public and non-public juniors
and seniors from the greater Metropolitan Dayton area, in-

clusive of all of Montgomery County. Students, who are

recommended by their respective high schools, will select the

subject area in which they wish to gain in-depth experience and

receive specialized instruction. Many high school students com-

plete their secondary curriculum requirements in three or three

and one-half years and it is during the eleventh and twelfth

grades that opportunity is provided for variation in schedule
and program.

The career-oriented phase of communication arts education

will attract students from every school, every section of the
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total community, and will represent all racial and ethnic
groups; racial balance will be maintained. Classes offered
during morning and afternoon hours, flexibly scheduled, will
accommodate 600 or more young people who can benefit by
concentrated study and skill development in this rapidly ex-
panding career field.

C. PORTION OF PLAN SUBMITTED BY PLAIN-
TIFFS IN COMPLIANCE WITH ORDER OF
JANUARY 7, 1975.

(Title omitted in printing).

Data for the current school year for the Dayton Public
Schools indicate there are 47 elementary schools (Table I)
with an enrollment of 28,588 pupils, 13,164 (46 per cent)
of whom are blacks. There are 5 middle schools with an en-
rollment of 3,537 pupils, 2,431 (68.7 per cent) of whom are
blacks. Eleven high schools enroll 14,820 pupils, 6,739 (45.5
per cent) of whom are blacks.

The elementary schools display a wide range of grade or-
ganization - prekindergarten through grade 2 (1); through
grade 3 (1); through grade 5 (6); and through grade 8 (11);
kindergarten through grade 3 (2); through grade 5 (3); and
through grade 8 (19); grades 4 through 8 (2); grades 4
through 5 (1); and grades 3 through 5 (1). Middle schools
house grades 6 through 8, and the high schools grades 9
through 12.

Sixteen of the elementary schools are over 90 per cent black
in enrollment; 17 are over 90 per cent white. Five secondary
schools are over 90 per cent black; two are over 90 per cent
white.
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TENTATIVE SAMPLE FORM
FOR HIGH SCHOOL APPLICATION

Name .......... ............ .......

Address ......... ....................

Class you will enter in September 1976:

Freshman . ... Sophomore .. Junior .... Senior

High school attendance zone in which you reside .........

If you are currently attending a high school, indicate which
one ...................... ...

On this form you will be asked to indicate three choice of high
schools for September 1976. Be sure to read carefully the ma-
terial below so that you will understand how to make your
choice.

1. Juniors and seniors will be allowed to continue in their
present school, if they so choose.

2. Except for Belmont-Dunbar and Wilbur Wright-Roth, all
students who elect to attend the school in their attendance
zone are assured that they will receive that assignment.

3. Any student may request attendance at any of the schools
in the city, but only a very limited number of students
will receive assignments to schools outside the attendance
zone of their residence.

4. Students currently enrolled at Stivers-Patterson will be
able to continue at that school, if they so choose.

5. Students residing in the Roth-Wilbur Wright zone and the
Belmont-Dunbar zone should understand that these four
schools will be desegregated in September 1976. Obvi-
ously many students residing in those zones will be as-
signed a school on the opposite side of the city from
where they reside. Entering freshman and sophomores will
be randomly selected for these assignments until the re-
quired quotas are met. Some students or groups of

. l
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students might prefer to volunteer for their assignment
because in that way groups of students could be assured
of being assigned to school together. Every possible con-
venience will be afforded students electing or assigned to
a distant school, e.g., on time express buses, late after-
noon and evening activity buses, and whenever appro-
priate, home-to-school and school-to-home delivery.

D. PORTION OF PLAN TRANSMITTED BY
DAYTON BOARD IN DECEMBER OF 1975.

2. RTA Transportation should be utilized more extensively
in light of the lower cost. This would be especially true
at the high school level. Whereas, the new desegregation
plan will necessitate some increase in the numbers of
students requiring transportation, RTA should be utilized
almost exclusively to handle such increases. A corollary
benefit would accrue if the Board owned the St. John
buses. The District could then utilize RTA to the maxid
mum; even to the point of creating special routes and
inaugurating new service, which they cannot now im-
plement because of laws governing competition from the
contractual line (St. John). If the Board acquired St.
John, it could utilize RTA to streamline the total trans-
portation program. RTA routes are such that all areas
of the city are covered with no location, except too re-
mote areas, more than .4 miles from a route.

3. The utilization of taxicabs for transportation should be
eliminated. Two primary reasons justify this recommen-
dation.

A. It is extremely expensive transportation for the
minimal results.

B. It tends to create highly emotional feelings on the
part of Black students. They react angrily when
observing White students arriving at the Roth
and Dunbar magnets via taxicabs.
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E. REPORT OF THE MASTER JOHN k.
FINGER.

(Title omitted in printing).

On December 29, 1975 the Honorable Carl B. Rubin, United
States District Judge, appointed me (John A. Finger, Jr. of
Providence, Rhode Island) Master in the above titled action,
directing the supervision of the redistribution of students on
a school by school basis, and the establishment of attendance

,f zones under the guidelines to be followed whenever possible.

Previously the Court had appointed me as Consultant to the
f Court directing the School Board to provide assistance and

information as requested by the Consultant.
No hearings have been held in carrying out the duties as-

signed to the Master. One meeting was held with the at-

3 torneys in the case to inform them of procedures and activi-

ties being followed. As Master, my activities have consisted

of meeting with School Board personnel, primarily the Super-
intendent of Schools and his executive staff, the reading and

analyzing of reports and proposals prepared for me by the
Superintendent and his staff.

Dayton, Ohio, a city of 245,000 is located in southwestern
Ohio, some 50 miles due north of Cincinnati. The city is lo-

p cated in the east central part of Montgomery County, popu-
lation 610,000. The standard metropolitan area, of which

Dayton is the center city, has a population of approximately
850,000.

The Dayton School District is not coterminous with the city
of Dayton. Portiownship an T hip, Madison Town-

ship, Mad River Township and the village of Riverside are

included in the Dayton School District. Some portions of the

city of Dayton are in the Harrison Township School District,
the Jefferson Township School District, and the Mad River

Local School District. Appendix A is a map showing the

Dayton School District and the city of Dayton boundaries.

The Dayton School District has a population of approximate-
ly 268,000 and a school population of 45,000, of which slightly
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less than 50% are black. With the exception of the Trotwood-
Madison District, which is approximately 25% black and Jeffer-
son Township District which is 80% black, the school districts
in the Dayton standard metropolitan area are predominantly
white. Of the approximately 170,000 students in the Dayton
standard metropolitan area, less than 30,000 are black. Twenty-
two thousand (22,000) of these black students are in the
Dayton School District.

The Court's Order of Appointment limited my activities
as Master to those of supervising the School Department
in the development of new attendance zones and to reporting
the numbers of students to attend each school, but I would be
remiss in my responsibilities if I did not include some com-
ments about my views on Dayton and its metropolitan area.

I have been subjected to a perspective on the school in
Dayton from a variety of sources, a perspective which views
many black neighborhoods as undesirable, and perspective
which recognizes that some white parents wil reluctant
to send children to schools in these neighborhoods because of
concern for the child's social well-being and perhaps for his
physical well-being as well. Each person has his own per-
ceptions through which situations are interpreted. I am glad
to be able to report that I have not seen disorganized schools I
in Dayton. From what I have seen, parents should not be
apprehensive for their children's safety and effective educa-
tion in any of the schools in Dayton.

Many people have expressed to me their Poncern that un-
less some corrective action is taken Dayton will become in-
creasingly black. Whatever the causes, the fact is that Met-
ropolitan Dayton is predominantly white, but within it is a
sector that is predominantly black.

I have made some brief studies of the history of Ohio
School Districts and the laws and regulations pertaining there-
to. Because historically Ohio had a great many small school
districts, procedures have been established for the elimination
and consolidation of districts. According to a United States
Office of Education Report on the Statistics of State School
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{4 Systems (OE, HEW, OE 20020-66) in 1931-32, there were

2043 school districts in Ohio. By 1951-52 there were 1429

and in 1965-66 there were 738. In 1975 there were 617.

There are a number of authorized procedures for changing

school district boundaries. The State Agencies, the State Board

of Education, the County Board of Education, the Dayton

Board of Education, and other local boards of education in and

near Montgomery County can initiate procedures authorized

by statute of the Ohio General Assembly to alter school dis-

trict boundaries. In a state where there are a number of

cities with extensive racial isolation, some of which are in de-

segregation litigation, one would have expected the State

Board of Education to be actively involved in studies of the

feasibility of achieving the elimination of racial isolation

through alteration of school district boundaries, especially

when such studies and resultant recommendations are spe-

cifically authorized by the General Assembly, but I believe
none have been recently undertaken. Given too, the con-

sequences for the entire area of increased racial isolation in the

Dayton School District, one would think that all citizens in

the metropolitan area whose center is Dayton, would recog-

nize their stake, and would seek to assure the healthy develop-

ment of the metropolitan area, yet neither the local boards

nor the County Board acts. Indeed the facts may be that the

metropolitan area schools are withdrawing from cooperative

activities with the Dayton School District because they fear

involvement in a metropolitan plan.

The Court is required by the Order of the Sixth Circuit
to desegregate the Dayton School District Schools by Sep-

tember 1976. There are, however, some additional steps that

the Court might consider.
The Court could direct the State Board of Education to

submit proposals for the redistricting of the Dayton School

District and surrounding districts.

The Court could direct the school boards of all districts,

which are in Montgomery County and possibly Greene Coun-

ty, too, to submit to the Court a redistricting plan which



37

would bring each district to not more than 30% black with
a view to providing district desegregation plans in which no
school would exceed 40% black.

There have been proposals made by Professor James Cole-
man of the University of Chicago to utilize a voucher plan
as a means of desegregation. Metropolitan Dayton might be
an area where such a plan would be workable as one of sev-
eral desegregation procedures for the area. The Court could
direct the State Board of Education or some other state
agency to undertake the detailed development of such a plan
and could require the cooperation of the area local boards of
education.

RECOMMENDED DESEGREGATION PLAN
FOR DAYTON

Introduction

A desegregation plan must first comply with the mandates of
the Court which establishes the guidelines for what is to be
done, but one cannot be unmindful of the magnitude of the
problems which can be encountered in implementing a de
segregation plan.

For a plan to work effectively means that children will re-
ceive good educational experiences, and that the schools and
the city will thrive and prosper. What actually will happen
in Dayton depends upon the citizens in Dayton, and what
they do both individually and collectively. Desegregated
schools can be healthy learning environments where children
and students share their common bonds as people and citizens
of Dayton. To make desegregation not the end of the world,
but the beginning, requires patience and tolerance and co-
operation. Children will not be harmed because they are in
desegregated schools, but each child and each student needs
the assurance of parents and of the community that the pro-
gram can function effectively. Even with the most efficient
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planning there are bound to be problems. Each person needs

to exercise restraint so that problems and confrontations can

be resolved, rather than be magnified and intensified.
Desegregation plans differ in the way in which students are

assigned to schools. While in some cities, desegregation re-
quires only the alteration of attendance zones, this technique

is neither feasible nor fair when the black and white com-
munities are isolated from each other. For most of the ele-
mentary schools and for some of the high schools, there does
not seem to be an alternative, except to pair schools.

Once the decision to use pairing has been made, several
alternatives are available as to the method of assigning stu-
dents to schools. A frequently used method is the grade as-
signment plan. In this procedure two paired schools, one in
a white residential area and one in a black or minority resi-

dential area, serve different grade level students. One school
might enroll only students in grades 1 through 3, and the
other school in the pair enroll only students in grades 4 through
6. A slight alteration of grade assignment pairings would

be to develop a new grade level organization such as 1-5, 6-8,
9-12 or 1-4, 5-8, 9-12, and select the schools to serve grades 5-8
so that all are located in one or the other of the black and
white communities. To avoid having the younger children of
one or the other communities being always the group bused

avaay from their residential area, a city might be zoned into

three or four large districts with the elementary schools (grades
1-4) being on one side of the city in one district and on the
other side in another district. Where there are geographic

barriers defining such districts such a procedure is most work-
able, for otherwise citizens residing in close proximity to

each other would experience differing treatment. Some might
have their elementary school children bused away from their
residential area for four years, while others would have their
middle school children (grades 5-8) attending school away
from their residential area.

There seems to be widespread agreement among the ad-
ninistrative staff of the Dayton Board of Education that the
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grade structure should be uniform with every elementary
school serving grades K-8, and high schools enrolling grades
9-12. While some citizens might disagree with that decision,
preferring to continue with the middle school organization,
I have felt it inappropriate to not allow such decisions to be
made by those responsible for the educational programs.

One provision of the Court Order indicated that children
were not to ride school buses for more than twenty min-
utes, nor to be bused a distance greater than two miles, if it
was possible to achieve this and still comply with the re-
quirement of desegregation of the schools.

These suggested Court Guidelines cannot be met. Wherever
feasible, schools have been desegregated by restructuring at-
tendance zones so as to comply with the suggested Guidelines
and so as to reduce transportation. Some paired schools are
in close proximity to each other and the distances and travel
times are within the suggested Guideliae. Some paired schools
are more than five miles apart. However, distance probably
is not as important a criterion as time of travel. Despite the
large distances separating some school pairs, the longest travel I
time should not much exceed twenty minutes. The School
Board through its administrative staff should make every ef-
fort to minimize travel time and to provide maximum comfort
and convenience for students.

Elementary School Pairing Plan

The plan for Dayton utilizes a unique method of pairing
elementary schools. While some elementary schools in Day-
ton are to be desegregated by redefining attendance areas,
others will be paired. In the paired schools each child will
spend one-half of each year in the school near home, and the
other half of the year in the other school. Thus, every child
will be a member of two schools. The child will not change
classmates nor teachers, but will at the middle of the vear
change buildings.al
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classmates and their teacher whom they will be with
for the year.

5. Bus routes will be established so that travel time be-
tween schools will be as short as possible. In some
attendance zones all children will walk to their school
and the buses run from school to school, but where it
will be more convenient, pick up points will be es-
tablished so that children will not have to first walk to
school.

6. At midyear, the school- will close for a few days while
teachers and some sup,; a ng staff move from one paired
school to the other. \ schools reopen, those stu-
dents who had been attending the school in their at-
tendance zone will go to the other paired school and
vice versa. Their teacher and their classmates will be
in that school.

Pairing Involving More Than Two Schools.

In some instances two schools are paired with one school.
This arrangement does not alter the experiences of individual
children or classes, for the children involved remain mem-
bers of two schools. Where one school is paired with two
schools, the administrative staff (principals and Leachers) in
devising the classes should select children so that for the
most part, the children residing in the same geographic area
are assigned to the same one of the paired schools. This does
not require precisely defined zones. It rather is an informal
arrangement so that neighbors in a geographic area have all of
their children in the same two schools.

With but one exception in the paired schools, each school
of the pair is almost exclusi ely one race or the other. Where
there are but a few children of the opposite race in the pre-
dominantly one-race schools, those children are to be included
in the pairing arrangement. The one exception is the Van
Cleve distri-t. The Van Cleve School is to be a dual function
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that does not participate in the pairing. This part of the

school will enroll approximately 350 students, half white,

half black. The other part will participate in the pairing

with Residence Park. The School Board may either rotate

the white students on a yearly basis who are assigned to the

integrated part or define a sub-attendance zone in the Van

Cleve district, in which an integrated population resides and

assign those students to the part of the Van Cleve School

which does not participate in the pairing. If there are other
similar situations, or if others develop, the above procedure
should be followed.

SCHOOL ASSIGNMENTS

Northern Region

1. Many of the attendance zones in the northern region

have been redefined. A Cornell Heights zone includes

part of Fairport, Fairview, Jefferson, and Gardendale.
Some of Jefferson is not in the northern district. Some

of Jefferson is zoned to Fairview. Some of Hickorydale
and Gettysburg is zoned to Belle Haven. The attached
map defines the new attendance zones.

2. Paired Schools:

Cornell Heights - Meadowdale
4 Brown - Jefferson

Shiloh - Fairport
Loos - Fairport
Gardendale - Valerie

3. Schools desegregated by zone changes:

Belle Haven
Fairview
Hickorydale
Gettysburg
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Central Region

1. An extended zone including parts of Jefferson and Van
Cleve has been defined for McGuffey, Webster, and
Allen. A MacFarlane zone has been defined encom-
passing parts of Weaver and Edison. Weaver is to be
closed. The attached map defines the new attendance
zones.

2. Paired Schools:
Huffman - Jackson
Franklin - Edison
Lincoln - MacFarlane
Washington - MacFarlane
Residence Park - Van Cleve
Residence Park - Kemp
Orville Wright - Westwood-McNary
Ruskin - Westwood-McNary

3. Schools Desegregated by Zone Changes:
Allen, Webster, McGuffy.

An area formerly in the Jefferson zone is included
with Allen, Webster and McGuffey. The School De-
partment will assign these students so that each of the
schools will enroll approximately the same proportion of
black students. Some black students now attending
McGuffey will be reassigned to Webster or Allen.

Southern Region

1. Irving area is rezoned. The Irving School is closed and
the students assigned to the Whittier School.

2. Paired Schools:
Grant - Carlson
Drevel - Jane Addams
Troy - Belmont
Troy - Horace Mann
Troy - Eastmont

004. 9@111M,
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Emerson - Whittier
Patterson - Whittier
Lewton - Highview
Cleveland - Wogaman

:r

r

0

PROJECTED ENROLLMENTS

Northern Region
Number of Students

Cornell Heights - Meadowdale 1250
Brown - Jefferson 1750

Shiloh - Fairport 700
Loos - Fairport 800

Gardendale - Valerie 625
Belle Haven 825
Fairview 750
Hickorydale 325
Gettysburg 425

Central Region
Number of Students

Huffman - Jackson 1025
Franklin - Edison 1100
Lincoln - MacFarlane 1300
Washington - MacFarlane 625
Residence Park - Van Cleve 1100
Residence Park - Kemp 900
Orville Wright - Westwood 900
Ruskin - Westwood-McNary 1100
Allen 900
Webster 850
McGuffey 425

Southern Region
Grant - Carlson 800
Drexel - Jane Addams 850
Troy - Belmont 800

S

% Black
53%
51%
45%
45%
54%
42%
45%
51%
55%

% Black

50%
43%
49%
49%
47%
47%
47%
51%
44%
44%
44%

48%
45%
44%
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Troy - Horace Mann 325 44%
Troy - Eastmont 775 44%
Emerson - Whittier 725 50%
Patterson - Whittier 725 50%
Lewton - Highview 575 49%
Wogaman - Cleveland 1675 47%

Note: Some of the facilities at Miami Chapel or another
nearby school may be utilized in addition to the
Troy Elementary School

Special Programs and Schools

Handicapped and Special Education Programs

Programs for handicapped students and special education
programs as well as the Occ'ipational Work Adjustment and
Alternate Middle School programs will remain in their present
locations or be relocated at the discretion of the Board of
Education. Students assigned to these programs need not
be involved in pairing. Kindergarten students will attend the
school in their attendance zone or will be assigned to other
nearby schools at the discretion of the Board of Education.

Magnet Schools

Miami Chapel will continue as an open enrollment magnet
school with a specialized structured curriculum.

Longfellow will be an elementary school serving grades 1-8
or other grades if the Board of Education deems that ap-
propriate. Longfellow will have a special Individual Guided
Educational Program.

Any elementary level student is eligible to attend either of
these schools. The Board of Education should try to accom-
modate requests for enrollment in these schools. However,
the Board is not required to run an extensive transportation
network to honor all requests, nor is the Board to allow the
basic pairing structure of the desegregation plan to be come
imbalanced because of enrollment in these schools. The target
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population for school enrollments should be 50% black and

50% white, but the Board may allow additional enrollment

within the Court Guidelines. Additional open enrollment mag-

net schools may be operated if applications so warrant, but

these are subject to the above strictures.

Magnet Programs for Grades 6, 7 and 8

In the current school year a number of middle schools are

in operation. Students not attending middle schools are pres-

ently allowed to elect the magnet programs so that they have

a considerable amount of choice available to them which

provides a diversity of programs.

The onset of desegregation during the 1976-77 school year

creates some difficulties with these magnet programs be-

cause the students being bused between paired schools would

be bused again to attend magnet programs. Arranging trans-

portation so that students would attend a magnet program

on the way to or on the way home from a paired school

j could partially but not completely alleviate this problem. With

the upper elementary grades, grades 6, 7 and 8 being as-

signed to elementary schools, rather than larger unit middle

schools or junior high schools as is the usual practice else-

where, some special provisions need to be made for this

group of students.
The school administrative staff has not yet completed its

plans for the location and operation of its magnet programs.

These programs will continue and be so located as to minimize

transportation and provide convenient program availability for

all students.

RECOMMENDED DESEGREGATION PLAN

FOR HIGH SCHOOLS

The Dayton administrative staff acting under my direction

t has submitted some suggestions to me for the high schools.

Especially endorsed and commended are their proposals to

continue the Alternate Learning Center, the Downtown Mag-
Eseilyedosd7 m ne
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net High School, tht Job Training Center, the Kiser Career
Programs, and the Citywide Cooperative Programs at Stivers-
Patterson. The proposal to create a Metropolitan Education
Center for the Communication Arts (MECCA) is an excellent
one. I have reviewed that proposal in considerable detail
and believe it is truly an innovative and valuable project.
Funding for this project is only partially assured. Since this
would be a school to serve Metropolitan Dayton, I recom-
mend that the Court direct the County Boards of Education
of Montgomery and Greene Counties, the State Board of
Education and the Dayton Board of Education to jointly pre-
pare a proposal for the funding and implementation of
MECCA.

The Dayton Board of Education has initiated programs in
Computer Technology at Dunbar High School and Communi-
cation and Mass Media at Roth High School. These programs
have not attracted many students, in part because they have
been phased in during the current school year. In the long
run the desegregation of Roth, Dunbar, Belmont, and Wilbur
Wright high schools will depend upon these schools providing
meaningful and effective programs for all students and upon
specialized programs being offered in these schools which will
attract diverse populations to them.

The Dayton Board of Education should prepare and submit a
plan for locating more unique and specialized programs in
these four high schools so that students can make meaningful
selections among these schools.

While it may not be possible to effectuate much program
change by September 1976, the Board should develop long-
term and short-term program strategies for these schools.

The recommended plan for desegregating the high schools
in Dayton primarily utilizes attendance zones, but a rather
involved procedure must be established because there are
exceptions to the general rule that students will attend the
high school in their attendance zone.

I
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The exceptions are:

a. Students who will be juniors or seniors in September

1976 may continue in their present high school.

b. Students may apply to the non-zoned schools, which are

Stivers-Patterson, and Kiser (grades 11 and 12).

c. Some students in the Dunbar Zone are to be assigned

to Belmont, some in Belmont assigned to Dunbar, some

in Wilbur Wright assigned to Roth and some in Roth

assigned to Wilbur Wright.

d. Some transfers to high schools outside a student's at-

tendance zone may be permitted when the transfer aids

desegregation.

There have been extensive discussions with the school ad-

ministrative staff as to the procedure to be followed in as-

signing students to Dunbar-Belmont and Wilbur Wright-Roth.

One proposal was to sub-divide each of the attendance zones

of Belmont, Roth, Dunbar and Wilbur Wright high schools

into two parts, an A Zone and a B Zone, and in alternate years

to assign students on a rotating basis from these sub-zones to

one or the other of the paired high schools. Even though it

fulfills the Order of the Court this sub-zoning procedure of

the administrative proposal has some shortcomings, the most

serious of which is that it reassigns more students than is

necessary.

My recommendation is for a procedure that would have all

students be given choices of high schools. These choices would

be accommodated, where possible. When the choice could

no longer be accommodated, students would be selected ran-

domly for their assignment. This selection procedure would

be repeated each year, but students entering their senior year

in a high school would have the right to continue in the school

they attended the previous year. This procedure seems to me

to be fairer to individual students, and to gradually allow

specialized programs to be developed, which would attract
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an integrated student body to the currently segregated high
schools.

Obviously in the coming year many students in the Belmont-
Dunbar zone and in the Roth-Wilbur Wright zone will be
required to attend the more distant school, for it seems un-
likely that sufficient students will choose schools in the pro-
portions that meet the Court Guidelines. There could be
considerable voluntary choice for the more distant school
since students or groups of students might prefer to volunteer,
and thereby be assured that present groups of friends are
not broken up by a rar. 'm selection process.

The number of students to be reassigned would be as
follows:

Entering 9th Grade Entering 10th Grade
From Belmont to Dunbar 225 225
From Dunbar to Belmont 150 150
From Wilbur Wright to Roth 200 150
From Roth to Wilbur Wright 125 125

The procedure for establishing high school attendance is
further clarified in the following pages, which consist of a
preliminary sample form which would be completed by all
students, who will be in high school in September 1976. The
sample form is tentative for it needs careful examination by
the school administrative staff to assure that all contingencies
have been included. The School Board, not the Court, would
provide the assurances of transportation efficiency and con-
venience indicated on the sample form.

The procedure of random selection of students does not
exclude the possibility of assignment by geographic areas.
After students have made their choices of high schools and
the assignments have been made based on these choices, the
School Board administrative staff could determine the num-
ber of students which must be reassigned between Dunbar-
Belmont and Wilbur Wright-Roth. They could then define
an area, several areas, or a number of small areas containing
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the proper number of students and the students residing in
these areas would be reassigned.

If you reside in the Roth, Wilbur Wright, Belmont or Dun-
bar zone and you volunteer for an assignment to the more
distant school, you will be making a commithnent for only
one year. At the end of the year you may request a different
assignment. In that case your name would be placed in the
random assignment pool. If your name is drawn, you would
continue at the more distant school. Those who for Sep-
tember 1976 are randomly selected for assignment at the
more distant school will have that as a permanent high school
assignment.

Please complete the remainder of this form.

if you are currently enrolled in a high school, do you wish to
continue in that school? Yes ........ No......

Irrespective of how you responded above, please indicate your
choices of high schools below.

My first choice is .. . . ....
My second choice is.....................
My third choice is ............ ...........

PROJECTED ENROLLMENTS FOR HIGH SCHOOLS
t SEPTEMBER 1976

Total Enrollment % Black
Belmont 2100 23%
Dunbar 1400 68%
Fairview 1000 54%
Kiser 900 35%
Meadowdale 1900 47%
Roth 1250 78%
Stivers-Patterson 2800 55%
Colonel White 1300 65%
Wilbur Wright 1550 32%
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Note: The Freshman and Sophomore classes at Belmont, Dun-
bar, Roth and Wilbur Wright will have the following
estimated enrollments:

Total Enrollment % Black
Belmont 1150 34%
Dunbar 800 44%
Roth 575 47%
Wilbur Wright 900 40%

ADDITIONAL CONSIDERATIONS AND
RECOMMENDATIONS

Transportation

An efficient transportation system is very important to as-
sure the effectiveness of desegregation. Long, crowded bus
rides, late buses, or lack of buses for after-school activities,
create discontent which may be directed at the Court or de-
segregation rather than at an inefficient transportation net-
work. Students are entitled to as much convenience as can
possibly be afforded them. Students should not be penalized
by inability to attend after-school activities because of new
school assignments.

The School Board should complete a preliminary transpor-
tation plan as soon as feasible reporting their overall plan
to the Court in sufficient detail to show whether sufficient
buses are available to provide the needed transportation.

Safety of Students

The School Board should work with law enforcement agen-
cies to prepare contingency plans to assure the safety of all
students. The School Board should informally describe to
the Court their progress in developing contingency plans as-
suring themselves and the Court that law enforcement officers
are adequately briefed and trained.
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Training of Teachers

The School Board is to make certain that all teachers are ade-

quately prepared to deal with the new situations which will

be encountered. If there are special problems in training

teachers for the desegregation program which warrant the

Court's consideration, it should be informed of the needs and

problems and of the possible ways in which resolutions can

be effectuated.

Continuation of Services to Students

Federal funding regulations under Title I sometimes result

in individual students losing eligibility for special services.
The School Board should make every effort to see that stu-

dents are in no way deprived of services as a result of their

reassignments. The Court should be informed if there is an

inability to provide needed services, indicating what steps

needs to be taken.

Funding for Desegregation

Throughout the nation, urban centers tend to have higher

tax rates than surrounding areas. The problem of providing

adequate funding for all services, including education, becomes

exacerbated when the tax base of cities erodes. Dayton is no

exception to what seems to be the general rule of higher city

taxes. Intervention in this problem is difficult, but the Court

needs to be continually apprised of the funding situation. The

Board of Education has made applications for federal funds

and seems assured that sizable funds will be available. How-

ever, like other governmental agencies, the Dayton Board of

Education has a limitation on the availability of contingency

funds of the kind necessary to support the specialized services

which are needed in carrying out school desegregation. A
successful educational program in Dayton is essential to as-

sure citizen satisfaction. The Court may wish to request

regular reporting by the School Board on its financial condition.
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VI. RELEVANT PLEADINGS

A. PLAINTIFFS' REQUEST FOR ADMISSIONS

Plaintiffs, pursuant to the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure,
request each defendant to admit the following facts. In ad-
dition, plaintiffs request that the following facts be stipulated
to by defendants prior to the pre-trial conference scheduled
for October 23, 1972.

1. In 1918 defendant Dayton Board assigned 4 black teach-
ers to a frame two-story house which was converted to a
school building for black students and which was located
immediately behind the Garfield school, a brick building. All
white children and all white teachers were assigned to the
brick building; only black teachers and black students were
assigned to the frame structure.

2. The following additional facts pertain to the Garfield
school, referred to in Request No. 1:

(a) In 1922 a lawsuit alleging unlawful segregation was
initiated by a parent of one of the black students assigned to
the frame structure behind the Garfield school. This lawsuit
entitled Reese v. The Board of Education of the School Dis-
trict of the City of Dayton, No. 670 (Ohio App., 2d Dist.,
Montgomery Co.), resulted in a decision by the Court of
Appeals on July 3, 1925, declaring the alleged segregation
practice at the Garfield school unlawful. This decision was
affirmed by the Supreme Court of Ohio, February 16, 1926.
114 O.S. 188

(b) After 1926, the Dayton Board continued to maintain
separate classes for black students with black teachers in the
frame building behind the Garfield school although the Reese
children (involved in the lawsuit (paragraph (a), supra) and
a few other black children were allowed to attend integrated
classes after the Ohio Supreme Court's decision,

7 - -~--- 7
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(c) At least 90% of the black children remained in the

frame building until about 1932, when the classes in the frame

building were moved to the brick building. At that time

(in the brick building) black teachers continued to teach

all black classes.

(d) White students who lived in the Garfield attendance

area were allowed to transfer to other schools during the

1930's. In 1936 Garfield became all black in student en-

rollment and, at about the same time, an all black faculty

was assigned to the school.

(e) After 1936, the Garfield school remained 100% black

until it was closed in 1961.

(f) In 1962 the Garfield attendance area was absorbed

by the newly-created McFarlane attendance zone.

3. The McFarlane elementary school (the former Dun-

bar High School) opened in 1962 under a newly-created zone

with a virtually all-black student enrollment and staff. The

McFarlane student enrollment in 1971-72 was 99.6% black.

4. The following facts pertain to the Wogamon elementary

school:

(a) During 1943 and 1944 white students in the Wogamon

zone were allowed to transfer out to other schools.

(b) In 1945 Wogamon became all black, with an all

black staff and a black principal.

(c) The Wogamon student body remains 100% black and

the staff remains majority black.

5. In 1919 the Dayton Board proposed to place black chil-
dren in the basement of the Willard school with two black

teachers. This proposal was not effectuated because of par-

ent protest and the refusal of a black teacher to teach in the

basement.

6. Between 1919 and 1935 white students in the Willard
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zone were allowed to transfer to other schools and Willard
became 100% black about 1935, at which time an all black
staff and a black principal were assigned to the school. Wil-
lard remained all black until it was closed in 1962 and its
zone absorbed by the McFarlane school.

7. The following facts pertain to the Dunbar High School:

(a) Dunbar opened in 1933 with an all black student en-
rollment, all black staff and a black principal.

(b) Unlike all other high schools in the Dayton system,
Dunbar had no attendance zone and attendance was voluntary.

(c) Black students attended Dunbar from all over the
City of Dayton, many passing white high schools such as
Stivers and Fairview in order to attend Dunbar.

(d) About 1949 black students were bused from Shawn
Acres Children's Home a distance of 8-10 miles to Dunbar.
This practice was discontinued as a result of protests by the
NAACP.

(e) White students living in the immediate vicinity of
Dunbar were allowed to attend other high schools such as
Roosevelt, whose zone overlapped the Dunbar area.

(f) Dunbar was not allowed to participate in intercity
athletics until the mid-1940's; Dunbar athletic teams played
all black high schools from other cities in other states.

(g) In 1959 defendant French, as Superintendent of Day-
ton Schools, stated, "For all intents this school (Dunbar) has
been a Negro school."

(h) In 1962 a new Dunbar High School was built in an
all black residential area, and the old Dunbar school became
McFarlane elementary school.

(i) The new Dunbar was given a geographic attendance
zone and opened all black (students and staff). Dunbar re-
mains 100% black,
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7A. The following facts pertain to Roosevelt and Roth

High Schools:

(a) Until about 1950 separate facilities, including separate

swimming pools and separate locker room facilities, were main-

tained at Roosevelt for black and white students.

(b) Roth High School opened in 1959, acquiring part of

the Roosevelt attendance area, with a capacity for approxi-

mately 1900 students but with an enrollment of only 662.

(c) The newly-created Roth zone included most of the

white residental areas in the pre-195 9 Roosevelt zone.

(d) Roosevelt's enrollment decreased by 644 students the

year Roth opened.

(e) The year Roth opened (1959) the black enrollment

at Roosevelt increased from approximately 60% to approxi-

mately 80%.

8. During the 1970-71 school year, 571 or 66% of the 873

black teachers in the Dayton system were assigned to the 20

over 90% black schools.

9. Not until 1951 did the Board of Education adopt a

policy of assigning any black citizen to teach in white or

mixed classrooms.

10. In 1954 of 162 non-traveling black teachers, 148 (91.4%)

were assigned to five schools with all black pupil populations.

Thereafter, the Board's policy continued, "to introduce Negro

teachers gradually, into schools having mixed or white popu-

lations when there is evidence that such communities are

ready to accept Negro teachers."

11. About 1951 the Board announced a policy, again for

the first time, of introducing white teachers in schools hav-

ing Negro population on November 30, 1954, only 8 full

or part-time white teachers, or 0.6% of the 1409 white teachers

were in these situations. Defendant French at that time as

Superintendent attributed such lack of success to the reluct
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ance of white teachers to teach in the black schools; moreover,
it was then the District's policy and so remained until the
late 1960's, not to assign or reassign white teachers to black
schools against their will. Even into the late 1960's white
teachers often were not hired or refused employment or were
assigned to predominately white schools in the District be-
cause of the availability of teacher openings in the suburban,
all white schools, the personal beliefs and behavior of white
applicants, and the policies and practices of the District.

12. Prior to 1968, the District employed 10 black assistant
principals.

13. Prior to 1968, all 10 assistant principals were assigned
to schools with 90% or more black pupils.

14. In 1970 there were 14 Negro principals.

15. In 1970 all Negro principals were assigned to schools
with over 90% Negro pupil populations.

16. As of 1970 the District employed 496 Negro elementary
school teachers. 435 or 87% of these teachers were assigned.
on a full-time basis to schools where the student body was
more than 70% Negro.

The District employed 181 Negro high school teachers as
of 1970; 86% were assigned on a full-time basis to schools
where the student body was more than 92% Negro.

17. Of the 26 black counselors employed by the system
as of 1970, 25 or 96.1% were assigned to schools where the
student body was more than 92% black. There was but one
Negro head coach in the system at Dunbar, 99.3% Negro.
There was a Negro assistant coach at the Roth School which
is 92.3% Negro; and the only other assistant coaches were at
the Dunbar School.

18. Of the 1662 white teachers employed in 1970, only
234 or 14% were assigned on a full-time basis to schools serv-
inig pupil populations in which their race was in a minority.

t
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19 Non-certified personnel and clerical staff were as-

signed in a similarly racial pattern.

20. During the 1967-68 school year substantial numbers

of white faculty transferred from predominately black schools

and were replaced primarily by black faculty.

21. After an H.E.W. compliance review, H.E.W. finding

of non-compliance with Title VI, and agreement by Defen-

dant Board entered into with H.E.W., teachers were reas-

signed to accomplish substantial faculty desegregation; but

the racial pattern in the allocation of other staff, including

non-certified personnel and clerical staff, persists.

22. In 1971-72 of 34,427 pupils in elementary schools, only

2,573 (7.5% of the total) attended schools which were less

than 80% black or white, while 28,256 (82% of the total) at-

tended schools which were more than 90% black or white.

23. Of the 14,929 black students in elementary schools,

12,520 were contained in 18 90% or more black schools with

but 282 white students; and of the 19,495 white pupils in

elementary schools, 15070 were contained in 23 schools more

than 90% white with but 381 black pupils.

24. Of 52 elementary schools, 40 served pupil enrollments

more than 90% black or 90% white; and while only 3 elementary

schools even roughly approximated the system-wide racial

mix, 25 contained pupil populations more than 99% black or

99% white.

25. This statistical pattern of similarly substantial duality

in pupil assignments exists in the middle and high schools and

has existed for as many years as there are records of the

Dayton Public Schools.

26. In the Dayton area, black citizens have been con-

tained in separate and distinct residential locations and their

residential choices have been restricted on a racial basis by

public and private discrimination.

vI
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This residential segregation is pervasive and long standing,
the direct result of discriminatory action and inaction at all
levels of government.

27. Despite defendant school authorities' continued aware-
ness of the residential segregation, they constructed schools
and imposed various student assignment policies and practices
which incorporated this residential segregation and resulted
in the substantial duality in pupil assignments described supra.

27A. Defendant school authorities, in cooperation with
the Dayton Metropolitan Housing Authority, constructed and
otherwise provided schools to serve pupil populations from
public housing and war housing projects, which were segre-
gated on a racial basis by official action; as a result of the
operation of various school assignment policies or practices,
the student body and staff of these schools were predominant-
ly of the same race as the public housing and war housing
projects.

28. Defendant school authorities, in cooperation with vari-
ous segments of real estate industry, constructed or other-
wise provided schools for the pupil populations from new
subdivisions or developments which were racially exclusion-
ary; as a result of various school assignment policies or prac-
tices, the student bodies and staff of these schools were pre-
dominently of the same race as the subdivision or develop-
ments.

29. From 1951 through the present school year, at a cost
of 31.13 million dollars, 612 regular classrooms were con-
structed which opened with all or predominantly white pupil
populations and predominantly white faculties and continue
to serve all or predominantly white pupil populations. From
1966 to present, 145 similarly identifiable white classrooms
were constructed at a cost of 10.1 million dollars. From
1951 through the present school year, at a cost of at least 9.72
million dollars, at least 242 regular classrooms were con-
structed which opened with all or predominantly black pupil
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populations and predominantly black faculties, and continue

to contain all or predominantly black pupil populations. From

1966 to present, 46 similarly identifiable black classrooms were

constructed at a cost of 3.13 million dollars.

30. On a system-wide basis some predominantly black

schools, like some predominantly white schools, have oper-

ated substantially under capacity. Over 7,000 pupil spaces

have existed in such undercapacity black schools in the 1971-

72 school year.

30A. At various times some predominantly black schools,

like some predominantly white schools, have been substantial-

ly overcrowded. To accomodate such overcrowding new class-

room space has been added to the overcrowded school rather

than reassign the pupils to school predominantly of the op-

posite race. In the major instance where pupils (black) have

been reassigned to opposite race schools (white) because of

lack of sufficient space (caused by a fire) in a one-race school

(black), the black children were reassigned to a virtually
all black school for the 1971-72 school year; this reassignment

resulted in the resegregation of the white schools to the ex-

tent black children were transferred out, as well as the cre-

ation of another virtually all black school.

31. With one exception, the few white children trans-

ferring to black schools under freedom of enrollment,

(a) no predominantly white residential area has been

assigned or reassigned to a predominantly black school and

(b) no white child has been transported to a predomi-

nantly black school.

31A. Black pupils have been assigned, transported, other-

wise transferred out of predominantly white schools, some-

times past or away from other predominantly white schools,

to black schools.

31B. White pupils have been assigned, transported, other-

wise transferred out of predominantly black schools, some-
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(a)
(b)
(c)

to allow whites to avoid attending blacker schools,
to assign white pupils to the whiter schools,
to assign black pupils to the blacker schools.

32A. Optional zones have been created and maintained
in response to community sentiment.

32B. In 1971-72, 39 white students advantaged themselves
of freedom of enrollment transfers: 9 transferred to black
schools, while 30 transferred to white schools. In the 1971-
72 school year 460 blacks advantaged themselves of freedom
of enrollment transfers: 456 transferred to black schools. In
previous years, any integration accomplished by operation
of the policy, first established in 1969, was similarly one-way
and in part segregatory: of the whites transported most trans-
ferred into whiter schools.

33. The average yearly operating cost of maintaining a
pupil space in the Dayton Public Schools is $140.

33A. The average yearly cost of transporting a pupil in
a coordinated, urban transportation system, like Dayton, ap-
proximates $50/year; in Dayton yearly transportation costs
on buses owned by the District average roughly $50 per
pupil.

34. Defendant school authorities have considered, adopted,
and implemented a middle school policy for some schools in
the system.

34A. This policy now effects approximately 20 schools by

.1 

11 

Y

-1111.

times past or away from other black schools, to predominant-

ly white schools.

32. Optional attendance areas were established, and are
still maintained in at least eight instances, between pairs
of schools which are substantially disproportionate in their
pupil racial composition.

The effect of such optional zones has been,
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reorganizing their structure from K-8 to K-5, 6-8. This pro-

vided the opportunity to reorganize both the feeder patterns

and attendance areas for the twenty schools chosen.

34B. Defendant school authorities were made aware, by

recommendations from a Title IV center consultant, that such

reorganization provided an opportunity to accomplish deseg-

regation.

34C. The board chose to implement the middle school poli-

cy so that pupil segregation was and is maintained in the

schools effected.

35. Defendant school authorities have been made aware

by recommendations and proposals from private citizen's

groups, the defendant Ohio State Department of Education,

and the policies adopted on December 8 by the prior board,

of many opportunities to desegregate substantially the Dayton

Public Schools but have chosen instead to build schools and

impose various pupil assignment policies and practices in a

fashion which resulted in the existing racial separation.

36. In 1965 the District reported that only one school

was "so evenly distributed in its student body that it (could)

be regarded as having neither a predominantly Negro or

white student body."

37. Defendant school authorities are responsible for the as-

signment of teachers and pupils in the Dayton Public Schools.

38. In the 1957-58 school year only 4 Negro students were

enrolled in Patterson Co-Operative High School, a vocational

school with no attendance area.

39. White children in the Roth, Roosevelt, and Dunbar

attendance areas attended Patterson Co-Op in substantial

numbers, while the number of black students enrolled there,

at least through 1963-64 school year, was no more than 18.

40. At least through the 1963-64 school year, black chil-

dren were systematically excluded from the Patterson High

l~
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School and the effective exclusion of black pupils persisted for
some time thereafter.

B. PLAINTIFFS' FIRST ERRATUM ON REQUEST
FOR ADMISSIONS

Please be advised that Request for Admission Number 32B,
due to clerical error, is erroneous insofar as it reads "... .
456 transferred to black schools." Plaintiffs request that each
defendant substitute ". . .. 456 transferred to white schools"
in Request number 32B and admit same.

C. PLAINTIFFS' SECOND ERRATUM ON RE-
QUEST FOR ADMISSIONS

Please be advised that Requests for Admissions 8, 12, 13, 14,
15, 16, 17 and 18, which deal with the assignment of faculty,
principals and coaches, are in error due to clerical mistakes
and discrepancies in the data provided. Plaintiffs request that
each defendant substitute the following and admit same:

8. During the 1970-71 school year approximately 561, or
70% of the 806 black teachers in the Dayton school district were
assigned to the 20 schools with over 90% black pupil popula-
tions.

12. In the 1968-69 school year the District employed 14
black assistant principals.

13. In the 1968-69 school year 9 of these 14 assistant prin-
cipals were assigned to schools with 90% or more black pupil
populations, while 3 were assigned to schools with pupil popu-
lations more than 90% white.

14. In the 1968-69 school year there were 13 Negro prin-
cipals in the Dayton public schools.

15. In the 1968-69 school year 12 of these Negro principals
were assigned to schools with over 90% black pupil populations,

j .u
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while the other was assigned to a school with a 57.1% Negro
pupil population.

16. In the 1968-69 school year the District employed ap-
proximately 534 black elementary teachers; about 433 or 81%

were assigned on a full-time basis to schools where the stu-

dent body was more than 90% Negro.

17. In the 1968-69 school year of the 25 black counselors
employed by the system, 25 or 100% were assigned to schools
where the student body was predominantly black. In the 1967-
68 school year of 19 black high school coaches only one was
assigned to a school with a pupil population less than 87.5%
black.

18. Of the approximately 1847 full-time white teachers
employed in the 1968-69 school year, only about 142 or 8%
were assigned to schools serving pupil populations 90% or more
black.

D. ANSWERS OF DEFENDANT DAY"TON BOARD
TO REQUEST FOR ADMISSIONS

Defendants Dayton Board of Education, Josephine Groff,

James D. Hart and William E. Goodwin, by their attorneys,
answer the plaintiffs' request for admissions as follows:

1. Admit that in 1918 the Dayton Board assigned four (4)
black teachers to a frame two-story house which was con-

verted to a school building; admit that this building was at-

tended by blacks; admit that this building was located behind
the brick Garfield school building; admit that only black
teachers were assigned to the frame structure; admit that all

white teachers taught in the brick building; say that they
are without information as to the remaining requests for ad-

missions and that the information known or readily obtainable

is insufficient to enable them to admit or deny such requests.

2. (a) Deny requested admission but admit that on Ap-

ril 30, 1925 a mandamus action was filed by Earl Reese in
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the Court of Appeals for Montgomery County. This action
was entitled State of Ohio, ex rel. Earl Reese v. The Dayton
Board of Education, Case No. 670. Said defendants admit that
in a decision entered of record on December 24, 1925, the
Court of Appeals in ordering a writ of mandamus command-
ing the defendant to admit children of colored race upon
equal terms with white children in the Garfield school dis-
trict, found that "separate classes were maintained for colored
pupils and that those classes met in a different building from

the building in which classes of white pupils met." Said de-
fendants say that the defendant in said action filed a de-
murrer and that the appellate decision overruling the de-
murrer was appealed to the Supreme Court of Ohio. The
Supreme Court, in Board of Education of School District of
Dayton v. State, 114 Ohio St. 188 (1926) affirmed the ap-
pellate decision overruling the demurrer.

(b) Admits that after 1926 black children attended in-
tegrated classes at Garfield; admit that black teachers taught
in frame building behind the brick school; say that they are
without information as to the remaining requests for admis-
sions and that the information known or readily obtainable
is insufficient to enable them to admit or deny such requests.

(c) Say that they are without information as to this re-
quest for admission and that the information known or readily
obtainable is insufficient to enable them to admit or deny such
requests.

(d) Admit that white students as well as all other stu-
dents, regardless of race, who lived in the Garfield attendance
area, were for good cause allowed to transfer to other schools
during the 1930's; admit that Garfield became predominantly
black in student enrollment and that about 1936 an all black
faculty was assigned to the Garfield school, say that they are
without information as to the remaining requests for admis-

sions and that the information known or readily obtainable
is insufficient to enable them to admit or deny such requests.
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(e) Admit that Garfield remained predominantly black
after 1936; admit that during the period of 1947-52 Garfield
was all black; say that they are without information as to the
remaining requests for admissions and that the information
known or readily obtainable is insufficient to enable them to
admit or deny such requests.

(f) Admit.

3. Admit with modification that student enrollment in
McFarlane in 1971-72 was 99.5% black.

(4) (a) Admit with the modification that white students,
as well as other students, regardless of race, were allowed to

t transfer from the Wogaman zone for good cause.

(b) Admit that in 1945 Wogaman had an all black staff
and a black principal. Deny that Wogaman was all black but
admit that it was predominantly black.

(c) Deny that the student body at Wogaman remained
100% black from 1945 to the present; admit that in October,
1972 the Wogaman student body was 100% black; deny that
majority of the Wogaman staff remained black during the

period of 1945 to October of 1972.

5. Say that they are without information as to this re-
quest for admission and that the information known or readily
obtainable is insufficient to enable them to admit or deny
such request.

6. Admits that in about 1935 an all black staff and a black
principal were assigned to Willard, admit that white students

' as well as other students, regardless of race, for good cause
A were allowed to transfer to other schools; admit that Willard

became predominantly black in 1935; admit that from the
period of time from 1947-52 Willard was all black; admit that
the remaining zone of the Willard area was absorbed by the
McFarlane school; 'ay that they are without information as
to the remaining requests for admissions and that the in-
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formation known or readily obtainable is insufficient to enable

them to admit or deny such requests.

7. (a) Admit with the modification that Dunbar opened

as a junior high school, grades 7, 8 and 9 and that in 1934
this school was expanded to include grades 10 and 11 and

thereafter became a full high school.

(b) Deny but admit that after 1940 Dunbar and Patter-
son Co-Operative were the only high schools that had no

specific attendance zones with attendance being optional at

both of these schools.

(c) Admit that black students attended Dunbar; say that

they are without information as to the remaining requests

for admissions and that the information known or read ob-

tainable is insufficient to enable them to admit or deny such
requests.

(d) Admit that black 7th and 8th graders were trans-
ported from Shawen Acres to Dunbar but state that this policy

terminated as of 1950. Deny the remaining requests for ad-

missions.

(e) Deny this request for admission. Dunbar was an
optional school and had no attendance zone until 1962.

(f) Admit but state that since 1947 Dunbar engaged in
all inter-city athletic events.

(g) Admit but in same correspondence Mr. French states
that Dunbar was given no boundary lines and attendance was
voluntary.

(h) Admit with the modification that the Dunbar High
School was built in a predominatly all black residential area.
Said defendants further admit that the N.A.A.C.P. approved
the location of the new Dunbar High School.

(i) Admit that in 1962 the new Dunbar was given a

geographic attendance zone; deny that this school opened
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with an all black student body; deny that Dunbar had a 100%

Negro student body from 1962 to present but admit the s,-

dent body became 100% black in 1971-72; deny that the staff

of Dunbar was 100% black from 1962 to present.

7A. (a) Admit.

(b) Admit with modification that enrollment in 1959 in-

cluded no seniors and that capacity was approximately 1,800

students.

(c) Deny but admit that new Roth included some of

the white residential areas in the pre-1959 Roosevelt zone.

(d) Deny but admit that enrollment of Roosevelt decreased

,L by 608 students the year Roth opened.

(e) Say that they are without information as to this re-

quest and the information known or readily obtainable is in-

sufficient to admit or deny such requests.

8. Admit corrected request.

9. Admit.

i 10. Admit that in 1954 of 162 non-traveling black teach-

ers 148 (91.4%) were assigned to five schools with all black

pupil populations. Admit that the statement quoted in this

request for admissions w. .s the policy of the board in 1954

? but deny that this policy continued from that time to the

present as inferred in the request.

11. Admit that on November 30, 1954, only 8 full or part-

time teachers 1 or 0.6% of the 1409 white were employed in

schools having predominantly Negro student. population. Ad-

mit that in 1954 Superintendent French attributed lack of

success to reluctance of white teachers to teach in black

schools. Admit that until the late 1960's the policy of the

Dayton Board was not to assign or reassign white teachers

to black schools against their will. Deny all the remaining

requests for admission.
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12. Admit corrected request.

13. Admit corrected request.

14. Admit corrected request but for the years 1970-71 as

originally requested there were 18 Negro principals.

15. Admit corrected request but for the years 1970-71

as originally requested there were four Negro principals in

schools with over 90% white pupil population and one Negro

principal assigned to a school with 57.1% Negro pupil popu-
lation.

16. Admit corrected request but for year 1970-71 as or-

iginally requested the District employed 583 Negro elementary
teachers. About 385 or approximately 66% were assigned on

a full-time basis to schools where the student body was more

than 90% Negro.

17. Admit corrected request but admit that of the 36 black

counselors employed by system as of 1971-72, twelve or 33

1/3% were assigned to school where the student body was

predominantly black. In the 1971-72 school year of the 52

black high school coaches 28 were assigned to schools with
less than 50% black student bodies.

18. Admit corrected request but state that of the approxi-

mately 1588 white teachers employed in the year 1971-72
32% were assigned on a full-time basis to schools serving pupil

population in which their race was in a minority.

19. Deny.

20. Deny.

21. Deny but admit that an HEW compliance review was

conducted resulting in a letter from HEW indicating probably

non-compliance as to teaching assignment. The Dayton Board

voluntarily agreed to reassign the teaching . in order that

the teaching staff throughout the district would have a racial

composition that reflects the total staff of the district as a

whole.
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22. Deny the requested admission but admit that in 1971-
72 of the 34,424 pupils in the elementary schools, except-
ing middle schools, only 2,573 (7.5% of the total) attended
schools which were less than 80% black or white while 26,505
(77%) of the total attended schools which were more than
90% black or white.

23. Deny the requested admission but admit that in 1971-
72 of the 14,443 black students in elementary schools, other
than middle schools, 11,365 were contained in 16 schools that
were 78.7% or more black, with but 145 white students in
these schools; and of the 19,981 white pupls in elementary
schools, 14,168 were contained in 23 schools that were more
than 90% white, with but 320 black pupils in these schools.

24. Deny the request admission but admit that in 1971-
72 of the 52 elementary schools, not including middle schools,
40 served pupil enrollment of more than 90% black or 90%
white while only three elementary schools approximated the
systemwide racial mix and that 28 schools contained pupil
population more thaxi 99% black or 99% white.

25. Deny.

26. Deny.

27. Deny.

27A. Deny

28. Deny.

29. Deny the requested admission but admit the following.

(a) From January 1966 to September 1967, thirty class-
rooms which contained all or predominantly black pupil
populations were constructed at a cost of $988,511;

(b) From September 1967 to the present, seventeen class-

rooms which contained all or predominantly black pupil popu-
lations were constructed at a cost of $1,124,206 of which
fourteen classrooms were replacement for classrooms destroyed
by fire at Edison at a cost of $899,928;

1,
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30A. Deny but do admit that some predominantly black

schools as well as some predominantly white schools have

been overcrowded at rious times and admit that new class-

room space has been added at some schools that were over-

crowded.

31.
(a) Deny.

(b) Admit as substantially correct.

31A, Deny this request for admisison with

exceptions:

(a) That black students were transported
Acres past white schools prior to June, 1954
practice stopped in 1954;

the following

from Shawen
but that this

(b) That some black students were transferred from Stiv-

(c) From January, 1966 to September, 1969, two hundred

and fourte -I classrooms which contained predominantly white

pupil population were constructed at a cost of $9.73 million

but of these two hundred fourteen classrooms 76 were added

to buildings that are currently 30% or more black population.

Further, 16 classrooms were replacement for rooms destroyed

by the fire at Ruskin elementary.

(d) From September, 1967 to the present, twenty-three

(23) classrooms which contained predominantly white pupil

population were constructed at a cost of 1.44 million dollars.

30. Deny but admit that there were some predominantly

white and some predominantly black schools that have op-

arated under capacity at one time or another. Admit that in

1971-72 there were over 7,000 pupil spaces in black schools

also white schools. Said defendants say that the capacity

figures for 1971-72 were based on safety code factors per

square foot per person and did not take into consideration

the education facility and methods of teaching and subject

matter taught in the classrooms.
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ers in 1970 to Roth and Roosevelt as an emergency measure

but these students were reassigned the following year.

31B. Deny this request for admission with the following

exceptions:

(a) Some white students were reassigned from Roth in

1969 for emergency reasons but were returned to Roth the

following year.

(b) A minimal number of white students may have been

included in the transfer of students from Jefferson in 1969-

70 and 1970-71. However, Jefferson was predominantly black

during these years and all the students in a class from jeffer-

son were assigned by class to predominantly white schools.

The effect of these transfers was to provide integration at the

receiving schools.

32. Deny the request for admission but admit that eight

option attendance areas are presently in existence.

32A. Deny. However said defendants admit that mem-

bers of the community have in the past expressed their de-

sires for the establishment of optional areas but that the

decision for the creation and maintenance of such areas are

governed by the following factors:

1. Capacity of school building

2. Accessibility and distance

3. Traffic hazards.

32B. Admit that in 1971-72, 39 white students transferred

under the Freedom of Enrollment program that 9 of these

transferred to black schools and 30 to white schools. Admit

that 46O blacks transferred under the Freedom of Enrollment

program and that 456 of these black students transferred to

white schools. Deny the remaining request for admissions.

33. Admit.

33A. Admit as substantially in accordance with transporta-

tion studies conducted by the defendant Dayton Board.

I
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34. Admit.

34A. Admit.

34B. Admit.

34C. Deny.

35. Deny.

36. Admit.

37. Admit.

38. Say that they are without information as to this request
and that the information known or readily obtainable is insuf-
ficient to admit or deny such request but admit that in 1951-52
there were 8 black students at Patterson and that in 1963-64
there were 19 black students.

39. Deny.

40. Deny.

E. ANSWERS OF DEFENDANT WAYNE M. CARLE
TO REQUEST FOR ADMISSIONS

Defendant, Wayne M. Carle, by his attorney Asher Bogin,
answers and objects to the requests for admissions served on
him by plaintiff, as follows:

1. Admits

2a. Admits

2b. Admits

2c. Admits

2d. Admits. With regard to faculty assignment the
school directory for 1935-36 shows the faculty to be
composed of 7 white and 8 black teachers. For 1936-
37, the Garfield faculty was 15 black members.
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Admits, with the exception

to 4 miles.

that the distance was 3

7e. Admits.

7f. Admits.

7g
7h.

7i.

7A(a)

7A(b)

Admits.

Admits.

Admits, with the exception that the

1963 is shown as 92.7 per cent black.

is 100 per cent black.

Admits.

enrollment in
In 1972-73 it

Admits. The enrollment of 662 in 1959 included no

seniors. The following year the enrollment was 816,

of whom 84 were 8th graders.
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2e. Admits. Specifically, for the years 1947-48 through

1951-52 the enrollment is shown as 100 per cent black.

2f. Admits.

3. Admits. The McFarlane enrollment in 1963 was

99.6% black and in 1971-72 99.5% black.

4a. Admits.

4b. Admits.

4c. Admits except that the enrollment at Wogaman in

October 1972 is 100 per cent black and the faculty

consists of 21.8 white teachers and 21.6 black teach-

ers or 49.8 per cent black.

5. Admits

6. Admits

7a. Admits. The faculty in 1934-35 consisted of 19 black

and 0 white teachers and a black principal.

7b. Admits.

7c Admits.

7d.
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7A(c) Admits.

7A(d) Admits.

7A(e) Says that he does not at this time know whether the
facts stated in the Request are correct.

8. Admits corrected Request.

9. Admits.

10. Admits.

11. Admits.

12. Admits corrected Request, with exception that the
number of black assistant principals was 15, not 14, as
of August 19, 1968.

13. Admits corrected Request, with the exception that of
the 15 black assistant principals, 11 were in schools
90 per cent or more black and two were in schools
90 per cent or more white.

14. Admits cc rected Request.

15. Admits corrected Request.

16. Admits corrected Request.

17. Admits corrected Request.

18. Says that of the approximately 1847 full time white
teachers employed in the 1968-69 school year, about
172 or 9.3% were assigned to schools serving pupil
populations 90% or more black.

19. Admits.

20. Admits.

21. Admits that the Office for Civil Rights on March 17,
1969 wrote, "We have completed our analysis of the
information gathered during the review and have
made the determination that your district is not com-
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plying with Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964"

and admits the balance of Request No. 21.

22. Admits as substantially correct for elementary, other

than middle, schools.

23. Admits as substantially correct for elementary, other

than middle, schools.

24. Admits, with the exception that 28, not 25, contain

pupil populations more than 99 per cent black or 99

per cent white.

25. Admits.

26. Admits.

27. Admits.

27A. Admits.

28. Admits.

29. Admits as substantially in accordance with the con-

pilation of 1520 classrooms tabulated at a cost of

$57,608,482 for the period 1948-1968.

30. Admits.

30A. Admits. The instances cited refer to the reassign-

ment of pupils from Edison School to several perinme-

ter schools and from Jefferson School to other per-

imeter schools, that were returned to Jefferson, Edi-

son and MacFarlane, all black schools. The word

"creation" should be "expansion" in the last sentence

31 (a) Admits as at least substantially correct.

31 (b) Admits as at least substantially correct.

31A. Admits.

31B. Admits.

32. Admits, to the best of his knowledge.
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32A. Admits.

32B. Admits corrected Request, with the change of the
word "transported" to "transferred" in the last sen-

tence.

33. Admits.

33A. Admits as in substantial agreement with annual trans-
portation studies since 1968.

34. Admits.

34A. Admits.

34B. Admits.

34C. Admits that the manner in which the middle school
policy was implemented by the Board has resulted
in substantial continuation of pupil segregation in the
schools affected.

35. Admits.

36. Admits.

37. Admits.

38, Admits.

39. Admits.

40. Admits. Not until 1968 was a policy developed to
assure entrance of students from all elementary
schools.

F. ANSWERS OF DEFENDANT JANE STERZER TO
REQUEST FOR ADMISSIONS

Defendnt, Jane Sterzer by her attorney, Asher Bogin, an-
swers and objects to the Requests for Admissions served on
her by plaintiff as follows:



78

This defendant says that she has searched her recollection
and has made inquiry of Dr. Wayne Carle, Superintendent of
the Dayton schools, and that she is in accord with the An-
swers to the plaintiffs Requests filed herein by Dr. Carle.

VII. RELEVENT PARTS OF THE RECORD OF THE
TWENTY VOLUMES TRANSCRIBED DURING THE
VIOLATION HEARING HELD IN DISTRICT COURT
IN NOVEMBER AND DECEMBER OF 1972 (R. I.).

A. TESTIMONY OF HUBERT D. POORE.

1. Commentary of Trial Court and plaintiffs'
counsel.

[R. I 148, Vol. 2] MR. DIAMOND: Your Honor, let me
make two points clear. First of all, in at least - there are
four project applications. In at least three of them there is
a statement by the DMHA of the availability of space and the
accommodation of nearby schools, schools in the area, or the

4 need for new school capacity to serve these projects.
Earlier in the day I introduced into evidence and read to

your Honor the statements by the Dayton School Authorities
in relationship to other projects in those instances, not neces-
sarily related to these four particular projects, of their creation
of new schools and classrooms to serve the pupils of these
populations of these projects.

THE COURT: Mr. Diamond, I am aware that for a sub-
stantial period of time so-called public housing, financed by
agencies of both the Federal Government and local Govern-
ment, were specifically designated, some were white and some
were black. This is insufficient for our purposes.

If you wish to present this evidence as to these projects, I
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am sure that it will state therein for whom the occupancy was
intended.

[R. I. 160, Vol. 2] [The Court] Mr. Diamond, you simply
have not passed the first hurdle with this witness, and until
and unless you do the Court is going to rule that this is not
admissible.

Now, if you have a necessity with this witness and other
witnesses demonstrating some participation by the school
board, unless that participation in the determination of the
character, the occupancy of these projects, until that is estab-
lished I am going to hold he may not testify.

MR. DIAMOND: Well, I guess what I am having difficulty
understanding, Your Honor, is that in terms of a lease agree-
ment the school authorities are the ones that made the lease.

THE COURT: There is no question about that.
MR. DIAMOND: They are the ones who said we are

going to lease that space and make it either a black school
or a white school.

THE COURT: Well -

MR. DIAMOND: They are the ones who made the agree-
ment.

THE COURT: Mr. Diamond, until you can establish that
the School Board participated in some fashion with the original
determination that this would be a white or black project,
whatever else the Board might have done, they have taken
the area as they found it.

[R. I. 202-203, Vol. 31 MR. DIAMOND: Well, Your Hon-
or, what I was going to show through this witness is that he
is a parent of a child, he had a family when he moved here,
and I was going to ask him from his recollection about specific
incidents relating to his school children and neighbors.

THE COURT: This witness has been called as an expert
to testify as to polhies and I have permitted that. I am not



going to permit his testimony as to individual recollections

going on 27 years ago.
You may be seated, Mr. Greer.
MR. DIAMOND: Your Honor, Mr. Poore would testify

to the fact that there were white children transported from

the Wogaman School attendance area to the Jackson School

attendance area in the 1945 school year.
*0

2. Poore testimony.

[R. I. 152, Vol. 21 "Question: Mr. Poore, what do those
four applications represent in terms of the racial identification,
first of all, of the projects? Let's take particularly the DeSoto

Bass project where you were located in 1945 when you came

on.
A. Well, the proposed Metropolitan Housing Plan, it says

the project proposed for race or national group was Negro;

and this project, in addition to the present, Negro occupied,

which was OH-52, which we had 200 units already there.
Q. Now, to your knowledge, Mr. Poore, while you were

at the DeSoto Bass project, were your projects - while you

were at DeSoto Bass, were they used for School purposes?

A, Yes, they were.

[R. 1. 156, Vol. 2] Q. With reference to the other project
applications in addition to this DeSota, do they show the
intended racial occupancy of the project?

A. Yes, they do.
Q. And could you in each instance describe what the in-

tended racial occupancy was?
A Summit Court is for white; Edgewood Court was for

white; and Parkside Homes was for white.
Q. With reference to Edgewood and Summit, do thoseF.
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documents reveal the racial composition of the particular spot

upon which the project was to be located and from which

people would have to be removed?
A. Yes, it did.

* * 0

[R. I. 183, Vol. 3] A. 143D is surveys of the colored

population of Dayton; there is the colored population, the
census, and the number of units in DeSoto Bass Court and

the temporary housing, which was known as War housing.
For instance, there was 200 for the DeSoto Bass Courts, but

the addition of 200 was for the temporary addition. 60 for
the second addition to DeSoto Bass Courts, 160 of the Home-

view Courts, and 80 for Lakeview, 50 for the dormitory at

Phyllis Wheatley and 100 additional dormitory for girls.

Q. Were all these projects designated for black occupancy?
A. Those were designated for black.

[R. I. 184-186, Vol. 3] A. G? This is data on the War
housing application for the past six months, which is dated

November 5, 1945. It gives the number of white applications,
excluding Vandalia, and then it gives the number of applica-

tions for the Vandalia area, the number of Negro applications.

Q. Why is it divided into those three columns?
A. Well, all the white applications except Vandalia were

filed in an office downtown, and the black applications were

all filed at the DeSoto Bass Courts, and Vandalia homes, which

was located in Vandalia, that they made application there.

Q. Was Vandalia homes a white project?
A. Yes, it was.
Q. I have marked for identification Plaintiffs' Exhibit 143H,

which is an application for transfer. Could you describe what

that is about?
A. This is an application transfer project knovs as OH-

33155 which is 200 units and OH-33234, both of which were
located in DeSoto Bass Courts and they were built for war

i
s,

t

4,
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housing and fog families of the veterans when they returned,
but they were owned by the Federal Government and the
Federal Government transferred them to the Dayton Metro-
politan Housing Authority for low-income families.

Q. In other words they were owned originally by the
Federal Government and then transferred to you?

A. That's right.
Q. At approximately what time did these two particular

projects transfer to your ownership?
A. It was approximately about 1950.
Q. knd they were designated for black occupancy?
A. Yes, they were.

Q. Now, Your Honor, I also have marked for identification
a series of letters marked Plaintiffs' Exhibits 143J, a collective
exhibit, and these are various letters and leases. Would you
describe generally what the leases and letters are about?

A. Well, these letters are from the Board of Education to
lease space in our project for classes as they did not have

space in the school at that time.
Q. Now, what Boards of Education did you enter into

lease agreements with?
A. Well, we had one with the Mad River Township.

[R. I. 187-188, Vol. 3] Q. Does PX-143J include lease
agreements with the Dayton Board of Education?

A. Yes, it does.
Q. And were lease agreements made for space in the

DeSoto Bass and the McGuffey Homes?
A. Yes, it does.
Q. Now, what was the racial designation of the McGuffey

Homes?
A. It was white.

Q. And DeSoto Bass?
A. Black.
Q. Now, when you were was it Executive Director of

the DeSoto Bass Courts?
A. I was Project Manager.

'. E



Q. Project Manager, excuse me. I am sorry. I got the
language wrong.

Q. When you were project manager at the DeSoto Bass
Courts, when these lease agreements were in effect, were
black pupils and black faculty assigned to that leased space?

A. Yes, there was.

[R. I. 213-215, Vol. 3] Q. Mr. Poore during the period of
there lease agreements with the DMHA to use the building
for school purposes, the DMHA didn't control or influence the
assignment of pupils or faculty, did they?

A. No, they did not.
Q. That was within the control of the Dayton School

Authorities?
A. That's right.
Q. On the lease agreement that Mr. Greer just referred

to, did you find a copy of that?
A. Yes, I found a copy.
Q. And what form is that? Does it have a form number

on it at the very top?
A. That's SP1913.
Q. And would you read the first line of that, the under-

lined portion of the heading of the lease agreement?
A. At the very top, you mean?
Q. Yes.
A. "Lease or tenant activity and other non-commercial use

on Federal War Housing Projects by Federal local authorities."
Q. And is that a form by either the Federal or State authori-

ties? I am speaking of the Federal Housing Authority.
A. I would say it is probably Federal. I am not for cer-

tain.
Q. And at that time War housing was required to be

segregated on a racial basis?
A. Yes, it was.

, ,0
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B. TESTIMONY OF HOMER ROYER.

[R. I. 229, Vol. 3] Q. Do you recall telling the HEW

t team that investigated the school system that one of the rea-

sons for putting black teachers on substitute status at first was

because of the questionable nature of some of their qualifica-

tions because of graduation from southern institutions?

f A. I don't remember making that statement. I may have

made it.
Q. Would it be true?

A. There would be some institutions about which we had

little information.

[R. I. 293, Vol. 4] Q. In your opinion, based upon your

experience in this area, did the placing of white or black

a teachers one way or another in the school system have any-

thing to do with parts of the Dayton community becoming

black or white?
A. Comparatively little, I should think. I presume some

people fled from a community because of approaching inte-

gration, but I don't think assignment of staff was a basic

decision in that regard.

Q. And to what do you attribute the changes in com-

munities?
A. Well, of course, we discussed many, many times the

matter of housing, which is such a difficult one for everybody

to solve, was the important factor in the change in com-

munities. I don't know if that is a part of this court case

discussion or not.
Q. Did the composition of the student bodies in the

various schools in the Dayton System reflect, in your opinion,
anything other than the composition of the neighborhoods in

which those schools were located?
A. That was basically what they reflected I would assume.
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CC. TESTIMONY OF PHYLLIS B. GREER.

[R. I. 344-348, Vol. 4] Q. State your full name and oc-
cupation, please?

A. Phyllis B. Greer, School Community Services, Dayton
Board of Education.

Q. Mrs. Greer, how long have you been a resident of

Dayton?
A. All my life.
Q. You attended public schools in Dayton?
A. Yes, I did.
Q. Where did you first go to school?
A. I first went to school at Weaver Elementary School.
Q. I hesitate to ask you this, but could you tell me the

year, Mrs. Greer?
A. Yes, 1923-'24 was my first year in kindergarten.
Q. And that was at Weaver, correct?

A. Yes.
Q. What was the racial composition at Weaver at that

time?
A. There were relatively few black children at Weaver

at that time.
Q. And what school did you attend after you left Weaver?
A. I went to Roosevelt High School in the seventh, eighth,

and ninth year and to Dunbar High School in the tenth,
eleventh and twelfth.

Q. Would you give me the rest of your educational back-
ground?

A. Yes. After graduating from Dunbar High School, I
went to Wilburforce University and earned a BS Degree,
came back to Dunbar High School and taught until 1945'46,
was out on maternity leave two years, went to Willard School
and taught there until 1958 when I became principal of Carlson
Elementary School and went from Carlson Elementary School
to supervise the office of EEO at the Dayton Board of Edu-
cation.

Q. Excuse me. What is the office of EEO?
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A. Equal Educational Opportunity which was a title for

office.
Q. And after that?

A. After that I began work on school community services.

Q. What did you teach when you were assigned at Dunbar?

A. English.
Q. And at Willard?
A. I taught the fourth, fifth and sixth grades periodically

during that time, not all the same year.

Q. And then you were principal at Carlson; is that correct?

A. That's correct.
Q. Is the VA Hospital in the Carlson area?

A. Yes.
Q. Can you pinpoint the years you were at Carlson?

A. From 1958 to the end of the year 1969. I went to the

Board of Education in September of 1969.

Q. O. K. The children of the staff at the VA Hospital,
were they white or black?

A. Most of them were white. I didn't know of any black

youngsters who lived on the VA grounds.

Q. They have residents actually on the grounds them-

selves of the hospital?
A. Yes, I think they were the children of the doctors and

4 other professionals there.

Q. They were in the Carlson Elementary zone. Is Carlson

a school with a substantial black enrollment?

A. When I went to Carlson, the enrollment was approxi-

mately 213. There were a few whites there but they were

substantially all black students at Carlson.

Q. And that would be 1958?
A. That's correct.

Q. And do you know where the white children from the

VA Hospital site went to school?

A. They did not go to Carlson. Some of them went to

Jackson Elementary School. I don't know where the others

went.

a"
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Q. Was Jackson a black or white school at that time?

A. Jackson School at that time was predominantly white.

Q. Do you know how they got to the Jackson School?

A. No.
Q. Did they walk?
A. After my initial years there, there was one doctor who

chose to send his kindergarten child to Carlson, and from him

I learned the children went by a blue bus to the other schools.

Q. Did any of those children to your knowledge go to

Residence Park at the time when it was black?

A. This is what I have heard.

Q. You don't know that?

A. No, I don't know that.
Q. You do know about the Jackson School?
A. Yes.
Q. Are you familiar with Shawn Acres? Can you tell us

what it is?
A. Shawn Acres is a children's home, a home for parentless

children, orphans.
Q. Does it have both black and white children?
A. Yes.
Q. Do you know where it is, what school zone it is located

in?
A. It is on North Main Street.
Q. Has it always been there or was it located somewhere

else?
A. In the very early years it was on Summit Street, on

South Summit. It moved then to North Main.
Q. Do you have any idea when it moved?
A. Well, I remember that in the '30's youngsters were being

bussed from Shawn Acres to Garfield School, so it would have
to have been prior to that time, sometime prior to that.

Q. And the youngsters who were being bussed to the
Garfield School, were they black or white?

A. They were all black,

16 
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[R. 1. 476, Vol. 5] Q. Now, when your testimony ended,
I believe you were at the map showing the judge where the

Garfield School was with relationship to the transportation of

Shawn Acres.

Q. What was Shawn Acres?
A. Shawn Acres was a Children's Home.

Q. And did it have both black and white pupils?

A. Yes.
Q. Now, could yot step to the map with the Court's per-

mission and show the Court where the black pupils went to

school?
A. Yes.

o a 0

THE WITNESS: Shawn Acres
of Loos School and the students
bussed to Carfield School which is

lane School on Fifth Street.

is located up in the area

from Shawn Acres were

three blocks from McFar-

0 0 0

[R. I. 479-480 Vol. 51 Q. Could von answer the question

Mrs. Greer?
A. As a second grade student at Weaver School, I was

tried out for a Christmas play and my teacher wanted me to

take the part of an angel and the teacher who was in charge

U,

88

Q. And was the Garfield School a black school or white

school?
A. Black.
Q. Do you know what school they would have attended

had they attended the school zone in which the school was

located?
A. No, I don't remember the closest school to Shawn

Acres.

.j
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of the play indicated that I could not be an angel in the play
because there were no colored angels. During my third year
of school, I remember that I was called to the platform, the
little low platform in the front of the classroom and the
rest of the class was told that to look at Phyllis Blackburn's hair.
It was braided and had ribbons on it and she would like for
them to come to school with their hair like this rather than
with the knots and bed lint in it, and of course, as I went
home that day I had a little difficulty with the black children
who had knots and bed lint.

We were told that as we went to school preparatory to
going - signing our election blanks, we were counseled, and
this happened at Roosevelt, we were counseled to go into
the college preparatory courses were useless for the Negro
students because there were not the job opportunities and n(
the places that we could use a college preparatory course
and should then rather take the general course.

Q. Now, did you attend the Weaver School through the
eighth grade?

A. No. I attended Weaver School kindergarten through
sixth and I attended Roosevelt High School, seventh, eighth
and ninth. I attended Dunbar High School f-om ten through
twelve.

Q. Why did you move, transfer from Roosevelt High School
to the Dunbar High School?

A. I transferred from Roosevelt High School to Dunbar
High School because my family felt tho t there were practices
that were in evidence at Roosevelt -

[R. I. 481-494, Vol. 5] A. (Continuing.) I was a student
at Roosevelt those three years prior. Blacks were not allowed
to go into the swimming pools, blacks had separate showers,
so we requested from our parents to be allowed to go to
Dunbar.

I
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One of the assistant principals at Roosevelt at that time

came to our home and asked that we not be permitted to go

to Dunbar because they wanted all the nice colored children

to stay at Roosevelt, but we did go to Dunbar.
Q. And why did you go to Dunbar?
A. I went to Dunbar because I felt that if there was going

to be - if we were going to be separated by anything, we

might as well be separated by an entire building as to be

separated by practices.
In fact, when I went to an eighth grade social studies class

I was told by a teacher, whose name I still remember, I won't

quote it but if I am asked to I will, that even though I was

a good student I was not to sit in the front of the class because

most of the colored kids sat in the back.

Q. Now, Mrs. Greer, while you were at the Dunbar High

School, in terms of a separate building, were there other types

{ of separation from the rest of the school system?

A. Well, when I went there in 1933, and certainly when

I graduated in 1936 and when I went back to teaching in

1940, our athletic teams did not compete with the white

schools in the city. Our athletic teams competed with other

schools out of the state, even, that were black.

Q. Now, when you first - after you finished college -
where did you go to college?

A. I went to Wilburforce University from '36 to '40.

Q. And when you returned to the Dayton Public Schools

where were you assigned?
A. Dunbar High School.
Q. And at the time of your assignment were there any

black teachers teaching white pupils?
A. No.
Q. And how long did you remain at Dunbar?

A. I remained at Dunbar from '40 to '45.

Q. Now, during that period of time, around 1945, are

1. you personally aware of the faculty assignment that took place

at the Wogaman School?
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A. Yes, I am.
Q. What was that?
A. When school closed in June of 1945, there was an

entire white staff at Wogaman. When school opened in Sep-
tember of '45, there was an entire black staff at Wogaman
under a black principal, Robert Braxton.

Q. And at the same time were white pupils who lived
in the Wogaman area transferred by bus out of the Woga-
man School?

A. Yes.
Q. And where did they attend school?
A. They attended Jackson School.
Q. So that in the 1945 school year, '45-'46 school year,

Wogaman had an all-black staff and all-black pupil population?
A. Yes.
Q. Now, while you were at Dunbar were black youngsters

ever transferred there from Roosevelt?
A. Yes. I taught several black youngsters who had been

behavior problems at Roosevelt and their parents, upon en-
rolling them in the school, -

0 *0

Q. Would you state -

A. The disruptive black students from Roosevelt were
assigned to Dunbar.

Q. And, to your knowledge, were any of these disruptive
black students assigned to any other high school in the system?

A. Not to my knowledge. I could not verify that or deny it.
Q. Now, when did you leave the Dunbar School as a

faculty member?
A. I left Dunbar School on maternity leave in '46.
Q. And what happened after you returned from your ma-

ternity leave?
A. We had to have two years. When I went back and

asked to get the job - I was told when I left that the teacher
assigned to teach English in my place would be on a perm-
anent substitute basis. When I went back the teacher had
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hen it", assigned as a teular classrom tecer, I was told that
thero Were no English spots in i)Otmhar, there were n Felih
classes in Dmhuar that- I eold fill inl and was asked to go to
Wilhard Scholl to teacl otn ao tempary certifleate until tlere

1 was an opening at Dlunhar in English or Fynh.

Q, And at that time you had a high school certithett' in
English?

A. Yes,
Q, And French?
A. Yes.
TIlE COURT Exouse me, Mrs. Greer, how long had vou

taught at that loint?
TIlE WITNESS: I had taught from '410 to '49,
TI1E COURT: l11idn't you have ten'o?
TIlE WITNESS: Yes, hut I was not wally assigned to the

school it which 1 - I was given a job. I was assnied a job,
TilE COURT: All right, Thank you.

BY MR, OlAtMONl:
And you vey asesignie to what school?

A, Vilr d,
i ) And that was in an elementary caity?
A. Yes.
Q. Anl what grade's did yu tach at that sehoio?

A I had a fourth year class of students who - they had
taken tn overflow of students from DeSoto Baass Courts, who
i clamue fromt D eSoto Biass to Willard to school, There was an
overilow at that time from IDesoto) Ilass and those youngsters
wer - one of those classes was tie class I taught at Willard,

Q. What schools was the WillId School cwest to?
A. At that point in tine, I am not suv because imi

Chapel had not been built, it was the cloest school at that
°i point inl timeit to Wogtamulant, but there wort the~tr schools equllal

distance or elser, one school.
Q All right. Thank yon
Now, Mrs, Gree'r, have y On variotts occasions both for

IEW investigations and for investigations by Dr. Care, and



on .retlests by Plaintiffs examined the faculty direturies frome
yoor own pesonal knowledge?

A, Yes, I was asked to do that by Title ti Oike the fast
time.

Q At that point in time what was your position in the
c hool system?

A, I was working at that point in time with the Ofve
of 1EO, the tial months of the Otklie of EEO.

Q, And from your examtnation of these faclty divetries,
cain you state fum the beginning -aid descrilb the pattem
of faculty assignments?

A. Yes, The first diretory that was available is a 19212
dirvettor At that point in time there were seven black
teachers in the Dlayton School District. All of these teachers
wre assigned tat arfiel.

Froml o31 - from 21 to '31 the nmber had gmwn to
10 black ueachers.

Q, And whett were they assignedP
A. They wer at Gzarfield and one black ta cher, other than

(GarfIeld, a teacher, Maude Walker, was assigned to Weaver
hut she had a uti-graded dass and she had an upgraded
class of all lack boys,

Then in 1933 there was then again the largest umber of
blacks hired and these teachers were hited as staff people for
lmunbar High School,

i 1950 or '51 a teacher was assigned a black teacher was
assigned to Weaver School

h i 1955 two hlack teachers wew assigned to jackson School.
Q. Now, let me utermipt you one meuwnt. You have

testified about the racial change both in terms of pupils and
t teachers at the W ogauram School.

Now, could vn describe for me the racial change in teachers
at the Gaarflield and Willard Schools ia the mid4i93's?

A, t 193145 these diretories show there were 10 black
r teachers and six whites at Willam Schotl, And then In 'I-36

d thit staff became all black
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The next year, 36-37, there were roughly 38 percent white

teachers at Garfield and -

THE COURT: I am sorry. What -

THE WITNESS: '35-36.
THE COURT: Excuse me. 38 percent white teachers?

THE WITNESS: There were 38 percent black teachers.
THE COURT: Black. Thank you.

A. And then the year '35-36, that staff became all black,

Q. And during those same periods of time did the pupil

populations become all black?
A. Yes.
Q. At these two schools?

A. Yes.
Q. Fine. Now, could you continue through? We were

at 1951 and we had teachers assigned to Jackson in terms of

black teachers assigned to the Jackson School.

A. Yes. There was from that time on gradual assignments

of black teachers in schools that had some white students in

them. However, in going through our directories we found

{ that these black teachers were assigned to schools that were

already becoming black as far as the elementary grades are

concerned.

I think that we were able to substantiate that in 1955 a

black teacher was assigned - a black high school teacher was

assigned in a school where it was not completely black.

Q. Now, Mrs. Greer, could you look at Plaintiffs' Exhibit

130D, it is the 1960 school year.

Now, during this period of time, from the early 1960's

through 1968, am I understanding you correctly that you think

black teachers disproportionately were being assigned to black

schools while at the same time schools with black pupil

populations in terms that they were beginning to increase or

had increased in black pupil population and white teachers

y ere being assigned disproportionately to virtually all white

pupil populations?
A. As I look at Exhibit 130D, this indicates that that was
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the case. We have all black - high percentage of black stu-
dent body at Dunbar and high percentages right down the
line to indicat^ where there were high percentages of black
students we did ha, high percentages of black teachers and
vice versa. This is the case.

Q. Now, throughout this period 1951 to 1968, were there
many teacher assignments, both white and black, in terms of
teacher turnover, transfers, and new hires?

A. 1 could not verify that there were. There were always
constantly new teachers coming in.

Q. So at the same time you had this pattern of assigning
black teachers to schools that were becoming black, white
teachers, new teachers or transfers, were being assigned to
white schools?

A. Yes.
Here again, we don't want to go into the area of hearsay

but it was generally - it was felt by those of us who were
teaching - I felt - let's put it on this basis, I felt -

A. I felt that schools with predominantly black student
bodies constantly receiving black teachers identified us as
being black schools.

s

Q. Mrs. Greer, what was the effects in terms of the assign-
t ments of the black teachers to the schools that were becoming {

black and white teachers to white schools?
s A. As a parent, I had a daughter going to Roth High

k School when the staff was relatively an integrated staff and

k so was the student body. But 
as 

more 

and 
more 

black 

young-

ii sters came to Roth High School, the staff became increasingly
>r black, and my concern was to have my daughter involved in

r a school situation that would help her to live in a pluralistic
e society, and I felt I was being denied this privilege.

Q. Now, in retrospect, when you look at the situations
is that existed in 1933, '34, '35, '36, in the Garfield and Willard

95
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and in the Wogaman Schools as the type of thing that you
are describing - from 1961 to 1968 did occur, is there any
relationship between those two?

A The relationship as we were able to establish by the
assignments of staff indicated that as the student body became
black, staff also became black separating the schools.

Q. Now, after you came back from maternity leave in 1949,
how long did you stay at the Willard School?

A. I stayed there from '49 to '58.
Q. And where were you assigned then?
A. I was then assigned as principal at Carlson School.
Q. And was that the year the school opened?
A. That is correct.
Q. And what was the racial composition of the school

when it opened in terms of pupils?
A. I think - I remember correctly that the student body

was 213 youngsters, and we had about ten to twelve white
students.

Q. And what was the faculty composition?
A. Totally black.
Q. And in 1953, when the Miami Chapel School opened,

what was its pupil composition?
A. Black.
Q. And faculty?
A. Black. There was one white teacher.
Q. And at the Belle Haven School which opened in 1954,

what was the pupil composition and the racial composition of
the staff and pupils?

A. The pupil composition was a hundred percent white
and the staff was a hundred percent white.

Q. And in 1957, when the Louise Troy School opened?
A. It was black, with I think - with the exception I think

about maybe 95 percent black and the entire student body

was black.
Q. And in 1958, when the Shoup Mill School opened -

THE COURT: I am sorry, Mr. Diamond. Which one?

I

NOW

1
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MR. DIAMOND: Shoup Mill.
THE COURT: Shoup Mill. Thank you.
A. Our records substantiate that the staff was a hundred

percent white as was the student body.
MR. DIAMOND: Your Honor, may I note for your at-

tention Plaintiffs' Exhibit - I believe it's PX-3 or 4 which
shows new schools opening and additions to schools showing
pupil composition and staff composition at the time of the
opening of the school and with the addition to the school.

[R. I. 495, Vol. 5] Q. Mrs. Greer, in the questions that
have just been asked you concerning certain specifle schools,
the, composition of the student body in those schools was a
refeation of the composition of the neighborhood in which
they were located, isn't that right?

A. In some instances. As I pointed out, there were some
youngsters in the Wogaman School District who lived in that
district who did not go to school in that district, so this was
not a true reflection of the composition of that district.

Q. There were times when the Wogaman District was
overcrowded, were there not?

A. There were times when the Wogaman District was
overcrowded.

Q. And I think you testified that at one of those times
children from that district went to Jackson School, which was
the school of the adjacent district, isn't that right?

A. That is correct

[R. I. 497, Vol. 5] Q. Then if we move up to the Wash-
ington Elementary School District, there is a black neighbor-
hood in that area on Springfield Street that has existed for
many, many years in Dayton, is there not?

A. Yes, because I remember many of those youngsters
came to Dunbar High School when I was a student there. -

R"00010911 -11, W-WONT-0
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They came all the way from that distance to Dunbar High

School.

t Q. Which they have the option of doing, as I understand

it?
A. Well, yes, they had the option of doing that then but

nobody else had a like option. -

[R. I. 502, Vol. 5] A. It was interesting, however, since

you are just asking for that purpose, to note that the optional

areas between Roosevelt and Colonel White did do an ex-

cellent job of siphoning off white students that were at

Roosevelt.

Q. All right. And right now, the students who are living

in that optional area north of all of these natural boundaries

are largely black people, are they not?

A. Right now, yes.

Q. And the effect of that option is to pennit them to

go to Colonel White High School, is it not?

A. I don't know whether it is or not, but I do know, as

I said before, at the time when I was closely involved with

Roosevelt, it did do the job of siphoning off whites. Of course,

the neighborhoods have changed.

[R. I. 515, Vol. 5] Q. And as the neighborhoods changed,
the compositions of the schools serving those neighborhoods

changed?

A. Yes. But I would certainly like to re-emphasize that

assignment of staff to go along with the neighborhood change

was the kind of thing that gave the impression of the schools

designed to be black, because black staff increased as black

student bodies increased.

0 0-
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[R. . 520-523, Vol. 5] Q. When you went to Roosevelt
High School there was no Colonel White High School, was
there, Mrs. Greer?

A. Colonel White was a junior high school.
Q. All right. But there was no four-year high school in

that location?
A. Yes.
Q, And am I not also correct that the only high school

north of Wolf Creek would be Fairview High School which is
quite some distance to the north of that area?

A. Yes.
Q. Now, by the time that Colonel White became a four-

year high school the only way that you could get from this
area north of Wolf Creek to Roosevelt by public transporta-
tion would be to take a bus all the way to downtown Dayton
and then transfer to come all the way back out to Third Street,
isn't that correct?

A. Would you rephrase your question?
Q. If I were living in this optional area, when Colonel

White became a high school as opposed to Fairview High
School, to get from my home down to Roosevelt High School
without walking through the Dayton Tire and Rubber Plant
and going over the railroad tracks and crossing either the
Summit or the Broadway Bridge, I would have to take a bus
on Salem, go to downtown Dayton, get a transfer and come
back out Third Street to Roosevelt, wouldn't I?

A. Yes, but I do know at that point in time there were
youngsters crossing these various kinds of boundaries to walk
to school.

Q. Whereas, when the Stivers District was expanded in
the past few years, the district was expanded in order to take
over the essentially black elementary zones of Irving and
Whittier, was it not?

A. Yes. That was planned when the boundaries were
changed for Stivers

Q. So that had the effect of achieving a greater degree
of integration at Stivers High School, didn't it?

yys
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A. Yes, in the residence area when that occurred.

Q. And to get to those zones from Stivers by public trans-

portation you would have a straight shot on the bus instead

of having to go down and transfer and come back out, isn't

that right?
A. If we consider only bus transportation, yes. But auto-

mobiles and walking and so forth were implemented by chil-

dren living in the city to cross these various kinds of barriers.

Q. Mr. Diamond asked you about Allen Elementary School.

That school was actually built in 1899, wasn't it?
A. Yes. The addition of Allen Elementary is considered

a separate school on our listing, but I would assume that it

is considered a separate school generally.

Q. But that addition was made in 1969, wasn't it, so a

school that existed in that area for 70 years?

A. They are considered as separate schools in our listings.

Q. In the 1969 school year, to your knowledge was that

at a time when there was substantial space in both white and

black schools throughout the system as far as capacity?
A. Yes. We determined that there was space in many

schools that we were not utilizing.

D. TESTIMONY OF CHARLES H. RIVERS.

R. I. 350, Vol. 5] Q. Could you state your name, please,
sir?

A. Charles H. Rivers.
Q. What is your present occupation?

A. Project Director, Title 8 Program, Dayton Public

Schools.
Q. When did you move to the Dayton area?
A. I started in Dayton in the summer of 1950, just visiting

working, and I would leave in the fall going bick to school
Permanently in 1954.

ji00l
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[R. I. 367, Vol. 5] Q. Mr. Rivers, I think I have a little
logical problem in my mind as to your last several answers.

Do I understand your testimony to be that in your opinion
the assignment of a black faculty to a school makes it identi-
fiable as a black school regardless of what the school student
composition is?

A. No. I said black faculty to a black school.
Q. When the school is already black, as far as student

composition is concerned?
Let me withdraw the question. I don't know that it is

really a question.
I take it what you are really saying is that a school becomes

racially identifiable when its student population becomes
either predominantly or all-black or predominantly or all-
white, isn't that right?

A. That's right.

[R. I. 377, Vol. 5] Q. Aside from what you were told, do
you actually know of any children that live in such an
optional area or what the boundaries of it were?

A. The boundaries in terms of what?
Q. In terms of streets.
A. I do not recall the names of streets.
Q. Do you know of any specific students living in the

area where the option occurred?
A. Not by name.
Q. During this period when you were at Jackson School,

there were substantial numbers of black students in all three
of those neighborhood schools, were there not?

A. Westwood was in a transitional period. I don't know
what you mean when you say substantial, but as I say, it
was in a transitional period. Jackson Elementary did have
a few white students. Residence Park was basically white.

Q. But there were some black students in Residence Park,
were there not?

:t
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A. I couldn not attest to that because I did not see any.
I would assume so since there were a few blacks moving in
that particular area at that time.

E. TESTIMONY OF MARY WHITE.

[R. I. 389-395, Vol. 5} Q. Just state your name and oc-

cupation, please, ma'am.
A. Mary Louise White, Executive Secretary to the Super-

intendent.
Q. Miss White, how long have you been with the Dayton

Public Schools?
A. I came to the Dayton Public Schools in September of

1961.
Q. Where were you employed at that time in the system?

A. I was employed as a secretary to the Assistant Superin-
tendent for Personnel.

Q. And that's Mr. Royer?
A. Right.
Q. Were you acquainted, Mrs. White with the records

kept in that office with respect to teachers?

A. Yes. It was a two-girl office and each of us were

responsible for records, filing and keeping records.

Q. Can you describe for me at the time you came to the

office in 1961 the method of keeping records relating to the

substitute teachers?
A. Well, it was kept in a file folder. When they were

employed, it was put into a file folder and there was a code

a mark for the black substitute teacher.

Q. Have you at my request by subpoena brought some

examples or an example of those files with you?
A. Yes, sir.

* 0 *
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Thereupon, the document referred to was marked for iden-
tification as Exhibit 158.

Q. In the substitute records can you tell me what color
cards were used for white teachers and what color cards
were used for black teachers or was there only the indication
of the dot?

A. Just the indication of the dot.
And may I show this, Judge Rubin?

THE COURT: Yes.
A. This was the card that was kept at the call desk. This

is where the calls were made for substitutes. It likewise had
the same designation.

Q. All right. Now, when you say at the call desk, can
you tell me what the call desk was?

A. Well, of course, we are a large system and our calls
come into a central call center for substitute service. At the
time I started it was a switchboard. The switchboard operator
handled these with the aid of an assistant part time.

Then we reached a point where we needed a fulltime sub-
stitute service office, and we now have that designated within
the personnel department.

Q. So the cards of the jacket which you just demonstrated
with the blue dot were maintained at the call desk?

A. It was maintained in the personnel office. The one that
is inside, this happens to be a former teacher, a former
substitute.

Q. I see.
A. This was kept at the call desk.
Q. That would be the jacket?
A. The information on what subjects this person could

teach as well as certification and this type thing.
Q. Would you illustrate the other card to the Court?
A. The other system that was kept -
Q. No, I am sorry. Is there another card for the substitute

other than the one you have just illustrated?
A. No, but for regular teachers. The other cards describe
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Q. For regular teachers?
A. Yes, our applications for regular teachers.
Q. Now, the blue dot does indicate a black teacher, is that

correct?
A. Yes, that is right.
Q. How long were these records kept in that office, or howe

long were you familiar with them?
A. They were there as long as I was there.
Q. And that was through what date?
A. From September of 1961 through - well, it was the

latter part of July of 1967.
Q. All right. Now, what about regular teachers?
A. The regular teachers applications came to the person

nel department and, of course, we kept a cross-card file. This
was a buff card. It was by subjects in alphabetical order, and
the regular buff card was for the white teachers, and then
we had blue cards with the subjects listed for the black
teachers.

Q. Did you also have pictures of the teachers on the cards?
A. No, not on the cards. The only time a picture was kept

was after employment, when a person was on the payroll,
Q. And you have a pietre of the file?
A. After employment, yes.
Q. In other words, even if the dot had been removed or

you had different colored cards, vou could still identify the
race of the teachers?

A. Yes.
Q. What was the practice during tlat time with respect

to the assignment of the substitute tea-hers?
A. As far as . know, and of course the substitutes wereI called from the other switchboard. as I said, it was a practice

that black teachers - lack subhstitutes went to black schools
and whites went to white schools, as was common with the
assignment of regular teachers.

Q, Now, were black teachers sometimes sent as suhstitutes

to white schools?
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A. Yes.
Q. You say this was a general practice?
A. Yes, sir.
Q. With exceptions?
A. Yes, sir.
Q. Were you personally aware of these assignments, and

if so, could you tell me how?
A. Yes 1 was personally aware of the assignments. We

were a small office. We each knew the other's job, and in times
of illness 1 pinch-hit for someone else who did the calling.

0

[R. 1. 398, Vol. 5] Q. And insofar as regular teachers are
concerned, the buff and blue cards situations von have re-ferred to ended in 63, to the best of your recollection?

A. To the chest of my knowledge it did.
Q. Now, were you the person that was in charge of these

personnel records or was the other girl?
A. The personnel records were a matter that was shared.

The substitute teachers' cards were primarily the responsi-
bility of the clerk-typist in our office, but of course we were
a two-girl office and we each knew the other's position andwe did interchangeably work in each other's positions.

(R. 1. 401, Vol, 5] A. That was the practice.
Q. And do T understand correctly that the reason for the

blue dot on that card was that sometimes you would get
specific requests for black substitute teachers?

A. That is correct.
Q, And those requests would come from school principals,

i take it?
A. Yes.

Q. Just to clear one matter up, you said the purpose forthe cards wa; if you got requests for black teachers, Did you

1J
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also say the practice was assign black substitutes to black

schools and whites to white schools?
A. To the best of my knowledge, it was in my early days

there.

F. TESTIMONY OF ROBERT L. GREEN.

[R. I. 405-407, Vol. 5] Q. State your full name and your
occupation, please.

A. Robert L. Green, Assistant Dean - rather Dean now,

Urban College, Michigan State University, Professor of Edu-

cational Psychology.
Q. And would you give us your educational background,

please
A. Elementary School, Detroit, Michigan; graduate of

Northern High School, June 1952; Bachelor's Degree, Psychol

ogy, 1952, San Francisco State College; Master's Degree, 1960

Psychology, San Francisco State College; Ph.D., 1962, Michi-

fr gan State University, Educational Psychology.
Q. Would you give me your work experience, please?

A. Professionally, I have functioned as a group counselor.

Q. Excuse me. Would it help you to have data to recall

it all?
A. Yes.
Q. Keep your seat, Doctor. I will bring it to you.

A. Beginning very briefly in 1959-1960, I was a Research

Assistant at the Langley-Porter Psychiatric Clinic at the Uni-

versity of California Hospital. I have been a School Psycholo-

gist with the Oakland System employed by the Juvenile Court

of San Francisco as Group Counselor, Psychologist with the

Lansing Child Guidance Clinic, and I came from the University

ranks from graduate student instructor to assistant professor

to associate professor to full-time professor and now I am

administrator at the University.
Q. In 1965, did you have a particular employment with

the United States Office of Education? [
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A. In 1965 I was principal investigator of a research proj-
ect in Prince Edward County, Virginia related to educational
status of approximately 1700 black youngsters who were out
of school as a function of school closing in that community
related to a school desegregation case, and I was primarily
responsible for the research data which provided the Justice
Department with an opportunity to negotiate with school
members in that community in an effort to reopen the schools.

Q. All right. Did you hold a position in 1965 also with
the Southern Christian Leadership Conference?

A. I was a National Education Director for the Southern
Christian Leadership Conference during that period of time.Q. All right. In 1967, did you hold another position or
direct another project for the United States Office of Education?

A. In 1967, I believe, the summer of 1967, during that
year I was primarily responsible for developing with the
support of the U. S. Office of Education a major basic adult
education project in the City of Chicago cooperatively with
the Michigan State University.

[R. I. 433, Vol. 5] Q. Dr. Green, I believe I informed you
that the faculties were desegregated as a result of HEW action
in 1970.

Do you have an opinion as to whether or not the effects of
this history of faculty assignment persist in terms of identi-
fication of schools as black or white in the school district after
the changing of the faculties as was done in this case?

A. Yes. The answer is yes, Mr. Lucas. When there hasbeen historical practice of placing black teachers in schools
specified as being essentially black schools and white teachers
in schools that are identified or specified as being essentially
white schools, even though faculty desegregation occurs, be it
on a voluntary basis or under court order, the effect remains
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that school is yet perceived as being a black school or white

school, especially if at this point in time the pupil composition

of those schools are essentialy uni-racial or predominantly

black or predominantly white.

[R. I. 457-464, Vol. 5] A. THE WITNESS: If it is a

100 percent black city, it would be then perceived perhaps

as a City school or community school, but in the context of

a city in which you have a range of racial groups, it is difficult

to perceive a school as being other than a black school. I

would guess if one went to Westchester County, one might

perceive those schools as general community schools, or Gross

C k Point, Michigan where there are no blacks at all, one would

.e perceive those schools as community schools, schools within

the general community, but in the context of a racial range 1
in which you have blacks, whites, and in many Texas com-

munities browns, schools then become racially identifiable in

the context of the general composition of the community.

See, the perception of a school develops within the context

of a general community and there is no other way to perceive

that school except in the context of the broader community. ; .

So, your Honor, if I might make this final statement, in the

context of Dayton, Ohio, even though I haven't spent the

night in Dayton and I have only been to the airport and I

have only driven through the city, I would presume there are

blacks and whites living in the City of Dayton; is that correct, j
sir? And if blacks and whites are living in the City of Dayton,
Ohio, if that is a correct assumption and I may be incorrect,

if it is a correct assumption, then when you have in the

context of that community an all-black school, if you have a

pupil composition of a school that is all black, even though {

the faculty is desegregated, those schools are perceived by

black people, by white people, by black teachers, by white

teachers, by black administrators and white administrators

as being black or white.
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BY MR. GREER:

Q. And it wouldn't make any difference what color the
faculty was?

A. The racial composition of the faculty, sir, alone does
not allow that perception to change.

Q. By the same token, if we had a school whose racial
composition was totally white and we had an all-black staff
in that school, it would still be perceived as a white school,
would it not?

A. That is correct, and that is in the same context of my
last response.

Q. All right. Now, let's move through a few more ex-
amples and I will try not to make the list too long. Assume
that in 1950 and 1951 the student population of Weaver
Elementary School was 69.9 percent black. That would be
perceived as a black school, would it not?

A. In 1960? What year, sir?
Q. You don't have to look at any paper. I am asking

you to assume this for the sake of my hypothetical question.
Assume that in 1950 and 1951 the student population of
Weaver Elementary School was 69.9 percent black. That
would be perceived as a predominantly black school situation,
wouldn't it?

A. It could be.

Q. And the fact that the school had an all-white staff at
the time wouldn't change that perception, would it?

A. That's true.

SQ. Now, consider the same school, Weaver Elementary
School in 1958 and 1959 as having a 98.8 percent black stu-
dent population. It would certainly be perceived as a black
school, would it not?

A. Yes.
Q. And the fact that the staff of that school was integrated

on a 50-50 basis black and white wouldn't change that per-
ception, would it?
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A. That does not change that perception of the school

being a black school, that is correct.

Q. Now, let me ask you to assume that in 1958 and 1959

Edison Elementary School had 80 percent black students.

That would be perceived as a black school, would it not?

A. Yes.
Q. And the fact that the staff was only 19.2 percent black

wouldn't have any relevance to that community perception,

would it?
A. That's correct.

Q. Now, assume in 1958 and 1959 Jackson Elementary

School was 98.5 percent black insofar as student composition

is condemned. That would be perceived by the community

as a black school, would it not?
A. Yes.
Q. And the fact that the staff was only 27.3 percent black

would not change that perception, would it?

A. That's correct.
Q. Assume that in 1958 and 1959 Irving Elementary School

was 96.6 percent black and student composition. That school

would be perceived in the community as black, would it not?

A. That's correct.
Q. And the fact that the staff was only 27.8 percent black

would not change that?

A. That school would yet be perceived as black school in

the context of Dayton in the context of my prior response.

Q. Now, let me ask you about Highview Elementary School

which in 1958 and 1959 had 82 percent black students. Your

answer would be the same, would it not?

A. Yes.
Q. And it would make no difference that the faculty at

that school was only 17.9 percent black?

A. 'That school would yet be perceived as being essentially

a black school.
Q. And in 1958-1959 if Whittier School had 95.6 percent

black students, it would be perceived as a black school,

wouldn't it?
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A. That's correct.

Q. And the fact the staff was 34.4 percent black would have
no relevance, would it?

A. That's correct in the context of how that school is
perceived.

Q. And in 1958 and 1959, let's go to Roosevelt High School
which had 94.5 percent black students. That would be
perceived as a black school, wouldn't it?

A. That's correct.
Q. And the fact that the staff was only 9.5 percent black

at the time would not change that perception?
A. That's correct.
Q. Assume that by 1963 and 1964 the percentage of blacks

on the Roosevelt staff had grown to 26.8 percent black. That
wouldn't change the perception of the school, would it?

A. No.
Q It would not surprise you to find that the school still

had the same 94.5 percent of black school composition, would
it?

A. Today?
Q. As of the time of the increase of the blacks in staff,

that would not be surprising to you, would it?
A. No, it wouldn't. In terms of the prior figure you quoted,

the school is remaining black in terms of pupil composition.
Q. All right, and all I am really trying to establish is that

the percentage of blacks on the faculty have no relevance to
that perception; isn't that true?

A. It doesn't change the perception. If I might precisely
state my point again to make sure it is fully understood by the
Court, desegregating the faculty of a particular school commu-
nity when in the past it has been a systematic placement of
teachers to schools based on race, based upon the racial compo-
sition of the school and using the race of the teacher as a factor,
simply desegragating the faculty without at the same time de-
segregating the pupils or students within that system does not
change the community perception of that school.

I14
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Q. All right. I think I understand that point and the

only point I am trying to make which 1 think 1 also understand

from your testimony is that the actud faculty structure of the

school doesn' t really have the samale kind of effect onl the coml-

mnunity perception of the school ats the student ptopuhrationl.

A. It doesn't have at full effect. It is important to desegre,

gate a faculty, but it does not change the full perception of the

community of that: school.

Q. In fact, in your own individual case, the high school

that you went to in Detroit you characterized as an all black

school isn't that true?
A. We had white teachers.

Q. You had all white teachers, did you not?

A. No, we did not. There were some black teachers at

the high school. The coaches were black, basketball - well,

the football coach was black and the track coach was black

and there was a math teacher that was black. There was a

very limited black teaching faculty at my high school. If I

could take a guess, 1 would imagine in the neighborhood of

about 10 percent. That was in 1952, of course, when I

graduated.
Q. And despite the fact there were a very few black

teachers in that school, the staff was essentially white but you

perceived it as a black school, did you note

A. The general community perceived Northern liigh School

tat that time as being a black high school.

Q. Since there is some question about Northern fligt

School and your identification of it because children were

being bussed, 1 believe you testified that the major point ws

the boundary line between Northern and oiher white schools

Children were being bussed to Northern, 1 believe you testi

fled, in Detroit from another suburban school district, an

all black suburban district to Northern.

A. Correct. 0 0 0
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[R. 1. 468, Vol. 5] Q. To make sure we are together on
the example, schools that have the largest proportion of black
pupils and the other schools have no or have very few black
pupils,

A. As a matter of fact, this could well and perhaps does
facilitate that school in comingg perceived as being a black
school or black area if I might use that term,

Q. But in another context assuming you knew nothing
about faculty, these schools wvoull be perceived( as black
instead of white?

A. Indeed it does have a labhel of a haven for blacks or
one reserved for blacks.

Q, And if in association with that same school and assign-
ment patterns, whites were permitted to transfer out into some
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[R. L. 465-467, Vol. 5] Q. Now, you were asked a whole
list of examples of schools. I think it started with Weaver in
1951-52 with 69 percent black students and a majority white
faculty at that school, and you indicated the school would be
identifiable as black because of its pupils. I llieve the open-
ing question related to a staff situation that T gave you that
Weaver and several other schools in the period of 1951 to
1956-57 had the assignent for the first time of black teachers
to the schools and that those schools, in fact, were the schools
in the Dayton School System that already had the largest
number of black children.

A. That's correct.
Q. And to make sure that the pineise question is asked in

the context of Dayton where the rest of the schools have white
faculties and white student bodies, does the assignment of
the black teachers to those schools as opposed to other schools
with white children in a community accelerate or does it
affect the perception of whether or not that school is intended
to be a black school?

A. Not at all.
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optional areas, does that tend to label this changing school

as a black school?
A. Yes, and it facilitates the pattern of segregation.

[R. I. 469-470, Vol. 5] Q. In a situation where a school

because of its student population is perceived as predominantly

or essentially all black, if it had had a white faculty at the

time that perception was made, you would approve, would you

not, adding black teachers to that faculty?
A. I would have to answer that question in the context

of the total system, if I might. I would approve of desegre.

G gating that faculty, but at the same time I would also approve

of desegregating the pupil body composition because in the

context of your question adding black teachers to a school

with a formerly all-white teaching faculty and a large body of
black pupils will lend itself to perceiving that school as being

indeed a black one especially when pupil desegregation is not

being put into effect.
Q. Although you already indicated the community would

make a perception of the school as being a black school when

the student composition reaches something in the neighbor-

hood of 67 percent, haven't you?
A. I don't want to play the number game. Again, it would

depend upon the racial composition of the city.

E Q. Well, I don't want to play any games with you, Dr.

Green.
A. Well, I would not focus on necessarily 57 percent or

30 percent or 28 percent whether or not a school is perceived

as being a black school or a white school. This must be placed

in the context of the proportion of blacks, percentage of blacks

percentage of whites in that particular city.

0 0 *
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G. TESTIMONY OF ROBERT REESE, SR.

[R. I. 529-533, Vol. 6] Q. How did you get to school?
A. Walked.
Q. You walked across the bridge and the river separates

that where you lived and the Central School; does it not?
A. Yes, sir.
Q. You walked across the bridge and got to that school;

correct?
A. Yes, sir.
Q. Take your seat.
Did there come a time, Mr. Reese, when someone at the

School Board found out that you were attending Central with
a false address?

A. Yes, there did.
Q. What happened?
A. Well, they sent us home from school and told us we

had to go to Garfield School, my sister and I.
Q. Did you go to Garfield School then?
A. No, I didn't go.
Q. Why didn't you go?
A. Well, my father didn't want us going out there in those

frame buildings, so he filed a suit against the Board of Edu-
cation and kept us out of school one year.

Q. You say out there in the frame buildings, can you tell
me what was in the frame buildings?

A. Classrooms were black students and black teachers.
Q. And was there another building on the Garfield site?
A. A brick building with white teachers and white students.
Q. So, your father didn't want you to attend the black

segregated classes; is that correct?
A. Yes.
Q. And he filed a lawsuit. Did you subsequently get into

the brick building?
A. After they won the suit the following year because he
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died the 29th of June in 1925 and in September of 1926 I

returned to Garfield in dhe brick building.

Q. All right. Did they still continue to operate the all-

black classes and black faculty in the back of the brick build-

ing?
A. Yes, sir.
Q. And were they there after you finished your elementary

school at Garfield?
A. When I left and went to Roosevelt, they were still there

and still operating.
Q. While you were in the Garfield School, did they have

any black classes during subsequent years in the brick build-

ing?
Q. After you left the Garfield School, where did you go?

A. Roosevelt.

Q. When you were at the Roosevelt School, did you par-

ticipate in all school activities?
A. Football.
Q. Did you play freshman football?

A Yes, sir.
Q. Was there any separation of the races in connection

with that?
A. Well, we had separate locker rooms, separate showers,

and they had what they called the east and west swimming

pools, and the white boys swam on one day and black ones

swam another day.

Q. You did not swim in the same pool together at all; is

that correct?
A. Yes.
Q. Did you leave Roosevelt after that?

A. When Dunbar opened, I left Roosevelt and hightailed

it over to Dunbar.
Q. And why did you go to Dunbar?

A. I wanted to be free. I felt more at home at Dunbar

than I did at Roosevelt.
Q. Why is that?
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A. You couldn't segregate me at Dunbar.
4 * * *

Q. At Roosevelt, Mr. Reese, the classes that you attended
were integrated and had both black and white in them, did
they not?

A. Right.
Q. And the football team on which you played had both

black and white players on it, did it not?
A. Right.
Q. The practices you indicated as far as the separate

locker rooms, showers and pools terminated by 1950, did
they not?

A. I wasn't there in 1950.
Q. So, you don't know when they terminated?

I A. I don't.
Q. Now, when you were attending Central Elementary

School under a false address in the early '20's, you were in
mixed black and white student classes there?

A. Yes

H. TESTIMONY OF IRVING MOSES.

[R. I. 536-542, Vol. 6] Q. State your full name and occu-
pation, please.

A. My name is Irving Moses. I am principal of the Fair-
port School in the Dayton School System.

Q. Are you a lifelong resident of Dayton?
A. No, I am not, sir.
Q. When did you first come to Dayton?
A. I first came to Dayton first in 1952. I moved my resi-

dence to Dayton in 1954.
Q. When you first came to Dayton did you have any con-

nection with the school system or any contact with them?
A. Yes, I did. I submitted my application for a teaching

position.
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Q. All right. Did you subsequently obtain a position with

the Dayton School System?
A. Yes, I did, i 1955.
Q. Had you been teaching prior to that time?

s
A. Yes, I had, sir.

Q, What is your degree?
A. Well, when I came to Dayton I had a US Degree from

what is now Kentucky State University and a Master's Degree

from Indiana University.
Q. And what particular field had you been teaching in?

A. I had been teaching science.

Q And that would be for how many years?

A. Four years I believe,

Q. Did you take an examination that was given at that

time for principals positions
A. It was after I began teaching in the system, yes. I

took the examination. I don't remember exactly what year

it was, '55 or '56, somewhere along there.

Q, Did you subsequently obtain a position as an assistant

Sprincipal?
A. Yes, In 196(0 1 was appointed assistant principal at

4 Westwood School.
f I think I was the first assistant principal at Westwood I

believe the second assistant principal in the elementary schools

of the City of Davtoll

Q, 0. K. You were there in what year? 1960?

A. 1960 - the terms 1904961, 1961-1962

Q. And am I correct that the pupil p opulation of the

schlu s was aproximately 70 percent black at that time? ti

A. When I left, yes, it was 70 or greater,

Q. What happened to the facdtky, the racial compositta

of the faculty during the period of time you got there, from

the time you got there to the time you left?

A. As I remember, I think there was - when I went to

Westwood there were - 1 think I was the fourth person, black j h

person, on the staff there, either the fourth of fifth. 4
1
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Q, What at the time you left was the situation?
A. Well, quite a few blacks cime in that year. As I

remember, the first year I was there there was some ladies
who returned from maternity leave, and I remember we had
some classes in a church, We had three classes I believe
in a church and one of the ladies took a first-grade class in
a church.

Q. By the time you left what was the racial composition
of the faculty? Had there been a change of any substantial
nature?

A. I don't remember what percentage it were, but there
had been a substantial change.

Q. From white to black?
A. From white to black. yes.
Q. And this was during the time when it was rapidly

changing from black to white in population, is that correct?
A. Yes, Yes, it was definitely so.
Q. After yon left Westwood, what school did you go to?
A. After I left Westwood I went to iacFarline. I had

to reorganize Nac arlane as an elementary school
Q. Was this in 1962?
A. This was in 1(2, yes. 1 worked all that summer gratis.
Q. Is this the time that Garflield and Willard Schools

were closed?
A. They had been closed and the pupils at Garfield and

Willard or the greater part had been assigned to MacFarlane
School. I believe we did get some pupils also from Grace A.
Greene and Weaver Schools, too. We had about 130) children
that year.

Q. What about your new faculty at MacFarlane?
A. Well, some of the teachers - most of my staff were the

teachers who were reassigned from the two schools that were
closed, Garfield and Willrd.

Q. I think the statistics indicate that as of 1966 MaeFarlhne
had only one white teacher, Was this a full-time teacher or a
specialist of some sort?
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A. She was a specialist. She was a reading specialist in v
the primary grades, Mrs. Velma Vernon.

Q. Did you subsequently get another part time or another

specialist white teacher?

A. Yes, another special teacher, Gilbert Unger. He was

a band teacher. He came in once or twice a week to instruct

the children in band.
Q. All righ, 'd you have any dealings with Mr. Royer?

A. Yes, :ach year, when we were projecting enrollment

and so forth, getting our organization ready for the following

year, I would have to set up a conference with him.

Q. Did you have any meetings with Mr. Royer with respect

to the question of assigning full-time white teachers to Mac- i

Farlane?
A. Oh, yes. This came up and I asked him, I reminded

him when I came to Dayton I had very few places to work.

F' My first year, when I first made aplication, he sent me - there

was a position open in biology, I think the basketball coaching
1 position was connected with that, and I was sent out to

Dunbar High School to talk with the principal about this

s. job. This was the year before I finally got on, and another

teacher got the job, incidentally, but -

Q. What do you mean by very few positions open to you?
A. Well, because at that time black people - black teachers

and blacks were only hired in a few schools.

Q. Going back to the time of MacFarlane, your meetings

with Mr. Royer, did you have any conversation with him with

respect to the assignment of full-time white teachers to Mac-

Farlane?
A. Yes, every year - this would happen just about every

year. I would ask him why were only black teachers assigned

certain schools, and I reminded him when I came to the

.system I only had, you know, a certain choice, and I asked

him why is it that white teachers had a choice.

&i Well, I told him, I said, "I don't care what color the teacher

is as long as she can work with children. It doesn't make any

difference to me whether she is white, black, or blue for that
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matter, and he said, "Well, the reason we don't assign whiteteachers to black schools, in the first place, they would quit."And then he went on to say that some of the husbands - thewomen teachers' husbands didn't want them to work there.Q. These were black schools?
A. Yes, they had black pupils.
Q. Is there any question about them working under a blackprincipal; is that the problem?
A. Oh, yes. Yes, he definitely said that the teachers, whiteteachers would not serve under black principals.
Q. You were a principal and you are black; is that right?A. I think I am. I was a principal.
Q. I don't know what word we use at that point.
Mr. Moses, in 1967 did you have a problem with over-crowding at the McFarlane School?
A. Oh, yes, we were very much over-crowded, and I be-lieve this is the year that we rented space in a church nearby.Q. That would be the Bethel Church?
A. Bethel Baptist Church, yes. It's on the corner of Sum-mit and Home Avenue.
Q.t How about the Tabernacle Church; did you rent spacethere?
A. Yes, we had rented space in the Tabernacle Church.We had the pre-school program, and I think we had a buildingadjacent to the tabernacle church. I think we had some classesin the basement, or either one of the annexes there.

[1. I. 544, Vol. 6] Q. What about Jackson; are youfamiliar with that?y
A. Oh, yes. I forgot Jackson School, yes. Jackson Schoolis built, I believe on the Home Avenue side of Jackson Ele-mentary. It still exists, yes. All these schools were built Ibelieve, in the '60's.

Q. Mr. Moses, the only locations in the system were torelieve overcrowding because of heavily populated neighbor-
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hoods two schools were built, one elementary and one primary

were the Louise Troy, Residence Park, Jefferson and Jackson

situations; isn't that right?

A. Those are the ones that I am familiar with, because I

am in that area. I can't say they were the only ones.

[R. I. 547, Vol. 6] Q. We unfortunately don't have any

way other than by rough estimates by people such as yourself

for the racial composition of the student bodies of these schools

before 1963 as I understand it. Do you have any percentage

figure that you can give us as the composition of the student

body?
A. Not being a statistician, I didn't keep any figures like

that. I was just an employee of the school. I couldn't give

you any exact figures, but I could see there was a change over.

The composition did change.

Q. Can you tell us whether the school was more than 50

percent black when you first went there?

A. When I first went there, it was less than 50 percent

black.
Q. There had been a number of additions to the Westwood

School to take care of overcrowding conditions up through

1954, had there not?
A. I can't answer before 1954. I know when I went there

there was some construction in process.

11

p 5K
t, .---
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L TESTIMONY OF JOHN HAREWOOD.

L 565, Vol. 6] Q. Would you state your name, please,

A. John Harewood.
Q. What is your present position with the Dayton Public

Schools?
A. Assistant Superintendent in charge of administration.

0 0

Q. During that period of time was the Dunbar High
School an all-bblck high school with an all-black faculty?

A. All black, all the way.
Q. During that period of time, did you assist in transporting

the athletic teams?

A. Yes, indeed. From '38 until probably '48, that was
the first time the basketball team was admitted to the City
League, and '49 for the football team. During that period of
tine, in order to provide the type of experiences which wefelt that the students should have, especially athletes, we dideverything possible to substitute for the lack in this area, and
we used to take our cars and drive them to different places
so they could participate in football, scholastic football, Wetook them to Louisville, Kentucky, to St. Louis, Missouri, to
Indianapois, different places. That was just a contribution
we made in order to make up for some deficiencies which wefelt were not the type of things that should happen to young
people in our public school situation.

' [R. I. 570, Vol. 6] Q. During the period from 1943 to '45,did you have a foster daughter in the Dayton Public Schools?A. Yes.
Q. And where did she attend school?
A. At Wogaman Elementary School.
Q. And during that period of time was there any changeL1'

II -
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in the pupil composition and racial composition of the black

faculty and pupils?
A. Not '43. Did you say '43?
Q. '43 to '45.
A. No, not during that time, no.

Q. And was there shortly thereafter?

A. Yes. In 1945, when they appointed a black principal

there, then there was a change.

Q. And what happened?
A. At the end of the spring - end of spring session they

had an all white faculty and they appointed a black principal.

In the fall they had a black principal and an entire black

faculty there, black student body.

^ . Were there white children still living in the Wogaman

attendance area?
A. There were.

Q. They did not attend the Wogaman School?

A. They did not.

[R. I. 573-574, Vol. 6] Q. In other elementary schools

n were there black children at that time with some of the children

going to Roosevelt and some going to Dunbar at the high

school level?
A. Some of the black children, yes.

Q. And was there any selection process of channeling of

1 these children?
I; A. We as counsellors visited all these feeder schools, we

call them, to take over high school course selection to sup-

posedly all the children in the 8th grade to give them the

benefit of our experience as high school people, to indicate to

them how high school election blanks should be filled out, the

type of courses they should take and so forth. And interest-

ingly enough, in my visits to some of the schools, in some of

the schools I got to talk to all the children. And, so, after the

first year that was corrected, after somebody made some com"

plaints about it, and only a few children were selected. We
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were only allowed to talk to those few children who had been
selected, by some means I don't know what, children who were
going to Dunbar High School.

Q. And that would not include all the black children?
A. No, it would not.

Q. Were you ever invited to discuss a promotion to a prin-
cipalship?

A. Yes. In 1949 I believe I was requested to come to discuss
the opening at Willard Elementary School to see if I was
interested in becoming a principal there. I discussed that
with the members at the Central Office staff.

Q. What was the racial composition at Willard?
A. Black.
Q. And the faculty composition?
A. Black.
Q. And did you accept that job?
A. No, I did not.
Q. Why not?
A. First of all, my training was in high school. I felt that

I had ability to work in a high school situation. I felt that my
relationship with high school students was such that I could
make a contribution there.

So I thanked them for their invitation and told them I felt
my contribution was in high school so I did not accept that
position.

j Q. Did you later apply for a principal position?
A. Yes, in 1954 I applied for the position of principal of

Wogaman Elementary School.
Q. And what was the racial composition of Wogaman

K School in terms of pupils and faculty?
SA. Black.

[R. L 576, Vol. 6] That was the only alternative I had in
a segregated system, as was said to me, that there was no

even though I was qualified and they said I was qualified
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they would pick others with less experience, with less qualifi-
cations than I and appoint them to positions, that either I

accept no promotion or I take something else, and that's the

reason that I went down and applied for the position at

Wogaman School.
Q. And in what year was that?
A. 1954.
Q. And did you receive that position?
A. I did.
Q. And how long did you remain principal of the Wogaman

School?
A. Thirteen years.
Q And during that period of time could you give me the

composition of both the pupils and the faculty?
A. The pupil population was all black. I had one white

teacher appointed to my staff in 1965 in special education.

I had two or three or four, I don't remember the number

of teachers in special subject areas who were there for semester

assignment in practical arts, and a music teacher who was there

in instrumental music who was there

[R. I. 579-580, Vol.6] He showed me a stack of applications
that were all black. There were some with Master's Degrees

{ wives of people who worked at the Air Force Base and others,

and we looked through those and we would comment what

fine applicants they were, and the tragedy was that out of

that many I needed one or two, and they were just there, yes.
Q. Separate pile of black applications?
A. Yes, that's right.
Q. Did your school ever have tuition pupils?

A. Yes.

Q. Could you explain for the Court what that means.
A. Pupils who live out of the Dayton School District who

by paying a fee which is stipulated by the Board of Educa
tion could enroll in a particular school in any particular class

F.
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if there was room in that school or class for them. And if they
made arrangements through the Pupil Personnel Department
for enrolling in the school, then they could become tuition
pupils there.

Q. They had to be approved at the Central office?
A. Yes, that's right.
Q. And during what periods of time, and give me roughly

what number of pupils and the race of those pupils who at-
tended your school on a tuition basis?

A. Pupils, they were all black, tuition pupils who at-
tended. I can't give you specific numbers but in one of theyears, probably '63 or '64, I happened to be in conversation
with the personnel in charge of collecting the payment for them
in the Clerk Treasurer's office. They indicated to me that we
had a larger number of tuition pupils than any other school inthe city.

Q. And no white tuition pupils came to your school?
A. No white, no.
Q. In the 1966 school year were you considered for a

promotion?
A. Yes.
Q. And what was that?
A. I was first - considered may not be the word. Robert

French, who was Superintendent of Schools, was chatting
with me informally and saying that the pressure was on themto integrate the Central Office staff. He asked me would Ibe interested.

I thanked him very politely, said no, because I didn't wantto receive an appointment just because of race or take a tokenassignment. That was the end of the conversation.

[R. I. 582, Vol. 6] He asked me was I interested.
I said on those conditions, that's a position that my quali-fications made me eligible for, then I would accept the positionif it was offered to me, and under those conditions I was then

f - - - - i- , - - .~
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appointed as Director of Secondary Instruction Curriculum

for the Dayton Public School System.
Q. During the period of that appointment did one of the

schools in the system have a fire?
A. Yes. Edison School had a fire during the time I was

serving as Director of Secondary Instruction Curriculum. Yes,
sir.

Q. What did you do? How did you decide to take care of

pupils in the spaces that had burned down?

A. The decision was not mine. I did not sit on the Execu-

tive Committee at that time. I was called in because of the

problem we faced in reference to housing black children be-

cause of the fire.
At the meeting there was brought in from the Business De-

partment a list of rooms in churches in the neighborhood of

the Edison School, and they were trying to decide the best

method for housing the children in the schools because the

fire had been held.

[R. L 583-584 Vol. 6] Q. When those children were trans-

ported, where were they assigned within those schools?

3 A. I don't remember all the schools to which they were

assigned, but one thing which was disturbing was the fact

that in some school situations they were transported as a

class with the teacher and came into the new school not as

a part of the new school but still maintained their same

identity as a class in the school to which they were assigned

Q. In other words, there would be totally black-contained

units in white schools?
A. That's right.
Q. Were you consulted on that decision?
A. No, that was not my decision.

Q. In view of your experience, your present experience,

and your years of experience with both elementary and secon
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dary education, was that decision to segregate those children
educationally justifiable?

MR. GREER: Objection, your Honor.
THE COURT: Sustained.
MR. DIAMOND: Your Honor, I believe that Mr. Hare-

wood has testified that he has been with the school system
some 35 years; that he now is the Chairman of Administra-
tion -

THE COURT: Mr. Diamond, you have had testimony as
to what occurred. These classes were transported into literally
a black enclave, and that is what I am concerned with.

Whether there were the best of reasons or the worst of rea-
sons, or no reasons at all, we wind up with that fact, and that
so far as I am concerned, is all the Court is considering at this
time.

0 0 0

[R. I. 586-587, Vol. 6] Q. Earlier had there been another
school fire?

A. Yes.
Q. About what period of time?
A. 1963, I believe, Ruskin School.
Q. What was the predominant racial characteristic of the

Ruskin School?
A. White.
Q. When that school or spaces therein were shot by the

fire, in what manner were those pupils assigned?
A. Similarly.
Q. When you say similarly, this time they are white pupils?
A. Yes, but they were assigned with a teacher in some of

the other schools to which they were assigned, speaking spe-
cifically of Central School, I remember that situation.

Q. At the Central School they would be in separate
classes?

A. Yes.
Q. What was the racial composition of the Central School?
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A. It was white and black. I don't know the exact per-

centage.
Q, In other words, it was a mixed school of some sort?

A. Yes.
Q. How long did you remain as the Director?

A. Two years.
Q. When did the policy end of segregating the pupils from

the Edison School in other schools?

A. Let's see. Dr. Carle came as a superintendent and one

of his instructions to all of us was to make sure that principals

in the schools sent in to us their plan for integrating Edison

pupils into the regular staff, and that was to be submitted to

us before school began that next year.

[R. . 590-592, Vol. 6] A. I refer specifically to the de-

segration of the staff which has occurred and the alternatives

and my recommendations in regard to it.

BY MR. DIAMOND:

1 4 Q. Then, with respect to pupils as well?

A. Yes. I had a very strong feeling, and I indicated it to

teachers and principals, to others who would listen that any

desegregation of staff was not addressing the real problem of

segregation of pupils which exist in the Dayton Public Schools
* *

o 8 0

THE COURT: Whatever he recommended I am inter-

ested in hearing. What his thoughts were and his reasons I

am not interested in hearing in this *
* * *

Q. The Edison School, was it reconstructed after it burned?

A. Yes.

Q. And when the Edison School reopened, what was the

racial composition?
A. All black.
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Q. And what alternatives were considered to reopening
the Edison School as an all black school?

A. The alternatives was to make it an early childhood
center.

Q. And wvhat would have been the racial composition of
the Edison School as an early childhood center?

A. Black and white, but I don't know about the ratio be-
cause it would depend on how many children would attend.

j* * *

[R. L 595-600, Vol. 6] Q. Mr. Harewood, let me make it
clear that I want you to sort of list the alternatives and, if
you will, I will ask you something further about them.

A. The alternatives that were considered and discussed in
Executive Council and recommended by me in the discussion,
were such things as pairing schools, magnet schools, cookingg
again at the available classrooms in some schools, a 'ince
the responsibility for pupil assignment and teacher assign-
ment was inherent in the superintendent's responsibilities, to
look again and see if the assignment could be made that would
bring about integration of some of the students in the schools,
Also-

Q. Go ahead. I am sorry. I didn't mean to interrupt you.
A, Also in the general discussion we mentioned the fact

that teacher desegregation should always be accompanied by
pupil desegregation if we are going to address the problems
which face us because of the segregation of pupils.

* 0 *

Q Mr. Harewood, since the HEW office had directed or
had found that the system was in non-compliance with Title
6 of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, and the school system was
about to commence a faculty plan of desegregation, what
recommendation, if any, did you make with respect to timing
of pupil desegregation?

*
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Yes. The recommendation which we made in reference to
that act was that if it could not happen simultaneously with

teacher desegregation, that as soon as possible after that pupils
should be desegregated in order to address the problem which
faces us.

Q. You say "address the problem which faces us." What r

problem are you speaking of at this point? I want to make

sure I understand.

A. The problem that the Dayton Public School faces be-
cause of the segregation of the pupils in the school.

Q. All right. You recommended that they proceed - the

pupil and faculty desegregation proceed simultaneously, if

possible, or if not, shortly thereafter?

A. Yes.

Q. You understand, Mr. Harewood, I am not asking you

to tell me what is right or wrong about segregation, but I

am asking you to deal with mechanics if you will. That is
probably an unfortunate word. Will you try and answer the

question in that context?
A Mechanics?
Q. What was the object of the faculty decision? What

was the goal to be accomplished in a narrow sense, if you will?

A. So that we would no longer have schools which are
identifiable by race because of the composition of the student
population or the faculty population or the administrative
assignments.

Q. Well, did your recommendation that the time be simul-

taneous based upon an evaluation as an administrator or

whether or not this could be accomplished solely with faculty

desegregation?
C a A. Yes.

Q. Did you think it could be accomplished solely by the
faculty desegregation?

A. No.
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THE COURT: Mr. Harewood, do I understand what you
are saying is that assume that a school had a completely in-
tegrated faculty but totally or race or the other as students, it
would still be a racial identifiable school?

THE WITNESS: Yes.

[R. I. 604, Vol. 6] Q. Now, the resolution which you
have in your hand, and particularly Step 2 as it is set forth
there, would that have had the effect of doing what you had
originally recommended in terms of pupil assignment in the
Dayton School System?

A. Yes.
Q. I am sorry, I didn't hear you.
A. This resolution would have, yes.
Q. All right. And the resolution adopted in January, what

effect did it have in terms of pupil assignment?
A. It restored the original boundaries which was not in

line with the recommendation.
Q. And what does that do in terms to pupil attendance in

the public schools in Dayton by restoring the original
boundaries?

A. It resegregates them to the original condition which
existed before this. We have black schools, we have white
schools; schools in lower economic areas, and some in the
other areas.

[R. I. 608-609, Vol. 6] Q. Now, io go back to just a few
points in your testimony, I understand that you were at
Dunbar from 1938 to 1954; is that correct?

A. Yes.
Q. It was during the period from 1943 to 1948 that Dun-

bar became integrated into the City Athletic System; is that
not correct?

A. 1948 and '49, they became, those two years,

*.a
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Q. Didn't they start with training in '43, or do you

remember?
A. Probably, yes, sir. I was speaking of the major sports.

There may have been some activity in sports, yes, sir.

Q. But the two major sports are, of course, basketball

and football in Dayton; aren't they?
A. That's right.
Q. In 1948 Dunbar became completely integrated into the

City Basketball Leagues?
A. Yes, that's right.

Q. Then the following fall it became completely integrated
in the City Football Leagues?

A. That's correct.

Q. And that has been the situation ever since; has it not?

A. That's right.
Q. You indicated that as a counselor at Dunbar from 1949

through 1954 you visited the area schools that would po

tentially feed children to the Dunbar High School?

A. Correct.

Q. In those days, and up to 1962 I think it was, Dunbar

was an optional school; was it not?

A. Yes, sir.
Q. In other words, a child anywhere in the City System

could elect to go either to the high school in his neighbor-

hood or could elect to go to Dunbar?

A. Yes.
Q. The only other school with a city-wide attendance

district at that time was Patterson High School; wasn't it?

A. Yes.

S[R. I. 611, Vol. 6] Q. The children who had been in

class during that school year up until the time the school

year burned down were transferred with the schools intact

t , to these various predominantly white schools?

A. Yes.

.. F /,
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[R. I. 778-780, Vol. 7]
(Thereupon, the following proffer

was made into the record by Mr. Dia-
mond out of the presence of the
Court:)

Mr. John Harewood, if permitted to answer whether it was
educationally justifiable to segregate the children from the
Edison School for the last six weeks of school to white schools
would have testified as follows: From his experience as an
elementary principal, second curriculum coordinator and sec-
ond local chief administrative officer of the school system,
would have testified that there was no educationally justifiable
reason for segregating these children in the classes intact with
their black teachers in otherwise virtually all-white schools.

If permitted to testify with respect to the reasons for his
recommendations with respect to faculty and pupil desegrega-
tion, Mr. Harewood would have testified as follows: First, the

Q. Then it was the start of the school year the following
fall when those students became integrated into the other
classes existing at those white schools; isn't that right?

A. In some instances some of them did it right away. Some
waited. Some didn't do it until the next fall.

Q. How much time was left to complete the school year
class that those children had with their teachers at Edison
when the Edison School burned down?

A. I am not sure of the exact date, Mr. Greer, and the
year when that happened.

Q. It was sometime in the spring?
A. In the spring, yes.
Q. Wasn't it a month or two before school was due to

let out?
A. That's right.
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faculty and pupils should be desegregated simultaneously or
in as close coincidence as possible.

Second, that from his experience with the patterns of segre-
gation and discrimination directly resulting from and being
opposed by the Dayton Public School System and its accom-
modation of the white community's hostility to association with
blacks on an equal basis, that when pupil desegregation was
not made part of faculty desegration it was a symbol of the
fact that the white community was still hostile to and un-
willing to accept pupil desegregation,

If permitted to testify to the reasons for the January 3rd,
1972 action of the Board in reimposing segregation and re-
drawing every boundary in the school system which had the
effect of establishing the substantial duality in pupil popu-
lations on a racial basis that is now present, Mr. Harewood
would have testified that such action was merely the most
overt act of discrimination and segregation by School Board
action: and further would have testified that such overt act
was necessitated because of the Board's decision on December
8, 1971 for the first time to come to grips with its own respon-
sibilities to eradicate the patterns of discrimination and segre-

'. nation which it had caused in substantial part for the past
50 years.

Mr. Harewood further would have testified that faculty
desegregation given the history of identification of schools as
black or white, and intentional tailoring of schools to serve
white pupils or black pupils by the racial pattern in faculty

q assignment would not disestablish the racially dual system of
education imposed by public school authorities.

. , .
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TESTIMONY OF ELLA LOWREY.
[R. . 620-631, Vol. 6] Q. And where did you teach?
A. Garfield Elementary and Wogainan Elementary.
Q. All right. While you were a student in the system,

did you become familiar with the Garfield Elementary School?
A. No, I did not.
Q. When did you first become aware of the Garfield

Elementary School?
A. When I met .Miss Louise Troy who was teaching there.Q And do you know under vhat circumstances she was

teaching physically? Was it in the iRdn building or elsewhere?A. I knew she was teaching a c7, f first and second grade
black children in the brick building right at the rear door ina classroom there.

* * 0

Q. Can you give me the approximate date?
'A. Well, I would say this was just before the flood years.

About 1912 or 13.

Q And she was teaching in an all black class and Mrs.
Troy is black?

A Yes.
Q In the brick building at that time?
A Yes.
Q Do you know what happened to that class thereafter?
A I lost track of what she was doing because I fnishedhigh school and started going to Dayton Teachers Normal

and lost track of her until I finished Dayton Teachers Normaland went to teach myself.
Q.C That was in 1918?
A, \Yes,
Q, And when you went to teach Garfield, where werethe black students being taught?
A. In a two-story frame building with four rooms that
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was a converted four-room house, two rooms down, two up
with a stairway in the center.

Q. Were there any black students in the brick Building?

A. Not at that time.

Q. And were the teachers as well as the students black in

the frame building?
A. All of us were black.

Q. Can you tell me what happened in the way of growth

of for want of a better term I will call it the black annex to

the Garfield School? Did you have an increase in enrollment

during this period of time you were teaching?
A. When I went to do my practice teaching there where r

all the black Normal School girls went, there were four

classrooms, a first and second grade in one room, third and

fourth in one room, fifth and sixth in one room, seventh

and eighth in one room. The classes were very large running

about 50 children.
Q. Is that 50 children to one teacher?

A. To one classroom and one teacher. The next year,

in 1918, that summer, they put up a two-room portable

frame building with big stoves in it to heat them and I was

hired along with another young woman to take a single

second and third grade. I had third. The other girl had

second, and this relieved the double classes in one room.

Q. Now, you taught -

A. At that point in time, that made six black teachers

with six black classrooms.

Q. You were teaching in the portable portion of the

building; it that correct?
A. Yes. The brick building sat here (indicating), here '

was the big yard (indicating), here sat this house (indicat-

ing), and on the other side of that was the frame, the

two-room frame building.
Q. Were your classes large at that tine?

A. At that time, when I began, I think I must have had

about 25 or 30 children.
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Q. Did there come another expansion in enrollment of
children in the annex?

A. Yes, and it happened very fast. I would say it was
due to the fact that after the flood, blacks moved out of the
inner city proper, as we term it now, going west to go up
high out of the flood territory where we had had the flood,
and they were moving fast into the west side, further west.

Q. Was there another addition built to this annex?
A. We stayed in this small frame, I can't tell you how

many years, but being very fragile, the building being very
fragile, it was soon delapidated, in bad condition. The walls
were bad; the windows were bad and broken out, and the
heating unit became bad.

Then they build what I would call a permanent building
directly behind this frame house. I say permanent because the
floors were concrete, there were toilets in the basement;
furnaces in the basement, an iron stairway to come up from
the outside into the building. That was for four rooms.

Then the two-room portable was torn down. At that point
in time then we had eight black classrooms with eight black
teachers.

Q. You say '21 and '22, you mean the years?
A. Yes, and at that same time the white teacher in the

brick building with all white children had 20 children and I
had 42. There was no effort made to equalize our classes.
I kept 42 and she kept 20.

Q. Were you there in 1927 at the time the Reese case
was filed?

A. Yes, I was.
Q. You were teaching still in the annex or the wooden

building; is that correct?
A. Yes, I was, and Mr. Reese didn't like this thing, and

he said he would not send his children there. They would
not permit his children to go into the brick building, and he
said he would not send them across the river to Central
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School. He would sue the School Board first, and he kept his

children at home.
Now the School Board at that time, not knowing what was

going to happen, hired we eight people on a day-to-day
substitute basis in September.

Q. You say eight people?
A. Eight teachers. There were eight black teachers of

black classes.

Q. Where did they hire you as substitutes? You had been

hired previously?
A. Yes.
Q. Where were you hired as substitutes on a day-to-day

basis?
A. They told us that they didn't know whether we would

be there after the case was settled or not. If the case was

settled and they had to admit black children to the white

classes in the brick building, then there would be no reason

for us to be there, we were told.

Q. You would not be permitted then to teach the white

children?
A. No. This is what we were told.

Q. The case was finally disposed of. Were you then given

contracts?
A. We were given contracts and given the retroactive

pay that we lost from September until December.

Q. Did you know what happened to Mr. Reese's son?

A. He came on to school and went to the classes in the

brick building
Q. How did the black children get into the brick building

after that?
A. They had to go to the administration building, the

parents had to go and make a special request that their child

be admitted to this brick building, and a little later in

time, shortly after that went on for a while, people objected so

to it, then they were permitted to bring their child to Garfield

School and asked permission to have their child entered in the

brick building, but the parents had to come into it.
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Q. And ask the principal?
A. They had to ask the principal, "Place my child. I want

my child placed in the brick building."
They had to come and so specify.
Q. If they did not do that, and they lived in the Garfield

zone, they would have been assigned to the black annex; is
that correct?

A. They were assigned to the black teachers in the black
annex and the black classes.

Q. Did the black population continue to grow and did
in turn the number of white pupils available in that area
decrease?

A. There came a time in the late '20's when we just
had more children than we could handle and the weight
seemed to be in the fifth and sixth grade area. At that time
one black teacher was hired and she was given a room
right at the rear door of the brick building. She was the first
black teacher to work in the brick building at this time.

Q. Other than Mrs. Troy?
A. Mrs. Troy, in the meantime, was over in the frame

building with us. Now that was in, I would say, about '27 or
'28, this was, and then at the time of the depression in
'32 -

Q. Excuse me. Let me interrupt you. This black teacher
by the back door, was she teaching an all-black class?

A. An all-black class of fifth and sixth grade children.
Q. All right.
A. Then that was the only teacher for the black children

in that buildinng up until the time during the depresson when
married women teachers whose husbands could support them
had to go home, and I was one of those that went home in
'31 and '32. When I went back in '32 and '33 there wasno place for me. We had had somewhat of a disturbance
about these people being let out, and we were all assigned
back to work. There was no place for me, because by that
time another teacher had my class.

Q. Another black teacher?

muassen.-------...r
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A. Another black teacher had my class, and they had

been told - the Board had been told - assign all those

teachers.

The Board of Education then said that I would - well,

now, how do I say that - we had a court case out of it, and the

mandate was, "Retire these teachers."

Wouldn't that be to the Board?
Q. Go right ahead.
A. Where was I before I was so rudely interrupted?

So then we went back to work. That's always been a sore

spot with me, my being let out that one year, interrupting

my service, you know - so when I went back to work there

had to be a place made for me, so to speak, so then 18

children who were slow, troublesome, worrisome, bothersome,

generally disliked, were called from their groups and given

to me in an ungraded class. There was no place to put me

excepting in the brick building in a room that had formerly

been the principal's office, a little cubbyhole upstairs, and

this mixed black fifth and sixth grade and my black class

upstairs were the only two black classes in the building.

Q. Let me just make it clear. When you say mixed, you

mean mixed grades, not mixed pupils?
A. Yes, I do. No. No. No. No. No. These were all

black children, and I had about 18 of these in this little

room upstairs in the building. All the rest of the building

was white excepting we two black teachers and these two

classes of black children.
This continued until about, as I remember now I was in that

room about two years, which would make it about '34 or '35.

We had two little white children left in the building. Now

these ten white teachers were maintained through all of this,

and then as our classes became overflowing with black chil-

dren, they were placed in the white teachers' rooms, but not

until there was no place for the child to sit in the room.
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Then when there were only two little white children left in
the building, the white teachers were all reassigned. The
black teachers were put in these rooms. We had at that point
in time eight and ten - eight and two, that was ten - and
six white teachers remaining in the building at this time now
teaching whites, a few whites, three and four in a classroom,
and all the rest of their children were black.

Then, as soon as there were only two whites left, there
were black teachers assigned to these rooms, and a black
principal was assigned, and that was about '35, as I recall.

[R. I. 635, Vol. 6] A. Then I resigned. Then I was out of
the system six years, and then I went back and continued on
until 1953. When I went back I went to Wogaman School
and I stayed there twelve more years doing 40 years service in
all in Dayton, and I never taught a black child in all - pardon
me. I never taught a white child in all that time. I was
always in black schools, black children, with black teachers.

K. TESTIMONY OF MARTIN E. SLOAN.

[R. I. 667-670, Vol. 7] A. Yes, sir. This is the 1971 an-
nual report of the President as required by the 1968 Housing
and Urban Development Act. At page 26 the President states,
"Residential separation of minorities was and is another char-
acteristic of the social environment which has been influenced
by Federal Housing Policy. Until 1949 FHA officially sanc-
tioned and perpetuated community patterns of residentialj separation based on race by refusing to insure mortgages inneighborhoods not racially homogeneous. The effects of this
policy have persisted for many years after its reversal andare still evident in metropolitan areas today."

Q Mr. Sloan, directing your attention to - coming back
to the FHA multi-family program, the public housing pro-
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gram, does it require any certification before a project may be
built or expanded from the local school agency?

A. Yes. It is among the requirements by the Federal
Public Housing Authority -

A. Among the conditions which are required by the Fed
eral Public Housing Authority is an assurance that there are or
will be school facilities adequate to accommodate the children
who will be living in the public housing project, and this is a
condition before approval is given. And one way that this
assurance is given is through a letter or certification from the

local educational agency.
Q. If such a certification is not made in some form or

fashion can the project be built?
A. No, it cannot. Federal approval will be withheld,
Q. Mr. Sloan, let me give you a hypothetical - what may

be a hypothetical situation. Assume a proposal is made to
build a Federal Housing Project in a period of time when
the agency did require segregation in the housing - that
it true, it did require that, the Federal Public Housing Author-

ity?

A. Yes. Many localities did require it.
Q. All right. Assume the proposal is to locate a public

housing project with that given, that it will be segregated in E

an area that is on that map red, and therefore predominantly

black, if the school authority refuses to provide school space
in that area on any ground, it cannot be built, is that correct?

A. That is correct.
MR. GREER I will object, your Honor. This isn't laid

with any premise in the Dayton School System.
THE COURT: Objection overruled, Mr. Greer

Q. Now, assume the School Board advised the housing
agency that we will not build or add onto school space in
this area because your policy is one of segregation and that
will result in, because of the racial composition of the area,
an all-black school; however, if you build it in an area where
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there are white children, white residents, then we will pro-
vide school space regardless of what your tenant selection
policy may or may not be, could the project then be built
only in the area where the school space could be provided?

A. That would be right. So far as the Federal Public
Housing Authority is concerned, so long as there are going to
be adequate school facilities which will accommodate the
children, that is the location Oey will approve.

[R. 1. 672, Vol. 7] Q. Now, I take it, Mr. Sloan, that
from your limited understanding, the school authority cannot
tell the housing authority what their tenant assignment policies
should or should not be, is that correct?

A. As far as the Federal -
MR. GREER: I will keep my continuing objection to

all this questioning.
THE COURT: I assumed that, Mr. Greer.
A. As far as the Federal Public Housing Authority's posi-

tion is concerned, until 1962 the kind of tenant assignment
policy adopted by local public housing authority was en-
tirely up to the local public housing authority. Whether it
wanted to adopt a segregated tenant assignment policy or an
integrated tenant assignment policy was entirely a matter for
local decision.

Q. As far as you know, the school authorities could not
dictate the tenant selection?

A. As far as I know, the school authorities could not.

[R. . 674-688, Vol. 7] Q. Mr. Sloan, just to make it per-
fectly clear, may a Federally assisted, through the local housing
agency, project be built if tie school authorities decline to
provide the school space?
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A. No, they may not. Unless the Federal Public Housing
Authority can receive assurance that there will be school fa- 1

cilities to accommodate the children who are living in the pro-

i ject, they cannot approve construction of that project. And

if the school - local education agency does not give that

assurance for whatever reason, then the project cannot be built, .

Q. All right. Mr. Sloan, turning from public housing to [

Federally assisted multi-family housing, do you know whether

or not similar assurances are required under those programs?

A. Yes. Similar assurances are required with respect to

FHA assisted multi-family housing, subsidized housing for low

to moderate income families.
I believe, but I am not absolutely sure, that similar as

surances also are required for non-subsidized FHA assisted

multi-family housing.

Q. To your knowledge, is any formal certification required

for single-family assisted housing?
A. I am not sure, Mr. Lucas.

Q. But the underwriting criteria indicate evaluation of

that, is that correct?

A. Yes. The adequacy of schools always has been and

still is an important consideration that goes into the decision

to approve or not to approve FHA assisted housing.
Q. As part of your agency's function to conduct hearings as

charged by Congress, official records are kept, is that correct?

A. That is correct.

Q. All right. Has the agency conducted hearings at which

the Secretary of Housing and Urban Development has testified

in recent years?
A. Yes. In June 1971 we held three days of hearings in

Washington, D.C., and among the witnesses was Secretary

Romney of the Department of Housing and Urban Develop-

ment.
Q. Are these proceedings recorded and records kept and

maintained in the ordinary course of business of the agency?
A. Yes, they are.

0 *



-

j

Q. Without any detail, except as the cross-examination may
require, Mr. Sloan, would you refer to the hearings in which
Secretary Romney testified?

A. This is -
Q. I am sorry, and indicate, first of all, the date and so

forth of the hearings, and would you particularly reference any
testimony by the Secretary to the Commission with respect to
the present-day existence or non-existence of a dual housing
policy?

0 0 *

A. This is a copy of the hearing transcript, at which sworn
testimony was taken from all witnesses. The hearings were
held between June 14th and June 17th, 1971, and Secretary
Romney was one of the witnesses, and the hearings were
concerned with problems of denials of equal housing oppor-
tunity, which is why Secretary R.>mney was an important
witness.

In one point in response to a question as to whether there
still existed a racially dual housing market, Secretary Romney
replied, and this is from page 244 of the hearing transcript,
replied, "You don't have to prove through me that we have
got a dual housing situation in the country. We have got a
dual housing situation. We have got dual housing markets
in practically every metropolitan area in the country."

Q. Mr. Sloan, has your agency as part of its responsibility
conducted studies of the various Federal statutes and Presi-
dential orders which involved an attempt to eliminate this dual
housing market?

A. Yes, we have.
Q. And this was an official study as part of the mandated

duties of the agency, is that correct?
A. We have done a number of studies along that line. One

a particular which we conducted in October, 1970, perhaps
that is the one you are referring to, was entitled "The Federal
Civil Rights Enforcement Effort," in which we evaluated the
Civil Rights activities of more than 40 Federal departments and

147
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agencies, and one entire chapter was devoted to the Depart-

H meant of Housing and Urban Development and other agencies
having fair housing responsibilities. And since that report,
which was published in October of 1970, we have done two

follow-up reports to try to trace any progress that has been

made in strengthening civil rights performance, and particu-
larly in the area of housing.

Q. Did the Commission draw any conclusions as to the

effectiveness or lack of effectiveness of those programs and

statutes? i

A. The Commission's conclusion was that the Fair Housing
Laws were not being enforced with any strength; that the

Department of Housing and Urban Development was relying
for the most part on receipt of complaints as its principal

mechanism for enforcing the Federal Fair Housing Law rather

than taking affirmative action such as the performance of civil

rights compliance reviews to determine for itself whether the
law was being obeyed.

Q. One final question, Mr. Sloan. From your experience

and your study of this field beginning with national banks and

Comptroller of the Currency's office and assuming perfect en-

forcement of the statutory provisions and executive orders, do

you have an opinion, sir, as to - let me ask you a preliminary

question.
Vihat is the rate of change generally considered in terms of

housing, in terms of families moving in and out?
A. The best estimate that I have is that on the average

families turn over houses, move from one house to another or

one unit to another every seven years.
Q. All right. And do you have - I will get to my main

question - an opinion as to how long it would take, assuming

this perfect enforcement, to come to some sort of random

distribution of the population in terms of race in the com-

munity?
A. My best estimate, and it is not a very optimistic one,

is that it would be at least three and probably four generations

before we could expect even with strong and perfect enforce-

I
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ment of existing fair housing laws, we could expect the kind of
random distribution that you are talking about.

Q. Mr. Sloan, I show you a document dated June 8, 1971,
entitled "Federal Policy and Equal Housing Opportunity. Are
you the author of that document, sir?

A. Yes, I am.

THE COURT: I am going to permit this to be offered as an
item of evidence, Mr. Lucas, and we will give this a number.
Your last number I think was 158. This will be Plaintiffs'
Exhibit 159.

Q. Mr. Sloan in what field of English literature was it
that you had your education?

A. Elizabethan drama was my major.
Q. The material that I have just been handed marked

Plaintiffs' Exhibit 159 purports to be ali article which you
wrote on June 8, 1971, is that correct?

A. It was a paper I prepared in specific connection with the
f Commission's hearing in Washington that I referred to earlier

and was entered into the record.
Q. All right. Prior to examining you, I haven't had any

opportunity at all to read or review this document. Is there
anything of significance in it other than what you have already
testified to?

f A. I am not sure. It tries to trace succinctly key develop-
ments in Federal policy relating to equal housing opportunity.

1 There are matters discussed in there that were not 'gone into
in my testimony such as policies of Federal financial regulatory
agencies and the mortgage lending institutions which they reg-
ulate, which we did not go into.

There is also discussion of several substantive housing pro-
grams which I didn't go into in my testimony.

Q2 It contains no discussion I trust of the Dayton School
Board, does it?

A. No, nothing specifically relating to Dayton.

IN 1 il ,
1
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Q Does it contain any discussion of any School Board?

A. No, it does not.

Q. Have you ever been to Dayton?

A. Yes, I have.
Q. When and for how long?

A. Well, just a day, many, many years ago, while I was

attending Ohio State University we traveled to Dayton.

Q. You came down to hear a jazz band or somthing?

A. Something like that.

Q. You haven't made any study in the Dayton area, have

you?
A. No, sir, I haven't.
Q. I don't understand your testimony as to the question

of assurances by local school boards that there will be school

facilities available. Now, I thought I heard you say at one

point in your direct examination that many localities did re

quire this at one time?

s A. Did require what?
Q. That the FHA be given assurance that school facilities

would be made available?
A. Discussing the public housing program, the Federal

Public Housing Authority, among the conditions which it

requires to be satisfied before approval of any project, is that

there will be assurance that there will be adequate school

facilities to accommodate the children who will be living in

that project. And in public housing the way in which that

assurance is given is through a letter or certification by the

local educational agency. Unless that assurance is given ap-

proval will not be given. That so with respect to the Public

Housing Program.

Q. Is it ever done informally or is there always a letter of

assurance? V
j:. A. To my knowledge, there is always a written document

giving that assurance. i o

Q. You don't know in particular of the practice that the

FHA followed in the City of Dayton, do you?



151

A. FHA or the public housing? You are talking about two
different programs.

Q. Any public housing?
A. I don't know about the specific practice in Dayton,

but I do know about the practice which was required on a
nationwide basis, and I can't see why it would be different
in Dayton unless there is some particular reason why it would
be a different practice in Dayton.

Q. Well, you haven't seen my documents or letters indi-
cating the Board of Education of Dayton certified that there
would be facilities available for this or that project, have you?

A. No, I haven't.

Q. Is the a "rance to which you are referring not some-
thing required by FhA ^r the VA?

A. No. With respect to K-A, the same assurance is re-
qured, that is, that both the Fedend Housing Administration
and the Public Housing Administration of HUD, both are very
concerned about the adequacy of school facilities to accommo-
date the children who will be living in these projects which
they assist in financing, so the assurance is the same.

Now, when Mr. Lucas asked me, I said I wasn't sure whether
the same assurance is required with respect to FH'A assisted
single-family housing. I would be surprised if it was not, but
I am just not sure.

Q. Do you know where there are some localities where this
asurance has been obtained simply by the people from FHA{ or the Public Housing Authority inspecting the area and finding
out for themselves that there are school facilities available?

A. No, I don't.

Q. You don't know whether that might or might not be
the practice?

A. I don't know with respect to FHA. It may be, but the
typical plan in FHA was to receive insurance in the form of
a letter, a written document.
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Q. And over what period are you referring to?

A. The entire period of the operation of the program in-

cluding to date.
Q. Right up until the present time?

A. Yes.
Q. It is your testimony however, is it not, that the school

board or in your experience you have never found a situation

where the school board had a choice in either the location

or the tenant policy of any public housing project?

A. I don't know one way or the other. The Federal con-

cern was in getting that written insurance and once it was

obtained as to the relationship to the local education agency

and the local public housing authority, that was something in

which the Federal Public Housing Authority did not get itself

involved. As to whether in a particular situation the local

education agency could or could not say yes or no, the interest

to the Federal Government was in getting that insurance and

until it got it, no approval would be given.

Q. And all the Federal Government wanted to be assured

of was that any child residing in a proposed housing project

would have an opportunity to get an education; isn't that right?

A That's right.
Q. Are you familiar with the Ohio Statute which provides

that schools will be placed at such places as will be most

convenient for the attendance of the largest number of stu-

dents?
A. I wasn't until His Honor read that section of it.

Q. You are a lawyer from New York rather than from Ohio?

A. That's right.

Q. To make sure there is no confusion, Mr. Sloan, you

mentioned something about a local option. That option from

the Public Housing Agency, it dealt with the question of

tenant assignment; isn't t1  correct?

A. That's right.
Q. And not with whether or not it would be allowed?
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A. That's right.
THE COURT: I have one or two questions, Mr. Sloan.

Do you know of any example in any city where a school
Board refused to grant such a certificate because of the segre-
gation policies of the housing agency?

A. No, Your Honor, I don't, but neither the Commission
nor I personally has ever actually inquired into that specific
question. I would like to.

THE COURT: There is no evidence to your knowledge
that any school board has ever done that; is that right?

THE WITNESS: Your Honor, I don't know of any such
situation, but then it would be difficult for me to know.

THE COURT: Your inquiry into this issue has not included
that determination?

THE WITNESS: That's right, sir.

L. TESTIMONY OF HERBERT CARROLL.
[R. I. 695-696, Vol. 7] Q. And what has been the policy

with respect to the student during this whole period who was
attending another school for racial purposes, if you will, who
had a disciplinary problem? What was the policy with respect
to that student?

A. The policy was that he was to return to his own school.
Q. If he had a problem, say, at Meadowdale and his home

school was Roosevelt, then he would be sent back to the
black school program; is that correct?

A. That's correct.

[R. I. 700-704, Vol. 7] A. Yes, it does.
Q. In terms of your curriculum?
A. It does.
Q. Do you know, or from your observation of the applica-

tions, is there a pattern of particular schools that white chil-
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dren are applying for curricular transfers from, and is there

any pattern to the schools they seek to attend?

A. Yes. Basically in most Roth High School - let me be

more specific. Particularly the white youngsters in Roth High

School are seeking Meadowdale and Stivers Schools for latin

and power mechanics. That seems to be the reason why they

want to leave.

THE COURT: Excuse me. Which high school are they

seeking to leave?
THE WITNESS: They are seeking to leave Roth High

School, Your Honor.

Q. Roth, Meadowvale and Stivers; is that correct?

A. Yes.

Q. What about from Roosevelt; are there any transfers

from Roosevelt?
A. Yes. Basically the transfers - you are talking about

black students now?

Q. I am talking about white students.

A. There aren't any white students at Roosevelt.

What about from Stivers; is there any pattern of trans-

fers from Stivers?
A. The pattern of Stivers is from schools of Wilbur Wright

or Belmont, and they are seeking German and latin.

Q. Is there a school with a humanities course that a number r

of students are seeking transfer to?

A. Yes, there is a humanities course at Meadowdale High

School which has been used for transfers also.

Q. That's not a required subject; is it?

A. No, it is not.

Q. Mr. Carroll, as I understand it you started with the

Dayton School System October of 1957; is that correct?

A. Yes.

Q. That was the same year that you first applied to the

system for a teaching assignment?
A. That's correct.
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Q. You didn't serve any apprenticeship as a substitute
teacher; did you?

A. No.
Q. The freedom of enrollment idea as I understand it from

your testimony, was a suggestion which you had made?
A. No, it was not. It was one I had to implement.
Q. You implemented it and your chief work in the system

in the last few years anyway has been assisting special educa-
tion students to try to avoid dropouts and that sort of thing;
hasn't it?

A. That's correct.
Q. As I understand the freedom of enrollment plan, there

are three priorities; are there not?
A. Correct.
Q. The first in keeping with State statute on the provision

of schools in the attendance district of the child gives a student
a first priority to stay in his own neighborhood school?

A. That's correct.
Q. The second priority is an educational priority that if

there is a course he can't obtain in his own neighborhood
school, he can request a transfer for that purpose?

A. Yes, sir.
Q. You have indicated that students from Roth have

sought to go to Meadowdale or Stivers for latin courses or
power mechanics courses?

A. That's correct.
Q. What's a power mechanics course?
A. It is a course in machinery which is not offered at their

present school.
Q. That I assume requires the kind of equipment that

would be expensive to reproduce in every school of the system?
A. I wouldn't know. I don't know.
Q. Then of course, Stivers is an integrated school, is it not?A. Stivers has some black students in it.
Q. In fact, as of today there isn't any high school in theDayton system that doesn't have some black students in itisn't that correct?L A , . .Sv ha some b s e i t.,I

I -- low "NOWN Nam
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A. There are black students at most all high schools.

THE COURT: Excuse me. Most high schools or all high
schools?

THE WITNESS: Excuse me; all high schools, there are

some black students.

BY MR. GREER:
Q. There have also been transfers of students from Stivers

to Wilbur Wright or Belmont for educational purposes?

A. Yes.

Q. There have been transfers of black students from Roose-

velt to other schools for educational purposes; have there not?

A. Yes.
Q. Has there been any pattern of black students trans-

ferring from schools for the second priority, educational

courses?
A. Very seldom. There have been some, yes, sir.

Q. What have been those transfers?

A. Those transfers have been whereby the youngster has

known a particular course that he wanted, and he would

mention - an example - a course let's say, humanities. He

would really want humanities, to go to a course, but he could

also go according to racial balance.
Q. And the third criteria, after the attendance zone and

the educational criteria, if any student can go to any other

school if there is capacity for him and if his attendance at

that school would improve the racial balance in the school;
isn't that correct?

A. That's correct.
Q. This is a policy that has been in effect in the Dayton

School System since September of 1969?
A. Correct.
Q. The upswing in the system in this current school year

is attributable to the fact that these students are given free

transportation; isn't that correct?
A. Yes.

Q. Up until this school year, because of financial matters,
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if they were enrolled in freedom of enrollment, they had to
get to the school they wanted to on their own pocketbook?

A. Yes, sir.

[R. I 713, Vol. 7] A. 716 high school youngsters.
Q. And in addition to those 716 students, there were 625

elementary students?
A. That's true.
Q. And if we look to the non-minority races over the

periods that we are talking about, there were 23 students that
transferred under the freedom of enrollment program in the
elementary and middle schools; is that right?

A. That's true.
Q. And 89 in the high schools?
A. That's true.
Q. Now, some of these transfers would be from predom-

inantly black schools to predominantly white schools, would
they not?

A. That's true.
Q. And there are a few that are from predominantly white

schools to predominantly black schools?
A. Correct, yes.
Q. The transfer depends on the choice of the student and

the available space?
A. That's true.

[R. I. 729, Vol. 7] Q. In your administration of this pro-
gram, you haven't made any distinction between students
who apply under the second priority for educational reasons
as to whether they are white or they are black; have you?

A. The guidelines state that if one transfers under the
second priority, that they will transfer, and all except a few
of those have been white students.

Q. But if a black student transfers under the second pri-
ority, he is treated in exactly the same manner as the white
student who applies under the second priority; isn't that true?A. Yes.
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M. TESTIMONY OF JAMES R. CALDWELL.

[R. . 731-735, Vol. 7] Q. Would you state your name,

please?
A. James R. Caldwell.

Q. How long have you been a resident of Dayton?

A. All my life.
Q. Where did you go to college?

A. Tennessee State University.
Q. During what period of time?

A. From '50 to '54 - '49 to '53.

Q. What kind of degree did you get from Tennessee State?

A. B.S.
Q. Did you get a teaching certificate?

A. Yes, I do.
Q. What kind of teaching certificate?

A. Health and physical education biological sciences.

Q. High school letter?

A. Yes, sir.
Q. Did you play football at Tennessee State?

A. Yes, I did.
Q. Did you apply for a job in the Dayton School when

you graduated from Tennessee State?

A. Yes, I did.
Q. What happened?
A. When I made application for a job in the Dayton

Schools, I was told that the only openings that they might

have would be at Dunbar, and at the present time they didn't

have any.
Q. So what did you do?

A. I left and started playing professional football, and all

season I was teaching in the State of Tennessee.

Q. Where did you play professional football?

A. The Chicago Bears and Calgary Stampeders.

Q. Where did you teach?

A. Davidson Academy in Tullahoma, Tennessee and

Booker T. Washington in Chattano ga, Tennessee.

I.O



Q. Were you a coach at those schools?
A. Yes.
Q. What sports did you coach?
A. Football, basketball, and track.
Q. When did you return to the Dayton area?
A. In the latter part of '59.
Q. Did you apply for a job with the Dayton Public Schools?
A. Yes.
Q. What happened?
A. They said they had no openings in the health and

physical education department.

Q. So, what did you do?
A. Went to Hamilton to set up the school program at the

Juvenile Court under the direction of Dr. Dickey.
Q. Did you return to the Dayton Public Schols?
A. Yes, I got a call one evening asking me if I were in-

terested in taking a job at Roosevelt as a science teacher and
a football coach.

Q. Was that as a head football coach?
A. No, as a line coach assistant.
Q. Did you accept that position?
A. Yes, I did.
Q. How long did you remain at Roosevelt?

A. Until '68.
Q. During that period of time could you just tell us in

rough terms what happened to the faculty and pupil compo-
sition at Roosevelt?

A. When I first went to !loosevelt, I guess it was about
60-40, and at Third Street at one time was the dividing point
as far as blacks and whites are concerned, and as the blacks
continued to move into that area, the blacks became more
dominant in Roosevelt.

Q. What happened to the faculty composition?
A. It became more dominant too.
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Q. During that period of time did you remain as an

assistant coach at Roosevelt?

A. Yes.
Q. Were you ever offered a position as a head coach?

A. I was promised a position as head coach at one time,

but later it was changed.

Q. You did not get it?
A. No.
Q. Did you also coach freshman football?

A. Yes, I did.

s Q. What were the records of your team?

A. I had the best record in the history of Roosevelt. I

lost no games and only one team crossed the 50-yard line for

one play.
Q. In 1968 where did you go after you left Roosevelt?

A. To Roth High School.
Q. What was the pupil racial composition at Roth High

School at that time?
A. I guess it was about 60 percent black and 40 percent

white.
Q. What position did you take?

A. As a teacher and coach.

Q. Were you a head football coach?

A. No.
Q. In 1969 did you take another position?

A. Yes, as student community coordinator. I:
Q. What is your present position?

A. Assistant principal at Roth.

Q. Mr. Caldwell, as I understand it when you secured a

job in the Dayton System, they called you rather than you

calling them; is that right?
A. Yes. *

. ,'
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[R. I. 765-769, Vol. 7] Q. What is your employment his-
tory?

A. I graduated from college in 1942. I started working in
a small town, Georgetown, South Carolina, and during the
War years I wanted to make a more direct contribution to the
War effort, so I went into Government work. I came to Dayton
at that time.

Q. Did you seek employment at that time with the Dayton
School System?

A. Yes, I did. I decided to go in and talk with them to
see what the possibilities were, and at that time I was told -

Q. Can you give me the year please, approximately?
A. Approximately either '55 or '56.
Q. All right.
A. I was told that I would have to substitute and I figured

no way, you know. I would be losing income to go into the
school system in the first place.

Q. That is if you were employed full time?
A. If I were employed with the school system I did lose

income when I went to the school system because I was making
more with the Government than when I was employed at the
school.

Q. And did you substitute at all?
A. No, I didn't.
Q. All right. Did there come a time when you obtained

a job with the Dayton School System and can you tell me how
that cane about and where you were assigned?

A. When I had an opportunity to talk with the person who

N. TESTIMONY OF DORIS BROWN.

[R. I. 762, Vol. 7] Q. Will you state your full name and
your occupation, please?

A. I am Doris Brown, Principal at Miami Chapel School.
0 o

I
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interviewed me and personnel, they indicated that there were

vacancies, a few possibilities and the schools names were Wil

lard, Wogaman, and Miami Chapel.

Q. Were these black schools?f

A. Yes, black.
Q. And did you accept an assignment?

A. I accepted the assignment at Miami Chapel.

Q. Did you receive any rating in terms of your qualifica-

tions during your period of time at Miami Chapel?

A. Yes. I was told that it was one of the best ones that 1
had ever been given by that administrator.

Q. What kind of rating did you receive?

A. Excellent if you want to call it that.

Q. Mrs. Brown, are you related to Herman Brown who has

testified in this court?
A. No.
Q. And at Mr. Brown's suggestion, did you contact the

Personnel Office in the school system concerning a vacancy in f
the position of assistant to Mr. Royer?

A. Yes, I did.
Q. Let me ask you first of all did Mr. Herman Brown in-

dicate to you what he understood the qualifications that were

being sought were?
A. Yes. t

Q. And what were they?
A. When he went for an interview, he did tell me that they

wanted a woman, so I went.

isQ. And did. you have an interview with Mr. Royer?

A. Yes, I did.
Q. And what were you told?

A. Well, that no decision was made; in other words, it

was just we will consider you and we will let you know.

Q. All right. Did they tell you what sex they were looking

for? Did he indicate that to you?
A. No.
Q. Did you subsequently obtain a position in the central

office?
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A. Yes. I was offered a job as interviewer for the Special
Assistance Program.

Q. That would be a Federally funded program?
A. Yes.
Q. Did you take that position?
A. After thinking about it, I did take it.
Q. And was this the same kind of position that you had

had in terms of overall responsibility that you had been apply-
ing for since the War?

A. Really no.
Q. You made substantially less, did you not.
A. Yes.
Q. And it was limited to Federal programs?
A. Yes, in the basement of the building.
Q. All right, and did your responsibilities include all schools

in the system or only those with Federal programs?
A. Only the Federal.
Q. Was there a concentration in terms of employment there

in terms of black or white for the Federal programs?
A. A high percentage of black.
Q. Primarily your job that was interviewing black appli-

cants; is that right?
A. Generally speaking, that's the way it was.
Q. And Mr. Royer had a higher position with more general

supervision than you dica; is that correct?
A. Yes.
Q. I believe, in fact, the minutes of the Board of Educa-

tion reflect that you were appointed to your position on the
same date he was appointed to his; is that right?

A. Yes.

Q. How long did you stay in that position, Mrs. Brown?
A. About a year and several months.
Q. Why did you leave that position?
A. I was offered a position as Principal of Miami Chapel

p.,
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Q. And did you prefer that position at Miami Chapel?

A. Yes.

0. TESTIMONY OF GRACE TOLES.

[R. I. 741, Vol. 71 Q. Would you state your name please?

A. Grace Toles.
Q. Where do you reside?
A. Dayton, Ohio.

A. Yes, I am.
Q. Are you presently employed?
A. Yes.
Q. By whom?
A. Dayton Board of Education.
Q. In what capacity?
A. Assistant Principal at Longfellow Middle School.

Q. How long have you been in Dayton, Mrs. Toles?

A. Fourteen years.

[R. I. 743-747, Vol. 71 Q. By whom were you interviewed

to be employed as a teacher or as an employee of the Dayton

[ Public Schools?
A. Homer Royer.

Q. Do you recall the year that you were first interviewed?
A. In the summer of 1957.

THE COURT: Excuse me. Was that '57 or '67?

THE WITNESS: '57.
BY MR. JONES:

Q. And what were you told by Mr. Royer with regard

to your desire to become an employee?

A. He told me that there were no vacancies in my field

and his advice to me was to retrain for the elementary.
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Q. In what respect did he say there were no vacancies?
A. Well, he said there were no vacancies for black teachers

in the high school.
Q. Did he make a suggestion to you?
A. He suggested that I retrain if I was interested in

anything.

Q. What was your response to that?
A. That I had trained for high school and I was not in-

terested in retraining for the elementary level.
Q. Did you have a later occasion to talk with Mr. Royer?
A. There was an article in the paper later that they need-

ed teachers, and I asked for an interview and I was told
to come in again.

Q. And did you talk to Mr. Royer at that time?
A. Yes.
Q. Did he ask any questions of you with respect to your

desires?
A. Well, he asked me how did I feel about going into

an all-white school to teach, and I explained to him that I
was interested only in teaching children. My position there
would not be to socialize.

Q. Would you tell us what school you were first assigned
to after first being employed?

A. Roosevelt High School.
THE COURT: What year were you employed?
THE WITNESS: 1957 in the fall.
THE COURT: Then this interview did result in employ-

ment?
THE WITNESS: Yes.
THE COURT: Thank you.

BY MR. JONES:
Q. You were employed to teach at Roosevelt Eigh School?
A. Yes.
Q. Do you recall the number of faculty members there

were at Roosevelt at that time?
A. 121.

S'~M~~'
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Q. Now, of that number, do you recall how many teachers

were black at the time you went there?
A. There were two prior to my being hired and there were

four the year that I was hired. There were six blacks at the
time.

Q. How long did you stay at Roosevet?
A. Thirteen years.
Q. Can you tell us what the student population was at

the time you went there?
A. It was predominantly white. I would say about 93

percent white.
Q. What was it at the time you left?
A. 99 percent black.
Q. What was the faculty composition, if you recall, just

prior to your leaving, a year or two prior to your leaving?
A. We had a 70-30 ratio, and I am not certain of how

many whites were there.
Q. Prior to that time you say when you went there, there

were two black faculty members?
A Yes.
Q. And four came with you?
A Yes.
Q. At what point would you say the faculty had the

highest number of black teachers?
A. I would say about midway '67. I would think that

more blacks - as ' nppulation of the student body changed,
the staff changed.

Q. Would you know approximately what that percentage

1 would have been?
A. I would say possibly about 70 percent black.

Q. Were you able to observe the process under which
the faculty changed from predominantly white when you
went there to 70 percent black?

A. As the student body changed, I think I said before
the faculty changed, and there were two high schols that
were opened, Meadowdale and Roth, and I noticed a change

I. after these schools were staffed.
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Q To what do you attribute that change in the student
populations Iter these two schools were opened?

A A number of things. The area was changing as far as
housing is concerned. The other thing, the white students
that were in the area were allowed to go to Colonel White
or Patterson. Colonel White was in the optional area.

0 0

[R. I. 749-750, Vol. 7] THE WITNESS: As I said, aca-
demically I noticed that there was a change as far as what
was being taught and how it was taught.

BY MR. JONES:
Q. Can you describe that in a little more detail?
A. Yes. We used to rate on tests and we taught toward

this. It was decided by committees within the particular dis-
ciplines that we didn't need to worry about this any more
because students had so many deficiencies that we would
only teach toward correcting the deficiencies rather than try-
ing to compete as far as city or state tests.

Q. With regard to the physical tools and equipment in
the schools, did you notice any change take place?

THE WITNESS: T noticed that as teachers moved to
other schools, the materials that they had accumulated that
really belonged to a particular school in the district - if you
have Roosevelt materials, they belong there- but they sud-
denly disappeared and they were not, you know, replenished.

Q. Did you have occasion to observe the teachers who
replaced those who were transferring out?

A. Yes. In may particular field seemingly the ones that
were sent in were weak, oftentimes they were teachers that
had ben assigned to other schools and had not made it and
they were transferred there.
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P. TESTIMONY OF LELIA I FRANCIS.

[r I. 791-792, Vol. 7] Q. Are you familiar with the Gar-

feld School area?
A. I am famiar with the Garfield School and the Willard

School. Willard School is where by daughter went to school

when I first came to Dayton, and it was a predominantly

black school.
Q. Now, when you lived in the Garfield area -

A. I lived - not Garfield, Willard.
Q. Willard?
A. Yes.
Q. Did you know of any bussing of children out of there?

A. Definitely. I had occasion to talk to a woman who

lived in an apartment above a store at the corner of German-

town and Suimmit. Willard was on the corner of Germantown

and Summit. She wanted her child to go over there to school.

Q. Was she black or white?

A. She was a white woman. And they refused to let her

child go just across the street, and a bus picked her up and

carried it out from Summit and Germantown.

Q. You say Willard or Wogaman?

A. That is Willard.
Q. O. K.
A. Willard.
Q. Did you know of any other students, white students,

who were bussed out of particular school areas?

A. The children from - when Wogaman changed, why

those children were bussed out of the Wogaman district.

Q, When you say "those children" you mean the white

children?
A. The white children were bussed out of the Wogaman

School District.
Q. What was the effect of the urban renewal policy in

terms of residents of blacks in East Dayton in the early years?
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A. Well, the urban renewal program became known as the
black removal program. They removed all of the black people
from near the center city of Dayton, Ohio. You will not find
one black person in that section now.

And the same thing happened in the east end. They moved
all of the little pockets of black people who were out there.
Why, they encouraged them and made it possible for them
to buy property in the West Dayton area.

Q. This was true also of the public housing where they
were building white projects in East Dayton, is that right?

A. Right.
Q. Did the relocation agencies actually relocate black

people in West Dayton?
A. Absolutely. Absolutely.

Q. TESTIMONY OF DAVID GEORGE CARTER.

[R. I. 795-797, Vol. 8] Q. Would you state your name,
please, sir?

A. David George Carter.
Q. What is your present position?
A. Service Unit Administrator with the Dayton PublicSchools.
Q. Who do you work under?
A. Mr. John Harewood, Assistant Superintendent in charge

of administration.
Q. How many other service unit directors are there?A. Two.
Q. What is your basic responsibility?
A. I have the administrative responsibility for 25 schools,three special programs. The special programs are ModelCities Education Component, Project Emerge, which is a Title8 dropout provision program, and the COP program.
Q. Are you also in charge of a set of schools?
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A. The schools, yes, 25; four high schools and twenty-one

elementary and middle schools.

Q. In some other school systems, might this be called

A. Yes, and if you are in Detroit they would have district

superintendents; if you were in Philadelphia, they would have

district superintendents; if you were in Madison, Wisconsin

they have unit directors, the same as we have in Dayton, Ohio.

Q. When did you go to high school and where?

A. 1957 through 1961, June of 1961, Roosevelt.

Q. When you arrived at Roosevelt High School, what was

the pupil population?
A. Approximately 21, maybe 2200.

Q. What was the racial composition?

A. Maybe 40 percent black, or 35 percent black, some-

thing like that.
Q. During the four-year period that you were at Roose-

velt High School, what was the change in both the total en-

rollment and the pupil racial composition?

A. Okay. The enrollment during the time I was there was

basically, I guess about the same, 2100 or so. I guess sev-

eral interesting things happened when I. arrived at Roose-

velt. There were approximately, I can remember seeing five

black teachers. Okay. Maybe there were a couple more.

Each year the number of black teachers increased, but also

each year the number of white students decreased.
K1

[R. I. 797, Vol. 8] Q. During this period of time of trans-

sition, do you have any idea where the white students attended

school?
A. Yes. I guess, if we are talking about '57-58, after my

freshman year, it is rather difficult to say, for some individuals

that I went to elementary school with at Addison never

arrived at Roosevelt, which leads me to believe one of two

things - and they still stayed in Dayton; they resided the same
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places, in Summit Courts, which is now called Lower Dayton
View, if you are familiar with Dayton, right off of Negley.

Black students that lived in that area made it to Roosevelt.
Okay. When you asked me what happened to the whites, they
disappeared.

, ,

[R. I. 807-813, Vol. 8] Q. During your tenure as the prim-
cipal of the Jefferson School, were you ever aware of any
of your white students who instead of attending the Colonel

t White High School attended other high schools?
A. Yes, one in particular. In May of '68 a parent ap-

proached me concerning that Colonel White was going on
what was called a block system, and that she didn't feel her
child could function there, nor did she approve of that par-
ticular system. Not even a comment on the block system,because I wasn't that familiar with it, all I could say wasthat the Board, as guidelines now stand, your child, if you
still remain where you are presently staying, will have to at-tend Colonel White. That child has never attended Colonel
White. He is now a senior at that particular school.

Q. At what school?
A. Meadowdale High School.
Q. What was the reason for his attending Meadowdale?
A. Well, the answer given to me, that he was taking aunique course; however, the course that he took last year,that was supposed to be unique, was offered at Colonel

White and is offered again this year. I did bring this to theattention of the superintendent, as well as the superintendent
in charge of student development, and nothing happened.Q. What was that unique course?

A. Photography.
Q. Because of that election, that student was allowed toattend all of the classes in the high school?
A. That was told to me; that was the excuse.
Q. Are you aware of any black children in predominantly

~~4t
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white high schools who had been transferred to black high

schools?
A. Last October or November, plus or minus two or three

months, because I could be off, Mr. Webb, principal of

Roosevelt High School, called my office and stated that he

had a student that had been sent to him from Fairview, and

he was not - he questioned whether or not he should admit

that youngster. I directed Mr. Webb not to admit this child

until I was able to read, you know, through the records to

find out why the youngster was being sent there.

After going through a search for more information, I checked

with the visiting teacher at Fairview, Eileen Morrison, Bart

Cromer, who happened to be the visiting teacher at Roose-

velt School. Dr. Care, the superintendent of schools; Bill

Goff, assistant superintendent in charge of student develop-

ment, everybody agreed that this young man should not be

sent to Roosevelt. He was sent there.

Q. Was this under one of those so-called hardship trans-

fers?
A. Man, don't start me on that because everything ap-

pears to be a hardship for somebody else, but, you know,

nobody looks at their over-all effective building. If for a

moment you can look at Roosevelt now receiving youngsters

- see, when we talk about freedom of enrollment, we are

talking about black rape, because we see children that are

talented, they are accepted somehow in the white communi-

ty, but those that appear to have problems are sent right

back. If freedom of enrollment was in fact just, then, hey, I

am a student of your building, work with me like you do any

student, Mary who lives next door down the street. Don't

tell me that w ten I am in trouble I am different.

MR. GREER: Your Honor, if I might -

Q. Mr. Carter, are there any, and if so approximately

how many, white children who take advantage of the free-

dom of enrollment to transfer to predominantly black schools?

A. I know of none.
Q. That does not mean there might not be a few?
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A. What's a few when you are talking about 500 black
kids going across town, and we are talking about one white or
two whites.

Q. Now, with respect to the curriculum transfers, are there
instances where white children take advantage of that through
transfers from a black school to a white school?

A. I gave you the example, the individual who left Jef-
ferson and went to Meadowdale.

Q. Are there other such examples?
A. I can't cite specific examples. However, the way thepolicy is written up it is possible that - the policy as written

states that curriculum changes do in fact have priority overracial changes.
Q. Now, are you aware of the capacity limitation on thefreedom of enrollment policy?
A. I am, but I am also aware that there is a discrepancy

in that. We have had three changes in freedom of enrollment.
One we dealt with, first of all, what the principal said. If hesaid his building was full, it was full.

Secondly, we tried to deal with projected enrollment. Thethird area is actual enrollment within a building, the numberof youngsters that could actually attend a building withoutfilling all of the classes.
Q. Now, are those actual enrollments that are projectedthe same as the rated building capacities?
A. Not necessarily. Not necessarily. As an example, youmay have a projected enrollment for 700 in a building, youmay have only 600 attend. The actual capacity may in factbe 1,000.
Q. In other words, in terms of the individual capacity toaccommodate the children?
A. That's correct.
Q. And what would be required then would be the re-assignment of some teachers in order to maintain some sortof class size?

&~i'~:77~z~ <r
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A. Yes. This year what we have had to do is that we,

because of freedom of enrollment, population shift, we have

transferred teachers from one building to another, and, yet, we

still have space, you know, and also we have turned back

applicants.
Q. Black applicants?
A. Yes. I am aware of some because I work with them.

[R. I. 850, Vol. 8] Q. Now, if we had a square here

hypothetically and this were the Jefferson School zone, what

you are describing in terms of overcrowding might be called

spot or non-contiguous zoning. In other words, we take a

quarter here and assign them to a school someplace else in

the school district.

Q. Mr. Carter, are you familiar with other school sys-

tems where often they use this type of zoning, spot or non-

contiguous zoning for overcrowding and other purposes?

A. Some for racial discrimination.

[R. I. 856-859, Vol. 81 Q. Mr. Diamond drew some pic-

tures on the board and I just wanted to get back to the spe-

cifics of this overcrowding situation at Jefferson Elementary

School while you were there.

In the 1969-'70 school year, the Jefferson Elementary School

remained approximately 80 percent black in its student com-

position, did it not?
A. '69-'70? I think it was about 65 or 70, maybe 70 per

cent black.
Q. All right. And while it remained at that composition

because of the overcrowding in that year, black students were

transported to Fairport Elementary School, were they not, 18

students?
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A. I can't comment on the number.
Q. But there were black students transported to Fairport,

were there not?
A. That is correct.
Q. And that was an essentially white elementary school

or predominantly white elementary school?
A. An elementary school that was beginning to change

also.
Q. And some 22 black students from Jefferson were trans-

ported to Ft. McKinley Elementary School, were they not,
during that school year because of the overcrowding?

A. Yes.
Q. And that was in an essentially white school district,

wasn't it, neighborhood?
A. Yes.
Q. And 42 black students, because of the overcrowding,

were transported from Jefferson to Loos Elementary School,
were they not?

A. I can't comment on the number of blacks.
Q. But, at any rate, -
A. Students were.
Q. All right. And that was a predominantly white ele-

mentary school, was it not?
A. Yes.
Q. And some 37 were transported to Horace Mann, isn't

that correct?
A. Yes.
Q. And Horace Mann is over in the southeast side of

Dayton?
A. Yes.
Q. And it is a predominantly white elementary school, is

it not?
A. Yes.
Q. And 19 of those students from Jefferson were trans-

ported to Hickorydale, were they not?

'U
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A. Yes.

Q. And that is an essentially white elementary school is

it not?
A. Yes. You mean then or now?

Q. In the 1969-'70 year, when this occurred.

A. O.K. I think there were blacks. I can't comment on

the racial make-up. I think it was predominantly black.

Q. And the other schools to whom these Jefferson stu-

dents were transported because of overcrowding were Shiloh,

which is the northernmost elementary school, Shoup Mill and

Valerie, isn't that correct?
A. Yes. And that is where we had the receiving parents

in an uproar because they didn't want them there.

Q. And all three of those schools were predominantly
white, were they not?

A. Yes.
Q. No other elementary schools were involved in that

effort to relieve the overcrowding situation that existed at

Jefferson in 1969 and '70, were there?

A. No, sir. That is where all the space was. There was

no space on the west side.

R. TESTIMONY OF KARL TAEUBER.

[R. I. 899-922, Vol. 9] Q. Would you give me the index

of segregation as to each of those categories?

A. Okay. The residential segregation index for Dayton

for 1960 is 91; the segregation index for students in the 1967-

68 school year is 90; for staff, it's 78.
THE COURT: For which year, Doctor?
THE WITNESS: This is 1967-68.
THE COURT: That's the staff?
THE WITNESS: Yes, sir.
Q. Doctor, you have there the 1960 residential data. Have

you calculated the index for residential segregation for each

of the census years beginning in 1940?
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A. Yes, I have.
Q. Can you give us the index, if you will, for those years?
A. For 1940, the black-white index of residential segrega-

tion was 92; for 1950, 93; for 1960, 91; and for 1970, 90.
Q. The 93, that was the 1950; is that correct?
A. That's correct.
Q. Is this a pattern in other cities, with respect to the 1950

census in the north, the increase?
A. I assume you are referring to this increase. I might

comment first that the change from 92 to 93 and back to 91
and 90 represents a very small amount of change compared
just to absolute numbers and compared to the amount of
change that does show up in some other cities, but in specific
answer to your question, it is true that most cities throughout
the country showed some increase in 1940 to 1950.

Q. That would be increase in residential segregation by
this index; is that correct?

A. That is correct.
Q. These are all 90 or above, and the perfect segregation is

100?
A. That's correct.
MR. LUCAS: I am sorry; not perfect. Qualify me on that

word.
THE COURT: Total.
Q. Do you have the figures for 1970 census? Could you

calculate the figures for students in 1970?
A. Yes. The segregation index for Dayton ;School pupils

in 1970 is 83.
Q. The residential is what?
A. The residential is 90 in that year.
Q. What was the faculty in 1967?
A. The faculty in 1967 was 78.
Q. Did you calculate the pupils and faculty for 1972?
THE COURT: Together, or are these separate
MR. LUCAS: Separately.
THE WITNESS: For 1972 enrollment data, the pupils

index was 79; for teachers, it is 15.

I,

U
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BY MR. LUCAS:

Q. Your experience with the data, is that a substantial

drop from the 1967 data with regards to faculty?

A. Yes, that's very substantial. As I mentioned, the fact

l that in any case there will be some random variations so that

you won't reach exactly zero.

Dr. Taeuber, were you aware that there was a faculty

r desegregation plan implemented in that year?

A. I was told after calculating the data, yes.

Q. Have you broken down any of the pupil segregation

k~ indexes by elementary and high school?

A. Yes. I calculated the indexes for each of these years

separately for elementary students and for high school students.

0 o 0

THE WITNESS: For 1967 - excuse me a second. I didn't

realize you were going to ask that particular question. For

1967 the segregation for elementary school pupils is 91; for

1972, it's 87. For high school students, the 1967 segregation
is 89; for 1972, 68.

[R. I. 924, Vol. 9] Q. All right. And then assume that the

School System has - I am pointing generally to the map, but

not necessarily to particular schools.

Assume along the area of change, 1970, Cornell Heights,

Jefferson, in that range there, assume along that area of

change that the School System for the first time assigns black

teachers to the schools in the area of change which already

have between 35 and 69 percent black students.

At the same time, there are a large number of schools

with no black teachers in them, and almost only white children-

in them.
What effect, if any, in light of the past assignment practice,

does the assignment of black teachers to those schools and

not the others have in terms of identifying these areas?
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A. I think that this would be treated as information by
anyone interested in what might happen to these schools that
they are being defined as becoming black schools in the pattern
where most schools are either entirely black or entirely
white, so that it is a move in this hypothetical case toward
defining the school as one which is becoming in the context of
the racial views of the population more suited for black
students than for white students.

[R. I. 946-947, Vol. 9] THE COURT: Would you ordi-
narily expect that the residential index and the student index
would be approximately the same?

THE WITNESS: Within t ° five or ien points that's due
to the difference in areas used, Qata base.

THE COURT: And that would be both ways. Whether
or not the student index was substantially greater than the
residential index, or substantially less, if it varied more than
this five or ten percent, that would indicate some specific
action had been taken by somebody, am I correct?

THE WITNESS: No, because the blocks are small areas
and the school attendance zones are larger. I would expect
the school index to be somewhat lower than the block resi-
dential index. If the school measure were higher,, even by
just a point, I would assume there must be some - or that
there is probably some kind of action that means that the
attendance areas are not strictly - that the school attendance
is not strictly based on the attendance areas.

0 0 0

S. TESTIMONY OF WAYNE M. CARLE.
[R. I. 954-955, Vol. 9] Q. Give your full name and occu-

pation, please.
A. Wayne M. Carle, Superintendent of Schools, Dayton.Q. Dr. Carle, would you give us your educational back-

ground, please?
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A. I earned my A.B. Degree at Brigham Young University

majoring in English and secondary education, The Master of

Education Degree I received from the same institution. The

Ph.D. degree at the Ohio State University, and the area was

education.

Q, All right. Would you give me your employment history,
please?

} A. Yes. In the years 1948 to 1952 I was a writer, a news-

paper writer. In 1952253, I was a teacher of a rural con-

solidated district, Roosevelt, Utah, and in the following years

a high school teacher in Provo, Utah, and then an instructor at

the Brigham Young University. In 1958, I believe, I was a

mass media fellow of the Fund for Adult Education.

Q. And where was that?

A. At the Ohio State University. In 1959, I joined the

Akron Schools as Administrative Director for Research and

Information. In 1962, I became Assistant Superintendent for
professional personnel. In 1966, I joined the State Depart-
ment of Education of Ohio as Assistant State Superintendent

k of Public Instruction in charge of instruction, and in 1968

became Superintendent of Schools of Dayton.

[R. I. 956-958, Vol, 9] Q. Your present employment is
Superintendent of Schools in Dayton; is that correct?

rt A. Yes.

Q, Dr. Carle, what were your duties when you were
Assistant State Superintendent?

A. I was in charge of the area of instruction which in-

cluded five divisions, one of them for the chartering of

schools, about 5,000 elementary and secondary schools in-

volving annual inspections; the area of teacher certification

involving the accreditation of 51 teacher preparation institu-

tions and about 90,000 teacher certificates; the area of instrue-

tional materials; the division of special Education, that is,

education for the handicapped; and the area of guidance and

testing for the State of Ohio.
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Q. You mentioned chartering schools. Will you tell me
what you mean by that?

A. Yes. Until about the time I joined the Department,
it had to do with issuing charters for new schools and then
inspecting them for meeting state standards. At about that
time, about 1966, as I remember, the legislature changed
the term to chartering of school districts meaning presum-
ably that all the schools within a district must meet standards
and the report forms were developed for that purpose.

Q. All right. Was this one of your particular assignments?
A. Yes, that was one of the divisions over which I was

responsible and in which I would engage if there were appeals
or problems arising from them.

Q. Am I correct in analogizing chartering to accredita-
tion?

A. Yes, the term accreditation often is applied to a volun-
tary association such as the North Central Association of
colleges and secondary schools and chartering is a specific
term used in Ohio to specify accreditation or certification by
the State Department of Education. They are separate pro-
cesses but they are related.

Q, All right. Did you have any particular responsibility
with respect to chartering multi-county schools? Did that
fall into that jurisdiction?

MR. HOLSCHUH: If your Honor please, I have not ob-
jected, but I assume that none of this testimony is being
offered in connection with any issue involving the State
Defendants.

THE COURT: I would assume this is by way of back-
ground, is it not, Mr. Lucas?

MR. LUCAS: Yes, and it will lead to the State Defendants
in relationship to the Dayton School System.

MR. HOLSCHUH: Then, I do object, your Honor.
THE COURT: I am going to sustain Mr. Holschuh's objec-

tion, We are not going to determine at this time the relation-
ship of the State Defendants to the Dayton School System.

i .
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i .i [R. . 974, Vol. 9] A. I think you asked me something to
the effect of whether racial segregation bore on the chartering
of the school, something to that effect.

MR. LUCAS: Yes.
MR. HOLSCHUH: Your Honor, I believe my objection

is in the record.
THE COURT: Overruled.
A. I recall the situation in 1966, approximately, when the

Middletown Board of Education was completing a new high
school, and it was time to request a charter for that school.
There was some controversy in the community that the fact

that the new school was located in, I believe, a white area of
the City, and the old building was in a black area, or at least
a mixed area of the community, and that if indeed a new high
school were opened and the other left operating as a second
high school, that one would be racially segregated quietly.

3 It was represented to my department that if an exception in
standards could be made so that the schools could be chartered

as to campuses of one building, that the objection to segrega-
tion could be overcome, and it is my recollection that we

thereby gave a waiver and that the school then operated when

it opened, approximately in '67, perhaps '68, as a ninth year,
a vocational program on one campus, and ten through twelve

on the other campus, so that all students went to both

buildings

[R. I. 978-982, Vol. 10] Q. Did it lay certain steps that
you thought had been positive steps taken by the Board prior
to your coming?

A. Yes. I had, for example, noted but in fact I guess the

only word I can use was I was appalled. I felt I was very
familiar with urban schools, having spent by then a dozen

years working with urban centers, particularly in Ohio, and

having been a personnel man, I was appalled to learn, after

I got into the personnel situation, that we had completely
segregated staffs in some buildings, and so we had made
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efforts, particularly up to that first summer, to try to begin
breaking that down.

I directed the personnel department to make efforts to
assign more teachers across racial lines for the following school
year, and also there had never at that point been a black
administrator, for example, assigned east of the Miami River.
There had been only one general administrative officer who
was black.

These things were appallingly evident, and I tried to address
them, and then pointed out after becoming aware of that
statement, that "the predecessors of this board also have been
concerned with racial balance. With respect to the West
side, for example, records indicate the determination, in the
early 'fifties,' to attempt to reduce the concentration of mi-
nority-group pupils in the then three schools with predomin-
antly Negro enrollments - Wogaman, Garfield and Willard,
by transferring parts of these districts and integrating other
schools.

The subsequent large increase in non-white enrollments inthe surrounding schools, however, finally negated this effort."
MR. GREER: I am sorry, Dr. Carle, I missed part of your

answer.
THE COURT: So did I Dr. Care.
THE WITNESS: Am I reading too quickly?
The paragraph noted that predecessors of the present Boardhad been also concerned with racial balance, and then I saidwith respect to the west side that there had been a transfer ofpredominantly Negro enrollments from Wogaman and-Garfield

and Willard by transferring parts of these districts and inte-grating other schools. The subsequent large increase in non-
white enrollment in the surrounding schools, however, finallynegated this effort.

THE COURT: Dr. Care, may I inquire: This was areference to boundary changes?
THE WITNESS: Yes.
THE COURT: That were intended to increase the racialbalance; is that correct?

I'll 111111 MORMON
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THE WITNESS: Yes, sir.

THE COURT: By taking portions of those three schools,

the attendance zone, transferring them to other schools?

THE WITNESS: Yes.
A THE COURT: It was not the reverse; it was not an effort

to segregate further the black population; is that correct?

THE WITNESS: I have reviewed what records were avail-

able at that point, your Honor, and found a reference to what

apparently in 1951, I believe, was an effort to rezone Garfield,
Wogaman and Willard. At least those were the schools I

apparently found reference to at that time, and that black

enrollment in those schools had been assigned to the neighbor-
ing schools.

And I note, of course, that the large now white enrollments

in-those surrounding schools resulted, of course, in their be-

coming all black as well.
THE COURT: This is in 1951?
THE WITNESS: '51, I believe.
THE COURT: You are referring to a communication in

1957?
THE WITNESS: Right. In '67, I am sorry - '68, I should

say.
BY MR. LUCAS:

Q. This is your own presentation?
A. I was at that point trying to summarize the progress

made to that Committee. I had noted first that the Board in

'67 had adopted a policy which says, "Every reasonable and

constructive measure that can be effected will be taken for

the ultimate elimination of racial imbalance in our schools,"

and then I in my statement to the Board reporting on an anni-

versary of that date pointed out that in addition to that action

n I had found, I believe the years 1961, that a prior Board had

made those boundary changes.
Then I noted that I had recalled the 1963 Ohio Civil Rights

Commission report in which all school districts were required

to report on teaching and student racial characteristics; that
z

UY

7



185

the Dayton Schools had been among the largest employers of
Negro teachers in the State in relation to their population.

Then I went on to report, and I won't try to quote the rest,
on the fact that there were now some black administrators
being assigned to other schools; that there was some teachers
who had been assigned across racial lines, and that there was
some curriculum materials being purchased having to do with
minority contributions.

THE COURT: Dr. Carle, excuse me once more. The
document you are looking at, does that have an exhibit number?
Can you tell me, Mr. Lucas?

MR. LUCAS: No.
THE COURT: Is this a report that Dr. Carle made to

the School Board?
THE WITNESS: Yes, it is, your Honor.
THE COURT: I would like this in evidence.

[R. I. 1103-1104, Vol. 11] Q. Mr. Carle, you were speak-ing at one point about the meeting with the HEW people.
Was there a resolution offered in connection with the desegre-
gation plan at the Board meeting?

A. This came at a time when, as I have indicated, con-
siderable public demonstration was going on from time to
time, and we were at the peak of plans for desegregating the
staff. One of the reasons for Mr. Mancini's appearing before
the Board with questions about whether we did or didn't have
to -

Q. Excuse me. Was there opposition to the desegregation
of the staff?

A. Yes, indeed. A group of teachers was indicating thatit ought to be only voluntary, and the need for accomplishing
the task was being asserted. There was a resolution offered
to the Board in December of 1970, as I recall, that would have
the effect of leaving teacher transfer a voluntary matter.

Q. Who was this offered by?

11 111 11111 @--Joe
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!. A. Mrs. Groff, a mc .ber of the Board of Education, of-

fered the resolution, the context of which was that teacher

transfers should only be on a voluntary basis.

[R. I. 1004, Vol. 10] Q. How does this relate, Doctor,

if at all, to previous practices of the Board of Education?

A. Well, as I reviewed the personnel files and the past

observations in the district, there was virtually no transfer,

that is, there was very little transfer of teachers, and up until

the early 1950's, a policy of no assignment of black teachers to

classes with white pupils.

Along about that time, I think I had referred to some

statement I had seen of either administration or a Board

indicating that that practice was to cease and that there would

be gradual assignment of black teachers in communities or in

school areas where the communities would accept them. That

A practice discontinued - well, it was in force when I came to

i the district, in that there still were schools in which there were

no black teachers whatsoever, and the personnel department,

as I discussed the necessity of moving in that direction, would

insist that some communities had never had a black teacher

or were not ready for a teacher or a teacher is not ready to go

there.

[R. I. 1049, Vol. 11 A. Yes. The Board did subsequently

sign a statement which, among other things, says "There will

be no forced bussing during the term of the administration

of the current School Board unless it is so ordered by lawful

I authority.
THE COURT: Dr. Carle, what are you reading? Is that

an exhibit?
THE WITNESS: No, it is not, It is a statement that was

signed by the seven members of the Board of Education.

THE COURT: Gentlemen, iay I ask that this be put in

as Joint Exhibit II.
MR. GREER: Perfectly agreeable your Honor.
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MR. LUCAS: Yes, sir.
THE COURT: What is the date of that?
MR. WALTERS: October 26, 1970.

THE WITNESS: Your Honor, I think I said earlier No-vember of 1971. If I did, I would have meant November
of 1970.

[R. I. 1056-1057, Vol, 11] Q A lottery?
A. Lottery, I guess, is a good term. So that within thosewho qualified; that is, who had the basic background and those

who were within the racial and sex groups would be drawn by
lottery rather than by final selection by coordinators, so thatwe could remove any vestige of preference within the qualified
group.

Q. Did you examine the data with respect to Pattersoni terms of where the children come from who get into Pat-terson and its effect, if any, on the racial composition of otherschools?
A. Yes, I believe both counsel have asked us for certain

data so that I could reflect both from those data and also frommy own experience. Historically, particularly in looking atRoosevelt, for example, at the time at which there were noblack students in Patterson and also at a time when the blackenrollment at Roosevelt was growing, there were white Roose-velt students enrolling at Patterson and no black students fromRoosevelt admitted to Patterson. I became aware of thisproblem particularly with respect to Roth High School wherewhite parents particularly attempted to enroll students in Pat-terson as a means of removing them from that racially changingschool,
Q. Did they get in, Doctor?
A. Yes, I know of cases in which they did, yes.Q. Can you see the Drexel School on the map?
A. Yes, sir.
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Q. That is an elementary school; is that correct?

1 A. Drexel is an elementary school.

Q. Are there a number of white students still in that school?

A. Yes, Drexel is a white island in a predominantly black

area of the city.

Q. Have you been able to account for where those children

attend school in terms of feeder patterns at the present time?

A. No, it has been very difficult in all candor. I believe

there is an exhibit showing the intended designation of eighth

graders, but for several years the proportion of white students

in Roth has not equalled the proportion leaving Drexel. Some

of those have gone to Patterson, but we are unable to trace

others.
* * *

[R. 1. 1069-1072, Vol. 10] Q. All right. Let's take the

. Edison fire. At the time you became Superintendent, how

had students been reassigned following that fire?

A. A decision was made over a period of a day or two to

transport the upper grade students from the school, leaving

the lower grades in the part of the building that remained.

?* 
*_

A. Classes and teachers intact were taken to several build-

ings where there was space.

BY MR. LUCAS:
Q. Now, when you became Superintendent, did you make

a change in that policy?

MR. GREER: That is correct, your Honor. I think we can

stipulate the date of the fire was sometime in the middle

of April of 1968.
THE COURT: Let's go forward.

MR. LUCAS: Your Honor, may I ask the witness why he

F changed that practice?

THE COURT: You may ask that question.
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Q. I think you have the question, Doctor.
A. The schools to which the students were taken were

predominantly white and, of course, the pupils were all black,
and to maintain them as intact classes in the receiving build-
ings would be to segregate them racially within those schools.

I regret to say that, although I asked that that be terminated,it was not immediately terminated.
Q. When was it terminated?
A. During that summer I asked that the curriculum de-

partment work with the schools to assure that these classes
would be integrated with the classes in the schools. After theschool year was underway, in our supervisory visits we foundin some of the buildings that there had been resegregation
into, for example, reading or other ability groups in whichblack students were still on a track different from the whitestudents.

So sometime later that year, or by the beginning of thefollowing year, that practice, too, was rooted out.Q. Do you recall which school that was?
A. Shoup Mill was one in which I recall considerable con-cern. And I cannot recall specifically others.
I know that there were one or two other schools in whichthis practice was of concern to us.
Q. Dr. Care, the Jefferson transportation pupils, what ciffi-culties, if any, did you run into as Superintendent in connection

with that transportation to white schools?
A. Extreme difficulties on both ends of the line
Jefferson had been a school of tremendous impaction overa period of several years.
Q. Excuse me. By impaction, you mean the same thingI do, overcrowding?
A. Overcrowding.
QO 0. K. Go ahead.
A. There had been a decision to add a primary building

on the same side as the elementary building, and it was over-crowded from the moment it opened.
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There had been use of space in nearby -1 believe they Were,

Church buildings. There could have been other kinds of build

ingns used . My rec ollection is that second grades were ce lt'(d

4 for that move, and then the following year we determined

to transport some pupils -

THE COURT: Doctor, what year was that?

THE WITNESS: I hope it was the fall of '69, It could be

the fall of '70. Years telescope as you deal with these things,

{R, I. 1096, Vol, 10] A. The same statute which gives

the Superintendent the authority to assign teachers and other

employees to schools in the district also gives to the Superin

J tendent of Schools the authority to assign pupils to the proper

schools except for pupils assigned outside the school district

for which the School Board is required to act,

BY MR, LUCAS:

Q. That would mean tuition pupils is that correct?

A. That's correct.

Q. And then my qutestion, Dr. Carle, is why did you not

assign the pupils in accordance with the Foster pla?

A. Well, it is a complex question but 1 guess it is a very

simple answer. It would be impossible for me to implement

that plan without the support of the Board of Education both

from the standpoint of the authority it has over mei as its Execu-

; tive Officer and from the standpoint that it has control of the

budget and of the resources and of the policies under which a

program that great weotd operate, and I simply would not

place students in the position of not being supported in such

I '1 a major move.
Q. So, you declined to exercise your authority is that tor

rect?
A. 's, that is correct.

0 0
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[R, . 1101-1102, Vol. 11] Q. Dr. Carle, the Court had
asked you about the Dunbar School and whether or not the
choice was free.

Did you check thE. minutes, excerpts from the minutes that
vou had with you while you were on the stand yesterday?

A. Yes. 1 have a summary of the minutes and 1 do note
that there were at least two occasions on which the Board made
assignments of students to Dunbar.

Q. Well, in 1933 I believe the minutes have an entry with
respect to the opening of Dunbar, is that correct?

A. I think I have that.
This is June 5, 1933, and the entry says "Be it further

resolved that the 7th and 8th grades at Garfield and Willard
Schools be discontinued and that the attendance at the Dun-
bar School be optional for all junior high students for all 7th.
8th, 9th grade levels in the ty.

That would be at the time the school was organized.
Q. And Dunbar is where the McFarlane School is presently

located on the map, is that correct?
A. Yes, roughly in the same area as Roosevelt High School.
Q. Is there another minute entry in the forties, dealing

with the Dunbar School?
A. In 1942, the entry is "Be it further resolved that the 7th

grade pupils from the Willard and Garfield Schools be assigned
to Dunbar High School:

MR. LUCAS: Thank you.
THE COURT: Dr. Carle, let me ask you a few questions:

I was under the impression that Dunbar, from its inception
was an all black high school?

THE WITNESS: Yes, that is my understanding Your
Honor

[R. 1. 1105, Vol. 11] Q. Dr. Carle, the minutes to which
you just referred dating in 1933 and 1942 referred only to 7th
and 8th graders; ism't that correct?

A. That's correct in 1933 and in 1942 to 7th grade, I believe,
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Q. And I believe in 1933 the Board indicated that the 7th

and 8th grade at Garfield would be optional with Dunbar.

A. No. The entry, as I understand it, was that the 7th and

8th grade would be discontinued at Garfield and Willard.

Then there is a further entry that junior high attendance at

Dunbar would be optional throughout the district.

Q. All right. Now Garfield and Willard Schools which we

are discussing were right in the geographical area of the old

Dunbar High School which is now McFarlane; isn't that

right?
A. That's correct.

Q. And those schools, Garfield and Willard were crowded

back in the 30's and early 40's were they not?

A. Offhand, I don't recall what the enrollment situation

in those schools was.

[R. I. 1110-1114, Vol. 11] Q. Then, without regard to

a to what the position of your Board is, is your own philosophy

as you will, opposed to the concept of the neighborhood schools

or the forced bussing of students?

A. Neighborhood school is a term that I think defies defini-

tion. I have not heard it defined in this court and, therefore,

s I find it difficult to take a position one way or another on

the term neighborhood school. I don't have a feeling about

the term unless you define what you mean by that. The term

forced bussing to me also has little meaning under the law.

The Board of Education is required to provide transportation

to students if they are in the elementary grades more than

f two miles away from school, and my experience has been that

parents not only are eager to have that transportation but in

some instances is very piqued in our district because we have

proposed doing away with transportation that existed for dis-

tances less than that, and I therefore hardly look upon the

5 transportation of pupils as being a "forced matter." I think

usually it is quite the opposite. Persons want transportation

"' for reasons of convenience and safety.
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Q. Well, if I understand you correctly then you would
regard these two concepts, the neighborhood school and the
forced bussing of students as relatively meaningless concepts,
that you can't really take a position for or against?

A. Well, I would find it very difficult to take a philosophical
position, because I think both of them have been bandied
around and have very little meaning or understanding in terms
of any educational or administrative function of the school.
I think they are just terms that are used but certainly don't
relate to reality.

Q. All right. Now, you are, and back in December of
1971, were aware of the existence of Section 331348 of the
Ohio Revised Code, which provides that the Board of Educa-
tion of each city shall provide for the free education of the
youth of school age within the district under its jurisdiction
at such places as will be most convenient for the attendance of
the largest number thereof, isn't that correct?

A. The question is was I aware of that statute, and the
answer is yes.

Q. All right. Now, you have also told us on direct exam-
ination that you are aware of instances of specialized city-wide
schools in the State of Ohio?

A. Yes.
Q. Are you aware of the Walnut Hills Academic High

School in Cincinnati?
A. Yes.
Q. You were aware of an application from some people

in the Toledo area for a city-wide school that was denied
by the State?

A. Yes.
Q. Isn't that right?
A. Yes.
Q. You are of course, aware of the Patterson School, which

is a city-wide school in Dayton, are you not?
A. Yes.
Q That is a vocational high school where the students



194

work two weeks and go to school for two weeks, is that not

right?
A. Yes.

Q You also indicated on your direct examination the in-

stance of Dunbar, but that has been a school with neighbor-

hood boundaries since 1962, has it not?

A. Again, it has boundaries. I don't know what the term

neighborhood would refer to.

Q. Well, you referred to a two-mile radius a few moments

ago. The accessibility of an area to the school is what de-

termines its attendance zone, is it not?

A. No. I did not refer to a two-mile radius. I indicated

that if a child resides more than two miles from a school, the

law requires that he be transported to school. It has nothing

to do with the radius or any limitation or guideline as far

as distance is concerned.

Q. You would regard that two-mile radius for transporta-

lion as irrelevant to the questions of locations of places con-

venient to the attendance of the largest number of students?

A. I knew of no case in which in any standard of that

kind has been applied in Ohio.

Q. All right. Without using the term "neighborhood"

which you apparently don't recognize, Dunbar since 1962

has had a geographic attendance zone, has it not?

A. It is my understanding that that is so, yes.

Q. And the geographic attendance zone for Dunbar is in

the geographical area where the physical building exists, is

it not?
A. In the sense that the building is located within the

boundaries described, for the attendance area, that is true.

The boundaries, of course, are very irregular and very con-

siderable in their distance from the building.

[R. I. 1116, Vol. 11} Q. Just to clear up that one point:

Is it your testimony that you don't understand what is meant

by the concept "neighborhood school", Dr. Carle?
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A. I would understand it in a context, and I simply am
searching for the context in which you are describing it. * *

[R. I. 1120-1121, Vol. 11] Q. All right. Now, if you would
refer to Joint Exhibit No. II.

I can give him my copy.
That is a position paper dated October 26, 1970, is it not, Dr.

Carle?
A. Yes, it is.
Q. And it is a paper that was signed by each and every

member of the school board as it then existed, isn't that right?
A. Yes.
Q. And it was a paper that was put out to the electorate

in connection with the efforts of the school to obtain passage
of an 8.5 million levy for the schools, isn't that right?

A. Yes, it is.
Q. And in that position paper the school board represented

that the school board itself would not impose forced bussing
during the term of its administration, isn't that right?

A. That is the statement, yes.
Q, And the members of the school board signing that paper

are the same people who were on the school board in Decem-
ber of 1971, are they not?

A. It is my recollection that that is so, yes.
Q. Now, referring to Defendants' Exhibit BU, if you will.
While the Clerk is locating that exhibit, Dr. Carle, do you

know what your school board meant when they used the term
forced bussing" in that position paper?

A. No, sir. I was not a party - that position paper was
not, I believe, part of any board meeting, and I was not party
to the construction of it.

Q. Did you ever see the position paper back in October
1970?

A. Yes. It was made public through the press, as I recall.
* * *
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[R. I. 1123-1125, Vol. 11] A. Well, you are asking me the

question in the context of the term formed bussing, and then

you are asking me another question having to do with freedom

of enrollment, and the two are not the same.

Q. Well, I am trying to understand what, if anything, you

understood of what your Board was saying in this position

paper.

A. I wouldn't have thought there was any connection be-

tween freedom of enrollment on one hand and the term forced

bussing on the other hand since there was no transportation

as far as the Board of Education was concerned involved in

freedom of enrollment. There was transportation available to

students in the district. For example, sizable areas in the

northwest and southeast areas and students were given trans-

portation. They were forced to attend those schools in the

sense that those were the attendance regulations of the district,

but that's why I say that term to me is so meaningless because

wherever a student is assigned, if he is two miles or more from

that destination in the case of the Dayton Schools a mile and

a half, transportation is provided and generally welcomed.

Q. So I understand two things from what you have told me,

Dr. Carle. First, that you consider that the term used by the

Board in its position paper was meaningless; is that right?

A. No, sir. I testify, I think, to your questions. I don't

recall your asking me whether it was meaningless.

Q. Well, I don't mean to get in all this repertoire with you,

but I find it difficult to avoid, Mr. Care. I asked you what your

1 understanding of what the Board meant by that term in the

position paper.

A. I don't think that's what you asked me, sir.

Q.Well, I am asking you now.

A. I think the term forced bussing was in the context that

it was appearing in newspapers and in controversy at the time.



197

I don't think it has specific reference to practice in the Dayton
Schools which you asked me about.

Q. You felt that their use of that term had no relation at
all to the freedom of enrollment program which was then in
effect in the Dayton School System?

A. I can't read Board of Education members' minds, but
to me, I made no connection whatsoever with that policy.

Q. All right. Could you take a look at Defendants' Exhibit
BU. That is a resolution.

Q. That is a resolution that this same Board of Education
that signed the position paper in October and existed in De-
cember of 1971 unanimously passed in January of 1971; isn't
that right?

A. Yes, sir.
Q. And the unanimous resolution that was passed by also

the members of the Board of Education in January of 1971
indicated that the Board sees no alternative to the neighbor-
hood school, does it not?

A. That phrase is used, yes.

Q. On January 4 of 1971, did you understand what the
Board meant by th phrase that saw no alternative to the
neighborhood schools

A. Well, I don't recall what I thought at the time. I sup-
pose I saw it in the same context that the other resolution arose.

Q. What other resolution are you referring to?
A. The statement that you referred to earlier. I had in-

dictated in previous testimony that that grew out of reported
negotiations between members of the Board with the problem
of passing a school levy and that the price or whatever you
want to assign to it for having unanimity for getting an issue
on the ballot was that of a statement to that effect.

o * *

"Now
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[R, ,1,1131-1135, Vol1} I And that was knowledge that

was commfrkon to you tand to the comulnlfity and to other

mfembtrs of the school board in early November of 1971; isn't

that true?

A. Insofar as that represented what had been reported in

the press and elsewhere about positions taken by the political

organization which several of them aligned with.

Q, And that would shift the majority of the school hoard

from the 4-3 situation you had been working with in the year

1971 to a different 4-3 situation on these issues?

A. That possibility existed. I was aware, however, that

individuals within that group, the group that you described,

had made expressions that were not identical in terms of their

understanding and their commitment to the concept von in-

dicated and indeed, 1 can think of at least one, perhaps tto

or more who had made statements supporting concepts of ill-

tegration,
Q, Well, 1 am not talking about that, Dr, Carle. In fact,

your board both before and after January of 1972 has been

4ll unanimously in that regard, have they not?

A. coeuldnt say that that is so or not. I do know that

the 1967 resolution committing the board to looking for racial

balance to my knowledge has never been rescinded, so in

that sense it is perhaps a continuing policy.

Well, that was a unanimous resolution, wasut it?

A, I was not with the district at that time, but I believe it

probably was.
Q, Fine. The only things I am talking about are tlse

two issues which I appreciate may not lanae meaning to you,

but which have at least been defined as a neighborhood school

issue and the issue you have forced bussing of students, and

you were aware in November of 1971 that you would have at

least four out of seven on the school hoard opposed to a removal

of these attendance lines and opposed to invohmntary bussin

of students?
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A. I am not and, Your Honor, I really do need to define the
term because it is very important. I am trying to make it
clear there was no way to anticipate the reaction of the sue-
cessor board of education concept and I also want to make it
clear that in my judgment there would be - if for example,
the Foster Plan is a context in which you might be asking the
question that the basic elements of the Foster Plan do come
within what I understood to be positions of most of the mem-
bers of the Board of Education, and I simply don't want to
say that because there was literature and there was publicity
that used those two terms that that necessarily specifically
ruled out the possibility of any form of integration called by
any other name or even by those names.

Q, I aun sorry, Dr. Carle, but like Sweeney and Eliot's
poems, I have got to use words when I talk to you, and if you
don't understand my question, I will attempt to phrase it.
I am not talking about opposition to integration, and I think
you would agree with me, would you not. that there are all
sorts of devices to try and achieve an integration.

A., Yes.
Q, What I am talking about, and let me talk about them

one at a time so that we clan try to understand each other.
You knew in November of 1971 after that election of Board
members that by January 1972 you would have four people
ona that school board wv(ho were definitely opposed to the idea
of eradicating all of these attendance districts that existed in
the Dayton School System: isn't that right?

A. No, I didn't know that.
Q. All right.
A. I wouldn't say that the neighborhood school concept

necessarily would be dishanonious with eradicating of bound-
aries since I believe that those who hold that concept do, in-
deed, approve of a certain district-wide or area-wide or dif-
fterent forms of attendance which might include changing of
both boundaries.

Q. All right. Let me ask the question, or let me ask a
different question.
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You knew after the election in November of 1971 that by

January of 1972 you would have four people on the School

Board who had campaigned at one time or another, taken

public positions at one time or another, where they said that

they were strongly supportive of what they called the neigh-

borhood school concept?

A. That's true.

Q. All right. Now, you were also aware of the election

in 1971, that on January 1, 1972 you would have a four-man

majority on your Board who had campaigned or taken public

positions at one time or another, saying that they were opposed

to what they defined as forced bussing of students, isn't that

right?
A. In their terms, yes.

Q. All right. And I understand you didn't understand their

terms?

A. I believe I indicated I understood a context, but that

I felt that term itself was not very useful in describing school

practices.

Q. Now, in view of the imminent change in the Board

majority, did you have any discussions with the then Board

President, Mr. Lucas, about an eleventh hour implementation

of a plan to abandon school attendance lines and to adopt

bussing of students against their will?

A. Well, I had a number of conversations with Mr. Lucas.

I don't recall one based on any - for at least not on several of

the terms that you used.

On December the 2nd, the Board had met and received the

report of the Committee of 75, and I ww asked by Mr. Lucas

to assist in preparation of resolutions which would implement

the recommendation of the Committee of 75 and complete the

commitment which the Board began in April of 1972 by ap-

pointing the Committee and asking for its recommendations as

far as racial isolation in the district was concerned.
,
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[R. I. 1140, Vol. 11] Q. All right. After this election, it
became clear, did it not, that you would have the following
four persons: Mr. Goodwin, who had just been elected, Mrs.
Groff, Mr. Hart and Mr. Riddenour, who were all still on the
Board, who would be the four who had taken these positions
we have talked about concerning neighborhood schools and
forced bussing?

A. Yes.
Q. Now, sometime in 1972 Mr. Riddenour died, isn't that

true?
A. Yes.
Q, Just so we can get our scorecard correct.
And then the Probate Judge of Montgomery County ap-

pointed Mr. French, who was the former administrator of the
school system as the new member of the School Board to take
the place vacated by Mr. Riddenour's death?

A. Yes.

[R. I. 1144-1146, Vol. 11) THE COURT: Mr. Greer, be-
fore you ask another question, let me direct an inquiry to you
that is now commencing to trouble me.

I indicated I didn't wish to retry Brown, and I certainly
don't want to retry Marberry vs. Madison, and I can see some
aspects of it at this point.

Assume for just a moment that the Board on the day after
election, those who had therefor been in the majority, met,and assume further that they specifically retained Mr. Lucas
and that he joined them and they decided that specifically and
directly they would be in office only until the end of the year,
and that they were going to implement the Foster plan, and
they directed Mr Lucas to draft these resolutions; and let's
assume that Dr. Carle agreed with them and encouraged it
and assisted them. Let's assume all those things. Let's further
assume that this was in direct defiance, if I may use that word
at the moment, of the will of the electorate.

Does all of that have any significance, in view of the fact
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that they were the legally constituted Board and they did have

authority to do precisely that?

MR. GREER: I think it has significance only in this nar-

row context, your Honor, and that is that while they are the

legally constituted authority, they certainly have the right to

adopt any appropriate resolutions. In this case, where much

is being made of the purported admissions in those resolutions,

and in view of the Keys case and other cases, I think it's

important to show the context in which they arose as an

eleventh hour effort that was precipitous.

It wasn't the result of a long deliberation of the body. It

was merely an attempt to do something before the situation

changed.
THE COURT: Is it any the less the legal action of a duly

constituted Board of Education?
MR. GREER: No, your Honor, I would say that it is not,

nor is it right to reconsider it any different.
THE COURT: O. K. And so if I were personally, as an

electorate of Dayton, enormously irritated at what they had

done, can that be translated into a legal status w hereim Keys,

for example, or Bradley, is not applicable? Can this Court

draw a distinction by saying, well, this was done in defiance

of the will of the voters and therefore the Court will set it

aside?
MR. GREER: I don't think in that context there is a dis-

tinction, but it seems to me that the cases do make a distinction

on action which is taken precipitously at the expiration of a

term, and that is all that I am attempting to show by these

questions, that that is exactly what happened here, that the

action was taken a month before they knew the majority would

change, and it was just a hurry-up affair to try to gain a step

on the parliamentary ladder.

[R.I. 1150, Vol. 11) Q. Is this Monday afternoon session

where Mr. Lucas the Board member, brought Mr. Lucas, the

Plaintiffs' attorney, in this lawsuit?



203

A. Yes.
Q. Now, in your December 2 meeting with Mr. Lucas, the

Board member, had he given you a draft of proposed resolu-
tions or any other written material?

A. Oh, no. The Board met on that occasion to hear the
report of the Committee of 75, and it was sometime after that,
and my recollection is it would be over the weekend because
I don't think we had put much on paper until Monday morning,
as I recall.

Q. What meetings did you have with Mr. J ucas, the
Board member, after the meeting?

A. Telephone calls, I think, exclusively.

[R. I. 1160, Vol. 11) Q. This was at the meeting on De-
cember 6th?

A. Yes, sir. And I probably - I am certain that I was very
well aware and very concerned about having the documents
legally in harmony with the status of desegregation as it existed
in the country at that time.

Q. At that meeting with Mr. Louis Lucas, or at any other
meeting before the Board meeting of December 8, 1971, did
you have any discussions or conversations with anyone con-
cerning the tactical aspects of adopting such resolutions, and
then having them rescinded?

A. The only specific reference I can recall is some mention
of the status of litigation in Denver and perhaps - is Kalamazoo
relevant? Perhaps those cases. I don't remember any otherdiscussion along those lines.

Q. But the effects of adoption of the resolutions, and then
later rescission of them, were discussed in the context of those
cases prior to December 8th, weren't they?

A. I don't remember discussing it in that context, but that
certainly was part of the legal literature at that time, and I'msure it was discussed in the overview we were talking about.
I wanted my Executive Committee to understand where we
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were legally in desegregation at that point, if we could get a

viewpoint on it from Mr. Lucas I do remember that.

[R. I. 1165, Vol. 11] Q. Well, the purpose of the Decem-

ber 16th meeting was to try to rule on the motion for recon-

sideration, which indeed was found to have been proper under

the rules of order that govern the School Board proceedings,

isn't that correct?
A. I think it was a little more complicated than that, but

in substance that certainly was part of it.

Q. And then the December 16th meeting ran into a prob-
lem because of the problem of notice of the meeting, isn't

that right?
A. Again, I think that was alleged, as I recall.

Q. And then they tried to have another meeting on De-

cember 30th, just before the year ran out, to correct that par-

liamentary problem, didn't they?

A. There had been a meeting scheduled for December 30th,

and that meeting was held, yes.

Q. And that again ran into problems of notice to Board

members, didn't it?
A. I don't have any recollection on that.

Q. Did you attend all three of the meetings that the Board

held in Pecember to try to get these resolutions resolved?

A. Yes.

[R. I. 1174-1176, Vol. 11] Q. The December 8 resolutions

were subjected to an immediate motion for reconsideration on

December 8, weren't they?
A. There was such a motion made, yes.

Q. And there was a lot of parliamentary scurrying around

I at these other two meetings in December trying to clear up the

resolutions before the year came to an end, wasn't there?

A. I would simply interpret that as the Board's wanting

to make clear the intent of its action.



Q. And, of course, we have already gone over the elections
and I don't want to go over that again, but the plan which
you worked up with Dr. Foster involved a wiping away of
all of the school attendance lines and an adoption of a bussing
program that would involve the involuntary bussing of some
22,000 out of 50,000 students, did it not?

A. Before I answer that, I should like to just technically
respond to the plan. It had nothing to do with wiping away
boundaries. It did propose a different means of assignment,
but there is nothing inherent in the plan that did away with
boundaries. It was the Board's action on December 8 that
did that. The method of assignment in the Foster Plan would
have included the apparent option to accept transportation
wherever assignment was at a distance longer than the exist-
ing policy for transportation within the district.

Q. Well, did it involve involuntary bussing of some 22,000
out of 50,000 students in the system?

A. There is an estimate that 22,000 or so pupils; that is,an increase from about 6,000 to 22,000 pupils would qualify
for transportation, but there was nothing inherent in the plan to
involuntarily bus them, no.

Q. Is it your understanding that in view of the fact that
the resolutions of December 8 were pending on a motion for
reconsideration that you had no authority to pursue those
resolutions?

A. That would not have been my understanding, no. Well
I don't know what you would mean by pursuing the resolutions.
I don't regard myself as having done anything one way or the
other that would - if you are talking about the Foster Plan,
I obviously was free at any time to develop a plan.

Q. You weren't -

A. I don't think there is anything inherent in the resolu-
tions that said I could or could not consult with Dr. Foster.

Q. You weren't developing the Foster plan as a result,
then, of the resolutions of December 8?

A I would say as a response to, but I don't think the reso-
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lutions either required or prohibited me from taking any action

that was taken.

Q. Now, you did not recommend the plan as such to the

z Board, did you?
A. That's correct.

[R. I. 1182-1184, Vol. 11]. Q. And you also noted as a

very positive thing for the Dayton School System that back in

the year 1963 Dayton had been among the highest employers

t of blacks of any school system in the State?

A. Yes. I was not, of course, aware that they were em-

ployed only to teach black children.

Q. In your statement to the Board of Education in August,

1968, Dr. Carle, you state to them, did you not, that "When

the first Ohio Civil Rights Commission survey was made sev-

eral years ago, I recall that the Dayton Schools were leaders

in the employment of Negro teachers in the State, thus this

is not a community that has been insensitive to the changing

needs and demands of the Urban Center."

You made that statement, didn't you?

A. Yes, I did, Mr. Greer. I suspect that probably is in the

same context that I noted in the deposition that Mr. French

made, which I think is in evidence, that after three or four years

here he was not aware that the swimming pools at Roosevelt

high school were segregated, for example. Obviously I didn't

have, after two months in the city, the kind of grasp that a

year or two later I had of what really was going on in the

Dayton Schools.

[R. I. 1188-1191, Vol. 11]. Q. Have you ever heard of

Lloyd Lewis or of the Frontiers Club?

A. Yes, indeed.

Q. That is a black organization, isn't it, dedicated to im-

proving the rights of its people?
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A. I believe that is probably a fair characterization. I'm
not totally sure of its purposes.

Q. And are you not aware that at the meeting of the Board,
on Thursday, February 5, 1959, Lloyd Lewis, Sr., on behalf
of the Frontiers Club of Dayton, made a citation to the Dayton
School System which read in part that the -

Q. The presentation reading in part, "The National Organ-
ization, Frontiers of America, through its various chapters,
recognizes and awards a merit award to the organization in
the local community which in the opinion of the members of
the local chapter has done most for the promotion of brother-
hood in the community. The members of the Dayton Chapter
feel that the integration of school facilities in this community
has been quite noteworthy and the progress has outdistanced
all Ohio School Systems. Therefore, the Dayton Board of
Education has been cited for the 1958 award."

You are not aware of that citation?
A. No.
Q. And you are not aware of the citation plaque that stands

all by itself on the wall of the Board room of the Dayton Board
of Education?

A. Well, I believe all the plaques that are there stand
by themselves, but I have not been aware of that one in
particular.

Q. How many plaques are there on the wall?
A. I only in my mind's eye can see several hanging on the

wall. I would guess maybe three or more.
Q. In your address to the Board back in 1968, where you

were citing to the Board your feel fbr the progress that it had
made in efforts toward integration, you also pointed out, as a
factor, open enrollment in all summer high schools centers
that had been inaugurated in 1968, did you not?

A. Yes.
Q. And that was a program that permitted summer school
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students from all over Dayton to mix together at different
summer schools?

A. I believe there were perhaps three centers and some

effort to specialize courses in those three centers. So there
would be some interchange of students. I do not know how

many or to what extent that actually occurred.

Q. Did you also cite that as a positive factor only because
you were naive and unaware of life's harsh realities?

A. No. I think any of the citations that are honestly made
reflect the typical white response to the black concerns of the
time. Obviously, it is a very defensive paper and tends to

cite rather limited measures none of which address the funda-
mental segregation of the schools district.

Q. And you also cited the fact that nine receiving schools
5 would be more racially balanced with children from Edison

and Jefferson where their elementary grown had necessitated
transportation.

A. I thought that was a very positive development . Thus,
I regretted the fact that we segregated back into the original
schools two years later.

Q. And you also cited the fact that of the 319 teachers

employed by mid-August for the 1968-69 school year, 29 per-
cent are black; didn't you cite that?

A. Yes. That would be roughly comparable to the compo-
sition of the staff as a whole and frankly, would be anticipated.
I noted as a personnel man in a large school district that the

statistics from year to year tend to be about the same regard-
less of what you did. If you had about 30 percent blacks on
the staff, you could expect those appointments.

[R. 1. 1207-1211, Vol. 11] Q. Are you aware that when

, Roth High School was opened - which was in 1959, wasn't it?
A. Yes.
Q. - that when Roth High School was opened, its student

population turned out to be approximately 75 percent white
and 25 percent black?
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A. I think that's close to being what it would have been,yes.
@ 0 *'

Q. Dr. Care, I have put on the board a set of overlays
showing the elementary school boundaries in the Dayton Sys-tem as they existed in 1957, and then as they existed in 1970.

There have been a few changes in those boundaries duringthat entire period of time, isn't that correct?
A. Are you talking about just physical boundaries?
A. Yes.
A. Yes. That appears to be so.
Q. In fact, the only real changes that have been madeeven in some of the areas in western Dayton, for example, theGardendale-Westwood, where the boundary of the morewestern school has taken away some of the territory of theeastern school as that school district became much moredensely populated? Isn't that true?

A. Well, I wouldn't characterize that as a map indicatingthat change. I would have to put it in the context of the1951 or so policy of the Board that there would be no moretransfers, and then in that context, obviously many optionalareas, and other options for attending schools, have continuedto be practiced. So whether the boundary lines are the sameor different, is relatively irrelevant to the actual effect on howschools become or are black or white today.
Q. All right. But you would agree with me that there arerelatively few changes in boundary lines per se, would you not?A. Well, except that there are a whale of a lot of optionalareas. There is just no visible reason for all of that meanderingof boundaries.

Q. All right. Now, during this period where the actualboundaries did not change substantially, and I not correctthat in the '51 period up to 1970 Fairport School has changedfrom a zero black population to a black population of 59.1percent in this school year?
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A. I'm sure that you are quoting from the statistics on the

exhibit.

Q. Well, without trying to pin ypu down, I will appreciate

that you can't keep these in your mind much better than I

can keep them in mine, but there has been that change in the

composition of student body of the school without any change

in the boundary, isn't that right?

A. No. There has been a change in the boundary of Fair-

port in that it became in 1971 a feeder school to feeder schools

in the Daytonview area.

Q. All right. Now, the Grace Greene School over this

area has changed without a substantial change in boundaries,

an almost white school to an almost black school, has it not?

A Well, again I recall that we asked Dr. Charles Glatt to

peaemaps when we were going into the middle school

planning to determine the race and location of all children in

relation to where they were attending school, and I recall

asking him, why, when he put red dots for black children and

blue dots for white children throughout the 5th and 6th and

cI 7th grades, to indicate then what the populations would be in

the 6th, 7th and 8th grades, that there were within-the green

district, where the school is virtually all black, blue dots in-

dicating white children residing there. And I asked him how

could that be, and he indicated that cards - that is, we asked

the schools to fill out a card for each child for that purpose with

their race, the grade level and the name of the child, and he

said that the cards showed their attendance to be Van Cleve

and Longfellow, and of course, at that time they were almost all

white.
So when you asked me what the history of Greene is in rela-

tion to its boundaries, I just had to say that I can't explain

totally from the boundary what the racial composition of that

school was.

V *
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[R. I. 1221-1227, Vol. 12] Q. Well, without looking at the
little map that's up in the right-hand corner, we have estab-
lished that Mad River Township is an area to the east and
northeast of the city limits of Dayton, haven't we?

A. Yes.
Q. And the high schools most accessible to that east side

of the city are Kiser, Wilbur Wright and Stivers, are they
not?

A. I don't see that that has any bearing, since they were
already on board, and the distances probably were no greater
than those being used to send black students to Dunbar at
the time anyway.

Q. Well, let me rephrase my question. The three high
schools to which these students were sent were geographically
located closer to Mad River Township than any other high
schools in the System, weren't they?

A. I would say that that geographically is so. I think it
needs to be understood that we are talking here about inner
district transfer. These students were not residents of the
city school district of Dayton, and were admitted to the dis-
trict by Board action and contract, and therefore there is no
relation to any existing boundaries within the Dayton School
District.

THE COURT: Dr. Care, would you have not taken them
to the closest schools?

THE WITNESS: Well, I think the issue at the time, your
Honor, was that there was not space for high school students
at Mad River. When it became apparent, that is, the study
that is in evidence, as I interpret it, became apparent that
there would not be room at Wilbur Wright and Kiser and
Stivers to continue serving those students. I'm simply saying
that to my knowledge there was no consideration of housing
them at Roosevelt or Roth - Roth was not in existence then.
Well, perhaps it was, the later years - and Dunbar, and if
space were available there, it would be just as appropriate
to house the students in those schools as in the ones that
were alleged to be without space.
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THE COURT: And it would be your position that the

Board's failure to do that is evidence of segregation?

THE WITNESS: Well, it certainly fits the pattern that

has been pervasive down through the years, that no white

students, regardless of from where they came, or the purpose,

were assigned to black schools.

Q. There was available space in the '50's then at Kiser and

Wilbur Wright and Stivers to house these students without a

high school, wasn't there?
A. The studies that I saw indicated that in the latter part

of the '50's this space was inadequate and therefore Mad River

would have to be notified that some years hence, I assume

three or four years hence, they would have to make provision

for their own pupils because these schools would not have

room.
Q. Well, Mad River did build a high school, didn't it, in

the late '50's?
A. I assume pursuant to that notification they then under-

took to house their own students.

Q. And Kiser especially was a school and is a school that

historically has had an undercapacity enrollment of students,

isn't it?
A. Well, I don't know about historically. It has never been

a large school. It was not designed as a high school, and hence

it has been a small school.
The only reference I have is to the study which indicated

that given the number of pupils, and I think it was perhaps

five or six hundred or more, being transported into the city

school districts from Mad River, they were being phased out

of those three schools because the space would be needed

within the school district in those schools.

Q. Do you have any knowledge at all, Dr. Carle, as to

whether they was available capacity in any Dayton High

Schools other than Kiser, Wilbur Wright and Stivers in that

period of the late '50's with the possible exception of Patterson?

A. I note that there is a study of enrollments in high schools,

I believe, for 1957, which would be about the time that the
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decision on those three schools was being made, and by rule
of thumb it would appear that Dunbar, for example, would
be among other schools that would have room for at least some
of the students.

Q. How many?
A. I don't know that there is adequate information other

than the rule of thumb. I suppose comparing it with the
room availability indicated, or the room numbers in other
buildings, something between 100 and 200, perhaps could have
been housed at Dunbar, using the figures of that study that
year.

Q. This program, however you characterize it, was phased
out at the end of 1950, was it not?

A. I don't know the exact year. The study, I believe,
showed enrollment through the latter part of the '50's, and I
don't know the terminal date, although I assume it would
have been perhaps the first year or two of the '60's.

Q. And just so I will understand your testimony, are you
characterizing this practice in the late '50's of putting MadRiver Township students in the three schools geographically
closest to that area as being somehow improper on the part of
the Board of Education?

A. I say it is indicative of practice of not considering theassignment of white students to black schools.
Q. Now, yesterday you cited to us three examples that

you indicated were the examples you knew of of students not
being assigned to the closest school, those being Dunbar,
the Shawn Acres situation, and the Veterans Administration
situation.

Do you recall that?
A. Yes.
Q. Other than the subjective field that you described your-

self as having as an administrator and the information as to
some 7th and 8th grade students from adjacent schools who
attended 7th and 8th grade at Dunbar, you would have toadmit, would you not, that Dunbar was a city-wide optional
school up until 1962?
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A. Well, I testified to the 1933 policy making Dunbar an

open enrollment school for junior high age. I am not sure of

the other Board actions that would have similarly affected the

other grades. There are, of course, Board actions terminating

that. I believe, however, that it is evidenced that the operation

of Dunbar was not simply as an open enrollment school but

rather one which had many, many overtones from the prevail-

ing practices in the district and that, as a matter of fact, a

self-respecting black student, unless he were an exceptional

student in another school almost inevitably when to Dunbar.

Q. By his own choice, wasn't it, for whatever reasons?

A. I wouldn't characterize that as a choice.

Q. Only because of extreme fixed factors that affected the

choice, is that how I am to understand your answer?

A. Well, let me illustrate it this way: I remember your

talking earlier about the Springfield or Smithville Area of

the City. I was knocking on doors on a Saturday morning, I

recall, and was surprised to meet the mother of Bing Davis,

one of our outstanding teachers. So, I know very well where

the Davises have lived over a good many years in the district.

Q. You mean Springfield Street rather than Smithville

Road?
A. Yes, Springfield Street. Being apparently regarded as

an outstanding high school student as he was a teacher later in

the schools, he went to Wilbur Wright. His brother was

assigned to Dunbar and was not kept at Wilbur Wright, and I

have heard of other instances similarly in which even members

in the same family were assigned to different schools. In Bing s

case, his brother was not regarded as being the same kind of

scholar that he was.

Q. Do you know of nothing other than hearsay to indicate

that Bing Davis's brother couldn't go to Wilbur Wright if he

had elected to do so?

A Well, obviously all I know about anything prior to 1968

is hearsay, Mr. Greer.

, .

E.)
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[R. I. 1242-1244, Vol. 12] Q. Now, before Carlson Ele-
mentary School was built in 1958, that whole area where Carl-
son exists was an optional area between Jackson and Residence
Park School District, was it not? Perhaps I should point to
that on our map.

I am pointing to the Carlson School District.
A. Right.
Q. That school was not built until 1958, was it?
A. That would be approximately the year, yes.
Q. And if we look at our overlays between '57 and '70,

we can see that the Carlson Area before the school was built
was optional to Jackson on the east and Residence Park on the
north, isn't that true?_

A. Yes, that's true.
Q. Now, let me refer you, if I might, to Defendants' Ex-

hibits CO and CP.
Is it not correct, Dr. Carle, that the records of the school

system for the period from 1957 to 1972 indicate that no chil-
dren living at the Veterans Administration Center ever at-
tended Jackson Elementary School?

A. Defendants' Exhibit CO lists students from Residence
Park and the other one from Jackson School, and the statement
is that from the years 1957 to 1972 there were no children in
either of those schools from the Veterans Administration Cen-
ter.

Q. I don't think you are reading them correctly. I'm only
asking you as to Jackson. The records indicate that there are
no children during that entire period from the Veterans Ad-
ministration Center that ever went to Jackson, isn't that right?

A. Well, the heading indicates the years 1957 to '72
Q. Right, which it would be in 1958 when Carlson was

built, and that was no longer an optional zone between Jackson
and Residence Park, wasn't it?

A. All right.
Q. So during that period, all the way up to the present

time, no child of anyone living at the Veterans Adninistration
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Center at least according to the records of the school system,
ever attended Jackson School, isn't that true?

yt A. That is what this exhibit, I think, purports to say, yes.
Q. All right.
A. And if we look to Residence Park, which is to the north

of that area, the records do disclose that during that entire

period, from 1957 all the way up to 1972, a total of 48
children for that "5 years of whom eight were black children
living at the Veterans Administration did attend Residence

Park?
A. Yes.
Q. And do we not also know from the information that your

office has developed that by the year 1963 at least all three of

4 the schools that are involved here, Carlson, Jackson and Resi-

j dence Park, were 80 percent or more black in their student

composition?
A. After 1963?
Q. Well, let me pull back from that question.
We have records of the student compositions in 1951 and

'52, and then we don't have any up until 1963, isn't that right?
A. I think there are records in '54, and then not until '63.

Q. So that the earliest date we can pick between '57 and
the present -

A. I'm sorry. I said '54. '51, I think you said, and I think
k that is correct. 47 to 51, yes.

[R. I. 1250-1266, Vol. 12] Q. All right. Perhaps I didn't

make my question clear. I was really asking, and I thought

your testimony yesterday was concerned with an earlier period

than the Christian Science Monitor was referring to in 1968
and 1969.

A. I don't think it was, particularly. I think I was just
indicating a reputation of a school that seemed desirable.

Q. Well, quoting to one side the Christian Science Monitor
and trying to get back to what I recall of your direct testimony

yesterday, I thought you had indicated a period of time in the
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'50's or '40's that the enrollment at Patterson Cooperative wasfilled with white students?
A. Yes, I believe that was the testimony.
Q. It was an optional school city-wide at the time, wasit not?
A. Students elected to go there, yes.
Q. And before giving that testimony on direct examination,

did you make any investigation to determine whether thatschool was really filled to capacity or whether there weren't alot of available openings at that school during that entireperiod?
A. No, I don't recall either making such an investigationor particularly being aware one way or another. The onlyinvestigation that was asked in this suit that I was aware ofhad to do with the assignment of pupils to the school and, par-ticularly, the racial characteristics of the school.
Q. Did you make any attempt to ascertain how may white

students from, say, Roosevelt High School were attending Pat-terson Co-op, or Roosevelt School District were attending Pat-terson Cooperative High Schol at any given period of time?A. Yes. I think that is an exhibit.
Q. And there were only 48 or 51 students from the entireRoosevelt area at Patterson Co-op back in 1948, weren't there?A. I believe that figure appears on that chart.Q. And by the 1967-'68 school year which was before youarrived on the scene, the enrollment of Patterson CooperativeHigh School was 12.8 percent black, wasn't it?
If you can again refer to Defendants' Exhibit AR, I thinkit will be helpful for you to keep with you for the rest ofthese questions.
A. I believe you asked for the year 1967, and that was 12.8percent.

Q. Now, over the years and in operating a school where astudent was on the job for two weeks and in school for twoweeks, it was necessary for the school to be able to place thatstudent in a job in order for him to participate in the program,wasn't it?j

.
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A, That was the practice, yes.

Q. All right. Let's get on the the HEW material. Accord-

ing to Plaintiffs' Exhibit 11-F, as I understand it, there was a

voluntary agreement of the Board which settled the finding

of probable noncompliance with HEW regulations that was

made with respect to the staff of the School System; isn't that

correct?
A. My testimony was that there was a letter finding the

district to be in noncompliance, and the Board did adopt a

resolution, two resolutions relative to resolving t.

Q. And it did that rather than going through the adminis-

trative hearings which it could have done to challenge the

j finding; isn't that correct?

A. Well, that would certainly be one of the alternatives, I

would think, yes.
Q. Referring to page 2 of Plaintiffs' Exhibit 11-F which

s is a letter to you from HEW dated October 14, 1972, the third

paragraph indicates, does it not, that in agreeing to desegregate

voluntarily, the Board waived its opportunity for an adminis-

trative hearing on this office's finding of probable noncom-

pliance?
A. Yes.

Q. And as I understand it, the only change that was ever

made in the voluntary agreement was the setting of a specific

date for that action with respect to the staff?

A. Yes. After the original resolution, it was required that

a date be affixed to it, and that was done, I believe, two or,

three months later.

Q. All right, and the conditions noted by HEW with re-

spect to Roosevelt High School were all taken care of and

rectified by expenditures by the Board, were they not?

A. Well, all expenditures are by the Board. Are you

asking the source of funds for various programs that were

cited at Roosevelt?
Q. No. I am not interested where the money came front,

and I don'- think anybody in this hearing is, but expenditures

were made to rectify those conditions?
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A. Yes. Often Board funds are identified as local funds
and tax funds are identified differently.

Q. The other matter concerning HEW as to which you
testified was a matter involving transfers of white studentsfrom Roth High School and transfers of black students from
Stivers High School; isn't that correct?

A. Yes.
Q. And those were special transfers that were made by the

Board in situations of great stress; isn't that right?
A. I think that characterizes it well.
Q. If I could refer you to Plaintiffs' Exhibit 11-D -
Q. The Stivers situation arose, did it not, Dr. Carle, after

an attempt was made to bring black students into Stivers High
School by raaking a boundary change so that the Slivers
boundaries went across the Miami River to include two pre-
dominantly black elementary schools?

A. Yes, that boundary change was made.
THE COURT: At what time, Mr. Greer? May I have that?
THE WITNESS: I believe that would have been for the

fall of 1969.
Q. All right, and the Board's reason in making that bound-ary change was to try to add black students to the student

population of Stivers High School, wasn't it?
A. One consequence of the action, yes. I testified that

the boundary was expanded in balloon fashion, that is, east,
south and west, and one consequence of that was that black
students in the Irving and Whittier area were included in
those changes.

Q. And that was by design rather than just happy coinci-
dence, wasn't it?

A. I think one has to view the setting in which Stivers
existed at that time. It had been through several years ofdecline because of the expressway construction, housing re-
moval and urban renewal, and a school that perhaps had 1400
pupils at one time was down to perhaps 700 or less, and theexpansion of boundaries made a more viable school for Stivers
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by increasing the number of students attending the school. I

think it is now perhaps up in the range of 1250, 1500 or more

pupils.
pu All right. The thing that really cut down the student

population of Stivers was the extension of Route 35 from Xenia

all the way through the Slivers district to where it interchanges

with 1-75; isn't that right?

A. That certainly was a major factor.

Q. That took large chunks of neighborhoods right off the

map, didn't it?
A. Yes.

Q. And so Stivers was in a position where capacity-wise it

could handle many more students than were actually available

in the old attendance district?

A. Yes, that had been evident for about a decade and no

one had really examined the boundaries to deal with it.

Q. Well, it has only been a few years that Route 35 has

been completed, hasn't it?

A. Well, the property acquisition and the urban renewal

measures dated back some years into the 60's.

Q. All right, but at any rate in the decision that became

effective in the fall of 1969 to expand the Slivers attendance

district to bring more students into that school, the decision

was made that in expanding the boundaries, the attendance

district would cross the Miami River and take in, I think it

was, the Irving and Whittier elementary zones; is that right?

A. Yes, part of those zones.

Q. After Slivers became populated with black students,

there were riots and demonstrations and a good many dif-

ficulties at Slivers; isn't that right?

A. Would you give me the time you are talking about?

Are you talking about just the opening of that school year?

Q. I am trying to lead up to Plaintiffs' Exhibit 11-D and

try to explain for the Court why black students from Stivers

were temporarily assigned somewhere and why white students

from Roth were temporarily assigned somewhere else
0
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Q. Immediately before or in the period immediately before
the transfer of students from Stivers and from Roth, there were
demonstrations, were there not?

A. That had been true for some period of time in the Roth
area, and I believe in the Stivers area it had to do with an
incident in which a group of blacks left the building and sub-
sequently were not reassigned or some of them at least were
not reassigned to the building.

Q. Were there periods where either of these schools had
to be closed?

A. There had been at Roth. There had not been at Stivers
at that point, as I recall.

Q. And Exhibit 11-D was a letter written by you on
February 20, 1970 to Mr. Henderson of the Department of
Health, Education and Welfare who had raised a question con-
cerning these temporary transfers; is that right?

A. Yes.
Q. And in that letter, you informed him that 34 black

students were transferred from Stivers at their parents' request
and after individual conferences with the pupil personnal de-
partment. They were given temporary assignments to Roose-
velt or Dunbar with the understanding that the assignments
would be reviewed at a later date; is that correct?

A. Yes.
Q. And you also informed him that there were 36 white

students at Roth High School who were transferred to other
high schools, some of them integrated but most of them pre-
dominantly white, and that the transfers were made at parental
requests and after psychological study of the allegations that
injury or harrassment was interfering with the learning process?

A. Yes.
Q. And you also indicated that 40 black students remained

at Stivers and 18 white students remained at Roth.
A. Yes.
Q. And you went on in that letter, did you not, to explain

that the reason for these temporary transfers was for the in-
dividual good of the students and that you thought it was
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broader educational purpose beausw they again reinfoned aad

repeated the separation of white to white schools and black
to black schools and reinforced the notion that w naes
art in small minorities in a community which has a substantial

minority in a school, it is very ditllicat to maintain a viable

() lttr cttiont
k (,1NVWe Dr, Carlo, these, are facts, tufortimttate facets o
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life whib we all recogniize and your policy hack at this time
writl the two sets of students was a temporary tiosfer for
their ow physical and mental health ittil ia cooling oft period
had occurred, wasn't it?
A. Yes.
Q, And you would do the sue thing today if demonstra-

tions and physical violence occurred, wouldt you?
A 1 would probably be forced to. Mr. (reer, given thfacts that we haven't changed the basic situations that sege

gates the schools,
Q. So am I right that you don't characterize yotur action

il conectliou with these 34 black students frou Stivers and
36 white students from ikth as a racially motivated actionor a segregationist policy of the Board?

A. I would characterize them as totally racists in that theywore necessitated within the frame of a situation that required
or forced or resulted in a decision based on racial characteris-
tics,

Q. 'he racial problem that existed was a problem of thestudent commniunlity rather than of the ial of Educhatio,
wasn't it?

A. 1 don't see how, as an ' executive olficr of the Boardof Education, I c'ant ignore the nimunitybecause the children
are the community

Q I don't ask you to ignore the community, and I wouldn'texpect anyone to, but my inquiry was On a more narrow Imsis,The violence and threats of violence that led ip to these
transfers were not violence or threat of violence that imiembers
of the iloancl of Eduicationl were permitting on the urouds
of Hoth or Stivers High School, were they?

A. Not immc(idents, but the Board had control over the con-ditions that led to that kind of activity.
Q. Dr. Carl., on February 20 of 1970, whemi you appendedthe letter that we have as Plaintiffs Exhihbit UI-I you feltthat the complaint of hIEAW ccerning the assignment or

temporary assignment of these black and white students for
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their own physical and mental health was completely un-

justified., didn't you?
A. Not completely unjustified, since I admitted the result

of it and corrected it, but I did attempt to explain it, yes.

r Q. Well, it had been your intention all along that these

were going to be temporary transfers and that you would

put the students back as soon as the environment was such

that they could complete their learning process which was

the reason for having them in the school, is that right?

A. I think that is substantially so, yes.

Q. Didn't I detect a little note of complaint or dismay

that the temporary transfer was questioned in the last para-

graph of your letter?
4 A. Well, the last paragraph, I think, was saying it is easy

to criticize if you are not a part of the problem and that schools

desperately need help of the agencies that apparently were

reviewing the situation.

Q. Sometimes the war looks different to the Generals than

it does to the people in the trenches, doesn't it?

C A. I haven't been a General, so I don't know.

Q. You felt it looked different when you were in the trench

back there in February of 1970, didn't you?

A. Definitely.

Q. At any rate, you were in the trenches in February of

1970, and if you were back in the trenches you would have

to do the same thing again on temporary transfer of students,

wouldn't you, if you felt their own mental and physical health

and safety required it?
A. Well, I have found contrary to the texts I had in educa-

tional administration that almost every situation that arises

these days seems to have different characteristics, so I don't

know whether I would have the same circumstances and would

take the same actions, but certainly I can't minimize the fac-

tors that were existing then.

Q If you had another situation such as you had at Roth
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and Stivers today, would you leave those children in the situa-tion?
A. The reason I am pausing is that we do have situationscomparable. I think other things have been attempted to tryto intercept, and one certainly has to place the safety of stu-dents very high on the list of considerations if there were anemergency.
Q. But you don't feel that in 1970, or in the fall of 1969 -I'm sorry - that you were acting in a racist manner or theBoard was acting in a racist manner in doing what you thought

was best for the health, safety, educational experience of thesechildren, did you?
A. I think the response was racist in that it was definedby a racist situation and was limited by the experience thata segregated system 'and staff had to deal with it. In thatsense the results had to be racist and the actions I think haveto be viewed as racist. There is no way to separate the racialfactors from the action and the results.

[R. I. 1274-1284, Vol. 12] Q. If we are talking about main-faimng a precise mathematical ratio in each school, isn't thatalmost a physical impossibility?
A. I am not talking about maintaining a precise ratio. Iam simply indicating the separation was so great that in somecases the movement that was made was not totally in conform-

ance with the agreed district characteristics of 70-30 whichwas the original dimension and that my recollection, was thatwhere exceptions occurred, they tended to be in the directionof the former imbalance.
Q. You can recall giving a deposition for Mr. Diamond afterthis suit was filed on June 19 of 1972 in your own office, canyou not, Dr. Carle?
A. Yes.
Q. And referring to Page 5, Pages 4 and 5 of that deposition,

can you recall stating as follows in response to a questionfrom Mr. Diamond.

ii
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"ANSWER: As the result of those initial activities, the

desegregation of staff was undertaken and essentially com-

pleted this last fall, the fall of 1971.

A. Yes, I recall saying that.

Q And you were under oath, of course, at the time you

Y} made that statement, were you not?

A. Surely.
Q. That was a correct statement, was it not?

A. Yes. I used the term essentially, and obviously I am

referring to the fact that there still is exceptions to that, how-

ever minor they might be. I was emphasizing the fact where

those exceptions occurred, they occurred in that direction.

Q To rephrase my question, it is true by the fall of 1971

the staff desegregation in the Dayton School System was

essentially completed; isn't that right, Dr. Carle?

A. Yes. If I could just try to define that a little bit, I was

noticing for the current year, number of staff instead of

being 70-30, it was 41 or 42 or something of that sort. It is

that kind of exception I am talking about.

Q. Are you referring to Defendants' Exhibit AM?

A. I don't have an exhibit in my hand. I have a compila-

tion.
Q. If you have those statistics, you are able to tell us,

are you not, that by the 1971-72 school year most of the

schools in the system had a teaching faculty that was between

30 and 40 percent black?

A. I think that's a fair characterization.

Q. Three and a half years ago, back in 1969, the Dayton

School System was tops in the State of Ohio in employment

of black educators generally, was it not? y

A. In relation to the percentage of pupils in the districts, t

I believe that we did report in that manner, yes.

Q. Do you as Superintendent of the Schools publish a little

magazine or leaflet called "School Day."?

A. Yes. I believe that those figures were given in School t

Day.
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Q. All right. If I could refere you to Defendants' Exhibit
AQ.

Q. Do you recall an issue of School Day that you put out
on April 21, 1969 after you had been with the system for almost
three years?

A. Yes, have it in hand.
Q. And that came from your office, didn't it?
A. Yes.
Q. Under your authorship?
A. Yes.
Q. And the big capitals were "Dayton Schools Record

Highest in Employment of Negros Educators," wasn't it?
A. Yes.
Q. By this time in the space of almost two years, you had

had a chance to find out what the assignment patterns of
teachers in your own system were, hadn't you?

A. Yes.
Q. And you started off your article by saying that ton

is a City of Employment Opportunity for Negro EduL, corsdidn't you?
A. Yes.
Q. That was true, wasn't it?
A. Yes.
Q. And you indicated that a district-by-district survey madeby the State Board of Education disclosed that Dayton ranked

No. 1 in the State of Ohio in the proportion of Negro teachers
to Negro pupils and the proportion of Negro administrators toNegro pupils; isn't that correct?

A. Yes.
Q. You had the best record in the State in 1969, didn't

you?
A. Yes. This follows up the earlier comments I made about

the employment of teachers. This, of course, has no relation-
ship to assignment.

Q. And you also pointed out that Dayton ranked second inthe State in the proportion of total teaching staff that was black
in 1969?
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A. Yes.

0. And also ranked second again in the total percent of

black administrators?
A. Yes. You indicated that before.

Q. However, while it ranked second in those departments,

you also pointed out that if you look at the pupil percentages,

Dayton had nearly a 3 to 5 ratio of administrators to pupils

while the leading city in the State had a ratio of only 2 to 5.

A. Yes.

Q, You also pointed out, did you not, that Dayton employs

three times the percentage of Negro teachers as the average of

the 20 largest districts and four times the percentage of ad-

iministrators?
A. Yes.
Q. And that is a record of which you were justly proud,

is it not?
A. I think it is a good record in employment, yes.

Q. It is the same kind of thing you were referring to in

your address when you first caue to your present job as to the

record that the school system had achieved in 1963; isn't that

right?
A. Yes, in general, it is. The administrative characteristics

of course, had changed considerably by this time.

Q. In your article of April 21, 1969, you didn't undercut

the praise by any disparaging remarks about the system, (lid

you?
A. Well, I think the article stands for itself. I don't know

whether it undercut or not. I suppose it would depend on

how you view the article. There was no intention to undercut

anything, no
Q. Referring you, if I might to Defendants' Exhibit AO,

that is an exhibit prepared by your office showing counsellor

assignments in the Drayton School System by racial identity

is it not, Dr. Carle?
A. Yes, it is.
Q. And it shows that as of the present time to counsellor
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assignments are divided in an essentially equal manner among
all schools in the system; isn't that right?

A. Yes,
Q. In other words, it is broken down as to the percentage

of black counsellors assigned to predominantly black schools,
black counsellors assigned to predominantly white schools,
white counsellors assigned to predominantly white schools, and
white counsellors assigned to predominantly black schools; isn't
that right?

A. Yes, it is.
Q. And the percentages vary only from 38.9 percent to 62

percent in those categories; isn't that true?
A. That appears to be so, yes.
Q. Well, it doesn't just appear to be so on this piece ofpaper. It appears to be so in the system of the Dayton Schools.

doesn't it?
A. I just meant that the figures in this column appear to be

what you have represented

Q, The figures that were prepared by your office in making
this exhibit do actually reflect the situation that existed in the
Dayton School System, don't they?

A. 1 think they represent what is on this table, and I thinkthey are accurate with respect to the categories listed on thistable,
Q That really isn't my question. I want to make sure

and h ave you affirm for me, Dr. Carle, that the figures shown
on this table actually do represent the number of black coun-
sellors that are in white or black schools and the munber ofwhite counsellors that are in white or black schools,

A. This is my understanding, yes.
Q. Now, let me refer you to Defendants' Exhibit AM.
Q. Using that to refresh your recollection, if necessary,Dr. Carle, am I not correct that by the 1971-72 school year, 26

of the 74 elementary principals and assistant principals in theDayton School System were black?

IMMISIORP, W!
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A. I am just about caught up with you. I have a figure

26-and what I am looking for is 74. Can you help me out?

In what column is that?

Q. It would be a matter of adding up the total figures,

wouldn't it? They still teach that old fashioned subject, don't

they?

A. Well, at any rate it sounds as if what you say is correct.

I just can't find the 74, and I am sorry I am not with it on

which columns are relating to which figures here right fast,

but that sounds as if it is a substantially correct representation.

Q. And then by 1971-72, 13 of 32 high school principals and

assistant principals in the system were black; isn't that right?

A. Yes. As I mentally add that row, yes.

Q. And by going through this Exhibit, we can find out just

who was where as far as race is concerned at each school in

the system?
A. Yes.

Q. Then, if we turn to Defendants' Exhibit AL, this is an

exhibit that your office prepared at our reqest showing a

summary of the racial composition of staff by composition of

student body in the Dayton City School for the years 1968

through 1973; isn't that right?

A. Yes, these are correct figures.

Q. And it indicates that by 1972-73 there were five situa-

tions where Negro principals were assistants in schools having

' 50 percent or more white student population; isn't that right?

A. Yes, it does.

Q. And it also indicates an integrated administrative staff

in schools 50 percent or more white student population in 15

4 schools?
A. Yes.

Q. Do you know what your staff was referring to when

they used integrated staff in that compilation?

A. I believe that you gave them the headings for the

columns and I assume they mean by that two races in the
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school or two races in the staff, I should say.

[R. I. 1291-1292, Vol. 12] Q. Those are largely jobs that
are held by Union employees, are they not?

A. The largest group in that category would be members of
the buildings trades union, yes.

Q. And am I not correct that in October of this year, the
Dayton School Board has adopted resolutions recommending
two unions and an apprenticeship program that would increase
the number of black individuals available in that category of
the job positions?

A. You are substantially correct. It isn't quite that simple.
There was a long negotiation with the Unions which is em-
bodied now in a proposed master agreement and it would
for the first time provide for free apprentice and apprentice
position that were not open to the Board of Education pre-
viously.

A. All right. And except through negotiations such as
that, the Board of Education has no control over the member-
ship of any Unions with which it has to deal, does it?

A. Again, it is a complicated factor involving both Civil
Service and Union apprenticeships, and you are correct that
that particular area of employment is the most difficult one.

Q. Referring you to Plaintiffs' Exhibit 42.

Q. That exhibit shows the background by school and type
of job of the nonteaching personnel that we have just been
talking about, doesn't it?

A. This is a little more complicated form than the previous
ones, and I have not reviewed it, so I will take your word for
it because you weren't right in previous ones.

[R. I. 1295-1299, Vol. 13] Q. Dr. Carle, when hunger and
fatigue called us away, I was referring you to Plaintiffs' Exhibit
42, was I not?
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r A. Yes, you were, and with the delight of the evening meal

- well, here it is.

Q. This exhibit represents the distribution of the non-

teaching personnel throughout the school system, does it not?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. By school and by type of employment?

A. Yes, and by race.
Q. And without going into great detail with this greatly

detailed exhibit, it shows that there is a fairly wide distribu-

tion of black and white personnel throughout the school system

in this category, does it not?

A. There is distribution, yes.

Q. All right. Now, it was on December 19 of 1969, was

it not, that the school board adopted its statement of intention

that each school staff throughout the entire Dayton School Dis-

trict would have the racial composition that would reflect the

total staff of the district as a whole?

A. You are asking about the date of completion or the date

of adoption?
Q. The date of adoption.

A. December of 1969, is that the date?

Q. December 19 of 1969.
A. Yes, I believe it was the date on which the date of

completion was adopted. I assume that was your question.

Q. All right. And as of December 19, when the Board

adopted that plan for integration of the entire staff, the follow-

ing strides had already been made, had they not? The first,

r by December 19 of 1969 every teaching staff in the entire

district was integrated to some extent?

A. I believe that would have been the result of efforts from

the previous spring through that time, and I believe that would

be so, yes.
Q. And by December 19, 1969, out of all 50 high schools

and 53 out of 58 faculties, a favorable racial balance had been

achieved, is that right?
A. That sounds like a statement from that period, yes.
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Q. And by December 19, 1969, the movement towardcity-wide racial composition had been significant in many
schools, had it not?

A. You are still talking about faculty?
Q. Yes.
A. Yes, in the sense that there had been some movement ineach building, I think, by that time.
Q. And as of December 19, 1969, of the six chief executive

officers, 33 percent were black; of a hundred directors andsupervisors, 29 percent were black; and of all central office ad-mistrators, 25 percent were black isn't that right?
A. That sounds as if it would Le M for that period, yes.Q. And by December 19, 1969, wh!en the Board adopted

the resolution to which we have referred, of all the principals
and assistant principals in the system, 30 percent were black,
isn't that correct?

A. That sounds as if it would be a correct figwe for thattime, yes.
Q. At that time, of all of the administrative staff, 28 per-cent were black?
A. I believe that would be so for about that time.Q. And by that time, eight of the eleven high schools hadintegrated administrative staffs?
A. That also sounds as if it would be characteristic of thattime.
Q. And by December 19, 1969, ten of the twenty-three

elementary schools that have more than one administrator hadintegrated administrations?
A. Yes, I believe so.
Q. By December 19, 1969, three Negro principals had beenassigned to predominantly white schools?
A. I should think that would be so, yes.
Q. And by December 19, 1969, ten white principals hadbeen assigned to predominantly black schools?
A. I would think that would be so.Q. And of the new teachers employed for the 1969270school year, 28 percent were black, which brought the city-
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wide percentage of Negro staff members to 29.4 percent, is that

not correct?

A. That would sound about right for the '69-'70 school year,

t~yes.

Q. Now, let's turn topic of conversation for awhile to the

schools in the Dayton System.

Let me first clear up a couple of points.

Garfield School is no longer an elementary school, is it?

A. No. Garfield is used now as a manpower training center.

[R. I. 1302-1303, Vol. 13] Q. And in September of 1962,

the Hawthorne Elementary District was made optional be-

tween Kiser which had extra space and Colonel White High

School, was it not?
A. I don't know that Kiser had extra space or that the

space relationship between the t vo schools was different.

Q. Do you know the date that this optional zone was

created?
A. I don't recollect it offhand, no, sir.

The record that you have or that your office has put

together for this case indicate that September of 1962 was the

date, do they not?
A. I just don't recollect. There are lots of records in

4 t exhibits at this point.

Q. Now, referring you to Defendants' Exhibit AR, the per-

centages of the student compositions at Kiser and Colonel

White High School in 1963 which is the first year after 1951-52

for which we have figures show that the black composition of

the student body of Kiser High School was 2.7 percent while

the black composition of the student body of Colonel White

was only 1.1 percent, does it not?

A. Those are the percentages listed, yes.

Q. That would be as of 1963?

A. Yes.

Q. And that is the 1963-64 school year?

A. Yes.
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Q. The residents of the optional area between Kiser andColonel White were predominantly white, were they not?
A. Yes.
Q. And five years after that option was created, the black

population of Colonel White High School as far as student
body is concerned was still only 8.4 percent black; isn't thatnght?

A. You are referring to 1967?
Q. Yes.
A. Yes, Colonel White was 8.4 percent.
Q. Now, we have already talked this morning about Stivers

High School.
THE COURT: Excuse me, Mr. Greer. May I ask for that

same year what was the black population percentage of Kiser?
THE WITNESS: Kiser is less than 1. percent. It is .9 of 1percent.

[; :. .

[R. L 1306-1310, Vol. 13] THE COURT: Was there evera time that Dayton did not also have the schools with kinder-
garten through eight? I hope I am not confusing you. As-suming that there was a time when there were junior highschools as well, was this an optional situation or could a student
go kindergarten through eight and then go to high school?

THE WITNESS: I am not able to say. There was a change
in the early forties, perhaps 1941 that reinstituted or at least
instituted the 8-4 system. Now, there undoubtedly was aperiod in which there were junior high schools. Whether theywere for all areas of the city, I am not sure.

THE COURT: But since that time the 8-4 system hasbeen in effect?
THE WITNESS: Since the early forties, the 8-4 systemhas been in effect.
THE COURT: The middle schools were never intended toreplace junior high schools?
THE WITNESS: No.
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THE COURT, You may proceed.

0. There are five middle schools that were created in

September 1971; am I not correct?

A. Yes.

Q. And have I referred you to Exhibit AW?

A. Yes.

Q The attendance areas which surround MacFarlane and

Whittier middle schools are predominantly populated by black

people; is that not correct?

A. Yes, that's correct.

Q. Some degree of mixing of black and white population

was achieved at the Orville Wright and Cornell Heights middle

schools; is that not correct?

arA A small amount of mixing in part of the Orville Wright

area and a disproportionate mixing in the Cornell Heights

area.
rQ. Included in the Orville Wright area were Franklin and

Kemp Elementary Schools which had no black students in

1970 and 1971, isn't that correct?

A. Yes.
And also included in the Orville Wright middle school

area was Washington Elementary School which had 16.4 per-

cent black student body composition in 1970 and 1971?

n A. Yes. hv ecie
Q. And Washington is the school that we have described

that includes that Springfield Street area?

? A. Yes.

Q. Going to Cornell Heights, that middle school included

Fairport Elementary School which had a 9.7 black student

population in the 1970 and 1971 school year?

A. Yes.

Q. And it also included Jefferson Primary and Jefferson

Elementary which had predominantly black student popular

tions in that year?

A. Yes.
Q. The Longfellow Middle School is the last of the five, isn't

it?
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A. It is the last one listed on that page, yes
Q. And it included three former elementary schools Long-

fellow, Van Cleve, and Hawthorne; is that not true?
A. Yes.
Q. Longfellow in 1970-71 had a black student body com-

position of 53.9 percent?
A. Yes.
Q. Van Cleve had a black student body composition ofonly 2.1 percent; is that right?
A. Yes.
Q. And Hawthorne had a black student body composition

in 1970-71 of zero?
A. That's correct.
Q. So, those three schools then, are mixed together ingrades 6 through 8 at what is now Longfellow Middle School,

is that correct?
A. Yes.

[R. I. 1320-1329, Vol. 13] Q. So that there was only amonth or so left of the 1967-68 school year for those pupils?
A. Perhaps a month and a half, I would gather.
Q. Now, you were not present at the meeting of school

administrators that took place on the Monday after the Edisonfire, were you?
A. No, I was not.
Q. And you didn't mean to imply in your direct testimonythat the administrators, including Mr. Goff and Mr. Harewood,

who met on the Monday after the fire, didn't plan to assimilatethose students into regular classes at the start of the nextfall year, did you?
A. I don't believe I have the information one way or theother on that.

Q. All right. Then you wouldn't imply that it wasn't theintention of the administrators to assimilate those childrenwhen the next school year started, would you?
A. I recall Mr. Harewood saying that the reason they were
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assimilated was that I had directed that that be done in the

summer of 1968.

Q. And those students that were assimilated into these

various white schools to which they were transferred after

the fire remained students of those schools until their gradua-

tion, did they not?

A. There could have been students who remained until

graduation. There may have been, for example, students who

were in the seventh or eighth - by graduation, you mean mov-

ing out of the elementary school?

Q. That's the only way you get out of an elementary

school, isn't it?
A. Well, we do not have a graduation in the elementary

schools, but they would have been students who were close to

j leaving the elementary school, I believe, who were transferred,

and there may be others who have elected to remain in the

receiving school and indeed have left schools after having

remained in under freedom of enrollment.

Q. All right. But at least as far as the policy adopted

V by the Board in that fire situation, the students were assimi-

lated in the schools and remained there unless they graduated

or transferred under freedom of enrollment or something of

that nature.
A. No. The assignments which were made to the other

schools were reassigned to the Edison and MacFarlane areas

when those boundaries were set up as middle schools.

Q. All right. The only thing that would change it would

be the setting up of middle schools in 1971?

A. Yes. That constituted the return of the students who

had been assigned to the other schools.

Q. All right. And I assume that some of the '68 students by

that time had passed through elementary school and some were

still in elementary school?

A. I would assume so. I don't happen to recall specifically

which grades would be where at that time.

7. Now, let me refer you to Defendants Exhibit BA.
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Q. This exhibit is a summary, is it not, of the transfers that
were made as a result of overcrowding situations?

A. These are students from Jefferson, Westwood, and then
the Edison ones would have been the fire situation.

Q. Jefferson and Westwood were overcrowding and Edison
was the fire situation?

A. It is late in the evening, Mr. Greer, and I would like
to reserve judgment on the Westwood situation. We were
dealing at that time the fact the eighth grades at Westwood
were still contained in Roosevelt and Roth High Schools.
There have been considerable controversy over the fact theeighth year had been assigned to those high schools and this
may have been involved in that adjustment.

Q. All right. Well, let's talk about the Jefferson situation
which is what you discussed in your direct examination.

A. Yes.
Q. Those were temporary transfers made because of over-crowding conditions at Jefferson School; isn't that right?
A. Yes.
Q. And that situation stopped in September of 1971 be-cause the overcrowding problem was resolved by the creation

of the middle schools at that time; isn't that correct?
A. It was possible to reassign to the total buildings in thatcomplex, yes.
Q. During the period that the transportation of the studentsexisted from the '69-70 year until the middle schools werecreated and resolved the problem, eight receiving schools wereinvolved; isn't that right?
A. Yes.
Q. And all of those receiving schools were predominantly

white schools; weren't they?
A. Yes.
Q. As I understand it, the first year the students were trans-ferred, an entire class would be transferred to one of these

receiving schools?
A. Yes.
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Q And the number of students involved were up to 81

students in the Valerie condition, weren't they?

A. Yes, both Valerie and Meadowdale had considerable

space on the perimeter of the City at that time.

Q. So, the result was that you would have one class in, say,

Valerie School or any of these other schools that would have a

lot more students than the other classes in those schools?

A. I wouldn't say that there were more, but there would

be a sizeable number in a class, yes.

Q. Can you give me any specific examples? Let's take

Valerie School. Do you know what class from Jefferson was

" transferred to Valerie?

A. I am sorry but I don't have those data before me, and

my recollection wouldn't be good enough at tlus point.

Q But at any rate, the reason in the second year of this

program you switched from a class transfer to a district or a

block transfer out of the Jefferson area was to distribute chil-

dren throughout the classes in the receiving school rather

than to lump them all into one class at the receiving school?

A. Yes. I indicated that both in terms of the sending

parents who felt in some cases some students had been in ad-

justment more than their share because of the grade level

selected and sensitivity on the other end that there were more

black students in some classes than parents thought was de-

sirable.
Qr But when you changed from a class transfer to a district

transfer, the students transferred from Jefferson were still ap-

proximately 80 percent black students, weren t they?

A. Yes. It had increased in that period, but that is ap-

proximately the proportion, and, of course, as you have indi-

cated, they were from all grade levels at that point.

Q Now, let me change the subject to the subject of ca-

pacities of school buildings. You would agree with me, would

you not, that there were many factors involved in estimating

pupil capacities of any given school building?

A. I think that there certainly are a number of criteria

that might be used, yes.
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Q. As I understand it, the Dayton public school surveysare based on square footage; in other words, an average num-ber of students per square foot in classrooms per day?
A. Essentially, that is correct.
Q. As I understand it, the Dayton Public surveys use astandard of 30 square feet per person versus the City Code,which is 20 square feet per person versus the State Code which

is 40 square feet per person.
A. That was the basis of one calculation, yes, sir.Q. And the Ohio State U Diversity survey on capacities isbased on a pupil-teacher ratio as opposed to square footage,

is it not?
A. I am not sure that that describes - it may have been apupil-teacher ratio in relation to rooms available, perhaps.Q. Don't they use one teacher to 28 pupils per classroom?
A. I believe that would be the standard they used.
Q. And am I also correct that the Dayton teachers haveinsisted on a ratio of one teacher to 25 pupils per classroom?
A. Well, I am not aware of that. I know that teacherseverywhere insist on as low a teacher-pupil ratio as possible,

and 25 seems to be a goal that is mentioned often around thecountry. I don't know that that particular figure has been
bantered around in Dayton more or less, but I am sure thereare teachers who would hold that position.

Q. Do you know of any teachers who find it irrelevant
whether there are 25 or 50 students per teacher per classroom?

A. Well, I think you are referring to earlier testimony that
research doesn't relate class size to class achievement, andas to what various teachers think about that research finding,I don't know. I would think a typical teacher would want asfew pupils as would be assigned.

Q. And is the reason for that laziness or is it because theyfeel it is more effective?
A. Well, I am sure if you were asking a teacher to justify

that point of view, the teacher would say, "The fewer pupilsI have, the more individual attention I can give to the pupil,
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and if I could have my way, I would be Mark Hopkins and

4 teach to one pupil on the other side of the log."

Q. Let's turn that subject to my next question which is

that none of these surveys whether they are based on square

footage or pupil-teacher ratio take into consideration the

curriculum which is offered, do they?

A. I wouldn't say that none of them do. There is an effort,

as I recall, in the tables to indicate that, for example, gymnas-

-im space was included in the calculation because gymnasiums

are used for classes each period in the day, but I think audi-

toriums, for example, were not included because they are not

used routinely for class space. I am not sure as to what

attention was given specifically to laboratories although I noted

in a table there was reference to pupil stations in areas such

as vocational or shop classes.

Q Obviously an industrial arts class or a science class

with laboratory equipment you need more square footage to

accommodate both pupils and equipment; isn't that true?

A. Yes. Normally you discuss this in terms of pupil stations.

Q. And even in purely academic subjects where all you

need is a teacher, a desk, some paper and pencils, the size

of the classes vary, do they not, so that there may be a small

number of pupils in the room due to the subject matter that

is being taught?
A. Well, since you evidenced little relationship to present

teaching arithmetic a little earlier, I would say that doesn't

characterize the academic subject any more. There is more

than a desk and a teacher and paper to teach academic sub-

jects, so there may be indeed other kinds of equipment today

that wouldn't have been true earlier, but in general a lecture-

type class will require less space than a shop type class.

Q. Well, leaving aside my ignorance of modern education,

is it not true that the size of classes varies? For example, if

you have a school that is teaching fourth year Latin, you may

have a small number of pupils in each class session as opposed

r to an elementary course in American History where presum-

ably everyone in a certain grade level will be attending.
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A. Yes. Of course, that becomes very expensive, and anadministrative decision has to be made as to whether a schoolprogram can afford to continue classes, let's say, that are fewerthan a dozen pupils. One routine that is sometimes used isto teach multi-level courses such as first and second year Latinwithin the same class period, so that isn't automatically a limit-ing factor, but indeed that does occur, and if there are classeswith limited enrollment and if there is no alternative to as-signing them to a room, then it ties up a room that may besuitable for 35 for only a dozen.

[R. I. 1336-1339, Vol. 13] Q. But regardless of who pro-posed it, it was the Dayton Board of Education that adopted
it, and that was the date that it was adopted, is that not cor-rect?

A. I believe that's the date. I don't have it before me.
Q. The policy has three priorities, does it not, and I thinkwe are all familiar with those under the evidence.
I understand from your direct examination that you haveproposed, and the Board hasn't disposed, to eliminate the sec-ond priority, is that correct?
A. That's correct.
Q. And that priority is a priority for strictly educational

purposes, is it not?
A. The second priority?
Q. Yes.
A. Is for course selection in another school, yes.Q. And, of course, that priority is open to blacks as wellas whites, is it not?
A. Yes.
Q. And it, like the other aspects of this plan, is operatedon a first-come, first-serve basis?
A. I would say substantially that is correct, yes.
Q. You referred to that in your direct testimony as theescape hatch of course selection.
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Is that the way you characterize it?

A. Yes, I would characterize it that way.

y Q. Aren't there any courses offered in certain schools which

are not available in other schools?
}

A. Yes, obviously. For example, Patterson is an example
s of that. But I think the reason that the staff was concerned

about this, and my executive committee, as I recall, discussed

this on several occasions, and noted that the students who

were availing themselves of this option were nearly invariably

white and transferring to white schools, and this indicated to

them that there was more operating than just course selection.

Q. Were there no blacks attempting to attend different

schools to receive special courses that they couldn't obtain in

their own neighborhood schools?

A. I believe there were. I don't have those statistics before

me, but I believe they are an exhibit.

Q. Out of the 1,063 students which are or who are presently

attending schools other than their own neighborhood schools

under the freedom of enrollment, only 60 students are non-

minority students, isn't that correct?

A. That's correct.

Q. Now, if I might refere you to - before I do that, the

freedom of enrollment policy was modified on January 3 of this

year to provide free transportation, wasn't it?

A. Yes, sir.
Q. Now, let me refer you to Defendants' Exhibit AD

through I.
Referring first to Defendants' Exhibit AG.

A. I think it is here.
Li Yes, sir.

$ ' Q. This is a report of freedom of enrollment programs sta-

tistics for '69-70 and '70-71; isn't that correct?

J A. Yes.
Q. And this, as similar exhibits, simply reflect approvals or

disapprovals that year rather than the total students attending

under the program, isn't that true?

Rj
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A. That's my understanding, that this would reflect theapplications actually handled for the year given.
[R. I. 1353, Vol. 13] A. With the notable exceptions Ihave given, there has been considerable effort to desegregatethe stafFs, yes.
Q. And in the present school year, at least as far as therecords available indicate, only 184 students out of a totalstudent body of over 50,000 students were unable to attendthe school of their choice because of the lack of classroomspace?

A. Within the context of the prior testimony on that, yes.

[R. I. 1355-1357, Vol. 13] Q. I show you Plaintiffs' Ex-hibit PX-5A. With reference to the assignment of both bahckand white teachers, new hires and transfers, could you giveme what PX-5A shows with relationship to their racial assign-ment?
A. For 1968-'69 only?
Q. Yes.
A. It shows that Negro teachers assigned to schools withpredominantly white enrollment numbered 40 and white teach-ers assigned to the same white schools numbered 223, andNegro teachers assigned to schools with predominantly Negroenrollment numbered 95, and white teachers assigned to schoolswith predominantly Negro enrollment numbered 64.Q. Now, these are teachers; is that correct?
A. These are teachers.
Q. And is this the kind of study that later developed bywhich you became aware of the continuing extent of thefactulty segregation?
A. Yes, it is obvious in terms of the new hires and transfersfor that year the predominating pattern was the assignment ofblack teachers to black schools and white teachers to whiteschools.
Q. Now, you testified that you hired a certain number ofblack principals over that first summer you were here.

HOMM
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A. Yes.
Q And then yon assigned all principals in all schools for

the fall; is that conet?
A, Yes.
Q. And did you for the first time assign a black teacher

out of West Dayton?
A. A black administrator.
Q. Black administrator. I beg your pardon.

A Yes, across the Miami River.

Q, And did that single assignment eradicate the patte ri

of identifying schools as black or white by the assignment

of administrators?
A. By no means.

Q, Now, with respect to PX42, about which reference has

been made on cross-examinatont, could vou tell me what

PX42 is?
A, This is the assig.rmuent of non-teaching personnel by

caategories and schools and race.

Q, Now. you testified on eross-examination that there was

a distribution ol a racial basis in the school system.

A. Yes,
Q, Could vou tell me what that distribution is'

A, in the high schools, for example, the assignment of non-

teaching personnel alone would identify the school as white

or black with respect to its pupil enrollent

[R. . 2107-2111, Vol, 20 Q. Are you aware of instances

or practices of the State Department of Education whereby

i creditation or chartering of particular schools or school dis-

tricts has betn withheld or thivatened to be withheld by the t

State Department of Education?

A. Yes. At the time that 1 joined the Department. the c

Legislature had just required that all districts of both ele-

mentary and high school - there were about 50 elementary dis- s
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tricts - that were in the process of being notified of the
necessity to join with another district in order to remain
chartered. There was a reduction in the munber of school
districts for each of the years that I was in the school district
by consolidation, and in some of those eases, this would bethe result of inspection of schools unable to meet minimum
state standards, and therefore required to he consolidated
with another district.

Q. In general, Doctor, if a school district did not meet
State educational criteria, or if a particular school did notmeet educational criteria the State Board of Education hadthe power to -voke the charter, is that correct?

A. That's correct.
Q. Or to fail to grant a :'harter?
A. Yes.
Q. Would its failure to provide equal educational oppor-

tumity be greatly dissimilar of its fad ire to provide other
educational opportunities in your opinion?

A. No. Indeed, in the opinion of the Attorney General
that was a definition of the law, that the Sate Board and
the State of Ohio were required to report them.

Q. That was the 196 Attorney General opinion that hasheen referred to already in this cause?
A. Yes,
Q. And the State Board for various educational reasonsdid so act, is that correct?
A. Yes.
Q. Now. w ith refemnce to any particular city-wide !e;hools,

did it act in that regard?
A. indeed, in the creation - well. let me state just forcity-wide schools and discuss a situation in Middletowna, Ohio.where, an exception was asked with respect to the construe-

tion of a new school and the proposed chartering of that school
which would have resulted in two high sdcools in the city,one predominantly white and one predominantly black

The request was that the schools be chartered as one in-stitution on two emnpuses so that all students would go to
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both schools and therefore both institutions would be inte-

grated, and such was approved,

j Q. If they had been chartered separately, then they would

have been segregated schools? They would have each had

t all the grades, is that correct?
A. That's correct.

Q. So the State Board did in effect adjust, which might

be a word that could be used, its accreditation criteria in such

a way as to set up a pairing of schools in effect, is that correct?

A. That's correct.

Q. With regard to the State Department of Education's

advice to the Dayton Board that its present middle school

plan was racially in violation of desegregation requirements,

did the State Board take action under their authority to deny

accreditation to those schools?

A. No.

Q. Could they have done so?
A. In my judgment, under the premise of the Attorney

General's opinion referred to earlier, yes.

Q. And under the practices which they engaged in, you

were setting up in effect a new school, were you not?

A. Yes.
Q. And you made Whittier, for example, a middle school?

That was a new school that had to be chartered separately or

differently?
A. With the exception that the law in 1966 provided as

I-think I testified earlier, to the fact that school districts are

now chartered in toto, so that this was not a chartering matter,

but it still is a matter of meeting minimum standards regard-

less. The whole district, in other words, is liable, not just

a single building.
Or to put it another way, if a single building is not in com-

pliance with the requirements of the State, then the whole

district is in effect liable to se its charter,
e o
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[R. I. 2135-36, Vol. 20] [Following is proferred testimony ofWayne M. Carle] A. Metropolitan Dayton. I think it was52,000 were going to school by bus and perhaps four to fivethousand as far as the public school pupils are concerned were
within the city and the rest would be outside the city.Q. Now, a lot of those would be in rural areas or what,heavily urbanized areas?

A. All of the metropolitan area would certainly have tobe regarded as urbanized. There are conditions within theDayton School District that are identical to those that wouldexist in many of the suburban areas. For example, the Cityof Kettering or the City of Oakwood, when we are drivingdown the street between Dayton and Oakwood, there is nodifference other than the corporation sign or difference inthe spacing of the housing of the schools. On the other hand,we have some areas within the school district that would becharacteristic of some more suburban areas; that is, the areain the Meadowdale or Belmont area would have some char-acteristics like those of unincorporated or perhaps more peri-pheral areas of the metropolitan region.
Q. Now, you mentioned Meadowdale. How many pupilsdo you transport at Meadowdale?
A. At the high school level, something over 850 pupils aretransported to Meadowdale High School. There is also trans-portation to some of the elementary schools in the same area.This would include, for example, Meadowdale Elementarywhere approximately 85 pupils are transported. There areother schools, you understand, in that cluster of schools inwhich there is also transportation. I just gave an example.Q. Do you transport children to Lewton School?A. Yes, Lewton is in the far east side of the district andsomething over 400 pupils are transported on what we callD-contracts. That is, parent transportation is provided.Q. Many of those are Board owned buses?

A. Yes. To maximize the efficiency of the small numberof Board owned buses, they are concentrated at one area ofthe city, largely in the east.
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Q. Fairview High School, does it have some students

transported to it?
A. Yes, Fairview has in the range of 300 pupils trans-

ported.
Q. Belmont?
A. Belmont has had a large number of pupils, something

in the range of 680 or more.

[End of proffered testimony of Wayne M. Carle]

[R. L 1374, Vol. 14] Q. Dr. Carle, are optional zones a

sound administrative device for assigning pupils to schools?

A. I wouldn't characterize them as useful, no.

T. TESTIMONY OF LLOYD LEWIS, SR.

[R. I. 1383-1385, Vol. 14] Q. If you know how they were

assigned, tell me the source of your knowledge.

A. If you were a student in Garfield or Willard, it was

automatic. In my case, my children were in Wogaman. We

could vpply for other schools.
Q. You say you could apply for -

A. My children stayed in Wogaman. That was it, in that

case.
Q. All right. When they came to high school age, do you

know where their records were sent at that time?

A. Automatically they were sent to Dunbar.

Q. All right. And did your children attend Dunbar?

A. No. I applied for Roosevelt.

Q. And you say you applied. Did you ask that there be

a transfer of your children to Roosevelt?

A. Yes.

KII
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Q. But your children's records were sent to Dunbar, isthat correct? a
A. I have no knowledge of where they were sent.Iwa

aware of that fact, and I saw to it that they went to Roosev et.Q. So you asked for a transfer to Dunbar from Roosevelt?A. To Roosevelt.
Q. In working with the students in the community

you also work with teachers in the schools?e did
A. Yes.
Q. All right. Were you familiar with the general practiceto the assignment from Dunbar from your work in the com-munity?
A. Yes.

Q. From your work in the community, did you have knowedge in general of how black children got to Dunbar?
A. Yes.
Q. And how was that?
A. Automatically they were sent if they were black.See, that was the design of the school, the same as ChristianAtticus in Indianapolis.
Q. Were you a member, sir, of an organization called

Frontiers? r a raiaincle
A. I was.
Q. Did you hold some positions within the organization?
A.IwsCara 

toetm.bQ. All right. Are you familiar with any actions takenby the Frontiers, vis-a-vis the Dayton Board of Education with
respect to integration of schools?

A. I was.
Q. And had that organization called upon the DaBoard to take action in that regard? yton
A. I don't understand the question.
Q. Had the Frontiers asked, demanded or what-have-you,that the Dayton Board of Education take steps toward intetion of the Schools? egra-

V{
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A. Definitely.
Q. All right.

[R. I. 1389-1390, Vol. 141 Q. And when were your own

, children in Wogaman Elementary School, Mr. Lewis?

A. It must have been in the year - they went to high

school in '40, so you would have to go back about eight years.

Q. So it would be in the late '30's?

A. Early '30's.
Q. Early '30's?
A. Yes.
Q. And at that time was Wogaman essentially an all black

elementary school?
A. No. Wogaman had integrated.

Q. Do you have any idea of what the composition of the

student body of Wogaman was back at that time?

A. It was largely white at that time.

Q. All right. And you asked that your children go to

Roosevelt High School, and that's where they went, isn't that

correct?
A. In 1940, right.

Q. Now, I think you have indicated that you don't know

where the records for your own children were sent after they

completed their elementary education, isn't that correct?

A. That's correct.

U. TESTIMONY OF GORDON FOSTER.

[R. I. 1395, Vol. 14] Q Dr. Foster, in connection with

your teaching at Miami of Ohio, did you have occasion to

work in any of the schools in the Dayton City School System?

A. Fairly extensively in this general area, the Metropolitan

area. I supervised student teachers for three years, I think.
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I think during that time it was all - well, not all but manyof the districts in this area, particularly Kettering and I can'tremember whether I had any in the City of Dayton or not,but in this general area I got fairly familiar with schools. Itaught extension classes for the University at Roth HighSchool, I believe, for two years, and then at Wright State fora year when they opened that facility and transferred theextension classes over there.
Q. You say you taught at Roth. That was at night?A. They had evening and afternoon classes both. I be-lieve mine were in the late afternoon, and I have also taught

extension classes in connection with some of the suburbanschools. Trotwood, for example, is one I can think of, andin connection with my duties at Miami University for a periodof four or five years, I worked quite a bit with Dr. Purdyin the Bureau of Educational Field Services and did quite abit of work in this general area in studying school districteducation.

[R. I. 1396-1401, Vol. 14] A. Well, I have been progress-
ively Assistant Professor of Education, Associate Professor andcurrently full Professor of Education. I was Chairman ofwhat would amount to the Department of Educational Ad-ministration. I am not currently, but I was for about threeyears Director of a Federally funded program to train admin-istrators for multi-cultural schools under the EducationalProfessional Development Act. In our case, it was primarily,although not completely, for black administrators in the south-east part of the country. I have been an Associate Directorand for the past four years, I believe, Director of a Federallyfunded program, the Florida School Desegregation Consulting

Center which is funded under Title IV of the Civil RightsAct to assist the schools in Florida in problems and matters ofdesegregation.

Q. That's the Civil Rights Act of 1964?
A That's correct, sir.
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Q. Dr. Foster, have you published in the field of education

and in the field of desegregation?

A. I have, yes.

Q. Can you give us just a few on the list of your major

publications?
A. Most recently in desegregation, I had an article in

September in the Urban Review on urban desegregation. I

I currently am negotiating with the Harvard Education Review

on an article again on urban desegregation which is in draft

form and should be published, I believe, in May although that

is still not decided. I have been either editor or coauthor

or contributor to a large number of desegregation studies both

in Florida and around the country. Some of these are under

Title IV and the desegregation center in Florida. Others are

under different banners. I have also been author or editor

or contributor to many what we call school survey studies

or reports. I did work, as I have stated, for the Bureau of

Educational Field Services with Dr. Purdy of Miami. I have

done several studies with Dr. Einman who has been with the

State Department who also worked there. I worked for the

Associated Educational Consultants in Pittsburgh for three

or four years and worked on several studies in the State of

}, Pennsylvania for them of a like nature.

Q. Are you author of any part of a book dealing with

education in the State of Ohio?
A. Contributor of a chapter on the law and curriculum

in a book edited by Dr. Simpson who used to be at Miami

? in Ohio published by the Andersen Company in Cincinnati.

Q. What is the title of that work?
A. I have it in my vitae.
MR. GREER: Ohio and School Law.
THE WITNESS: Ohio and School Law. It is sort of a

layman's paperback for teachers and so forth.

BY MI. LUCAS:

Q Dr. Foster, I assume your vitae will reflect member-
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ship in usual educational and professional associations; isthat correct?
A. I believe it does, yes.
Q. What desegregation studies have you shared majorresponsibility for?
A. Well, quite a few. If I could break those down intosort of different types, as Associate Director of the Desegre-gation Center in Florida, the Center was involved in almostall of the court cases in Florida desegregation. Florida has67 districts which are really county districts. They are co-terminus with the co-political boundaries and I don't knowthe exact number, but I think about 40 of those have beenthrough court order or are currently under court order. TheCenter was involved in almost all of those especially the bigcity ones, and we were also involved in several studies inconnection with HEW compliance under Title VI - it isnow called the Office of Civil Rights - when they wereinvolved negotiating more than now with the different systemsas far as compliance.

Then, as a private consultant for different organizationsand growth, I have been involved in several cases some ofwhich I have been an expert witness and some of which Ihaven't. The ones in which I have been a court witness havebeen Spanger vs. Pasadena in which I was a consultant forthe Justice Department. I didn't appear in court, but Iworked on the Houston Desegregation case for the JusticeDepartment. I was a consultant for the United Steel Workersin Cisneros vs. Corpus Christi.
Q. Excuse me, Dr. Foster. Let me make it clear. WasI involved in any of those three cases?
A. Not that I remember, no.
Q. Thank you. You were retained by the United StatesDepartment of Justice in those cases?
A. That's right.
Q. Except in Cisneros, and in Cisneros you were em-ployed by whom?
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A. Actualy a law firm in Houston, but the United Steel

Workers footed the bill for the plaintiffs. They were the

ones that supported the suit, and in Mississippi I was in the

Marshall County case.

Q. Was that for private plaintiffs in that case?

A. I believe that was the legal defense fund.

Q. And you were associated with that?

A. I was, yes. Holly Springs, I believe, was also part of

that same suit. Holly Springs was a separate district.

Then, also in Mississippi the Humphries County case was

not so much, I believe, as I remember it, a pupil assignment

case. It was assignment by testing case.

Q. Was that with the Department of Justice?

A. I believe so, yes.
Q. All right.
A. I cant remember for sure whether that was a legal

defense fund. I think the Department of Justice. Then, in

{ Virginia in the Petersberg case I was a witness for the court

paid under court order by the City of Petersberg. I was an

expert witness for the Legal Defense Fund in the Richmond

case, Bradley vs. Richmond case. It was not the metropolitan

part but the original suit. I was witness for the Justice De-

partment in the Norfolk case, Brewer vs. Norfolk. Well, it

changed but I think at the time I was in it it was Brewer.

Q. It was.
A. And in Carolina County case in Virginia, I think for

the NAACP - no, for the legal defense fund.

Q. And most recently, were you involved in the Detroit

litigation?
A. I have also been involved with the NAACP in the De-

troit litigation. I was also involved in Memphis is Earth-

cross vs. Memphis as an expert witness, and this past summer

I spent six or seven weeks in Detroit and in Lansing working

as a member of the Roth panel on metropolitan desegregation

and in that case paid by the State Department of Michigan.

Q. Have you been appointed as a court expert in any

case involving school construction?
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A. Well, in several cases - would you say that again?
Q. Was there any case where the Court or the title for acenter appointed you with respect to school construction inFlorida?
A. Well, the Court in Jacksonville or Duval, Jackson vs.Duval County case appointed the center to make a detailed

study in which building was involved, construction was in-
volved and, of course, in almost every case construction isinvolved to some degree.

[R. 1. 1402, Vol. 14] Q. Dr. Foster, you were the author
or supervisor of the preparation of the plan of desegregation
for the City of Dayton; is that correct?

A. That's correct.

Q. In connection with the separation of that plan, can
you tell me how much time you spent in Dayton?

A. As I remember it, I had one person working with meon that, Mr. McDonald, now Dr. McDonald, and the twoof us spent a total of something like 11 or 12 days in thecity plus a good deal of time in Miami, but actually on site,I think it was 11 or 12 days, and I spent all but - well, Ithink all but four of those days. I spent seven or eight dayson site at that time.

[R. I. 1419-1420, Vol. 14] Q. All right. You listed op-
tional attendance zones.

Is there any relationship between those two?
A. Yes, sir. Very similar. It is partly a semantic situation.

But when you have an optional zone, in almost every case ithas to be carved out of one of the two zones in which it isoptional, one of the two attendance areas in which it is option-
al, and therefore it automatically becomes a sort of dual zoneor, as you will, an overlapping zone.
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Q Dr. Foster, have you at our request studied the pattern

of new construction in the Dayton School System?

A. Yes, I have. When you say new, what I have studied

primarily is, from 1950 to the present.

Q. What has been your observations of the facts of the

pattern of school construction, new school construction in

Dayton, from 1950 to the present?

A. May I refer to my notes?

j Q. Yes, please.
A. In making an analysis of new construction from 1950

to the present, I have before me Plaintiffs' Exhibit No. 4 and

also the overlay PX-53A, which had to do with new construc-

tion and additions.

I made a slightly different analysis than the one presented

in PX-4, in that I carried it through to figures for 1972-'73,

whereas if I'm not mistaken PX-4 used attendance figures for

last year, for the '71272 year.

What I found in new construction was, to summarize briefly,

there were 24 schools opened from 1950 to the present. Out

of the 24, 22 opened at 90 percent or more black or white.

That is to say, only two of the 24 schools opened as failities

without being either 90 percent white or 90 percent black.

Of that 22, I found that seven schools opened 90 percent or

more black and remained so today.

Most of them are at either the 99 percent or 100 percent

black level.
Six of the schools opened at 90 percent or more white and

remained so today, and of the 22, nine schools opened at 90

percent or more white, and today these nine schools range

from something like 17.7 percent to 96.7 percent black.

[R. I. 1422-1423, Vol. 14] Q. In response to the Court's

inquiry, Dr. Foster, you did say it does have something to do

with segregation?
A. That's correct.
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Q. Does it have something to do with school segregation?
A. Yes, sir, in my opinion.
Q. Dr. Foster, in counting the schools for new construc-tion, did you count, for example, the Jefferson Primary as anew school?
A. I believe I did, yes, sir.
Q. And the same would be true for the other primaryunits?
A. Yes, but I think there was one case that was sort ofquestionable and that was Allen Primary which in some docu-ment is listed as a primary unit and in some merely as anaddition to Allen. In my data I counted it as an additionrather than as a separate unit.
I believe it has the same administration addition in theregular unit.

Q. All right. Can you identify for me the seven schoolswhich opened 90 percent or more black and remain so today.
A. All right. Residence Park Primary opened in 1966at 96.5 percent black, and in 1972 it was a hundred percentblack.
McNary Park opened at 100 percent black in 1964 and isstill a hundred percent black.
Jackson Primary opened in 1960 at 99.9 percent black andis currently 99.7 percent black.
The new Dunbar High School opened in 1963 at 92.7 per-

cent black and is currently 100 percent black.
The Carlson Elementary School opened in 1958 at 95 per-cent black and is currently 99 percent black.
The Louise Troy facility opened in 1957 at 100 percent blackand is 99.1 percent black in 1972.
Miami Chapel, which is adjacent to the Louise Troy facility,opened in 1953 at 100 percent black and is currently 99.8percent black.
These percentage figures at opening, I took from Plaintiffs'Exhibit PX-4, for the most part, and in some cases, I believe,
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or I think in all cases, they are substantially correct. Thero

may be a percentage point or so deviation.

[R. L. 1425-1428, Vol. 14] THE COURT: Let me put the

question to you another way. Do you build schools where

the children are or do you build schools where you think the

children should be? That is, do you build the school some-

place else because it is a nonsegregated neighborhood and then

transport the children there, or do you build them where the

children are?
THE WITNESS: Well, I think school systems have done

both.
THE COURT: Yes. I understand. But I would like you to

relate it to the Dayton situation.

The schools you have named are in an area that is pre-

dominantely black and has been, according to the census tracts,

for quite some time.
I ask you again, would you build schools there or would

you build them someplace else and move the children to the

schools?
THE WITNESS: Well, in terms of desegregation I would

consider very seriously not buildingg them where the children

are but considering other possibilities of site selection, because

I think that in building them where the children are the

Dayton System has managed to lock in and compact both the

school population and the residential population in the inner

city, and at the same time to promote housing segregation

and school segregation in the far-flung suburbs.

BY MR. LUCAS:

Q. Dr. Foster, would you identify the six schools which

opened 90 percent or more white and remain so today?

A. All right. These would be Shoup Mill, which opened

in 1958, 100 percent white, now 3.8 percent; Belmont High

School -
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Q. Excuse me. 3.8 percent black, is that correct?
A. Ism sorry. 3.8 percent black.
Belmont High School, which opened no percent black andis currently 5.2 percent.
MR. GREER: While we are giving those, I suppose weought to have the dates. 1956?
A. (Continuing) I'm sorry. Belmont was 1956 and ShoupMill was 1958.

Ml adowdale Elementary in '57, which opened no percentblack, and is currently no percent black; Horace Mann Ele-mentary, opening in 1954 at no percent black and is current-
ly 3.1 percent black; Orville Wright opening in '52 at no pe--
cent black and currently 8.1 percent black; and Eastmontopening in 1955 at no percent black and currently 0.7 percentblack.

Was that six?
MR. LUCAS: I think So, Doctor.
THE COURT: Yes.

BY MR. LUCAS:
Q. Directing your attention to Meadowdale High School,is it just slightly over the ten percent figure you used?A. My data give it at 10.6 percent black this year.Q. And it opened at 0 percent?
A. That's correct.
Q. And Belle Haven?
A. Belle Haven opened in 1954 at 0 percent black andis currently 17.7 percent black.
Q. Dr. Foster, turning your attention now to the buildinadditions. Did you examine those?
A. Yes, I did, sir.
Q. Will you give us the results of your exan: ation?A. All right. Again, in compiling these, I used Plaintiffs'Exhibit 4, and also the Ohio State, the recent Ohio State report,which did list the dates of all the buildings and additions assort of a cross-reference.
THE COURT: Before you do that, Doctor, I would like
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to address anodier question, because I must confess I am truly

confused with this line of testimony.

If there is something wrong with opening a school that is

90 percent black and something wrong with opening a school

90 percent white, then I assume the next esp is that schools

should be selected that are more equal. And so let's assume

for a moment that these 13 schools were all located in sites

where they are precisely 50 percent white and 50 percent

black, or in view of the city's population, 30 percent black and

70 percent white.

Every one of these schools was open at that point. Within

five years, by reason of situations over which the Board had

no control, they all were then 100 percent white or 100 percent

black.
Would you describe that then as a segregative intent by

the Board?

THE WITNESS: Well, I think intent is hard to prove in

some cases, but I t -nk it might be described as a mistake in

judgment.

[R. I. 1437, Vol. 14] Q. Thank you. Would you go now

to the building additions and the inquiry which you made?

A. According f my figures, if they are correct in terms

of building additions, in tens of 1950 to the present, there

were 62 separate school additions made in the Dayton System.

Q. Now, Doctor, just a preliminary thing. If there were

two separate additions made to the same school, is that in-

cluded in your 62 figure?
A. That's correct. Some of these are multiple listings,

some more than two. Some may be three or four.

So, if they made an addition in 1954 and another one

in 1960 and another one in 1968, you would have three in-

dividual notations although there might be only one school

listed?
A. That's correct.
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Q. An that's how you get your 62 total?
A. That's correct.

[R. I. 1438-1442, Vol. 14] Q. All right. Would you con-
tinue with your analysis?

A. All right. Out of the 62 additions made since 1950,
59 of these were made to schools which were 90 percent or
more black or white. Out of the 59, there were 52 additions
which were made to schools that were 99 percent either black
or white at the time of the addition.

Q. All right. Did you break down any of those additions,
in terms of their present situation as well?

A. Yes, I did. There were ten additions which were made
to schools 95 percent or more black which remain so today.

Q. That's a different standard. That's 95?
A. That's correct.
There were 36 additions made to schools that were 90

percent or more white which remain 90 percent or more white
today. There were ten additions made to schools 90 percent
or more white which remain 80 to 90 percent white today.
Remain there would incorrectly used. I should say which
are 80 to 90 percent white.

Q. I won't challenge you on that ground, Doctor.
Did you examine the closing of schools in the Dayton

School System?
A. Yes, I did.

[R. 1. 1439-1442, Vol. 14] Q. Did you make a separate
analysis of that or was the analysis made in conjunction with
other studies in particular areas?

A. Well, both but I do have a separate analysis of this
criterion. The criterion works in a sense in both directions.
You can keep schools open to maintain segregation, and some-
times when you close schools, what you do with the pupils
who have been assigned to the schools being closed an

i
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important factor. In terms of keeping schools open to maintain

segregation, I had access to the Touche-Ross and Company

document made in 1972.

Q. Excuse me, Doctor.

A. I don't know whether that has been submitted as evi-

dence or not.

Q. I believe it has. What is the Touche-Ross study?

I think it has been referred to several times. Can you tell

me what it is?
A. I believe the title, at least, as I have it is the Business

Operations Review Report.

THE COURT: Mr. Lucas, do you have an exhibit number

on that?

MR. LUCAS: It is Exhibit 56, Your Honor.

THE WITNESS: There is a feeling among many people,

particularly school board members around the country, that

schools are pretty inefficient and inefficiently run in their busi-

ness operation, and it is quite a sound and reasonable technique

these days to ask business people to come in and evaluate

your operation and help you in terms of suggesting ways if

money can be saved because finances in education are very

important as always, and this is my understanding of the

background of this study. The part I was particularly con-

cerned about was .he recommendation to the school system

that they could phase out nine average schools and save some

thing in the neighborhood of $700,000 to $900,000 annually

by so doing. When I made the desegregation study in De-

cember of 1971, one of the recommendations in our report was

also to close three elementary schools and one secondary

school, and the reason we didn't recommend more was because

we really didn't have time and that wasn't our major purpose.

We didn't have time to analyze the buildings and so forth,

but we were aware of a current situation where the projection

i' for students in Dayton is one that is declining and the current

situation of over capacity being available at both the ele-
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mentary and secondary level on a city-wide basis, and in this
situation where you have as in almost all instances considerable
number of very old school buildings, I think it is intelligent to
look at the operating expenses and so forth and see if any of
them can be closed out. I also had access to Plaintiffs' Exhibit
61 which is a report that Mr. Weinman made in April of 1972
to the Superintendent in regard to our recommendation in the
desegregation study of closing Hawthorne and Fort McKinley
and Washington Elementary Schools. Out of reading these
and also my contact with Dayton in December of 1971, it is my
opinion Dayton could very definitely close some obsolete
schools which were, for the most part, segregated schools and
reassign the students so as to promote desegregation. There
was one instance which I feel is a good example. There may
be others of the Dayton System closing schools and then
reassigning students in such a way that promoted segregation
rather than desegregation when they very definitely had
options that could have done the other, This was in 1962
in the case of closing Garfield and Willard Elementary Schools.
It is my understanding that the students from Garfield and
Willard were reassigned most of them to MacFarlane which
opened in the same year and which, I believe, was the old
Dunbar High School which was at that time 100 percent
black which at least in 1963, the following year, had 100
percent black faculty. Students were also assigned to Irving
which was 96.6 black, and in 1963 had a 50 percent black
faculty, and to Miami Chapel which was 99.6 percent black
and in 1963 had a 93 percent black faculty.

Now, if you look at the map very briefly in terms of dis-
tances, if you look at MacFarlane and Irving and Miami
Chapel which are in sort of the south central area of the city,it is possible that these children could have been assigned to
Patterson or to Hawthorne, That's Patterson Elementary, of
course, or to Longfellow which are about the same distancesfrom the schools being closed and which in 1963, the year
after, were white schools. Patterson was all white and Haw-
thorne was all white and Longfellow was 6 percent black or
predominantly white.

WMM
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All I am saying in this example is that here we have closing

of schools in which students are reassigned and in their re-

assignments sent to situations in receiving schools where segre-

gation is either increased or maintained when they could be

sent to equal distance schools in which desegregation would be

_ J effected.

[R. I. 1443-1447, Vol. 14] Q. And what exhibits did you

refer to in that connection?

A. I believe PX-108 which is a letter from Walt Spurgen

- I beg your pardon. I believe that is a memo to Walt

Spurgen from Mr. Ruhly dated September 18, 1972 in which

essentially Mr. Ruhly gives the present location of portables

in Dayton and a sort of history of the use of portables in the

system.
Q. All right. In general before you get into specifics, how

in systems which have been identified as segregated, what are

the variations in practices which have been used in terms of

portables or placement of portables?

A. Well, as in all of the other criteria that we are dis-

cussing, you can use portables as much as you can use school

additions which is what they are, but they are temporary ones

to either improve increased desegregation or maintain or

increase segregation, and in many cases school systems have

used portable buildings again much in the same way they do

additions to increase or maintain segregation.

Q. Dr. Foster, let me give you a hypothetical example.

Assume that a particular black school is becomming more and

more overcrowded and there is available space in predom-

inantly white schools and the School Board locates the portable
units at the black school site. Is that hypothetical situation

the type of situation you have described happening in other

school systems?
A. Yes, it is, and the difficulty is that the protables tend to

be frozen quite often in the location and then tend to main-

tain the segregated status.

-
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Q. Can it also work the other way where you have capacity
in black schools and overcrowded white schools with theportables being locates adjacent to the white schools rather
than reassigning students to the other school districts?

A. Yes, and it very often works that way and I think interms of Dayton this is done a good deal less than in manycities I have worked with.
Q. Can you tell me what your examination of PX-108indicates?
A. In terms of present location of portables in 1972-73,

according to this memo, there are eleven portables used inthe city. Three units are located at Cornell Heights MiddleSchool which currently is 80.5 percent black. Four units arelocated at Orville Wright Middle School which is 8.1 percentblack. One unit is located at MacFarlane Middle Schoolwhich is 99.6 percent black, and three units are located atWashington Elementary School which is 15.3 percent black.Q. That's the present locations?
A. That's right. These figures range from in terms ofdesegregation or segregation from 8.1 to 99.6, but in com-parison to the city as a whole, the school system as a wholewhich I believe is around 45 percent black this year, it wouldappear that all of these locations are racially identifiableschools.
THE COURT: Dr. Foster, do I understand that any useof portables is suspect?
THE WITNESS: Oh, no. I didn't mean to. infer that.I think it is like the other criteria. It is simply a question ofhow you do it.
I HE COURT: If you do it in a school that is predomin-

antly white, it can be asserted it is being done to retain thestudents there. If it is done in a school that is predominantly
black, the same -rgument can be made.

THE WITNESS: Right.
THE COURT: Then, in all these criteria the School Boardis faced with the option of transporting; is that right?
THE WITNESS Well, not in all.
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THE COURT: Well, in lieu of this.
THE WITNESS: Sometimes you have alternative walking

situations, but I would guess in most of them you would have

the alternative, yes, of either portables or transportation.

THE COURT: Well, in the case of additions, you could

assert that it is additions or transportation.

THE WITNESS: Again not always but quite frequently,

yes.
THE COURT: How do you regard, then, the basic situ-

ation of the school system that has portables and has built

additions?
THE WITNESS: You mean in terms of the wisdom of

making this kind of decision?
THE COURT: No. Let me use the word I used before.

Is that situation suspect?
THE WITNESS: Oh, very much so, yes, and I think in

terms of building additions particularly so in Dayton.

Q. Let's go into the historical locations of these portables.

A. The data given in the memo indicated that in terms

of putting in new portables starting in 1966 with two units

at Franklin and continuing through 1971, some of these would

be the same units, only eight moved. At the time of their

installation, the 15 examples given or cases given in the memo

to Mr. Spurgen, the percentage black at Franklin in 1966 was

no black. One unit went into Jackson Primary in 1967, 99.7

percent black. One unit went to Jackson Elementary in 1967,

98.6 percent black. Two went to Cornell Heights in 1971 at

72.3 percent black. One at Cornell Heights in 1969 at 59.1

percent black. Three at Washington in 1969 which was then

16.6 percent black. Three at MacFarlane in 1969 which was

then 99.9 percent black, and two at Weaver in 1969 which

was 100 percent black.
So, in all of the locations mentioned which is a total of 15,

these would be at the time of installation racially identifiable

schools with the possible exception of Cornell Heights which

was 59.1 percent black in 1969.

scolw
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Q. Dr. Foster, would you at this point tell me if you made
an inquiry into the question which I think related to the
construction issues of site selection?

A. Yes.

[R. I. 1448-1449, Vol. 14] Q. And what was that inquiry?
A. In terms of the use of site selections to maintain segre-

gation, in the new construction sites from 1950 which we have
already discussed to the present, many of these have helped
to promote and to impact and lock in segregated or isolated
situations either in the inner city or in the suburbs, and I
think this is true in terms of both school segregation and
housing segregation, that is, in terms of its effects. First of
all, in the area of the white suburban expansions which are
farthest from the center of the city which is all black, and
these were, of course, more inaccessible at the time of con-
struction than they are now. We have Valerie which was
built in 1966 which is almost at the extreme north of the
district. We have Meadowdale High School built in 1960
and Meadowdale Elementary built in 1957 to the north of
the district. We have Shoup Mill built in 1958 and to the
nearly extreme north. The south and east of the furthest
white suburban expansion, we have Eastmont, on the extreme
east built in 1965. We have Wilbur Wright to the northeast
built in 1952, Horace Mann to the southeast built in 1954,
and Belmont High School in the southeast built in 1956.

Now, contrary-wise, in the inner city during this time there
were a couple of examples of schools which were built into
locked-in situations in terms of segregation, and in fact these
schools were surrounded by other schools which were all black.
That would be McNary in 1964 and Jackson Primary in 1960.

Q. Dr. Foster, in your experience, use of the primary unit
in close proximity to elementary schools, has this been a
matter reflective of segregation practices in your experience?

A. Yes. It is in a sense very much nothing more than an
addition. They are on the same campus and for all practical
purposes they are really one school.
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Q, What effect does this have on the existing racial con-

centrations?
A. Well, it tends to secure it and to further insure that

those schools are going to remain segregated and that the

system as a whole is going to remain segregated.

Q. Do they tend to have the same boundaries as the ex-

isting elementary school?
A. You are talking about the primary?

Q. Yes.
A Yes, they do.

Q. And Dr. Foster, you identified some examples of schools

located further east away from black population centers?

A. That's correct.

Q. And you have also given us some examples of schools

at the furthest extreme from white population areas, or in the

middle of the central city core?

A. That's correct.

Q. What effect does a pattern of construction of that

nature, these two extremes, have in terms of patterns of metro-

politan development, in terms of both school and residential

segregation?
A. Well, I think it encourages residential segregation in

terms of making schools that people know are going to be

white, unless some sort of desegregation plan is instigated,

and they have some sort of security in buying into a school

like that if they can afford to.

And also, in the inner city, they designate those school as

locked-in black schools, which if they are going to be used

are going to stay segregated. I think the Court's language

for this, which even lay people can understand, was something

like, as I remember, a loaded game board, and it sort of sets

up that kind of situation when you attempt then to desegre-

gate.
Q. I assure you, Dr. Foster, that laymen are not the only

ones who have trouble understanding court language.
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MR. GREER: Move to strike counsel's comment.
THE COURT: Come on, let's go.
That is not totally incorrect, though.
Let's go.

BY MR: LUCAS:
Q. Dr. Foster, you mentioned one of the things you lookedfor in terms of pattern or segregation. Did you note someinstances of that from your view of the records in the Dayton

School System?
A. I'm sorry?
Q. Use of transportation as technique of segregation. Didyou note some instances of that?
A. Yes, I did. Some very minor ones, and I think thesehave been talked about before in the testimony. The question

of the VA students being transported from what would not bethe Carlson attendance area, the problem with the Edison
fire, which I believe was in 1968, and that was correctedshortly thereafter the following year.

MR. GREER: Can I make specific miy continuing objec-
tion when we are simply reviewing evidence tha is alreadybefore the Court?

THE COURT: Gentlemen, may I advise both counselthat the Court has been instructed exhaustively, and I do usethat term, as to the Shawan Acres situation, as to the VeteransHospital, and as to the fire at Kiser School.
May I ask that we refrain, both sides, from future witnesses

as to these subjects, and pass on to something which the Courthas not heard testimony on.
MR. LUCAS: All I am asking the witness is if he foundsome instances of that. I didn't intend to go on.
THE COURT: Well, I'm afraid unless we are stopped,it's going to happen, Mr. Lucas.
Let's go on to something further.

BY MR. LUCAS:
Q. All right. You did mention the VA Hospital. Is thatone of the optional areas that you studied, Dr. Foster?
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A. Yes.
Q. All right. And what optional area is that? Perhaps

we can refer to that out of order.

This might be an appropriate time.

A. That would be the Residence Park-Jackson optional

area, which would be more in evidence on the elementary, 57.

Q. Do you want to step to the map, Dr. Foster. Would

you indicate it on the small map? Stand back so the Court

can see the map.
A. This would be the hatchmark over the green area,

which would lead into Jackson on the east and to Residence

Park on the north.

[R. I. 1453-1455, Vol. 14] Q. All right. How did you
understand that the option worked between Residence Park

and the Carlson area?

A. My understanding was that the students, and I don't

know the exact date of the inception of this optional zone, biit

it is given on the data that was used to make this oveilay.

The students have the alternative of going either into Jack-

sonn or into Residence Park.
We have studies exhibits for the Defendants, DXCP, which

I believe gave the attendance at Jackson from 1957 to 1972

for the VA children, and that figure was zero. Defendants'

Exhibit DX -

Q. Excuse me, Dr. Foster. What was the racial composi-

tion of Jackson?
A. Jackson in 1951 was 35.9 percent black.

Q. And in 1957?
A. In 1957 I don't have the figure. In 1963 Jackson was

98.5 percent black.
I believe Mr. Rivers testified, and 1 believe that he was at

Jackson, that Jackson did have a few white students, and at

Residence Park in 1957 it was basically white.

I'm not sure whether those are his exact words, but that's

the substance of it.

Q. Jackson was a black school and Residence Park was a

white school, and Defendants' Exhibit CP indicates no child
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from that optional area of the Veterans Administration Centerin attendance at Jackson, is that correct?
A. That's correct.
Q. What about the attendance of children at the whiteResidence Park Elementary School? Did you examine De-fendants' Exhibit CO?
A. I did, yes, and those figures were for the same yearsat Residence Park, and the attendance of VA children givenin that resume from 1957 to 1972 was a total of 48 children,8 of whom were black, five the race of whom were unknown,

and 35 were white.
Most of these actually were in the late 1950's.
Q. What was the effect of that optional zone at that time,the Veterans Administration Hospital?
A. Well, it allowed the white students in that optional zoneto attend white schools. I believe that was Residence Park.

[R. I. 1455, Vol. 14] Q. Dr. Foster, I believe in earliertestimony you referred to the manipulation of zone lines.Did you make any study of this type of practice in theDayton School System?
A. Yes, I did.
Q. Perhaps since I believe in going into that we wouldget into optional attendance zones, would you first of all, andI'm backtracking, tell me what exhibits you used and what

maps you examined and indicate some of the optional areaswhich you identified between schools of opposite race?
A. In the optional zone criterion, I examined the variousoverlays and base census maps. I believe in terms of exhibits

the one that is currently on is the elementary '57 overlay,which would be PX-47A, and the ones following that in termsof dates at both the elementary and high school and middleschool level, and the different base maps, startin with thePX-46A, I believe, having to do with the ten-year census data,I also examined other exhibits having to do with Board
decisions in creating optional zones.

0 0 a
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[R. I. 1457-1458, Vol. 14] Q. You do have that data as to

those other five, is that correct?
A. Yes.
Q. All right. Would you list them, giving us the name

of the school and the racial composition?

A. All right. The first group that I established was created

in 1953 by the Board.
One was Willard and Irving. This was in the Board minutes,

Plaintiffs' Exhibit 123. Willard at that time was 100 percent

black. Irving in 1951 was 46.6 percent black.

The second one was Jackson and Westwood established in

1953. Westwood was 0 percent black and Jackson, in 1951,

was 35.9 percent black.
The third one was Whittier and Willard. Willard was a

hundred percent black and Whittier, in 1951, was 29.9 percent

black.
A fourth option was Whittier and Miami Chapel. Miami

Chapel was 100 percent black in 1951. Whittier was 29.9

percent.
A fifth one was Wogaman and Highview. Wogaman was

one of the all-black schools, and Highview, which was opened

in 1951, I believe -

Q. Excuse me. Going back to Miami Chapel: Can you

check that year with the year that it was opened?

A. Well, the '51 may apply to Whittier and not to Miami

Chapel. It may have been opened a year or so later. I think

it may have been opened in '53.

That's correct. Miami Chapel was opened in 1953 at 100

percent black.
Highview was opened in 1951 at 1.7 percent black.

The sixth in this group -

Q. Highview was with Wogaman, is that correct?

A. That's correct.
Q. And Wogaman was 100 percent black?

A. That's correct.
Q. All right. The sixth in the group was Edison and Jeffer-

son optional zone, which was not listed in the Board minutes
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in PX-123, but it does appear on the elementary '57 map.
In 1951 Edison was 43 percent black and Jefferson was 0

percent black.
Q. Excuse me, Dr. Foster. Are you dividing these by

years?
A. Well, sort of by the groups as I described them earlier.

The three high schools, the six elementary schools that were
developed in '53, and then the balance.

Q. All right. Fine.
A. The three high schools were Roosevelt and Colonel

White.

[R. I. 1459-1461, Vol. 14] 'Vell, this is sort of a compli-cated one. Around 1951 part of the present optional zone
between Colonel White and Roosevelt was established, and
I think in 1957 the balance of the present optional zone was
established.

Q. In 1951 what portion of the optional zone as it appears
on the present map was created?

A. This would be the part closest to the Wolf River, the
southern part.

No. That would be the northern part. I beg your pardon.
Q. It's Wolf Creek, I believe.
A. Wolf Creek.
Q. Wolf River, I believe, is in Memphis, is that right?
A. That's correct.
Q. Thank you.
A. I misspoke. This would be the northern part, since

the optional zone was carved out of the original Roosevelt
zone, so the first one, part of the option that was established
in '51 was the northern section.

Q. And at that time Colonel White was what kind of
school?

A. I understand it was ninth and tenth grades, and the
juniors and seniors went to Fairview.
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Q. Is that referred to in the Board minutes as Fairview-

White option as well? Have you seen such reference?

A. I can't say for sure, but I believe so. It was Fairview-

Colonel White in the early part.

Q. So as I understand it, a student in the ninth and tenth

grades in the northern part of this optional attendance zone

could, instead of going to the zone which this was carved out

of, Roosevelt, go to Colonel White for the first two years,

and thereafter all the way north to Fairview High School, is

that correct?

A. That's my understanding, yes.
Q. For his last two years.
All right. Can you go on with the Roosevelt-Colonel White

analysis in terms of what the racial composition was at par-

ticular times?
A. Well, in 1951 Roosevelt was 31.5 percent black, and

the Colonel Whitc-Fairview combination was 0 percent black.

Following the additional segment of the optional zone, and

I believe it was 57 or close to it, Roosevelt in 1963, which

was the next year that we have data, was 94.5 percent black,

and Colonel White, which had then been established as a

four-year high school, was 1.1 percent black.
Q. Did you say black or white? I'm sorry.

A. L1 percent black. I'm not sure which I said, but that's

what I meant.

[R. I. 1461, Vol. 14] Q. In examining the other data and

the depositions which you have listed, did you determine any

of the other operative facts with respect to the way in which

this optional attendance area worked?
A. Yes. We do have hard data in Plaintiffs' Exhibit 15-A,

I believe it is, giving the number of optional area students

attending Colonel White by years. In 1959 there were two

blacks and 186 whites. In 1960, two-blacks, 284 whites. In

1961, two blacks and 304 whites. In 1963, six blacks and

360 whites.
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And our next date shows quite a change in the direction.
In 1968 there were 216 blacks out of the option attending
Colonel White, 191 whites. 1969, 245 blacks, 109 whites. In
1970, 298 blacks and 75 whites.

Q. What had happened to the total racial composition of
Roosevelt at this time?

A. Roosevelt had become an all-black school and Colonel
White partially so.

Do you want those figures?
Q. Do you have the figures for Colonel White, 1968269?
A. Not on this sheet, but I have it.

1968269, Colonel White was 19.3 percent black,

[R. I. 1466-1471, Vol. 14] Q. I believe referring to the
exhibit, Doctor Foster, in 1951 there were black students in
Roosevelt at that time; is that correct?

A. 31.5 percent black I believe I read a few minutes ago.
Q. All right. What other optional attendance areas have

you examined at the high school level?
A. At the high school level, Roth and Fairview which

according to my notes and, I believe, in the Board minutes
which would be PX-123, if I am not mistaken, Roth and Fair-
view which is pictured by the red hatchmarks on the west
central part of the large map, it is a rather small zone and
my understanding is in terms of racial composition in 1967
which was two years after the beginning of the option, Fair-
view was 8.1 percent black. Roth was 85.7 percent black.
Currently in 1972, Fairview is 24.1 percent black. Roth is
5.8 percent black.

Q. Is it your understanding, Doctor, that this involved
very few students?

A. It is my understanding it still involves some but the
number is very small, something under five students there.

Q. All right. Have you examined the Colonel White-Kiser
option?

PRO
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A. Yes, I did. This was established in 1962 and is still

operative and is illustrated on the map by the red hatchmarks

between the two zones and just to the south of the McGuffey

zone on the large map. In 1967 - well, let me say that I

do have data about the number of children in this optional

zone attending Colonel White and Kiser by race beginning

in 1962 and going through to 1971.

Q. What is the source of that information, Doctor?

A. This is Plaintiffs' Exhibit 15B and 15B-1, I believe.

Q. All right.
A. The total figures for '62 through '65 were according to

my notes 58 white pupils opted to go to Colonel White and

26 whites to Kiser, and I also threw Patterson into that since

it is a city-wide school and is part of the racial picture.

THE COURT: Excuse me. Doesn't the choice exist ir-

respective of this area, this optional area?

MR. LUCAS: Yes, Your Honor, but 15.1 does indicate

some of the students from that area went to Patterson in some

subsequent years.
THE COURT: I am curious, though, about the relevance

of that. Might that not distort this situation? In other words,

the option to go to Patterson is city-wide, as I understand

it. It has nothing to do with residents in this optional area

or am I incorrect, Mr. Lucas?

MR. LUCAS: Your Honor, I would agree with the Court

that it is not limited to this optional area but it may, in fact,

have something to do with the option.

THE COURT: I am afraid a figure as to Patterson which

is a fragmentary figure - well, I will receive it, of course. I

would prefer if this would testify specifically as he has as

to the number of students who have exercised their option

irrespective of Patterson. I would prefer that that not be

included in the total. If you will keep it separate, Doctor -

MR. LUCAS: I don't think we are going to total them.

I think we will keep them separate and just indicate the move-

ment from that particular area to other schools in a section.

THE COURT: All right.
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THE WITNESS: The exhibi#. gives between 1967 and
1971 opting to Co!onel White were 27 whites. Opting to
Kiser were 102 whites.

THE COURT: Excuse me, Doctor. May I have those
again?

THE WITNESS: 27 white students to Colonel White and
102 white students to Kiser.

THE COURT: I must ask you once more. My pens here
are not working near as well as they ought to. What was
the figure?

THE WITNESS: 27 white students to Colonel White.
THE COURT: Thank you.
THE WITNESS: And 102 white students to Kiser and

15 whites to Patterson. Then, in the year '71-72, no white
students to Colonel White, 20 white students to Kiser and
four whites to Patterson.

BY MR. LUCAS:
Q. Dr. Foster, you say opted to one school or the other.

Is it your understanding that the particular optional area was
carved from one of the particular school districts and, if so,
which one?

A. I believe it was carved from Colonel White.
Q. During the same period of time, do you have the

racial composition of Colonel White and Kiser from 1968 and
1972?

A. In 1968 Colonel White was 8.4 percent black according
to my figures and Kiser was 9/10 percent black In 1972,
Colonel White had changed to 54.6 percent black. Kiser was
at 9.8 percent black.

Q. All right. Were there other elementary school zones
which were optional in nature that you can identify?

A. Yes. The one between Residence Park and Jackson
which we have discussed earlier, and then there were five
others. In 1954, an optional zone was established between
Residence Park and Addams. Shortly before that in 1951,

S,. . . .. . . . ..
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the data indicates that Residence Park was zero percent black

and Addams was 29.3 percent. That's Jane Addams.

Do you have the figures for 1963, Dr. Foster?
A. Between Residence Park and Addams.

Q. Yes.
A. Addams in 1963 was 41.6 percent black and Residence

Park which would be elementary was 80 percent black.

Q. All right.
A. The second one established in 1957 was Westwood and

Gardendale. Gardendale was 7.9 percent black and Westwood

was 94.7 percent black, and the option was still in existence

in 1963. In 1960, another option was established between

Addams and Residence Park which in a sense was the reverse

from the previous option. Again, the figures for 1963 indicate

that Adams was 41.6 percent black and Residence Park was

80 percent black so that the racial situation had reversed. At

that time, another option established in 1962 was - I beg

your pardon - in 1965 was Emerson and Irving. Emerson

was 0 percent black. Irving was 100 percent black, and the

final option I have listed is Belle Haven and Ft. McKinley

which was established in 1972. Belle Haven had 17.7 per black

and Ft. McKinley 2.6 percent black.

Q. Dr. Foster, examining these optional attendance areas

as a preliminary matter, let me ask you as an administrator

Vu whether or not the use of optional attendance areas is in your

opinion sound?

[R. I. 1472-1473, Vol. 14] A. You mean from a general

school administration standpoint?
Q That is correct.

A. In my opinion, it is an important administrative device.

Q.Why is that?
A. Whether it is racially connected or not racially con-

nected. Well, essentially I suppose like anything else in ad-

ministration, what you are establishing is a rule, and then

you start making exceptions to that rule and you make one

exception for one group and another group wants an excep-

tion, and before long you are in an administrative nightmare
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If I can cite one example quickly of this in Dade County
which is the sixth largest system in the country, when we
worked with them on their HEW compliance about three
years ago, the present superintendent asked us to recommend
immediately that all optional zones be erased and they hadsomething like well over 150 of them which I believe the
previous superintendent had established, I cite this as an
example that there were some racial zones, but essentially it
was this administrative's feeling that it would just be gotten
rid of and it would be a much better situation for the School
Administration generally.

Q. In what way do optional attendance areas affect de-
segregation and the stability of pupil assignment to particular
schools?

A. Well, essentially in my opinion they create instability in
the public in one way in terms of housing choices where there
are choices and in terms of perception of whether a school is
going black or staying white, this sort of thing, so that gener-
ally where you have an optional zone which has racial implica-
tions, you have an unstable situation that everybody realizes isin a changing environment. So, what it usually does is simply
accelerate whatever process is going on .,r work toward the
acceleration of the changing situation.

Q. The optional attendance zones which you have identi-
fied in your testimony today, what is your opinion with respect
to the effect or if there is any effect on racial composition
of schools in Dayton?

A. Well, in my opinion, these a' QAerated and precipitated
further segregation, and in those cases where I was able to
cite hard figures, I think that is very definitely borne out, and
I have no reason to believe that in all the other cases the same
thing was true although I can't cite actual pupil figures fromyear to year because they simply aren't available.
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A. Plaintiffs' Exhibit 75 points out that at this time, I

believe in the winter of 1962, in December - no, 1952, in

December, the Board went about making some decisions

about redistricting and building and so forth in the west side

schools. Some of these decisions had obviously already been

f made.

There were apparently two alternatives which were termed

Plan A and Plan B, and the Board opted to go at this time with

Plan B.
In describing this situation, I would like to not only talk

about zone lines and changing zone lines, but also school

additions and the other factors I have been discussing in

concert with the zone line situation, and I think I can be

very brief about doing this, but doing it in such a way that

the interrelationship and the connection will be made, because

it is very difficult to consider any one of these factors in

isolation from the other factors.

It is very much more of a gestalt type of arrangement.

So in Plan B, the decision was made to decrease the Woga-

man attendance areas.

Q. You are talking about the 1953 and this 1957 map is a

result of Plan B, is that right?

A. Yes. This map shows Wogaman at this stage, and it

was much larger, of course, in 1953, or '52, prior to the change.

Wogaman was decreased, and the Jackson zone, which is

immediately to the north of Wogaman, was added to, and

the Weaver zone, which is to the north and east of Wogaman

was added to.

At the same time Willard, which was one of the schools

in consideration, and I might say that Willard and Garfield

and Wogaman at that time were all black schools, but Willard

was kept the same; Garfield, which is just to the north of

Willard in a fairly compact residential area, obviously because

of its small size, was decreased and additions were made to

r i Edison to the direct north of Garfield, and to Irving, which

is to the southeast and can be seen on this map with quite

a bit of green in this area.

lf
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Now, in discussing this move, the racial proposition of the
schools which were added to according to the 1951 data, which
was just two years prior to the move actually, Jackson, which
took this part of Wogaman, was at 35.9 percent black in 1951,
Edison was 43 percent black. For the schools that took part
of G:rfield - I beg your pardon.

I need to go back to where I ended with Jackson which
took in part of Wogaman.

Weaver took in the other part of Wogaman. Weaver was
at 67.6 percent black in 1951.

Q. Let me stop you at that point.
Wogaman was all black, so that any area taken in would

have been black, is that correct?
A. That's correct.
Q. And the Jackson percentage was at that time what?
A. 35.9 percent black.
Q. And Weaver was sixty-
A. -7.6.
Q. All right. So that was the 51 enrollment, is that correct?
A. That's correct.
Q. So they added from the black enrollment at Wogaman

initially black students?
A. Yes. And the result obviously would be to increase

the black percentages in those two schools, since the territory
being transferred was all presumably black pupils.

The two schools that took from Garfield were Edison. which
in 1951 was 43 percent black. and Irving was 46.6 percent
black.

Garfield, of course, was also an all-black school.
Q. Would this have any effect, Doctor, of adding blacks

to those other schools?
A. Presumably, since all the territory taken in was black

residential area.
Q. All right. Doctor, in terms of the system as a whole,

how did these schools to which black students were added
compare with other schools in the system in terms of their
black-white enrollment?

-U
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A. In looking at the 1951 data which we have, outside

of the all-black schools we are concerned with, Wogaman,

Willard and Garfield, the four schools of Jackson, Edison -

Edison here, Weaver and Irving were the four highest pt-

centage elementary black schools in the system.

Now, at the same time it is important to note that in 1953

we did discuss this in our openings, that Miami Chapel, which

had been formed out of the Wogaman district or zone, opened

as a 100 percent black school with pupils in 1953, which would

be the same time these changes were made.

In terms of teaching staff which is one of the criteria in-

volved in this analysis, according to the data in PX-3, Plain-

tiffs' Exhibit, by 1957 three or more black teachers had been

assigned to Edison, to Jackson, to Weaver, to Miami Chapel,

to Highview, to Whittier, and to Irving, and, of course, e

three all-black schools of Garfield, Wogaman, Willard had all-

black staffs.
Ql Miami Chapel, did it have more than three black

j teachers?
A. I believe Miami Chapel opened up in 1953 with some-

think like, if my memory serves me, 85 percent black teachers.

I don't know how many were on the faculty. so that in

terms of teaching faculty, in terms of race, it is clear that

faculty assignment indicated that the schools involved in this

total configuration were either all-black schools or going to be

black, predominantly black schools.

Q. Now, Dr. Foster, were there any black teachers assigned

to the other schools in the system at that time?

14 A. I believe that those are the only schools, the ones I

read, which had as many as three black teachers at that time,

which was 1957. I'm not even sure whether the data indicated

whether there were any less than three teachers. But at that

time that was a rather significant number of black teachers to

to be assigned to any school.

Now, if you look at another criterion which we havetee
discussing, that of building additions, and in looking at this

total area, the west side area, we note that in 1954 and 1958
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there were add; "ions made to Irving which had received part
of the Garfield territory.

In 1954 and '58 there were additions made to Edison which
received the ote Pr part of the Garfield territory, and in 1954
and 1955 there were additions made to Weaver, which re-
ceived part of the Wogaman territory. Another factor that is
involved in this total gestalt would be optional zones.

In discussing optional zones, we will remember that I men-
tioned six elementary schools which the Board in 1953 had
created optional zones.

All of those are in this complex. According to Plaintiffs'
Exhibit 123, which is Board minutes, an optional zone was
created between Whittier and Miami Chapel directly to the
west of Whittier designated by the cross-hatch, and apparent-
ly from the map a territory, the zone was taken out of the
Miami Chapel area which was formerly, of course, Woguman.

Q. Now, the area within the gone, does it coincide withtne color coding on the map?
A. The area in the optional zone between Miami Chapel

and Whittier corresponds completely - it is in the shape of
a triangle in the southeast cor-aer of Miami Chapel. It cor-
responds with the green census data which is 5 to 25 percent
black in 1950.

Q. Does the western boundary, the optional area, take out
all of that green area from the Miami Chapel zone?

A. It does coincide as I see the map, with the line sep-
arating the green part of Miami Chapel zone and the red partto the northwest.

Q. Miami Chapel is 100 percent black. What was Whittier
at that time?

A. Well, not at that time but in 1951 Whittier was 29.9percent black.
Q. And what color appears in the Whittier zone?
A. Whittier has a little orange to the northwest. It hasquite a bit of green to the west and to the north and abouttwo-thirds of it is white, but this might be a bit deceptive

I,
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because it appears from the map that quite a bit of that is

not populated.
Q. What was the effect of the optional zone at that time

for Miami Chapel and Whittier?

A. The effect would be to allow the blacks - pardon me -

the whites in the southeast corner of Miami Chapel to attend

Whittier which was essentially a white school at that time.

The second optional zone created - I beg your pardon.

Q. I think you have answered the question. Go on to the

next option.
A. It was between Willard which is here on the map and

Whittier which we have just been discussing, Whittier to the

southeast of Willard. Willard in 1951, as we know, was 100

j percent black, and as we have just said, Whittier was 29.9

peen black, and again this optional zone allowed the whites

fj in Willard to attend Whittier.

Q. And the color in the Willard area at that point was

{ what, orange?
A. Almost completely orange on the census in 1950 which

indicates 50 to 85 percent black.

Q. There is another optional area apparently just above

that. Can you describe that?

A. The optional area just north and a little east of that

is between Willard and Irving. We said Willard was a 100

percent black school in 1951. Irving was 46.6 percent black.

This allowed the white students in the northeast section where

the zone is at Willard to attend Irving School.

Q. Dr. Foster, just to clear this up for Mr. Greer, I believe

you started your testimony indicating there had been a change

in policy simultaneous with the adoption of many of these

optional areas; is that correct?

A. I don't know whether I did, but there was a change,

I believe, in the year 1952 by the Board which said there would

be no more transfers.

Q. Now, your testimony goes that the orange area indicates
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the presence from the census of some whites in that area, does
it not?

A. That's my assumption, yes. I think the part that is
confusing is that the data for school population while it may
give 100 percent black doesn't mean as we know in many
cases that the children living in the area are all black because
under the previous transfer rules, those children may have
transferred out.

Another optional zone created in 1953 was the Jackson
Westwood zone which is to the north of Jackson and to the
south of Westwood.

In 1951, Jackson was 35.9 percent black. Westwood was
all white.

Q. Now, you said that Jackson had black students from
Wogaman added to it as a result of the action in 1953; is that
correct?

A. That's correct.
Q. And this option was created, I believe you said, by the

Board in the winter of 1952?
A. I believe in December, yes.
Q. Do you know whether or not it was implemented in

December or the following September? Do you know that?
A. I am not absolutely certain, but I am reasonably cer-

tain it was begun in September of the following year.
Q. All right. What was the effect in terms of boundary

changes, if any, of the creation of that option between Jackson
and Westwood?

A. Well, essentially it had the effect of shrinking the
northern boundary of the Jackson elementary zone because
the students according to the census map residing in the
optional zone would probably have been white students since
the area is designated by white which according to the map
is zero to five percent black in the census.

Q. Dr. Foster, as I understand the optional attendance
area as it works, the southern boundary of the optional at-
tendance area is now the mandatory boundary of Jackson
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THE WITNESS: - very minute space between the two

colors of blue, blue on the side and red on the north.

BY MR. LUCAS:
Q. When was Highview opened?

A. Higbview was opened, I believe, in 1951 as a 1.7 per-

cent black school.
Now, the boundary, the northern boundary of High-

view and the southern boundary of Wogaman, are they related

with the exception of the one street optional area you have

indicated to any color coding on the map?

A. Yes. The boundary goes along on the western part

,where, in fact, the housing is. It goes along and divides on

the north. The all-black section of Wogaman is marked in

red which is 85 to 100 percent black on the census map, and

to the south of the line is the blue of Highview which is 25

to 50 percent black according to the census data.

There is one final optional zone created at that time which

brings the total to six. I don't believe this was included in

PX-123 the exhibit of the Board's minutes, but it is on this

map of elementary 1957, and I would assume that it was

created either in 1953 or shortly thereafter, and that is the
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and people below there are automatically assigned to Jackson;

a. es, because all of the optional zone would be part of

the Jackson attendance area.

Q. North of that they could go either to Jackson or West-

wood; is that correct?

A. Since that is part of the zone, I assume so, yes.

Another optional zone that was created in 1953 was Woga-

man between Wogan and ighview, and it is not clear

n t weeand I am not certain, but I assume it might be

a one-street zone since I believe the maps do not indicate

one-street optional zones. In any event, the zone is to the

south of Wogaman and to the north of Highview. It would

be indicated by the fact that there is a very minute -

I

i

t

4



291

optional zone between Edison and to the north and northwest
Jefferson Elementary Schools. This would be the optional
zone which is covering completely the green color on the base
census map, green being 20 to 25 percent black.

In 1951, we know Edison was 100 percent - I beg your
pardon - we know Edison was 43 percent black and Jefferson
was all white. The results of this as in the other cases would
permit these white students in the optional zone to option
for Jefferson rather than to go to the blacker school at Edison.
This would as in the situation to the west of Jackson and
Westwood have the effect of shrinking the northern boundary
of Edison in this case.

Q. Dr. Foster, did you locate any particular alternatives
that could have been done with respect to the Wogaman
School?

0 o

A. I did note a couple of alternatives. As examples, to the
south we did have Highview at that time which as we noted
was opened in 1951 at 1.7 percent black. And, of course, the
point I am making there is the territory from Wogaman could
have been added to Highview since it was in certainly
a walking distance and very little difference between the two
schools. Another possibility might have been to use Grace
A. Greene as a receiving school from Garfield. Grace Greene
is actually - maybe a little closer to the Garfield building.
It is about the same distance as Edison, and they are all
within walking distance of each of the three schools. Grace
Greene in 1951, I believe, was 6.5 percent black. This is
merely illustrative of the fact that by making another choice
the Board could have moved the black students to a much
wider option at the time than they chose to do.

Q. Dr. Foster, just looking at the area as you have done in
terms of the construc ion additions and new school construc-
tion of Miami Chapel and redrawing of attendance bound-
aries and creation of optional zones, what was the effect of the
implementation of Plan B in West Dayton?
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A. Well, I think the effect was clearly one of locking

in and freezing this configuration including these schools into

an all-black school situation.

A. I did list three cases where schools were opened in-

volving changing zones and one we have discussed in 1951,

the Highview School, was opened just to the south of Woga-

man with Wogaman 100 percent black and Highview opening

at 1.7 percent black, and I believe that previously I stated that

this zone line might have been changed to move more black

students into Highview.

THE COURT: Excuse me.

Dr. Foster, I am concerned about the horns of the dilemma

that a school board now finds itself on, because a previous

witness testified that when you start moving black students

into a white school, you merely accelerate the turning of that

school into white.

Now, you have just suggested that an alternative would

have been to move them into the Highview School. No

matter what the school board would have done, is it not

true that it would have had the effect of accelerating the

movement of blacks into a school?

o THE WITNESS: Well, let me say that I agree with some

of what you are saying. The problem, as I see it in this type

of situation, is essentially one of diddling around piecemeal

with desegregation instead of attacking the problem whole-

sale and making clear that you are desegregating the entire

system.
THE COURT: Would that involve transportation then?

THE WITNESS: In a situation today it certainly would,

[ yes.Fotrthtfrmyu
T HE COURT: Is it fair to say, Dr. Foster, that from your

analysis and your testimony that the only viable alternative

to this would be a system of transportation of children, that

anything else is mere a makeshift? I don't want to put the

words in your mouth.
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THE WITNESS: Right.
THE COURT: But I'm getting the feeling that there is

only really one alternative in your opinion.
THE WITNESS: No. I think there is a second alterna-

tive. I guess that is redundant. There is an alternative.
Rather than do it the way in which the Dayton Board
did in addressing itself to this very real problem in west side,
of a changing community, which certainly has housing over-
tones and all the rest, if the Board does take a stance as I
suggested they could have in a couple of situations in this
change, where there were white schools directly adjacent,
the message clearly is to the community that the Board is
doing everything it can, everi though over the long run the
results may wind up segregated, but at least it is doing every-
thing in its power to maintain 'a desegregated situation.

I think the result of this is to produce more stability in
real estate movements, in the general public's attitudes of,
well, the whole area is going black, so you know, that's the
way it is.

THE COURT: Doctor, there has been testimony here of a
tipping point that has been used.

Do I understand that what you are now suggesting is that
as long as the Board doesn't exceed the tipping point, it would
be satisfactory 'o adjust zone lines as an alternative to trans-
portation?

THE WITNESS: Well, I'm not sure what your question
is.

THE COURT: All right. It's possible that I'm using a
term that I assumed was a general one in this field.

THE WITNESS Well, it is. I don't agree with the concept
because as far as I know there is only one piece of research that
I have seen on this. There may be others. But Johns Hopkins
did a research of tipping point some years ago in relation to
desegregation on the assumption that there was a point at
which there was a big movement of blacks, and the results
of the research indicated this wasn't so; that if a certain area of
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a city is going to go black, then it simply goes llack over a

period of time.
T E T irreetive of the school hoard does?

THE WITNESS: No, It is simply a question of the scel

oard contributing the pattern and accelerating it and ex-

acerbating the whole movement.

THE COURT: Well, any ebange such as you are now

discussing that would have the effect of making a white

school of a larger percentage of blackss becdme thae a

of dcgre because witnesses have testified that there is a

communiity perception and that after a student body pases i

at certainly Point it is perctivedas a black school.
Now, if thlat is true then the school board is faced with the

Problems of so adjusting the wrcentages as not to send black

students to a white school, so as to make that perceived as a

black school,
THlE WITNESS: Well, to start with, I do think this is a

controversial issue, and it is not the tipping point arrangt'm lit I

as a very popular concept with school people, I think thev ;

tall w ould like to believe and do ble eve hon1estly" in1 their o\\111

minds that a school - not only the community Inoes at t

certain tipping point, but that the school itself is inferior on

Sets a certain percentage minority gronp nmmbes, which

think is ridiculous.
But be that uas it may. I ecognize that a board in mainn

decisions in these cases mayh e righting a losing battle, and as'I

I stated, I think the only secure solution and the only saft

solution is to disestablish a dual structure in the entire system i

so that whites in eleeing or changing however yoi want to

term it meet the same situation wherever they go.

THE COUTr: In other words, doctor, do I huerstand

you to stay that the Only real alternative other than a

constant adjusting and watchlingt of paercenatages and so foulrth

is tru rtatiani

THE WITNESS I think thatnal analysis, yes. i
fina anlss ye. ,

fill- WON
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[R, 1. 1515-1516, Vol. 151 Q. Dr. Foster, we go now to
your third example. If we can at this point, let's discuss the
Roth and Roosevelt situation,

A. I believe we covered H-ighview and Gardendale. The
Roth High School opened in 1959 which we can see on the
large map to the west of the city.

Q. Do you want to step to the smaller map here, Dr.
Foster. We have put up some new overlays. We still have
46C, the 1960 census, and 48D, the 1960 high school attend-
ance boumdaries.

A. That's correct. On this map Roth is located almost
at the extreme west central portion of the Dayton System, and
the boundaries are designated as I am pointing to the im-
mediate east of the established 1959 Opening zone for the
Roth High School, we have Roosevelt Iigh School adjoining
Roth on the east. In terms of setting up these zones, the
indications are that the Roth opening essentially took the
whites, white students out of Roosevelt, The base census
map indicates that the largest portion of Roth is in blue, almost
all to the south and southeast and to the north is blue
representing 25 to 50 percent black. All the other portion
surrounding the school site itself is white indicating zero to
5 percent black, and on the 1960 census data, there is a small
section to the east of the zone and to the southeast of the
building which is in orange representing 50 to 75 percent black
whereas at that time Roosevelt in 1959 or in the 196(0 census
was almost entirely red indicating 85 to 100 .percent black.
We know from Plaintiffs' Exhibit 1 on admissions that Roth
opened with 662 pupils and that the same vear Roosevelt
decreased by 602 pupils from the previous year. We know
that in 1963 our data indicates that Roth was 53.5 percent
black whereas Roosevelt was still close to all black being
94,5 percent black, We also know or assume from 1 Mr, Kirk's
deposition that there were some considerations given by the
Board to race in the establishment of the Roth zone and in
the erection of the building itself.
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Dr, Foster, if you will follow with ne my pencil, the

boundary of the original Roosevelt high School zona included

this optional area between Colonel White nand 1oosevelt aild

went all the way to the now boundary of the northern

boundary of the Roth Schooh is that correct?

A Yes.

I, 1515-1502A Vol, 151 Q. We have now laed up

high school attend anUce l)endaries 1965, Plaintif's Exhib

491. Dr. Foster, looking first of all at the large map since t

may be more readily visible, what is the location of the old

Dunbar School as it was established with the relationship to

the Roosevelt School?
A. I believe it would be failNy close to the Roosevelt

School and to the east.
That is the present MacFarlane School building?

A. Yes, slightly to the south but mostly to the east.

Q. All right. What is your understanding about the ota }

ation of the old )nnhar High Sehool?
A. MY' understanding is that it does have to do 'with

attendance zones. It wals a city-wide zone and it was all blink

in its student assignment and all black in its faculty ass n-

ment except for maybe one or two persons in a special Wtacln000h
field, and I think it was driver tmrainig and the old Elnnhar

High School, as i say, drew from the entire city exteusivelv

It was an open enrollment school I do believe that at onc

point there were certain grades assigned to it from one of t

elementary schools close by. it was either Weaver or WilArd

I believe in 1942 Willard and GTrfleld ''i grades verv aeto ills

asysigd to Dunhar rather than given a choice of attend dni

it. Theoretically at least, anybody could opt to attend or

choose to attend the old Duna igh School but in practi'

calities, only blacks chose to do so. I think it had a strong

effect on the development of Roosevelt since it was very closo

to Roosevelt and the testimony in other evidence suggested

there was some interplay between the two schools in teiszI
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of blacks going to One or the other as Roosevelt became in-creasingly lack in 1947 and was 15.3 percent black. In 1951,it was 31.5 percent black and in 1963, the year after Dunbarbecame MacFarlane, Roosevelt was 94,5 percent black.Q. Dr. Foster, the earlier demographic map is now coveredup, but there were white people south and to the west ofthe Roosevelt zone who walked past or walked longer dis-tances to Roosevelt than they would have had to walk toLunubar; is that correct?
A. Well, this is correct. They could have opted to go toDunbar hut as 1 stated, I believe no whites did so.Q- Well, when Dunbar was opened, was there any actiontaken identifying that school as a black school or white schoolaside from those you have already mentioned?
A. You mean other than making it a city-vide school andassiging black faculty?
Q. Well, z didn't realize vou mentioned black facultyA. Yes, I had, I know of no other official action.Q. What is the effect, and if you can referee

ox'zprieucme of establishment of such a school in proximity toRoosevelt with the all black faculty?
A, Well, it was clear that the old Dunbar was an all black

t5

sc-hool. This allowed blacks to opt ount of Roosevelt andgot to N tacl+arlane - I mecan to luaunhar, anad essentially inl
my opinion accentuated at that time the whiteness of Roosevedt and the blackness of Dunbar.

Q, Do you know the date the ol Dunbar School wasbuilt?
A. I have it yes. If I an not mistaken, it would havebeen 1931. This was as of the date of original construction fortac~l arlaate.
D . Assuming it opened during the thirties, are you aware.Dr. Foster, that it was the policy of the Dayton Board ofeadueation to refuse to permit black teachers to teach whitechildren in the system at that time?
A. Yes. I am aware of that.
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[R. I. 1522-1526, Vol. 15) Q. Dr. Foster, the record re-

flects that it was the policy of the Dayton Board of Education

o refuse to permit white children to be taught by black

teachers. What effect in terms of possible white attendance at

Dunbar, does the combination of that policy, with the assign-
ment of an all-black faculty which you have already testified

to, to that school when it opened, have? r

0 * *

A. I think potentially it is obvious, as I said before, that

a white child could opt or choose to go to Dunbar, but for

all practical purposes, white children didn't do this, and the

fact that black faculty were assigned in toto to Dunbar

would certainly indicate, I don't know whether legally or

not, in terms of Board regulations, that white children could t

go there, but on the face of it they wouldn't.

THE COURT: Dr. Foster, in your research and prepara-

U ton or ourapparaceshave you found anywhere any

evidence that white children were refused admission to

Dunbar?
THE WITNESS: I don't believe so. I can refer to one

thing from an exhibit.

THE COURT If you would, please.

THE WITNESS: I believe it is Plaintiff's Exhibit 28, which

is a memo by Superintendent French. I think this essentially

answers your question. He says, "Dunbar has no boundary.

Theoretically any child can elect Dunbar, but practically only

Negro children attend."

THE COURT: You may proceed,

Dr. Foster, referring now to the criterion which you

discussed, transfer of policy: Did you examine transfer policies

in the Dayton School System?

SYes, I did.
Q. Now, you have already testified, I believe, with respect

........... .
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to the statement in the minutes, as to the elimination or
reduction of transfers at the time of the option of the optional
attendance zones.

What did your examination of these policies indicate from
that point?

A. There were some records in the testimony which I
won't discuss involving this. There was one exhibit which is
PX-16, which it states that in 1969 whites were given emer-
gency transfers from Roosevelt to Stivers, and further than
that, my examination led only to review of the transfer policy,
or the freedom of enrollment policy, which w is adopted in
1969, and as I understand it, has been continued through the
present contained in Plaintiffs' Exhibit 16, which sets up a
priority for transfers, and further examination of Plaintiffs'
16-D and 16-F gives some hard figures about the results of
this policy since its inception.

Q. And what effect has this policy had on segregation that
exists in the Dayton School System?

A. From my understanding of the data, I would say that
the hardship and emergency clause in the transfer policy is
pretty racially mutual. That is to say, that in 1972, according
to Plaintiffs' Exhibit 16-F, 260 blacks -

THE COURT: Doctor, may I ask that you not quote
from the exhibit. If you have referred to it, I assure you I will
check it.

I'm intentionally interested in your conclusions. I'm not
interested in the figures. They are available.

THE WITNESS: All right. My conclusions are that the
hardship policy led to primarily whites moving to white schools
and blacks to black schools.

My conclusion concerning Exhibit 16-D, which had to do
with Dayton for the four years of the total transfers, indicate
that in no cases, for all practical purposes, did whites transfer
to white schools, and there was some movement of blacks to
white schools.

irn
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BY MR. LUCAS:

Q.In terms of its effectiveness in eliminating patterns of

segregation, do you have an opinion as to the effectiveness of

the present policy?
A. I would classify it as minimal.

0 * *

[R. I. 1533-1540, Vol. 15] Q. Now, Dr. Foster, assume, if

4 you will, though there is some d fference in the testimony, that

the policy of the Dayton Board of Education with respect

to faculties, which I believe was one of your criteria, has been

at least until 1951 of never assigning a black teacher to teach d

a white child, and then the pattern which you yourself noted

through 1957 of the assignment of some black teachers to

schools with large numbers of black children, and then the

continuation of a pattern of relationship between a number of

percent of black pupils and a number of percent of black

teachers in schools until the current school year.

Do youi have those facts at this point?

A. I think.
Q.All nigt. And then assume that there is a substantial

reassignment of a faculty in the system. Again, there is some

disagreement at this point as to whether or not there is still

a relationship to density of black pupil population and the

number: of percent of black faculty.

But assuming that has been, let's call it, for the sake of

this hypothetical, a perfect racial balance of faculty.

In light of that history, could you give us your opinion as to

the effect, first of all, of that policy before the change, in

terms of identification of schools as black or white and the

effects of that change on the present situation in the Dayton

School System?

A. Well, my opinion is that this policy and practice before

the change we assume took place, especially since it is in a

northern district, would indicate that the Board is missing or
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has missed a golden opportunity to prove that it does want to
run a unitary system and remove segregation practices insofar
as it is able, because the Board clearly, as I understand it,
under most State laws, or all State laws, can assign teachers
willy-nilly in the System wherever they want to. This is not
a free choice matter.

Q. Is it also an annual option that the School Board has?
A. Yes, in terms of assignment. In terms of my opinion on

what this does, as recently changed, assuming this, I would
have to say that this does not remove by any means the
vestages of a segregated system since it is only one component
of several important aspects of a system segregated or de-
segregated. I think it is a very important component, and I
think it is a step certainly in the direction of desegregation,
and a very positive step.

But coupled with the other most important step of pupil as-
signment, so long as the schools themselves remain segregated,
as they certainly do at this time in my opinion in Dayton, then
the fact that teachers or staff being desegregated, if we assume
that doesn't carry near the weight it would if the total de-
segregation process had taken place.

Now, if I can go a step further in my own opinion on that
briefly: If in fact all these components were taken care of
and we had a truly desegregated system, I would hazard
that even then it is going to take a year or two for the
identification of schools as black or white to be removed, but
we haven't been doing that long enough to really know how
long it does take. But I think that in some systems that have
done this completely two or three or four years ago, they are
very definitely and quickly no longer thinking of schools as
black or white but as just schools.

Q. Dr. Foster, did you observe when examining the con-
struction pattern and the additions to schools a pattern of as-
signment in that regard of faculty?

A. Yes.

Q. What was that pattern?

I.
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A. The pattern was largely one of assigning faculty by

race according to the race of the school.

THE COURT: Mr. Lucas, could we now drop that issue?

I think we have abundant testimony the School Board did

a assign black teachers to black schools and white teachers to

white schools. Let me say I am aware of that. May I ask that

we now abandon that for evidentiary purposes.

Q Dr. Foster, you used the term pattern. Is an important

element the assignment of a particular percentage of black or

white faculty to a particular school or is it something that

can be considered in the context of a single school?

4 A. I think I have already stated that these things have

to be considered in the total configuration, and that assign-

ment of teachers to any one school in the system is no indica-

tion of the pattern.

BY MR. LUCAS:

. Dr. Foster, I think we have covered your criteria.

A. As a matter of fact, we have not.

Q. I was looking for my list of criteria.

THE COURT: I do trust, Dr. Foster, that these are now

different criteria that we have not covered.

THE WITNESS: Yes, and I think there is one left.

THE COURT: I would be most interested in hearing from

the witness.
THE WITNESS: And some of these really fit in more than

one example. TIQy are overlapping so that it is simply a matter

of judgment as to assigning them to one classification, but in

the problem of great organization, I chose to put the estab-

lishment of the middle schools in 1971, and simply point out

that these five middle schools which were established marked

again a fine opportunity for the school system to illustrate that

they were all for desegregated systems because one of the 1

op
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THE WITNESS: All right. My conclusion is that the
establishment of the middle schools in 1971 resulted in the
establishment of four out of five schools that were clearly
racially identifiable, therefore, increasing or maintaining seg-
regation as opposed to availing the opportunity of decreasing
it.

Q. Which were the four of five that you considered
racially identifiable?

A. Cornell Heights, MacFarlane, Whittier, and Orville
Wright.

Q. Now, Dr. Foster, in your review of these criteria and
as you have testified, they are inter-related and somewhat
interdependent. Do you have some general conclusions from
your examination of these criteria?

A. Well, in the interest of brevity, I think I could sum-
marize each one of them with a sentence or two, but I will
forego that arrangement and simply say that taken individually
or in isolation, any of these criteria or different components of
any of these criteria might suggest otherwise, but basically I
think the examples and illustrations I have given and not
summarized illustrate that the results of the Board in the
last 20 years, mainly the period in which we have been
reviewing in Dayton, the results have been to either increase
segregation or maintain it when taking all of these things in
a total pattern or configuration. In some cases, I think it was
very clearly indicated, and I hesitate to use the word purpose-
ful, but I think a better word that would describe my feeling
about Board action in these matters is predictable, and I
realize in saying that that hindsight is always better than
foresight and much easier, but I think from going over the
data and analyzing it, it is pretty clear in many cases the
Board was aware of what was likely to happen, and I think
the results as I have attempted to analyze them and display
them have indicated what did happen.

Q. Dr. Foster, without going into any great detail, the
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pattern of school construction, wasn't particularly one which

ou took into account in coming to your general conclusion?

A. Very definitely, particularly the decisions involved

the west side arrangements in 1953 and the building additions.

[R. I. 1548, Vol. 16) A. Yes, I found in checking against

this there were in building additions - I had stated there were

62 school additions to the present. Actually, there were 33 for

a total of 95 additions since 1950. Eighteen of these 33 addi-

tional ones were made to schools which at that tim ere 90

percent or more black or white. This means out of the total

of 95 additions, there were 78 additions made to schools 90

I percent or more black or whiie. Seven of these additional 33
building additions were not made to this type of school.

That's seven more than the 18 of 33?

A. That's correct, making a grand total of 9

not made to schools 90 percent or more black or white when

they were added, and then 8 of these 33 additional I found

I could t decide what their racial composition was at opening

because of incomplete data. So, I classified those as uncertain.

Those included additions to Drexel in '54 and '56 and additions

to Greene in '57 andadditions to Highview in '54, two addi-

tions to Irving, one in '54 and one in '58, and an addition to

Jackson Elementary in '53, and an addition to Westwood in '60,

and I think there has been a good deal of testimony and some

exhibits about those schools as changing schools.

[R. I. 1554, Vol. 16] Q. In terms of desegregation, Doctor

Foster, in your experience with the field, does the dividing

line between black and white communities take on importance

} in the discussion of the neighborhood school?

dAs Well it takes on importance for everything, not just a

discussion of the neighborhood school, but the whole facet of

desegregation.
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Q.
hood,

A.

That would be a definable ethnic different neighbor-
would it not?
Yes.

[R. I. 1556-1563, Vol. 16]. Q. Well, there would be thepossibile exception of Webster, wouldn't there, which is along, odd-shaped attendance zone?
Maybe I better point it out to you.
We have kind of got the name hidden by the Scotch tapehere, but looking at the big map, Webster is an odd-shaped

and elongated zone, isn't it?
A. Yes.
Q. But, of course -

A. But part of that is the golf course to the north, or what-
ever the flag represents.

Q. Right. As you can see from the map, the north end of
it, which was annexed to the city, is largely undeveloped, andthe Kitty Hawk Municipal Golf Course?

A. Correct.
Q. But in large part, with that exception, the various ele-

mentary school zones in the Dayton system are all compact
geographical areas where students wouldn't have to walk
more than a mile and a half or two miles to get to school,
isn't that true?

A. I would say generally so, yes. Certainly nothing likethe example I cited in Dade County of forty miles.
Q. No. There is no forty-mile neighborhood school in theDayton system, is there?
A. On the other hand, I think what I tried to point out,the common perception of a neighborhood school is that aschool is situated in a geographical center of an attendance

area with all the boundaries equi-distanct as though it were
in the center of a circle or center of a square, and very often,
as I said, this just isn't true.

Q. Now, the next element that you just gave us in yourdefinition of the perception of the neighborhood school concept
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was a situation of the students being assigned to the nearest

school, isn't that right?

A. That's correct. .

Q. And that is true of the Dayton situation, is it not

A. Not completely, no, sir.

Q. You are thinking of the Shawan Acres and the Veterans

Administration system?
A. No. I think youu misunderstood my point on that. All
A asNgs that if the school is in fact located somewhere

I am saying iariuaatednezethen there

near the border of its particular attendance zone,

will be children in the adjacent or contiguous attn so-called

which will be closer to it probably than a school,
neigborhod choo towhich they are assigned.

eb Well, let's keep it to the elementary schools in the

Dayton system.
All of them are, with, again, the possible exception of

Wbster, whih i a ped zone, are all roughly in

the center part of their attendance zones, are they not

A. I think there would probably be some exceptions.

. Well, are there any exceptions? I
A If you would like me togo

soWel, do you know f any without going to the map? i

A. Well, I can see a little better. I haven't listed any, if

that's what you mean, no, sir.

i A. Well, I can do it from here, if you wt.

ce~§~unle, in Shoup Mill, which is a little to the north

ra the Shoup Mill attendance area, there are, according

t perception of the map and the streets and so forth from

nowhere I sit, people inhe south part of Shiloh attendance area

who arecloser pto Shoup Mill than they would be to Shiloh.

This is the sort of thing to which I am referring. r

By Mr. Greer:
Okay And in vour acquaintanceship with the City 3

of IDayton, are you familiar with any o tsetraffic patterns r

or problems of accesses to any of these schools?
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A. Some of them, yes.
Q. All right. Let's move into what you define as the thirdelement of the common perception to neighborhood schools,and that would be that they are by and large walk-in schoolsso that a student doesn't have to avail himself of transportationto get there, isn't that right?

A. That's correct.
Q. And again that aspect of the definition would applyin large part to the Dayton system, wouldn't it?
A. I am not sure I understand your last question.Q. The location of the schools in the Dayton System is suchthat they are largely walk-in schools for the students attendingthem; isn't that true? g
A. I think at the elementary level that is generally true,yes, sir.
THE COURT: Dr. Foster, may I ask a questionIf there is no thought of having neighborhood schools oranything similar to it, why would you have more elementaryschools than high schools?

THE WITNESS: Well, one answer to that, I think YourHonor, would be a problem of attrition.
THE COURT: That much attrition?
THE WITNESS And size of schools, generally.THE COURT: The attrition can't be that great. It couldn'tbegin until at least the third year of high school, perhaps themiddle of the second year.
THE WITNESS: You have two factors. One is attrition,

and especially in cities you have a fairly large attrition rate
starting at the 9th and 10th grade, very heavy in some cities in
the 10th grade, when they come of age, but also the factor ofwhat is considered to be an optimal size for the different gradeclassification schools, and there is a pretty b

nb bs alrett consistent beliefnow by building people that in order to have a good highschool, you have to have it a considerable size, say 2,000 to3,000 pupils whereas elementary schools, the optimal sizeroughly would be 800 students. So in order to make up that
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difference, you would have to have considering no attrition

three elementary schools to cover one high school.

THE COURT: You are suggesting that no consideration at

all would be given to the convenience of an elementary school

in terms of this?

THE WITNESS: Oh, no, I am not suggesting that, because

I think it is.

THE COURT: Then, isn't that an aspect of neighborhood

school? Now, it may be that neighborhood is a bad term.

It may have sociological problems, but isn't it true that school

boards generally think of an elementary school as being close:,

than a high school geographically to a student's residence?

THE WITNESS: Yes, I would say so.

THE COURT: You may proceed, Mr. Greer.

Q. To continue with the walk-in aspect of your definition,

I think we have covered the elementary schools as being

essentially in the Dayton System walk-in elementary schools; {

is that correct?
A. I believe so, yes.

Q. When you get to the high school level, of course there

are fewer schools and therefore, larger attendance areas; isn't

that true?

A. That's correct.

Q. But by and large, the high schools in the Dayton System

are also walk-in schools with the possible exception of Stivers

and Patterson Co-op; isn't that so?

A. I would believe so although I can't remember the exact

figures for '71-72 for example, and I haven't seen them for

'72-73. 
7

Q. And of course, Patterson Co-op is a school that has city-

wide attendance because it is a vocational school?

A. That's correct.
Q. And while Stivers' boundaries since 1969 have involved

a larger distance in that they have gone across the river and

V taken in Irving and Whittier Elementary areas, those areas I
are accessible from Stivers since Stivers is located right on

4.. I:
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Fifth Street and Fifth Street is one of the streets that crosses
the river and has a public transportation line; isn't that so?

A. I think so, yes.
Q. Now, I didn't really understand what I jotted down as

the fourth aspect of your definition of the common perception
of neighborhood schools, and that was that they represented a
sociological neighborhood. What is a sociological neighbor-
hood?

A. Well, I think the common perception is that schools still
in fact, represent the classic description of what we would call
a neighborhood, a group of people of like interests and who
all go to not the same church but neighborhood churches
together and go to a neighborhood shopping center, and who
have neighborhood recreation and so forth.

Q. If we take what is possibly a very naive definition of a
neighborhood to be simply people living in the same geogra-
phical area, that definition of a neighborhood would apply to
any of the schools, wouldn't it?

A. Pretty much, and I think that has already been talked
about in the testimony, yes.

[R. I. 1590-1591, Vol. 16] Q. The one thing that the maps
clearly show us in the Dayton situation is that there has been
very little change in the attendance zones over the past 20
years, isn't that right?

A. I believe I agreed with that, yes, sir.
Q. All of the school attendance boundary lines have re-

mained relatively stable for the past 20 years?
A. That's correct.
Q. And I think you have also indicated that that is

especially true when you compare the Dayton situation to
many other systems, such as Detroit, where you have made
observations?

A. I think I made that reference, yes.
Q And that is true, isn't it?
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A. I would say so as a generalization, yes, sir.

Q. Another thing that just a glance at the map makes very

clear in this case is that the optional attendance zones are

all located approximately equidistant from the two schools

that are affected by them, isn't that right?

A. You are saying equidistant from the site population of

each of the options that can be selected to the total optional

zone?
Q. That's right. In other words, they are in the middle

area between the two schools that are involved?

A. Well, they have to be in the middle area between the

two schools, but that is one thing; to say that and something

else, that they are equidistant from the two sites.

Q. Now, I'm lost.
A. Well, I understand your original question to say do I

agree that the optional zones in Dayton are equidistant to the

schools which they serve, and by that I understood you to

mean the school building sites and not the total attendance

areas. If you are talking about the attendance areas, I would

agree, yes, sir.

[R. I. 1592-1593, Vol. 16) Q. To get back to attendance

boundaries, Dr. Foster, there is one instance, is there not, where

the Dayton School Board did manipulate a boundary all the

way through the downtown area and across the Great Miami

River into a relatively distant part of town? I am referring

there to the change in the Stivers boundary in 1969.

A. Yes. It is still contiguous to the Stivers zone, though.

. That's right. It doesn't jump over any other interme-

diate zones, does it?

A. No.
Q. But it does go from Stivers which is on East Fifth Street

all the way through downtown Dayton and across the river

and into the Irving and Whittier elementary zones on the other

side of the river?
A. That's correct.1 j
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Q. But the effect of that boundary change was to bring
more black students into what had been a predominantly white
high school, wasn't it?

A. I believe it would, yes, if the students that were in the
zones in fact wound up at Stivers, and I know no reason why
they wouldn't.

Q. Have you made any independent check as to that
boundary change?

A. I am aware of it, yes.
Q. That occurred in 1969, did it not?
A. I don't have the date, but the indication from my figures

is that Stivers has increased in 1970 from 10.8 percent black
to 12.3 percent black in 1971 and 14.0 in 1972.

Q. Now, in your testimony last Wednesday, you discussed
with us three cases where schools were open involving chang-
ing zones: The Highview situation, the Gardendale situation,
and the Roth situation.

A. Yes.
Q. Let's start with Roth. That high school opened in 1959

with a 25 percent black student population, didn't it?
A. Pardon me just a second. It opened in 1959 with

what, sir.
Q. A 25 percent black student population.
A. I don't have that figure in my notes about what its

opening percentage was.

[R. I. 1597-1599, Vol. 16] Q. The school board in 1959
when it built Roth could also have tried to structure the Roth
attendance zone in such a manner as to exclude black areas
from Roth, could it not?

A. Presumably, yes.
Q. And instead when it drew the attendance zone for Roth,

it included a large part of areas that are shown on the 1960
map as having a population density of 25 to 49.9 percent
black and some area that is shown on the census map as being
50 to 84.9 percent black; isn't that right?

mm
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As represented by the blue and orange; right?

That's right.
That is correct. 0 * *

Q. So that regardless of the effect that the setting up of

the attendance boundaries may have had on Roosevelt, the

setting up of thr attendance boundaries at least assured that

Roth High School when it opened would be a school with a

mixed black and white population; isn't that true?

A. Well, I think I testified that according to the way I

saw the map, Roth took all the area out of Roosevelt that

had whites in it, and I think what you just said is true that it

would be a mixed population.

Q. Can you go up to the board and suggest any kind

a boundary for Roth High School in 1958 that wouldn't have

taken the white areas that are shown on the census map? It

would be a wild looking bounadry, wouldn't it?

A. Not any wilder than many I have seen. You would

simply have to run a dog leg to the went out of Roosevelt.

Q. So, kind of throw a dog leg over into the west boundary

of the school system?

A. Into the blue and white area, yes. I think this is

considered perfectly legitimate in school districting.

Although there aren t any dog legs in the Dayton system,

are there, with the possible exception of Stivers boundary

change?
A. Well, I think the Stivers one is fairly compact, but

because of the size of high school attendance areas necessarily,

you do tend to get some peculiar configurations.

Despite the apparent structuring of the Roth attendance

zone to make it an integrated high school, movement of resi-

dential population after 1959 have turned Roth like Roosevelt

into a predominantly black school; isn't that correct?

A. Well, I would agree with the second part of your state-

ment but not the first part.

312
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[R. . 1602-1615, Vol. 161 Q. By the same token, I sup-pose if we are looking back in history, it would be possible forus five or ten years from now to say that it is predictable thatthe location of Fairview High School made it inevitable thatthat school ultimately would become all black; is that right?A. Well, Fairview High School was located sometime ago.Q. But five years after Roth was located, there was still amix of approximately 50 percent and 50 percent in the schoolwasn't there?
A. Yes, but Fairview was constructed I believe, in 1930which is quite a different situation than construction of Rothin 1959.-
Q. Now, another school which you mentioned as involvingchanged zones when it was opened was the Gardendale Schoolwhich was opened in 1957; is that right?
A. That's correct.
Q. In 1963 which is the first year for which we have infor-mation concerning that school, it was 7.8 percent black?
A. Correct.

Q. Now you testified, as I recall, that by looking at themaps, and let's point out the Gardendale School that we aretalking about. You testified that from looking at the mapsthat by changing its attendance zone it could have been
opened with more black students.

A. Right.
Q. If that had happened, wouldn't you be here today sayingexactly what you have just said about the Roth situation, thatthat made it predictable that Gardendale would turn all black?

A. You are asking if upon opening Gardendale had beendesegregated to a greater extent?
Ro Let's say 25 percent to make it comparable to theRoth situation.
A. That this would have assured today it would be allack; is that what you are asking?Q. That then the Board of Education would have been

U,
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doing something improper there because it would be predict-

able that if you opened up 25 percent black it is going to

turn all black.
A. Well, I don't think I was tying my prediction to pre-

cisely the amount at which it opened, but ir the Gardendale

case, it is now in 1972, 7.9 percent black but as I see the

opening of Gardendale in 1957, this again in the same token,

I think, as I tried to explain Roth, Gardendale is sort of a

holding position for a school that is less black than the sur-

rounding schools. I am not sure apparently that you get my

point.
poTHE COURT: I didn't, Dr. Foster. I don't think you

responded to Mr. Greer's question, because this ties in with

what I referred to in your last day of testimony as the horns

' of a dilemma.
If I understand your testimony in general correctly, there

is nothing that a school board can do that isn't going to have a

segregative effect unless it is to transport children?

THE WITNESS: Well, I don't believe that was quite my

testimony. I think that ultimately you have to face the

problem of transportation in a city such as Dayton, and to

stabilize whatever effect school patterns have on residential

movement, and I think they certainly have considerable. The f
Y two are tied in very closely together to stabilize this, and then

ultimately you do have to involve transportation, and I think

this choice was open to the Board at all these times that we

are talking about.

THE COURT: Dr. Foster, if the school board opens a

school that is totally white, it is perceived as a white school. If

it opens a school that is partially white and partially black,

and then as time goes on becomes more black, then they have

opened a school that is in a holding pattern. So there really

is no solution from your testimony as to what a school board

can do. No matter what it is, there will be a position to take

that it is a segregative situation, and this disturbs me.

THE WITNESS: Well, what I have tried to explain, and

I have apparently been unsuccessful at it, is that I think that
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the Dayton Board, as the black population grew from the
center city and expanded, has in fact set up a sort of retreating
situation where whites could have optional zones and earlier
transfers and be in not white schools but in whiter schools
than they would be if they went to the school to which they
were originally assigned, and I think this is a fairly traditional
pattern of Board action.
By Mr. Greer:

Q. Now, Dr. Foster, if what you said were true, wouldn't
you expect to find many changes in boundaries as the popula-
tion moved? And you don't find that in Dayton, do you?

A. Well, I think I explained that Dayton did not use that
technique, but rather used the techniques of optional zoned
and school building additions, which had the same effect, in
my opinion, as changing boundaries. It is jrst a different way
at getting at the same result.

THE COURT: Excuse me one moment, Mr. Greer.
Supposing instead of building Roth they had added to Roose-

velt. That would have locked in the student population at
Roosevelt, wouldn't it?

THE WITNESS: You mean the black student population
surrounding Roosevelt?

THE COURT: Yes. They would be locked in, wouldn't
they?

THE WITNESS: Yes. It would have created more ca-
pacity, yes.

THE COURT: That's a segregative technique, is it not?
THE WITNESS: In many cases it is, yes.-
THE COURT: You may proceed, Mr. Greer.
Q. At any rate, Gardendale did have some percentage of

black students in earlier years, didn't they?
A. That's correct.
Q. But not a large enough percentage that in your opinion

it would become inevitable that Gardendale would become
predominantly black as it apparently has?

A. I'm not sure of your question, but I'll say yes.
Q. All right. As I understood your testimony the other
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day, your complaint about the Gardendale, if I could term it

a complaint, and I probably shouldn't, was that it could have

been opened with more black students in it?

A. That's correct.

Q. Now, you are, of course, aware, are you not, of the

development of the Townview area in Dayton in the 1950's

and the proposed annexation of this area to the city?

A. As a matter of fact, I am not, in any great detail.

Q. Are you aware of it in any detail?

A. Not enough to discuss it intelligently, no, sir.

Q. The Townview area was this area over here adjacent to

where the Gardendale School was located, isn't that right?

A. If you say so, yes, sir.

Q. Well, if you accept everything I say as right, Dr. Fos-

ter, there is no need in having you here.

Now, do you know anything about it?

A. I said that I didn't know enough to discuss the situation.

Q. All right. And you don't have any idea of what the

potential student population, at least in the minds of the school

board and the administration, in this Gardendale area was

when it was located, do you?
A. Could I stop just a second and look up something?

Q. Sure.
A. No, I don't. I would make the comment that I was

curious about Gardendale in this connection because I don't

think it has ever reached its full enrollment potential, and I

wondered exactly why that was.

Q. The annexation of the Townview area has never taken

place in fact, has it?

A. (Witness shaking head negatively.)

Q. You are aware, of course, that when Gardendale was

built, it was built at least in large part to house the program

for the mentally retarded for which the school board was

responsible at that time?

A. am aware of that, yes, sir.

Q. And the mentally retarded program continued in that

location until shortly before 1970, didn't it?
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A. I'm not sure of the exact date, but I believe that's close
yes, sir.

Q. Now, if we look at the Gardendale attendance zone,
Gardendale School is located right on the west side of Gettys-
burg Avenue, isn't it?

A. I believe so.
THE COURT: Mr. Greer, I would like some more intor-

mation about which you have just asked.
If Gardendale was used for mentally retarded, then almost

by definition it wasn't an attendance zone school, was it?
MR. GREER: Not in that respect. Part of its classrooms

were for the attendance zone here, but it also housed the
mentally retarded program.

THE COURT: Do I understand that the figures that have
been given, though, are for the total school or for just that
portion that was the ordinary school?

MR. GREER: I believe they are for the total school.
Is that correct?
THE COURT Mr. Lucas, can you help the Court on this?
MR. LUCAS: It is my understanding that one wing of the

Gardendale School was leased for the mentally retarded chil-
dren and that the figures that we have deal with the regular
school.

THE COURT: Only.
MR. LUCAS: Only, yes, sir.
THE COURT: Thank you.
MR. GREER: Mr. Kirk has just corrected me on that, and

that is true.
THE COURT: Thank you. You may proceed.
Q. If we look at the Gardendale attendance zone, we findthat Gettysburg Avenue runs right down the middle of it, does

it not?

A. Yes.
Q. And then Gettysburg Avenue also forms the eastboundary of Residence Park to the south and of Carlson to

the south of that, doesn't it?
A. Yes.
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Q. Back in the time when Gardendale School was erected,

Gettysburg Avenue was even then a heavily traveled thorough-

fare, wasn't it?

A. I believe that's correct, yes, sir.

Q. There were no trafBic lights on Gettysburg near the

Gardendale School, were there?

A. have no idea sir
Q And as far as the residential portion that is toward the H

Westwood School District and was optional at that time,

that was an area which had a good many problems of access

to Gardendale, wasn't it?

A. I wouldn't know.

Q. Have you ever been in that residential area?

A. Yes, but not in 1957, when it opened.

All right, there are still many cul-de-sacs in the area,

are there not?

A. I believe that's correct, yes, sir.

Q. And to get over to Gettysburg Avenue, you have to

walk through a lot of lots that are business and industry, don't
°d you?

A. Currently, you mean?

Q. If that's all you know about, I guess that's all you can

tell me about.
A. I would say that was true in the sixties, the early sixties

and the middle sixties.

Q There were many areas -

A. And as far as I know, it is still true, yes.

. There were many areas that didn't even have sidewalks

isn't that true?

Quite possible.

Q. Do you know when traffic lights for safety and when

sidewalks were put in on Gettysburg Avenue near the Garden

dale School?
A. No, I don't, but I know there were pretty few traffic

lights along Gettysburg in the early sixties, but specifically as

to Gardendale, I couldn't respond.
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Q. Now, part of the Westwood School District that wasdown in this cul-de-sac residential area was made optional toGardendale when Gardendale was opened, wasn't it?
A. I have that as one of my optional zones in 1957.
Q. All right. And to make our conversation with eachother a little easier for each of us and for the Court to follow,what I have put up here on the board is a base of Plaintiffs'Exhibit 46-D, which is the 1970 census map, and overlays ofthe elementary, 1957 zones, and optional zones, which is Plain-tiffs' Exhibit 47-A, and the elementary 1970 zones and optionalzones which is Plaintiffs' Exhibit 50.

Referring to that, why, we can look through the elementary
seventy area into the 1957 lines and see the optional zonethat we are referring to between Gardendale and Westwood,can we not?

A. I see it, yes.
Q. And that was a zone that was approximately equidistant

between the two school locations, wasn't it?
A. I would judge so, yes, sir.
Q. If at any time you would find it easier to come up andlook at the small map, why, Dr. Foster, feel free to do so.
A. Thank you. It appears to be from here, yes, sir.Q. All right. Now, it had formerly been part of the West-wood zone, hadn't it?
A. I believe so, yes.
Q. And the problem of access from that area to the Garden-dale area was the problem of Gettysburg and, the cul-de-sacand the industries that we have just discussed, wasn't it, atthat time?
A. I have no direct way of knowing that, but I assume thatcould have been a problem.
Q. All right. Then I think it was in 1970 that the optionalarea was removed and the boundary of Gardendale was ex-tended to take in the optional area plus some more of theWestwood area, isn't that right?
A. It appears to be from the two maps, yes, sir.Q. And are you aware that despite the 12 years of develop-
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ment of this area with lights and sidewalks and more resi-

dences, that when the optional area was removed and the

boundary extended there, it was still necessary to bus students

from that area in order to get them up to Gardendale school?

A. No, I was not aware of that.

Q. Were you aware that the extension of the Gardendale

attendance zone followed the transfer of the mentally re-

tarded that had formerly been housed at Gardendale?

A. I assume from the date that it would have, yes, sir.

[R. . 1627-1643, Vol. 16] Q. Then, let's go to the optional

zones where you spent a good deal of time on your testimony

last Wednesday. You would agree with me, would you not,

that even if you don't approve of optional zones as good ad-

ministrative practice that they are an extremely widespread

administrative device in school systems and that they often

exist for the most innocent and legitimate of reasons?

A. Well, no, I don't think I would agree with that com-

pletely. I think they are becoming much less widespread than

they were because in many cases they were used for segrega-

tion reasons. I think they are used for legitimate reasons, but I

I think again administratively except on a very temporary basis

they are bad news. 
[

Q. All right, but let's go back to the fifties and sixties.

They were very widespread, then, were they not?

A. In Dayton are you saying?

Q. No, throughout the country.

A. Most of the systems I have examined at that time -

not most, but quite a few of them had them, yes, the big city

systems especially.
Q And a good many of them grew up with the idea that

if there is no great administrative problem created, there is no

reason not to let people go to one of two schools if it is

equally close to go to either school; isn't that right?

A. That's a little complicated.
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Q. Let me try to break it down. I live on Block A and I
have got a school that is three blocks one way from me and
another school that is three blocks the other way from me.
So, as far as I am concerned, it is just as easy to go to one
school as the other, and the reason optional zones grew up in
educational systems at least in part is from the feeling that if it
creates no great administrative problem to the school system,
why not let Greer go to School A or School B.

A. I wouldn't agree with that.
Q. You wouldn't? In understanding optional zones, you

would agree, would you not, that you have to consider many of
the same safety and access factors that are involved in setting
fixed attendance zones?

A. Well, I won't argue with Dayton's rationale for creating
optional zones, but I think I stated this is the first case I
know of access being used as a basis for the creation of optional
zones. That's a new one on me, and I don't really see that
there is, you know, a need to create an optional zone in this
case. Why not assign the children one way or another and
draw your line and then change the boundaries later when the
proposed changes in the area come off. I think that would
remove the possibility of your being questioned or being
suspect in the creation of an optional zone especially if it has
racial possibilities.

Q. Nobody was questioning optional zones back in the
fifties when these were set up, were they, Dr. Foster?

A. Well, I don't know as a matter of fact.
Q. And the optional zones that appears in the Dayton

School System are scattered to the east and to the north as
well as in the west side of Dayton, aren't they?

A. I believe they are all over the system, yes.
Q. Now, in an optional area the option runs to all students

who are living in that area regardless of their race, doesn't
it?

A. It is supposed to, yes.
Q. And last Wednesday you didn't give us any testimony

concerning the optional zones, for example, between Wilbur

I.
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Wright and Stivers and Stivers and Belmont that have existed

in the Dayton School System. Do you find any significance

in those options?

A. I didn't mean for the 15I cited to be exclusive, but I

4 characterized those, I believe, as one that have a good deals

of variance in terms of composition between the two schools

forming the option.

Q.Can you check your figures for us and tell us what

the variance of racial composition was between Belmont and

Wilbur Wright?
A. At what time, sir? i

Q. At anytime.
A. In 1972, this year, my figures give 5.2 percentblack for

Belmont and 9.2 percent black for Wilbur Wright.

Q Take us back a few years, then, if you will.

A. In 1967, Wilbur Wright had 3.2 percent black and

Belmont .1 percent black.

Q. And, you will, go back another couple of years.

A. In 1963, for Belmont it was all white and Wilbur Wright

was 3.3 percent black.
Qa So, throughout the period that you have referred to,

- gh t -aiac between the student com-

there hasn't been any great valance

position of Wilbur Wright and Belmont, has there?

A. Racially, I would say no, that is right.
Q Do you know anything about why the optional zone

between Belmont and Wilbur Wright was created?

A. I don't believe I reviewed that, no, sir.

Q. All right. Stay in the east end of Dayton for a minute.

There is a green area that spans the Cleveland and some of

the Horace Mann elementary districts, is there not

SA. Yes. 
i

Q. And what does that indicate as far as racial composition

is concerned? bak
A. Something like five to 25 percent, I believe, lack

Q. And right adjacent to that green area on the map

there is an optional attendance zone, is there not?
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A. There is one to the west. Is that the one you are re-
ferring to?

Q. Yes, there is a large one to the west and a smaller one
which I guess just barely touches that over to the east.

A. That is correct.
Q. Have you made any studies of those optional zones

and their effect?
A. I don't believe those were on my list, no, sir.
Q. Did you prepare the list or was it prepared for you?
A. I went through the board minutes that I had records

of and picked out the ones that I thought had racial significance
as I think I stated earlier.

Q. All right.
A. The only other ones that were not included in Plain-

tiffs' Exhibit 123 giving the dates in the board minutes were
picked up by me on the maps. For example, elementary 57
has some which were not in the board minutes an a I checked
those out for racial differences.

Q. Do you find just from looking at the map ay signifi-
cance to the green area next to the optional area -in east
Dayton?

A. If I am not mistaken, that's the state hospital area.
Q. So, in fact, there aren't any black residents in that green

area, are there, to your knowledge?
A. I wouldn't assume so except for the population of the

hospital which I assume would not be on there.
Q. And the optional zone turns out to be a cemetery,

doesn't it?
A. I believe if my memory serves me right, that is correct.
Q. What about these other elementary optional zones?

There are four of them that now exist in east Dayton, aren't
there?

A. Counting the two we just discussed, that is correct.
Q. And then there is one that now exists in north Dayton;

isn't that right?
A. If you are referring to the Belle Haven-Fort McKinley

zone, that is correct.

I.
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Q. And now there are only three elementary optional zones

that exist in west Dayton, isn't that right? The Jackson-West-

wood option nd the two between Residence P'ark and Jane

Addams?
A. I believe that is correct.

Q. In fact, the establishment of the middle schools in

1971 is the factor that contributed to the cleaning out of most

of these optional zones, isn't it?

A. I am not certain, but it is obvious they have decreased.

THE COURT: Mr. Greer, may the Court accept that there

are only eight elementary school optional zones at this time?

MR. GREER: I think that is correct, is it not, Mr. Curk?

MR. CURK: I believe that is correct.

THE COURT: Thank you.

Q. And by the same token, there are four high school

optional zones, are there not?

A. I believe that is accurate.

There were a couple other high school option zones on

the east end involving Stivers, Wilbur Wright and Belmont

that were cleaned out when the Stivers boundary changes were

effected in 1969, isn't that so? 
f

A. I believe so.
Q. Now, you have identified and discussed three high

school optional areas. The first one that you mentioned was a

small area that was created between Roth and Fairview in

1965; isn't that right?
A T hat's what I have on my notes, yes, sir.

to all the information that is available,

there were no students that went to any schools in that optional

area between 1965 and 1971; isn't that so?

A Well, I think I testified that I understood it was a very

I; small number and something less than five students, I don't

have the date for that.
hQv If I could refer you to Defendants' Exhibit CL.

Am I not correct that according to this information

threhaebeen a total of three students attendingeihro
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these schools from this optional area and that all three of
those students have been in the last two years?

A. That is correct, I believe.
Q. And that there were no students attending either high

school from the optional area between 1965 and 1971?
A. According to the exhibit, that is correct, yes.
Q. Now, let's then move to the Colonel White-Kiser

optional area. I think you told us on direct examination that
in the four school years from 1967 through 1971, 102 white
students from that area went to Kiser and 27 white students
from that area went to Colonel White.

A. Those are the figures I had, yes, sir.
Q. And in the preceding five school years, from '62 to '67,

there were 26 white students going to Kiser and 58 white
students going to Colonel White?

A. That would seem logical, but my notes give '62 to '65,
and I'm not sure what it is.

Q. You are missing a couple of years there?
A. Apparently. I may have made simply a mismark.Q. All right. This optional area was created in 1962,was it not?
A. I believe so, yes.
Q. And all of the students in the area appear to have been

white students, were they not?
A. I believe so.
Q. Colonel White appears to have been the school of

choice of these students if we look at the figures as to whowent where, at least up until the last four years?
A. I believe so, right.
Q. Then you gave us on your direct examination the stu-

dent composition figures between Kiser and Colonel Whitefor '67 to '72.
As of 1962, when this optional zone was created, bothschools were predominantly white schools, weren't they?
A. Yes, that is correct.
Q. What were the percentages?
A. I have figures for 1963.
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Q That would be the year after the option was created?

A. Yes. Colonel White is 1.1 percent black, and Kiser is

2.7 percent black.

THE COURT: 2.7?

THE WITNESS: Yes.

Q Then if we would jump five years after the creation of

this option, up to the school year of '67-68, what would the

student composition of the two schools involve?

A. My notes say that Colonel White was 8.4 percent black

and Kiser 0.9 percent black.

Q All right. Let's then move between the two options

we've just discussed to the Colonel White-Roosevelt option.

As I understand it from your testimony, part of that option

was created in 1951, and the rest of it came in 1957 or 1958?

A. Those are the dates I have, yes, sir.

Both of those dates are, of course, a number of years

before the creation of the Colonel White-Kiser option, isn't

that right?
A. That would be correct.

Q. Am I correct also that in 1951-52 Roosevelt High

School was only 31.5 percent black in student composition?

A. Those are my figures, yes.

Q. Now, if we look at this optional area on the map, you

S would. agree with me, would you not, that the area north

of Wolfe Creek has better access to Colonel White High

School than to Roosevelt?
A. I understand from depositions and testimony that this

really didn't make much difference in terms of mobility from

students in that area, that they managed over the years to

get back and forth with considerable ease, or at least they [
have managed.

I don't know what problems they got into, but at least there

was a considerable flow across Wolf Creek. I would agree

that simply looking at the map would indicate that is not

any closer to Colonel White, but because of Wolfe Creek, and

I guess the Tire and Rubber Company that is in the area, pre- I:
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sumably it would be easier physically somehow to get toColonel White.
Q. All right. Wolfe Creek, of course, runs along the south-

ern boundary of the ultimate optional area, doesn't it?
A. That's correct.
Q. And the side branch of the Baltimore and Ohio Railroad

cuts through West Dayton and then comes across Wolfe Creek
and goes out to the west along the southern bank there, doesn't
it?

A. I believe it does, yes.
Q. I'm sorry. Along the northern bank.
And also in that area, along the Wolf Creek is the Dayton

Tire & Rubber Company, which has grown and expanded with
the passage of years during the period we are discussing?

A. I believe that's correct.
Q. Now, originally this optional area was part of the Roose-

velt attendance zone, was it not?
A. I believe so.
Q. And at that time Colonel White was only a two-year

school which fed into Fairview High School, which was a con-
siderably greater distance from the optional area than Roose-
velt High School?

A. That's correct.
Q. Now, in 1951 the first part of this optional area was

created, isn't that correct?
A. That is my understanding, yes.
Q. And that part of the option was the northern part,which is bounded on the east by Salem Avenue, down toSuperior, and then over across Superior to Rosedale, and then

down to Wolfe Creek, wasn't it?
A. I believe that's accurate, yes.
Q. Do you know why it came down to Wolfe Creek onthe west?
A. I don't recall reading anything about the reason.
Q. Well, are you aware of the fact that the Super PackingCompany's Stockyards were located on the south side of WolfeCreek at the western end of this optional area?
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A. I don't believe I ever have seen reference to that, no,

sir.
Qi Have you made any attempt to investigate why these I

optional areas in the Dayton System were created aside from

looking at the maps and the exhibits?

A. Considerable, yes.

Q" All right. Then you are, of course, aware that as far

as the northeast part of this optional area created in 1951,

the City Transit Company had public transportation on Salem

Avenue which would get them up to Fairview High School,

aren't you? '

A. That seems reasonable, yes.

Q. And you are also aware that on the west side, which is

where the optional area went down to Wolf Creek, by 1951

the City Transit Company had a gasoline bus that went up

Philadelphia Avenue and could get the students to Fairview

after they completed Colonel White?

A. I don't believe I saw reference to that, but it is cer-

tainly feasible. 
1

t. All right. And those are the kinds of things that you

would take into consideration on this optional area, aren't they?

A. You mean in establishing it?

Q. Yes.
A. Could be, yes.

[R. I. 1642-1643, Vol. 16] Q. And then the change that

came in the optional area came about at a time that Colonel

White changed to a four-year high school, so that it was no

longer necessary for the students to matriculate from Colonel

White up to Fairview?
A. That's correct.

Q. And the only change that was effective at that time was

to carry the rest of the option down to the natural boundary

of Wolfe Creek, and the change really only involved a couple

of city squares, didn't it?

A. In terms of actual residential area, you mean?

,x t
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Q. Yes.

A. I believe that is reasonably accurate, yes.
Q. All right. Now, at the time these few squares wereadded to the optional area so that all of the students in thatarea could go either to Colonel White or to Roosevelt HighSchool, the population of the optional area was predominantlywhite, although there were some blacks living there, isn't thattrue?

A. I believe that's correct, yes.
Q. The optional area itself hasn't changed at all, has itinsofar as its boundaries are :merned, in the fifteen yearsthat have passed since 1957?
A. I don't believe so, no.
Q. The population of the optional area, however, has be.come predominantly black, isn't that true?
A. I would judge so, yes.
Q. And if the school board had wanted to use this optionalarea as a device for keeping blacks out of Colonel White HighSchool, it could easily have transferred the entire area backto Roosevelt with hard boundaries once the populationchanged, couldn't it?

A. Well, I think under the freedom of enrollment businessthey would have been able to go in anyway if there sad be
capacity in Colonel White.

Q. Freedom of enrollment didn't come in until 1969, didit?,di
A. That's right.
Q. The effect of this optional area has been to bring moreblack students to Colonel White High School, has it not?A. Only in the past three or four years has that had anyeffect.y
Q. Since 1968?
A. That's my understanding, yes, sir, my figures.I don't have figures between '63 and '68.

i -
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[R. I. 1645-1659, Vol. 16] Q. All right. And the first years

for which we have figures after 1951 is '63-'64 with respect

I to these two schools, isn't it?

A. I believe so, yes.

Q. What were the student compositions of Jackson and

Residence Park in 1963 and 1964?

s A. Residence Park was 80 percent black in '63, and Jackson

was 98.5 percent black.

Q. Thus these thirty some students from the VA over this

period of years, or at least those who were there in '63 and

'64, were attending a predominantly black school, weren't they?

P, A. Yes, I think so.

Q. Now, you also mentioned on Wednesday the two op-

tional areas between Residence Park and Jane Addams, did

P you not?
A. That's correct.

Q. And those two optional area still exist today, do they

not?
A, Yes, I believe so. j

The reason for those options is a specific problem of

4 difficult access, isn't it, or do you know?

A. I don't believe I have any indication of exactly why

they were established.

Q. Have you made any investigation to find out for your-

self why they were established?
A. The same sort of investigation I have told you already.

Q. Through the exhibits?
A. Yes.
Q. The interesting thing that you found in going through

,< the exhibits on these two optional zones was that the shift

of populations between the two school attendance zones had

i changed the compositions of the schools while the option had

remained the same, is that right?

A. I think what you are saying is accurate, as I understand

it. In '51 Residence Park was all white, Addams was 29.3

percent black, and then in the second option, which was

established in 1960, Adams was 41.6 percent black while Resi-

7'M
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dence Park was 80 percent black.
Q. All right. So that this is a situation where the optional

zones have remained the same for ten to twenty years and
they represent now a choice between two predominantly black
schools, is that correct?

A. They didn't in 1963.
Let's say they didn't in '60, when the second option was

established, because at that point there was a considerable
difference in racial composition between Addams and Resi-
dence Park.

Q. Well, at one point in time one school was blacker than
the other and at another point the other school was blacker
than the other, isn't that true?

A. Which is precisely why the optional zones may have
been set up.

Q. When you say may have been set up, you have abso-
lutely nothing factual to support that kind of a comment, do
you, Dr. Foster?

A. We have no data of the pupil movement between those
two optional zones, that's correct.

Q. Nor do you know the population in those two optional
zones?

A. Only what we can judge from looking at the census
underlays.

Q. Nor have you made any effort to find out what it takes
for a person living in either of those optional zones to
physically get their body to Jane Addams Elementary School
or to Residence Park Elementary School?

A. I think I testified earlier that I see no reason why an
optional zone has to be set up because of this criterion, that
if there is difficulty in a person having excess to a particular
school, then why not draw the fixed line so that he can have
access to the school that is more convenient, as the law says.

Q. Now, another one that you testified about on Wednes-
day was the Edison-Jefferson option, which is again one of
these Wolfe Creek options in the same area as the Colonel
White-Roosevelt, isn't it? Isn't Edison-Jefferson up here?
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V A. Yes.

Q All right. So without going through all of those facts

again, is it not true that by 1967 Jefferson was 50.5 percent

black and Edison 95.9 percent black?

A. Which year was that, sir?
Q. 1967..
A. All right. But I think I included that in the group of

options that were established at the same time as the west

side movement all took place and included that in my analysis

of that total area.

Q. By 1969 Jefferson was up to 80.3 percent black, wasn't

it?

y A. By 1969?
Vi Q. Yes.
A A. That's correct.

Q. Do you have any data on the students living in that

{ optional area at any given time?

A. I don't believe we do, no, sir.

Q. Then you mentioned -

A. You mean in terms of movement from one school to

the other?
Q. Right.
A. No, I don't believe we do.

Q. Then you mentioned the Emerson-Irving option, which

was set up, was it not, in 1965 when the old Central High

School was closed?
Here we have Emerson and to the west Irving.

A. I believe that's accurate.

Q. And the Central School District at the time it closed,

at least in this part of it, contained almost no students, did it?

A. I don't know the exact figure, but I think it was a

very minor number.
Q. In fact, this optional area was cleaned out by the

Interchange at Route 35 and by the Interstate and by the

taking for the rest of the land for the building of Sinclair

College in that period of time?

A. That's to the best of my knowledge, yes.
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Q. So at that time that was created, there were almostno students there, and at the present time there are nofamilies living there, isn't that right?
A. I would believe so.
Q. Now, let's go to another one of these optional areas thatyou found significant.
A. Not necessarily.
Q. Belle Haven and Fort McKinley was an optional areathat you listed in your testimony last Wednesday.
As I understood your testimony, you indicated that that wasestablished in 1972?
A. That's the note I have on my sheet, yes.Q. Where did you get that information?
A. Well, I don't have the source, but where I don't listin my other ones the source is PX- Plaintiffs' Exhibit 123 ofthe Board minutes.
Q. This is the optional area you are referring to, are younot, up in the corner of Fort McKinley, between Fort Mc-Kinley and Belle Haven School?
A. I beg your pardon a second.
I did state earlier, I think, on two occasions that I eithergot these from PX-123 Board minutes or from the maps them-selves, and it may have been that I got this simply from amap in my analysis and found a disparity in the racial compo-sition of the two attendance zones.
I'm not certain franldy from which source I got it.Q. All right. Well, if you got it from the maps, and welook at the 1965 elementary school. maps that were drawnby the Plaintiffs for this case, I don't know if you can see it

om there, but it shows the same optional zone, doesn't itin 1965? Pos' t
A. I believe so. That's correct.
Q. And in fact that optional zone was set up when BelleHaven School was built back in 1954 and 1955, wasn't it?A. Well, apparently what I have is inaccurate, so if youthat, I would assume that's correct.
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The Belle Haven School was built in1954, wasn't it?

A. That's my information, yes, sir.

Q. All right. So I have flipped up this map that we have

on the board to look at the elementary '57 zone, and it shows

the same optional area, does it not?

oQ. Have you made any study of the access r tunts

~Ufrom that area, between Belle Haven and Fort McKinley

Schools?
A. Not specifically, no, sir.

. Neither of those schools had any black students in them

for 1967, did they?
A. It's entirely possible that that is accurate.

Q. Well, check me out on it.

A. I will.
Before what date did you say?

Q. 1967.
A. Belle Haven in 1967 is listed at 0.3 percent black, so

that sounds reasonable. And Fort McKinley in 1967 is still

s no black.
Q. All right. Now that leaves me with only three optional

areas from your testimony of last Wednesday, and that's the

three optional areas that were created in the early fifties in

connection with the shrinking of the Garfield, Willard, Woga-

man boundaries; isn't that right?

A. I am not sure I know what you mean when you say that

leaves you with only three.
Q. ell, Itn to touch upon each of the optional

zones that you covered in your testimony with us last Wednes-

day, but I want to make sure that I don't miss any.

A. Well, I haven't been checking them off as you went

r f along, so your accuracy would be moreso than on mine

on that.
Q Well, I think I am left with just three. Before I turn f

to them, though, let me spend a couple of minutes with you

on the closing of Willard and Garfield that took place m

1962. Now, with the closing of Willard and Garfield, the.,I
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students were reassigned in large part to MacFarlane whichhad been the old Dunbar High School which was just twoblocks west of Garfield School and just four blocks north of
Willard School; isn't that right?

A. I believe that's accurate, yes.
Sch-Ql Now, some students were assigned to Miami ChapelSchool which bordered the district on the south and some
were assigned to Irving School District which bordered theold district on the east; isn't that true?

A. I believe that is correct.
Q. No problems of access for those children for any ofthose schools; isn't that right?
A. I wouldn't know specifically about that, but if yousay so.
Q. All right. That's what I do say if you are willing toaccept it.
Now, you indicated in your testimony that the Board couldhave reassigned these students to Patterson, Hawthorne, orLongfellow School, and then you made a few corrections ofthe distance factors in your testimony this morning.
A. That's correct. I think I said those would be illustrativeof places where they could have assigned them.Q. All right. To get to the Longfellow School which islocated out on Salem Avenue, is it not?
A. Yes.
Q. The students would have to cross Third Street which

is a busy east-west thoroughfare, would they not?
A. These are black students and they have amazing ability

to get around, sir.
Q. All right. They would have to cross the Grace GreenDistrict, would they not, or the Edison District?
A. I believe the Edison District, not the Greene District.CrQ. Where are the bridges they would get across WolfeGreek?
A. I am not sure of your question. You mean they wouldhave to go at some point through the Greene area to get toLongfellow?



336

Q. Either through the Grace Greene area or through the

Edison area.
A. To get across the creek; is that what you are asking?

Q. Yes.
A. I believe that would be correct.

Q. And they would then have to cross Wolfe Creek and

half of the Longfellow District to get up to Longfellow School,

wouldn't they?
A. Yes.
Q" Longfellow School is now 64.1 percent black, isn't it?

A. In 1972?
Q. Yes.
A. 64.1.

Q. Now, Hawthorne was another school that you men-

tioned as a possibility. Again, like Longfellow, it is not

contiguous to the old school district, is it?

A. No, it isn't.

Q And in order to get to it, you would have to travel

the same path that you and I have just described and continue

on across Interstate 75 which I understand would represent

no problem to people of agility and go on up to Hawthorne

which is located in north Dayton?

A Well, that's true except I might suggest that as was

done in the other part of the west end business, you could

shift zone lines so that you move the southern zone lines up

and then the northern zone lines up and then you wouldn't

have necessarily a noncontiguous situation at that point.

Q. Well, you are referring to the Stivers change?

A. No. I am referring to the total west end situation.

All I am saying is that in order to assign these children to

Longfellow or Hawthorne, you don't necessarily have to

establish noncontiguous attendance areas where they would

be jumping over.
Q. You can run a dog-leg or something like that?

A. What you simply do is what was done in the west end

which is shift the southern and northern boundaries of the

schools we are talking about.
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Q. While we are on the subject of trying to get peoplefrom down here in what is the MacFarlane area up to Haw-
thorne and Longfellow, unlike the situation of going across
Fifth Street to get over to Stivers, there is no public trans-
portation between those two areas, is there?

A. I am not certain about that.

Q. And while we on the public transportation of Dayton,we talked a little bit about the gas bus on Philadelphia Drive
that went up Fairview and the electric bus on Salem Avenue
and, in fact, to get from the Colonel White optional areas
down to Roosevelt as opposed to walking, you would have
to take the Salem Avenue bus to downtown Dayton and trans-
fer onto the Third Street bus and then come back out west
across the river out Third Street to Roosevelt, wouldn't you,
in all these periods?

A. I am obviously not certain, but I believe I remember
reading something to that effect.

Q. All right. Now, the other school that you talked about
i connection with the closing of Garfield and Willard was
Patterson Elementary School which is over in the southeastern
part of the city, isn't it?

A. Generally, yes.
Q. Located on Wyoming Street?
A. Well, I am not certain, but if you say so.Q. All right.
A. I can step to the map and verify it if you like.Q. All right, if you would like to, fine.
A. Yes, that is correct.
Q. Now, in order to get over to that school from the area

that is under consideration, a school child would have to getacross the Miami River either up at Third Street or at another
crossing, go to downtown Dayton, transfer onto a southbound
bus on Main Street, go out to the Fairgrounds at Miami Valley

} Hospital and then walk east on Wyoming until they got to the
school, wouldn't they?

A Well, I am not certain of all that. I think an alternate

7"
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way, if transportation was necessary, the Board could provide

transportation with a school bus.

Q. All right. In order to really make any of these proposals

that you are talking about back in 1952 effective, it would

have been necessary for the Board to provide transportation;

isn't that so? t

A. I don't think so in all cases, no.

Another possibility which I didn't include in my three

examples would have been Whittier which seems to be pretty

close in to MacFarlane. Emerson, of course, is about the

same shape as Patterson in terms of distance and accessibility

but basically, I think in ahost all desegregation cases and

certainly in this one natural barriers form a back seat in terms

of considerations of assignment. They do have to be con

sidered and obviously you don't send people across them just

for the sake of doing it, but there are other factors to be

considered besides access, and when I think you are weighing

something like possible desegregation of schools, you some-

times have to bend your access criteria a little bit. 

Do I take it from your answer that you want to throw

Saway the examples you gave us last week and give us some

new examples of what possibilities that could have been done

in 1962?

A. No. 1 am sticking with the ones I gave you. I said

they are simply examples.

j Q Now, let's drop back another ten years and go to the

last subject I want to examine you on, and that is the

S situation in 1952 with the shrinking of the Garfield, Willard,

and Wogaman boundaries.
A. All right.,

Q1. As I understand it, you found that to be perhaps the

most significant of the various things that you discussed with

. 'Well, it was certainly significant in my opinion, yes..2C'. fii 
y n f c n in m
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[R. 1. 1663-1674, Vol. 17] Q. Plan A was simply to add
on to the existing schools to service the gr-owing number ofstudents; isn't that right?

A. Well, yes, that is correct basically.
Q. And we will have to look at Plaintiffs' Exhibit 47A

which is the elementary schools of '57 to locate Garfield and
Willard, won't we, since those schools were discontinued in '62?

A. Yes.
Q. Both Garfield and Willard according to all the informa-

tion we have had entirely black student populations back in
1952, didn't they?

A. The schools, yes.
Q. And, of course, simply adding onto those existing

schools would have further impacted all black student bodies
in those two school districts, wouldn't it?

A. I should think so, yes.
Q. The Board elected not to follow Plan A in December

of 1952, didn't they?
A. Yes.
Q. As an alternative, they adopted what they described

as Plan B, and if I understand that plan correctly, the all black
Wogaman District was shrunk by additions to Jackson to the
north and to Weaver to the north and east.

A. That is correct.
Q. At that time, Jackson was 35.9 percent black, wasn't it?
A. 1951, yes.
Q. And Weaver was 67.6 percent black?
A. Yes.
Q. So the shrinking of the Wogaman boundaries would

cause black students who had been in those boundaries, atleast some of them, to experience interrelationships with white
students in the Jackson and Weaver Schools?

A. Yes.
Q. Then, the all black Garfield School District was shrunk

by additions to Edison to the north and to Irving to thesoutheast, was it not?
A. Yes.
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Q. In both situations, we are talking about other districts

that were contiguous and immediately adjacent, aren't we?

A. I believe so, yes.

BY MR. GREER:

Q And in the 1951-52 school year, the Edison School

District had a student body that was 43 percent black, didn't

it?
A. That's correct.

Q. And the Irving School District had 46.6 percent black?

A. Those are the figures I have, yes.

Q. Sothe effect of shrinking the all black Garfield District

was to permit black students in that district to experience

interracial experiences with white students in the mixed schools

of Edison and Irving?
A. That's correct.

Q. Now, as part of the shrinking of these school boundaries,

in December of 1952, three triangular optional stones were

created, isn't that right?
A. I think six were created altogether at that time.

Q. I'm talking about in this particular area of Garfield,

Willard and Miami Chapel to the south, which was a relatively

new school.
A. Well, which would those be?

Q. Well, let me run through them with you.

There was a triangle of urban -

A. I wonder if I might step to the map? J
Q. Sure. That might be much easier. Why don't I give

you the pointer and I'll get back to the platform.

Let's start from the north.

There was a triangle of Irving that was made optional to

Willard, isn't that right?
A. Correct.

Q. And that would mean that the students in that area

could continue at Irving or go to Willard, which was an all

black school?
A. That's correct.
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Q. And then just south of that a triangle of Willard was
made optional to Whittier, isn't that right?

A. A triangle of Willard optional to Whittier?
Actually, this is the '70 census data. I think it would help

me at least if we had the '50 census data under here. I
wonder if we could do that.

Q. If you want to do it, that's fine, but I'm simply asking
you about the attendance boundaries here.

Where is the '50 census data? Why don't you put it up?
A. All right, sir.
Q. Does that help you visualize the three optional zones

that I'm talking about?
A. It helps me get a little better perspective of what is

underneath them, yes, sir.
$ Q. Now, the second one was a triangle of Willard that wasmade optional to Whittier, isn't that right?

A. That's correct.
Q. And in '51-52 Whittier was 29.9 percent black in its

student population, wasn't it?
A. Correct.

Q And that optional zone made it possible for studentsin the all black Willard area to go to a mixed school, thatschool being Whittier?
THE COURT: Willard at this time was a hundred percent

black, is that correct?
MR. GREER: That is correct.

BY MR. GREER:
Q. Is it not, Dr. Foster?
A. Well, the school was. Presumably any whites who werein the Willard attendance zone would also be able to go toWhittier.g
I don't think there is any indication that the attendancearea itself had only blacks in it.
Q. Well, you don't have any idea whether any of thesethree optional zones were all black, all white, or mixed, do you?There isn't any information on that point?
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up until 1951, and then the optional zones were created

r shortly after that, and there has been some testimony and

so forth in the case that there were whites in Wogaman and

in Willard and Garfield, and the census map of '50, in that,

Willard and Garfield are both not in the red yet but in pink.

So I think that this is a matter that isn't clear one way or the

other.'
Q. All right. Any transfer policies were stopped in 1951,

isn't that right?
A. I believe that's right, yes, sir.

Q. And what are the 1951-52 figures for Garfield and

Willard?
A. Schools were a hundred percent black.

All right. Now, if we go down to the third optional

area in this row, it is a triangle of all black Miami Chapel that

was made optional to 29.9 percent black Whittier, isn't it?

A That is correct.

Q. Now, Miami Chapel actually didn't come into being

until '53, did it?
A. That's right.

Q. So that would be part of Wogaman back before the

building of Miami Chapel?

!I A. That's correct.

Q. And according to the 1951-52 school years, Wogaman

was all black, wasn't it?

A. The school, yes, sir.

I f Q. Thus this optional area would permit students in the

all black Wogaman, or Miami Chapel School District, to attend

the mixed school at Whittier?

A. Yes, but when you say that, you are inferring that the

students in the optional zone would be all black, and I don't

think there's any reason to believe that at all, because the'50 

map shows the area to be green, and on the contrary, I would

expect some of them to be white.

Well, but you don't know either, do you?

,vi
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A. I think I said that.
Q. We are both in the dark as to knowing whether the

students in those optional zones were 100 percent black or a
mixture of races, isn't that right?

A. That's correct.
Q. So let's look at some other facts concerning those three

optional zones. They are all in a row, aren't they?
A. Yes.
Q. On a diagonal?
A. That's correct.
Q. The main branch of the B and O Railroad comes into

Dayton along there, doesn't it?
A. Yes.
Q. And also the mra branch of the Pennsylvania Rail-

road comes through Dayton on the other side of the river,
comes into that same area, doesn't it?

A. I can't find it on the small wap.
Q. Let's go to the big map. Maybe I can help you.
If we go to the west bank of the Miami River, you can see

on the map the main branch of the Baltimore and Ohio
paralleling the west bank of the river and then going up
through this area where the three optional zones are, can
you not?

A. That's right.
Q. And then if we look at the east side of the Miami

River, you can see the Pennsylvania Railroad tracks going up
to the river past a large switching yard at Frigidaire and
crossing the river into this same area, those three optional
zones, can you not?

A. Well, they aren't on the optional zones as the B and O
is. That's why I couldn't find them on the other rnap. They
are to the east of the line you described.

Q. Do you want to look underneath the overlay on the
other map to find out just where the Pennsylvania tracks are
in that area?

A. Well, if I surmize correctly, coming from the direction
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would be the tracks to which you are referring, right?

Q. Yes.
A. All right. Once they reach the school zones or school

lines, they continue to go in a northeasterly direction,

So as I read the map, the tracks would all be to the east of

the optional zones, which we are talking about and which

do fall on the B and O line.

Q. All right. Now, the main branch of the B & O pro-

vides one side of the triangle in each of those three optional

zones, doesn't it?

A. I think that is correct.

Q. And then there is a side branch of the B & O that

swings off to the west to form another side of the triangle in

the central of those three optional zones?

A. You have lost me on that. Perhaps we can go back to

the big map. A
Q. All right. This is the side track of the B & O that

branches off to the northwest there and then crosses Wolfe

Creek to go along the northern edge of Wolfe Creek, doesn't it?

A. And how did you describe that in relation to the zones?

Q. Isn't that part of the Whittier-Willard optional zone,

the middle of the two zones?

A. Would it be the northern boundary of the middle

optional zone?

Q. I believe that is correct.

A. It is a little confusing, but I think that seems accurate.

Q. Have you checked the boundary descriptions for those

optional zones in your review of this material in preparation

for testifying? 2

A. Not all of them, no sir, not these I did not. I did the

high school ones.

Q. Before you testified, were you aware that these three

optional zones were related .o the railroad tracks that go

through Dayton and that area?

A. I was not, no, sir.
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Q. Railroad tracks present a safety factor that would have
to be considered in the drawing of attendance lines, do they
not?

A. In the drawing of attendance lines, yes, sir.
Q. All right. I think you can go back to the stand.
(Witness returns to stand.)

BY MR. GREER:
Q. Now, the shrinkage of boundaries in the Garfield, Wil-

lard, Wogaman area which were made two years before 1954
were purposely made according to all the records that we
have by the Dayton Board of Education in an attempt to
reduce the racial concentration of minority groups in those
three schools; isn't that true?

A. I think that's their allegation, yes.
Q. Now, with the advantage of hindsight here in 1972,

we can see that their efforts were doomed to frustration, can
we not?

A. Well, failure would be a better word perhaps.
[R. I. 1679, Vol. 18] THE WITNESS: Well, I think you

do what you can in a situation like this, and I think we sug-
gested some of those things of making different choices in
terms of boundaries and in terms of additions, and I think the
Board took the worst possible move that it could in this whole
west side situation and, in fact, hastened the impaction of
this area and made it quite clear to all concerned that this
is where it was headed, but basically I think I would agree
with what has been said that as it does work out in fact in
some cases, this may be simply a delaying tactic, and I don't
think that anybody knows that when you are doing it. You
can guess and make predictions.

[R. I. 1683-1687, Vol. 17] Q. Dr. Foster, did you testify,and I understand that you did testify, that in your opinion
what was done in the west side determined or communicated
what was intended to happen in that area? Was that your
testimony?
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sA. I believe it was, yes, sir.

Dr. Foster, let us assume that instead of making the

changes that were indicated, for example, carving out -

believe this Miami Chapel-Whittier option was carved out

exactly from the Wogaman zone, that portion in Greene, is

that correct?
A. I believe that's what we testified to, yes, sir.{

Q Instead of doing things like that, Dr. Foster, if they

had taken white children from many of these areas an

<assigned therm to Wogaman instead of leaving a cored area

of black schools, if they had assigned 60 percent of the enroll-

ment as white students to Wogaman and 60 percent of Wil-

lard's enrollment is white, and 60 percent of Garfield is white,

and then taken the black students from those schools, whether

they shrunk the boundaries or adjusted them in other an

and assigned them to other schools in this are, would that

have changed the perception of what was intended to happen

in there?

A. Well, I think this is the crux of what I have been trying

to say. So far as I know, this characterized the duality of the

date and system in that in my analysis I remember no pa

where white students to any degree were in fact assigned do

black schools, and at the point that a system begins to do

that, then I think they are serious about desegregation.

BY MR. LUCAS:t
Would that in your opinion have any effect on the

stability, in terms of the change in the area? Assume an

s m ent of a substantial number of whites to those schools

A. Well, to the extent that school patterns and residential

action interreacts, I think it would, yes.

Q. The Court also inquired, Dr. Foster, about the ques-

tion of other remedies.
What effect, if any, does school construction, selection of

alternate locations for schools, and school additions have on

the racial composition of the schools?

A. Well, I think I've testified that in my opinion the build
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ing additions that were used in Dayton by and large in a
sense took the place of changing zone lines in terms of main-
taining existing racial patterns and compacting them.

Q. Are you familiar, Dr. Foster, with the Nashville plan,
where the court forbade the construction of any additions to
the outlying white schools which were not desegregated under
the plan?

A. Yes, I am familiar with the Nashville plan.
BY MR. LUCAS:

Q. And what effect would such policy of restricting con-struction of predominantly white schools have in the context
of a system-wide desegregation plan?

A. Well, it essentially makes it more difficult for whites to
take advantage of spaces available in the suburban areas.

Q. Now, Dr. Foster, in terms of the cross examination about
the criterion, the what you call common perceptions of the
neighborhood school, you testified that the walk-in school was
one of the perceptions, is that correct?

A. That's correct.
Q. In the State of Ohio, and I believe your testimony was

this, that between 40 and 50 percent of all children ride to
school on a school bus.

Does that indicate a neghborhood pattern of attendance in
the state, or what does it indicate?

THE COURT: Mr. Lucas, that question really is quite
deceptive.

Would you restate that in terms of the percentage that are
bussed in metropolitan areas?

I'm a native of Ohio. I'm quite familiar with the extensive
bussing that goes on in rural areas.

Dr. Foster observed at one point of the consolidation pro-
cedure that this is well known in the State of Ohio, but that
figure standing alone really has no meaning.

It had no meaning when Mr. Greer mentioned it. But I
would be interested to know of similar information in metro-
politan areas.
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Do you know, Dr. Foster?

THE WITNESS: I'm afraid I don't.

[R. I. 1696-1700, Vol. 17 Q. Between what peaks? Do

jyou know what the top and bottom was? Do you know what

the maximum was?

A. The top, I believe, was 55 percent black and the

bottom was around 27 percent black.

f'.By Mr. Lucas:
By Dr. Foster, you were examined at some length about

facilities identifying schools.

A. Very definitely.
MR. LUCAS: I would like to make reference to Page

1383 et seq. of the transcript.

By Mr. Lucas :
By Now, turning to the construction of the Roth High

School, Dr. Foster, I believe in direct examination you were

asked your opinion of the effect of the construction of Roth

{ on Roosevelt High School; is that correct?

A. I believe that's correct, yes, sir.

Q And your testimony was that it took the whites out of

Roosevelt, and do you know what else was done approximately

the same time in terms of school construction at the high

school level in Dayton?

A. Well, Roth was up in 1959 and then I think something

that would affect this situation would be the opening in 1960

of Meadowdale with the eventual capacity of 2980 children

including north of Roth, in the northwest section of the

district.

Q. I believe that was built in 1960 with 48 classrooms?

A. And an addition of 39 in 1967, yes.

Q. Dr. Foster, Mr. Greer discussed with you possible al-

ternatives to the building of Roth and to the placement of

Roth attendance boundaries. What opportunities in your
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opinion were present with the construction of that muchadditional high school capacity within the two-year period?
A. Well, I am not sure I understand your question, butI think I do and that is that if you would have taken theconstruction of Roth and Meadowdale together, it is con-ceivable that a site somewhere in between the two couldhave been utilized, and if ths had been done, it seems tome the open invitation to whites for a white high school inMeadowdale would have been lessened considerably and itwould have lessened the opportunity for movement of whitesto that area in terms of schooling.

THE COURT: Mr. Lucas, may I interrupt for just amoment.
Dr. Foster, how do you view the responsibility of a schoolboard when a real estate developer determines to build alarge construction project of, let's say, 800 or 900 homes? Is

it your opinion that the school board has an obligation torefrain from building schools there in order to discourage himbecause it may be totally a white development?
THE WITNESS: Well, I think at this time certainly itdoes, because I think the total problem that you are speakingof has certainly racial implications.
THE COURT: In other words, you are suggesting that aschool board in effect has a veto power over private develop-

ment of tracts?
THE WITNESS: Well, I am not exactly sure I would put

it that way, but I certainly think they have a, right to saywhere they are going to put schools, not only a right, but aduty.
THE COURT They do not in your opinion to place theschools where there are such developments?
THE WITNESS: I think that's my opinion, yes.
THE COURT: Thank you.
THE WITNESS: If they can do it, other factors beingequal, including the racial situation, why, who would argue,butt here are other factors besides site convenience.
THE COURT: You may proceed, Mr. Lucas.
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By Mr. Lucas.
Q. Dr. Foster, in your opinion, should a school board

locate schools before development or for anticipated develop-

ment when they have space available in other schools in the

system to which the students could be assigned?

A. Well, again it is hard to answer that in the abstract, but

other factors being equal, certainly I would use the schools

that are available, and I think ones that do have capacity

rather than new structures, and one of the difficulties with

Meadowdale and Roth, it seems to me, is neither one of them

have been filled to capacity for the past several years as I

read the figures by quite a bit.
Q. In that context, Dr. Foster, building the schools where

the children are and making schools convenient, are those terms

in your experience and in your opinion subject to such other

duties as the Board may have?
A. Yes, of course.

Q. And that would include whether or not they already

had space and it was not being used; is that true?

A. That's correct. It seems to me there are two very

important factors that are operative now and have been all

along, and they are economy and what we do with our money

in terms of school buildings because they are very expensive,

and I think the other one obviously is the constitutional prob-

lem of desegregation.

Q. You said constitutional. Do you think segregation or

desegregation of schools is also an educational responsibility

of school boards?
A. Of course, I do.
Q. Now, Mr. Greer asked you about an optional attendance

area in the cemetery. Dr. Foster, do you know where the

information as to optional attendance areas came from?

A. I think I have said as far as I am concerned it came

from "two places. One is Plaintiffs' Exhibit 123 which was

board minutes, and the other was from the maps which Mr.

Lamson prepared.
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